
COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

ELECTRONIC PUBLIC INFORMATION PACKAGE FOR 
COUNCIL MEETING (IN-PERSON) 

TUESDAY, APRIL 16, 2024 – 8:30 A.M. 



RHPA

Duties and Obiects of Colleges

Dufy of College
z.l It is the duty of the College to work in consultation with the Minister to ensure, as a

matter of public urterest, that the people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of

qualified, iLitl"¿ and competent regulated health professionals' 2008' c' l8' s- l'

Objects of College
3. ( I ) The College has the following objects'

l. To regulate the practice of the profession and to govern the members in accordance

with the healttr profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions

Act, I991 and the regulations and by-,laws'

2. To.develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification lor persons to be issued

certificates o f registration.

3. To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

qualify of the practice of the profession'

4. 'I-o develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge and skill and programs to

promoteãntinuing evaluation, competence and improvement among the members'

4.1 To develop, in collaboration and consultation with other Colleges, standards of

knowledgå, skill and judgment relating to the performance olcontrolled acts

"o-,ooriumong 
healih professions to enhance interprolessional collaboration, while

respecting the rinique character of individual health professions and their members'

5. To develop, establish and maintain standards of professional ethics for the members'

6- To develop, establish and rnaintain programs to assist individuals to exercise their

rights under this Code and the Regulated Heatth Professions Act, ] 991 '

T.Toadminister the health profession Act, this code and the Regulated Health

professions Act, lggl as it relates to the profession and to perform the other duties

and exercise the other po\Ãiers that are imposed or conlened on the College'

g- To promote and enhance relations befween the College and its members, other

health profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the pubtic.

9. To promote inter-professional collaboration with other health profession colleges'

10. To develop, establish, and maintain standards and programs to promote the ability

of members to respond to changes in practice environments, advances in

technolory and other emerging issues-

I l. Any other objects retating to human health care that the Council considers

desirable. t9é1, c. 18, SJrte¿. 2, s.3 (l); 2007, c- 10, Sched' M, s' l8; 2009, c'26'

s. 2a (l l)-

Dufy
(2) In carrying out its objects, the College has a duty to serye and protect the public

interest. I991, c. 18, Sched. 2, s- 3 (2)'

.1



Version date: October 12, 2017 

 

 

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
MISSION, VISION, VALUES AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  

 
MISSION 
 
The College of Chiropractors of Ontario regulates the profession in the public 
interest to assure ethical and competent chiropractic care. 
 
VISION 
 
Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest in a Diverse 
Environment. 
 
VALUES 
 

• Integrity  
• Respect 
• Collaborative 
• Innovative 
• Transparent 
• Responsive 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
 

 
1. Build public trust and confidence and promote understanding of the role of 

CCO amongst all stakeholders. 
 

2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and patient-centered. 
 

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote excellence of care while 
responding to emerging developments. 

 
4. Optimize the use of technology to facilitate regulatory functions and 

communications. 
 

5. Continue to meet CCO’s statutory mandate and resource priorities in a 
fiscally responsible manner. 
 

                                      Developed at the strategic planning session: September 2017  
 



CCO Cooe or GonDUcr FoR Cunnenr AND
FonrueR CouttcrL MerileERs, Nott-CouNclL
Gomrurrree MeUBERS AND Cour.rcll. ApporNTED
M erileeRs ("GoruMrrrEE MervreeRs" )

@D
Executive Gommittee
Approved by Council: September 28,2012
Amended: February 23,2016, April 19, 2016, September 15,2016
Re-Affirmed by Council: November 29,2018
Amended: June 21 ,2023 (came into effect September 8,20'231

Current and former members of Council and committee members must, at all times,
maintain high standards of integrity, honesty and loyalty when discharging their College
duties. They must act in the best interest of the College. They shall:

1. be familiar and comply with the provisions of the Regulated Health Professions
Act, l99l (RHPA), its regulations and the Health Professions Procedural Code,
the Chiropractic Act 1991, its regulations, and the by-laws and policies of the
College;

2. diligently take part in committee work and actively serve on committees as

elected and appointed by the Council;

3. regularly attend meetings on time and participate constructively in discussions;

4. offer opinions and express views on matters before the College, Council and
committee, when appropriate;

5. participate in ail deliberations and communications in a respectful, courteous and
professional manner, recognizing the diverse background, skills and experience of
members on Council and committees;

6. uphold the decisions made by Council and committees, regardless of the level of
prior individual disagreement;

7. place the interests of the College, Council and committee above self-interests;

8. avoid and, where that is not possible, declare any appearance of or actual conflicts
of interestsl;

9. refrain from including or referencing Council or committee positions held at the
College in any personal or business promotional materials, advertisements and
business cards;2

I There is a general assumption of real or perceived conflict unless confirmation of no conflict by the
Executive Committee and/or Council, which will be addressed promptly.



CCO Code of Conduct 2

i
i

10. preserve confidentiality of all information before Council or committee unless

disclosure has been authorized by Council or otherwise exempted under s. 36(1)
ofthe RHPA;

1 1. refrain from communicating to members, including other Council or committee
members, on statutory committees regarding registration, complaints, reports,
investigations, disciplinary or fitness to practise proceedings which could be
perceived as an attempt to influence a statutory committee or a breach of
confidentiality, unless he or she is a member of the panel or, where there is no
panel, of the statutory committee dealing with the matter;

12. refrain from communicating to members and stakeholder3 on behalf of CCO,
including on social media, unless authorized by Councila;

13. respect the boundaries of staff whose role is not to report to or work for individual
Council or committee members; and

14.be respectful of others and not engage in behaviour that might reasonably be
perceived as verbal, physical or sexual abuse or harassment.

Potential Breaches of the Code of Gonduct

15. An elected or appointed member of Council or non-Council committee member
who becomes aware of any potential breach of this code of conduct should
immediately advise the President and Registrar, or if the potential breach involves
the President, advise the Vice President and Registrar; and

16. Potential breaches will be addressed first through informal discussion with the

Council member(s) or non-Council committee member(s), and subsequently by
written communication expressing concerns and potential consequences.

I, , Council member or committee member of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario undertake to comply with the CCO Code of Conduct for Cunent
and Former Council Members, Non-Council Committee Members and Council
Appointed Members ("Committee Members"), both during and following my term on
CCO Council or a committee

Signature Witness

Date:

2 This section does not preclude the use ofprofessional biographies for professional involvement.
3 Stakeholders include professional associations, societies, and other organizations related to the regulation, education

and practice of chiropractic.
a This does not preclude Council members from communicating about CCO, provided they are not communicating on

behalf of CCO.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Rules of Order of the Council of the
Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario

Approved by Council: September 20,2014
Amended: June17,2020

In this Schedule, "Council Member" means a Member of the Council of the CCO.

Each agenda topic may be introduced briefly by the person or committee
representative raising it. Council Members may ask questions for clarification.
However, a Council Member shall make a motion and another Council Member
shall second the motion before it can be debated.

When any Council Member wishes to speak, they shall so indicate by raising
their hand. When speaking the Council Member shall address the presiding

officer and confine themselves to the matter under discussion.

Staff persons and consultants with expertise in a matter may be permitted by the
presiding officer to provide information or answer specific questions about the
matter.

Observers at a Council meeting shall not speak to a matter that is under debate

A Council Member shall not speak again on the debate of a matter until every
other Council Member of Council who wishes to speak to it has been given an

opportunity to do so. An exception is that the person introducing the matter or a
staff person or consultant may answer questions about the matter. Council
Members shall not speak to a matter more than twice without the permission of
the presiding officer.

No Council Member may speak longer than five minutes upon any motion except
with the permission of the Council.

When a motion is under debate, no other motion can be made except to amend
it, to postpone it, to put the motion to a vote, to adjourn the debate or the Council
meeting or to refer the motion to a committee.

A motion to amend the motion then under debate shall be disposed of first. Only
one motion to amend the motion under debate can be made at a time.

When it appears to the presiding officer that the debate on a matter has
concluded, that Council has passed a motion to vote on the motion or that the
time allocated to the debate of the matter has concluded, the presiding officer
shall put the motion to a vote.

When a matter is being voted on, no Council Member shall enter or leave the
Council room, and no further debate is permitted.

I

10

11.



12.

Rules of Order of Council

No Council Member shall be present in the room, participate in a debate or vote
upon any motion in which they have a conflict of interest, and the vote of any
Council Member so interested shall be disallowed.

13. Any motion decided by the Council shall not be re-introduced during the same
session except by a two-thirds vote of the Council then present.

14 Whenever the presiding officer is of the opinion that a motion offered to the
Council is contrary to these rules or the by-laws, the presiding officer shall rule
the motion out of order and give reasons for doing so.

15 The presiding officer shall preserve order and decorum, and shall decide
questions of order, subject to an appeal to the Council without debate.

16 The above rules may be relaxed by the presiding officer if it appears that greater
informality is beneficial in the particular circumstances unless the Council
requires strict adherence.

17 Council Members shall not discuss a matter with observers while it is being
debated.

18. Council Members shall turn off their electronic devices during Council meetings
and, except during a break in the meeting, shall not use their electronic devices.
Computers shall only be used during Council meetings to review materials
related to the matter under debate (e.9., electronic copies of background
documents) and to make personal notes of the debate. The presiding officer may
make reasonable exceptions (e.9., if a Council Member is awaiting an important
message on an urgent matter).

19. Council Members shall be silent while others are speaking

In all cases not provided for in these rules or the by-laws, the current edition of
Robert's Rules of Order shall be followed so far as they may be applicable and
consistent witlr these rules.

20

2



List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
as at November 17, 2022

Acronym Full Name

ACE Accessing Centre for Expertise, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of
Toronto

ADR Alternative Dispute Resolution
AFC Alliance For Chiropractic (formerly CAC)
ASNFPO Accountins Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations

BDC Board of Directors of Chiropractic
ccA Canadian Chiropractic Association
ccBc Colleee of Chiropractors of British Columbia

CCEB Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board
ccEc Council on Chiropractic Education (Canada)

cccr Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative
cco Colleee of Chiropractors of Ontario
CCPA Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association

CCRF Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation
Chiropractic Act Chiropractic Act, 1991

cMcc Canadian Memorial Chiropractic Collese

CMOH Chief Medical Officer of Health

cNo College of Nurses of Ontario
covtD-19 SARS - CoV- 2
Code Health P r ofess ions P r ocedur al Co de, Schedule 2 to the RHPA

coNo of of Ontario

CPGs Clinical Fractice Guidelines
CPMF Colleee Performance Measurement Framework

CPSO Colleee of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

D'Youville D'Youville Colleee - Chiropractic Program
DAC Desierated Assessment Centre

DEI Diversitv. Eouitv and Inclusion
FCC Federation of Canadian Chiropractic
FCCOS(C) Fellow of the of
FCCR(C) Fellow of the of
FCCPOR(C) Fellow of the Canadian Chiropractic College of Physical and Occupational

Rehabilitation (Canada)

FCCS(C) Fellow of the of Sciences

FRCCSS(C) Fellow of the Royal College of Chiropractic Sports Sciences

FCLB Federation of Chiropractic Licensing Boards

FOt Freedom of Information
Grc Guaranteed Invesfrnent Certificate
HARP Healins Arts Radiation Protection Act, 1990

HIA Heqlth Insurance Act, 1990

HPARB Health Professions Appeal and Review Board

HPRAC Health Professions Resulatory Advisory Council

HPRO Health Profession Regulators of Ontario

rcRc Inquiries. Complaints and Reports Committee

KPI Key Performance Indicators
LSO Law Socie8 of Ontario
MESPO Model for the Etaluation of Scopes of Practice in Ontmio

MOH Ministrv of Health
MTCU Ministrv of Traihine, Colleges and Universities

NBCE National Board of Chiropractic Examiners

NHSU National Universitv of Health Sciences - Chiropractic Proglam

NWG Nominations Working Group
NYCC New York Chiropractic Collese



2

Acronym FullName

ocA Ontario Chiropractic Association
ODP Ottice ljevelopment Proiect
oFc Office of the Faimess Commissioner
OHIP Ontario Health Insurance Plan
OHPR Ontario Health Professions Regulators
OHR OntarioHealthRe gulators.ca (HPRO's nublic-focused website)
OHRC Ontario Human Riehts Commission
PHIPA Personal Health Information Protection Act. 2004
PPA Peer and Practice Assessment
PIPEDA Personal Informqtion and Protection of Electronic Documents Act
PSA Professional Standards Authoritv for Health and Social Care (U.K.)
PVO Prosecutorial Viabilitv Opinion
QA Oualitv Assurance
RFP Request for Proposal
RHPA Regulated Health Professions Act, I99I
SCERP Specified Continuine Education or Remediation Prosram
SOAR Society of Ontario Adiudicators and Resulators
SPPA Statutorv Powers Procedural Act. 1990
SWOT Strengths, Weaknesses" Opporhrnities. Threats
TCL Terms. Conditions and Limitations
UOIT Universi8 of Ontario Institute of Technoloey
UQTR Universitd du Oudbec d Trois-Rividres
WHO World Health Organization
WSIB Workolace Safetv and Insurance Board



 

 

 
 

Public Information Package 
 

COUNCIL MEETING (In Person) 1 2 
 

Tuesday, April 16, 2024 (8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.) 3  
 

Attendees  
 

Council Members  
Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar 

Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel 
Ms Beth Ann Kenny, Recording Secretary  

 
Guest 

 
Mr. Glenn Goldhahn, Tator, Rose & Leong 4 

 
 

AGENDA 5 6  
 
 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 7 

 CALL TO ORDER AND  
LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 8 9 

Welcome Green/ 
Kariunas 

High 

 
1 Council members to advise Ms Rose Bustria, Executive Assistant, at the earliest opportunity if they are 
unable to attend in person but will be attending virtually.  
2 Guests to advise Ms Bustria at the earliest opportunity if they would like to attend either in person or 
virtually (space is limited for in person attendances). 
3 Subject to Council’s direction.  
4 Will be attending virtually at 9:00 a.m. to present the 2023 financial statements for approval. 
5 Information which is included for background or context (i.e., not requiring Council action) is shaded in 
grey.  
6 If you would like the complete background documentation relating to any item on the agenda, please 
speak to Dr. Green, President and Ms Willson (information may be subject to confidentiality provisions). 
7 Subject to Council’s direction.  
8 Council members to be familiar with and comply with the rules of order. If required, Dr. Green, 
President, to be parliamentarian.  
 
9 Land acknowledgment 

Let us acknowledge that in our meeting space today, we gather on the Treaty Lands and Territory of the 
Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation as well as the traditional territory of the Haudenosaunee and the 
Huron-Wendat peoples. We recognize that we have a responsibility to work towards meaningful reconciliation 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

2 
 

2 Council Meeting Agenda: April 16, 2024 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                  

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 7 

     
 1. Consent Agenda Approve Council  High 
     

10 1.1 Fitness to Practise Committee Report    
11 1.2 Inquiries, Complaints, and Reports 

Committee (ICRC) Report  
   

13 1.3 Patient Relations Committee Report    
29 1.4 Registration Committee Report    
 Office of the Fairness Commissioner    

31 1.4.1 Communication dated February 21, 
  2024 re: CCO low risk category for 
  April 1, 2024 – March 31, 2026 

   

35 1.4.2 Communication dated February 21, 
  2024 re: OFC updates (+ enclosures) 

   

102 1.4.3 Communication dated March 28, 
  2024 re: Launching the OFC Portal 
  for the Fair Registration Practices 
  Report 

   

104 1.4.4 Newsletter dated March 2024    
108 1.5 Advertising Committee Report    
109 1.5.1  Memo from Advertising  

  Committee dated January 9, 2024 
  re: Mandate and Role of the  
  Advertising Committee 

   

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 2. Main Agenda  Adopt Council High 
     
 2.1 Conflict of Interest  Review/ 

Declare 
any real or 

Council High 

 
between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples and through this land acknowledgement, we are honoring 
the land, Indigenous peoples, and deepening our understanding of truth. 

 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

3 
 

3 Council Meeting Agenda: April 16, 2024 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                  

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 7 

perceived 
conflicts 
of interest 
as agenda 
item 
reached 10 

 3. Minutes 11     
     
 4. Committee Reports     

136 4.1 Executive Committee Report  
 
 

Report/ 
Approve 
Recom-
menda-
tions 

Green/ 
Council 
 
 
 

High 

 Move in Camera 12    
     
 Move Out of Camera and Ratify Decisions 

made In Camera 
   

     
 By-laws   Verbal 

Report 
Green Medium 

498 4.1.29 By-law amendments approved 
  February 23, 2024 (clean copy) 

Review Council Medium 

536 4.1.31 Communication from Dr. Berman 
  dated February 21, 2023 

FYI   

 Communications Review Council Medium 
541 4.1.32  President’s Message and Newsletter 

  dated March 1, 2024 
   

549 4.1.33  Statistics from Constant Contact 
  dated March 8, 2024 

   

551 4.1.34  Feedback to date    
 Regulatory Excellence Workshops 13 Verbal 

Report 
Willson Medium 

 
10 Standing conflicts of interest do not need to be declared at every meeting. Richard Steinecke’s previous 
advice is that a Council member should leave the room if s/he is the subject of or may be affected by the 
discussion or decision by Council. 
11 Only members present at the meeting should approve the minutes. Once Council minutes for the 
public portion of meetings are approved, they are posted on the CCO website.  
12 Council may go in camera to discuss items identified in Ss. 7 (2) of the Code, such as financial matters, 
government relations, and advice from lawyers.  
13 Regulatory Excellence Workshops to be scheduled in Districts 1, 3, 4 and 6. A virtual session is 
scheduled for June 3, 2024 (8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.). Regulatory Excellence Workshops are mandatory for 
all CCO members. 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

4 
 

4 Council Meeting Agenda: April 16, 2024 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                  

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 7 

555 4.1.35 Extract from CCO website and 
  communications 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 Strategic Planning 14 Verbal 
Report 

Green/ 
Willson 

High 

560 4.1.36 Mission, Vision and Strategic 
  Objectives 

   

561 4.1.37  Proposal dated March 21, 2024 from 
  The Regulator’s Practice   

   

566 4.1.38 Council Effectiveness Workshop 
  +September Planning Session 
  Addendum 

   

582 4.1.39  Council Meeting Evaluation Form Approve/ 
Implement 

Council High 

 Media    
587 4.1.40 Toronto Star article dated February 

  17, 2024 Should you tip your  
  massage therapist or your  
  chiropractor? Here’s what the 
  experts say 

   

 Ministry of Health     
 College Performance Measurement 

Framework (CPMF) 15 
Verbal 
Report 

Friedman Medium 

594 4.1.41  CCO’s CPMF Report filed  
  March 27, 2024 16 

Review Council Medium 

711 4.1.42 Various MOH News Releases FYI   
 Council and Committees    
 Advertising Committee    

720 4.1.44 Terms of Reference Approve 
Recom-
mendation 

Council Medium 

 
14 Review of Mission, Vision and Strategic Objectives; moving the CPMF forward including incorporation 
of commendable practices; review of progress on Council’s previous strategic planning direction (from 
September 2023, and Council Effectiveness Workshop November 24, 2023). Boyd Neil and Chris Boyd 
will also be in attendance.  
15 A list of commendable practices from 2021 and 2022 have not yet been released by the Ministry. 
16 Posted on CCO’s website. 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

5 
 

5 Council Meeting Agenda: April 16, 2024 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                  

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 7 

 Animal Chiropractic Verbal 
Report 

Willson Medium 

724 4.1.46 Correspondence dated March 7, 
  2024 to Ms Willson from the  
  Honourable Lisa Thompson,  
  Minister of Agriculture 

   

727 4.1.47 Extract of Bill 171 – Veterinarian 
  Professionals Act, 2024 re:  
  chiropractic 

   

735 4.1.48  News Release dated March 7, 2024 
  entitled “Ontario Introducing 
  Measures to Help Improve Access to 
  Veterinary Services” 

   

740 4.1.49  S-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals    
750 4.1.51  CCO Request to make submissions 

  to standing committee 
   

     
 Other Chiropractic/Health Related 

Stakeholders 
Primarily 
FYI and 
Back-
ground/ 
Context 
(subject to 
questions)  

Council Medium 

 Federation of Canadian Chiropractic 
(FCC) 

Verbal 
Report 

Willson Medium 

754 4.1.52 Communication from FCC re: need 
  for Ontario member on CCEC and 
  public member for Specialties 
  Colleges  

   

 Canadian Chiropractic Association    
874 4.1.55 Letter of Invitation dated February 

  29, 2024 to Chiropractic Stakeholder 
  Summit and response 

   

881 4.1.56  Facebook posting dated February 
  16, 2024 re: Indigenous  
  communities 

   

 Canadian Chiropractic Protective 
Association 

   

885 4.1.57 Communique dated February 2024     
 Health Profession Regulators of Ontario 

(HPRO) 
   



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

6 
 

6 Council Meeting Agenda: April 16, 2024 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                  

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 7 

890 4.1.59  Correspondence dated February 28, 
  2024 to Irwin Glasberg re: OFC 
  Risk-Informed Compliance  
  Framework 

   

     
     

925 4.2  Discipline Committee Report  Report/ 
Approve 
Recomm-
endation 

Mizel/ 
Council 

High 

973 4.2.5  Policy – P-020: Adjournment of 
  Discipline Hearings (current) 

   

     
977 4.3 Quality Assurance Committee Report Report/ 

Approve 
Recomm-
endations 

Groulx High 

991 4.3.2  S-003: Professional Portfolio  
  (current)  

FYI   

 Distribution and Feedback Back-
ground/ 
Context 

  

998 4.3.3 President’s Message dated  
  September 19, 2023 (extract) 

   

1007 4.3.4  Feedback re: S-003: Professional 
  Portfolio 

   

     
 5. New Business   - TBD    
     
 6. For Your Information   FYI 

(subject to 
questions)  

  

 College of Chiropodists of Ontario    
1077 6.1 Casella v College of Chiropodists of 

 Ontario (Divisional Court, January 16, 
 2024) 17 

   

 College of Physiotherapists of Ontario    
1091 6.2 Spirou et al v. College of 

 Physiotherapists (Divisional Court, 
 February 13, 2024) 18 

   

 
17 Relevant to cost orders. 
18 Relevant to the authority of the ICRC. 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

7 
 

7 Council Meeting Agenda: April 16, 2024 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                  

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 7 

1102 6.3 Information dated March 8, 2024 re: 11 
 B.C. health occupations combined into 
 two regulators 
 

   

1105 6.4 Global News article dated February 21, 
 2024 entitled “Ontario documents show 
 patient complaints over cataract 
 billings” 

   

1108 6.5 TB news watch article entitled 
 “Council should be no place for 
 criminal past: Conmee” 

   

1112 6.6 Grey Areas – Learning from Other 
 Regulatory Systems (March 2024) 

Review Council Medium 

1115 6.7 Council Members Terms (dated  March 
 11, 2024  + reappointment of Mr. 
 Gagandeep Dhanda 

   

     
     
     
     
 DATE AND TIME OF MEETINGS 19    
     
 ADJOURNMENT     
     

 
All Executive Committee and Council meetings are in person and are scheduled from 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 
p.m. unless otherwise noted.  
 
Executive Committee Meeting Dates to December 2024 
 

Year Date Time Event Location 
2024 Friday, May 24 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, August16 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, October 25 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 

 

 

 
19 Please mark your calendar and advise Rose Bustria ASAP if you are unable to attend any meetings. If 
you are unable to attend in person, please advise Ms Bustria at your earliest convenience. 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

8 
 

8 Council Meeting Agenda: April 16, 2024 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                  

 

 

 

Council Meeting Dates to December 2024 
 

Year Date Time Event Location 
2024 Wednesday, April 17 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting (Elections) CCO 

 Friday, June 14 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, June 14 6:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. AGM The Royal Sonesta, Toronto, 
Yorkville 20 

 Friday, September 13 1:00 p.m. – 4:30 p.m. Meeting Millcroft Inn and Spa 21 

 Saturday, September 
14 

8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

Millcroft Inn and Spa 

 Sunday, September 15 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 a.m. Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

Millcroft Inn and Spa 

 Thursday, November 
28 

8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting (budget) CCO 

 Friday, November 29 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 a.m. Training/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

CCO 

 

 

 

 
20 The Royal Sonesta, Toronto, Yorkville,  
220 Bloor Street West, Toronto, Ontario M5S 1T8 
416-960-5200 
https://www.sonesta.com/royal-sonesta/on/toronto/yorkville  
 
21 Millcroft Inn and Spa,  
55 John Street, Alton, Ontario, L7K 0C4 
519-941-8111  
1-800-383-3976 
Millcroft Inn & Spa | Spa Retreat in the Hills of Caledon, ON (vintage-hotels.com) 

https://www.sonesta.com/royal-sonesta/on/toronto/yorkville-royal-sonesta-hotel-toronto?utm_source=GMB&utm_medium=Organic&utm_campaign=Organic_GMB&utm_id=GMB
https://www.vintage-hotels.com/millcroft-inn/


ITEM 1.1
Generated Internally

College of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Fitness to Practise Committee Report to Gouncil
April 16,2024

10

Members: Dr. Kyle Grice, Chair
Ms Anuli Ausbeth-Ajagu
Dr. Angelo Santin

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registror and General Counsel
Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar

Committee Mandate

To hear and determine allegations of mental or physical incapacity referred to the

commiffee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.

To review applications for reinstatement following an incapacity finding.

I
Since the last council meeting the committee has not been required to hold a meeting or
hearing.

The Fitness to Practise Committee has no recommendations at this time.

Respectfully submitted,
Dr. Kyle Grice
Chair

a

o



11
ITEM 1.2

Generated Internally

Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario
lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report to Council
April 16,2024

Members: Dr. Michael Gauthier, Chair,
Dr. Michelle Campbell, non-Council Member
Mr. Gagandeep Dhand4
Mr. Scott Stewart,
Dr. Julie Viscomi

Staff Support: Ms Kelly Malcolm, Investigator
Ms Christine McKeown,Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Officer
Ms Tina Perryman, Manager, Inquiries, Complaints & Reports

Committee Mandate

o To respond to inquiries, complaints and reports in a manner consistent with CCO's
legislative mandate under the RHPA.

o To review investigation reports carried out pursuant to s. 75 of the RHPA, and to make
decisions concerning any further action, including the referral of specified allegations of
professional misconduct or incompetence to the Discipline Committee and the imposition
of interim terms, conditions or limitations on a member's certificate of registration.

I
Since the last reporting to Council, the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee
completed the following:

March 20242
. Reviewed 13 cases
. Made decisions on 9 cases, including I referral of specified allegations of misconduct

to the Discipline Committee
. Appointed 75(1)(c) investigators on 3 cases

There were no HPARB reviews during this period.

The Committee is scheduled to administer in person cautions on April 16,2024 (after the
Council meeting).



12

The Committee continues to work diligently to meet timelines with a high volume of matters
to consider. Virtual meetings have been effective to date.

Respectfu lly submitted,

Dr. Michael Gauthier, Chair
Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Committee



ITEM 1.3
Generated Internally

Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario
Patient Relations Gommittee Report to Gouncil
April 16,2024

13

Members: Ms Zoe Kariunas, Chair
Ms Anuli Ausbeth - Ajagu
Dr. Kyle Grice
Dr. Colleen Pattrick, non-Council member
Dr. Pip Penrose, non-Council member

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Committee Mandate

To develop and implement a program/guidelines to enhance the doctor-patient
relationship.
To develop and implement measures for preventing and dealing with sexual abuse of
patients.

To develop, establish and maintain programs to assist individuals in exercising their
rights under the RHPA.

The Patient Relations Committee did not meet since the last meeting of Council.

The scheduled March 2,2024 Citizens Advisory Group meeting was cancelled, and based

on the last meeting of the Health Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO), it appears the

CAG is going to be folded into HRPO (since all colleges are members) on a go forward
basis. CCO will attend any future meetings of this group.

The amendments to the funding for therapy webpage have all been made, including the
flowchart and questions and answers. These changes will be carried forward into the overall
website update we are doing.

Funding for therapy continues to be monitored in accordance with CCO regulations and

policies.

a

a

a



Patient Relations Committee Report to Council: April 16,2024 2

14
I would like to thank the members and staff of the Patient Relations Committee for all of
their contributions during this time.

Respectfu lly submitted,

Ms Zoe Kariunas
Chair, Patient Relations Committee



ITEM 1.4 Generated Internally

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Registration Committee Report to Council
April 16,2024

29

Members:

Staff Support:

Dr. Julia Viscomi, Chair
Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda
Dr. Angelo Santin
Mr. Robert Chopowick

Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Ms Madeline Cheng, Registration Coordinator
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Gommittee Mandate

o To develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification for persons to be

issued certifi cates of registration.
o To review applications for registration referred by the Registrar.
o To determine the terms, conditions or limitations, if any, for granting a certificate

of registration to an applicant.

I
The Registration Committee has not met since the last meeting of Council, as there have
not been any referrals of applications to the Registration Committee.

CCO suspended approximately 29 members and 9 professional corporations for non-
payment of renewal fees following the March 1,2024 deadline. 9 of those members and2
of those professional corporations have re-registered.

Current Member Status

Chart 1: Mem Statistics as of I 2024
Classes Total

s0t7General
221Inactive
184Retired
5422All classes

TotalDescription
11New members

Female 5

Male 6

Chart2z tn statistics for 30 2024 1 2024



CMCC
NCHS (Previously NYCC)
NZCC 2

Life Chiropractic College West 2
Palmer College - Iowa I

2Registration Committee Report to Council: April 16, 2024

Chart 3: of Graduation for New Members
5 30
I

Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC)

I was pleased to note CCO was determined to be low risk by the OFC as identified in the
attached report.

Letters of Standing

CCO staffwill be using new templates for letters of standing, consistent with best
practises of other regulators, and moving towards enhanced consistency amongst
Canadian Chiropractic regulators.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the committee members and staff support for the Registration
Committee for all of their contributions during this time.

Respectfully submitted,

Dr. Julia Viscomi
Chair, Registration Committee

1



|TEM 1.4.1
Joel Friedman 31
From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:

Subject:
Attachments:

Mendel, James (MLITSD) <James.Mendel@ontario.ca>
Wednesday, February 21, 2024 4:1 5 PM

Jo*Ann Willson
Joel Friedman

Office of the Fairness Commissioner - 2023 / 24 RICF Assessment
2024 College of Chiropractors (CCO) risk letter- final.pdf

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have
verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Dear Jo-Ann,

ln November 2023, the Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) launched the second iteration of its Risk-informed
Compliance Framework (RICF). Under this framework, the OFC assesses each regulator against five risk factors that may
impede the regulator's ability to apply fair registration practices.

Thank you for providing information for the risk assessment of your organization. The attached letter communicates the
risk rating for your organization for the 2023 / 24 risk assessment cycle, and describes the following:

o background on the risk assessment process,
o positive practices undertaken, and
r identified risks which require further consideration, if any

Please let me know if you have any questions. We look forward to continuing to work together to advance fair
registration practices.

James Mendel

SUBSCRIBE to the OFC Newsletter

James Mendel
Compliance Analyst
Office of the Fairness Commissioner
(4371 233-486s
www.fai rnesscom m issioner.ca

FAlrlHEtS C0r.1 h1t55t+H E E
oFFt{E +F IHE FAtEfiCSt COr{t{rSflOfiEfi
fiunFfru 0{J cer{Fflt5rrpf A t'lourra

1

coFtF{135r\l ft E i L'iaulTE



The information transmitted in this email is intended only for
lhe person to whom it is addressed and may contain
confidential material. Any review, dissemination, or other use
of this information by persons other than the intended
recipient is prohibited. lf you received this message in error,
please contact the sender and permanently delete it,
including any attachments, without making a copy. Please
contact me if you need this communication in another
format Thankyou.

32

2



33

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EQUITE

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
180 Dundas St.eet W., Suite 300, Toronto ON M7A 2SG

BUREAU DU COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITi
180, rue Dundas O., Bureau 300, Toronto (Oniarjo) M7A 2SG

February 20,2024
Sent via e-mail

Dear Ms. Willson,

RE: Risk Rating for the Gollege of Ghiropractors of Ontario

The purpose of this letter is to communicate the 2023 I 24 risk rating for the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO). This letter includes background information on the risk
assessment process, identifies any specific issues that Office of the Fairness Commissioner
(OFC) may wish to raise and articulates next steps.

Backqround:

ln November 2023, the OFC implemented the second iteration of its Risk-lnformed
eomplianee Framework (RICF). Under this framework, the OFC assesses each regulator's
operations against five risk factors that may impede the regulator's ability to apply fair
registration practices for the licensure of domestic and internationally trained applicants.

The risk assessment process may produce one of three risk ratings: low, moderately low, and
moderate to high. The OFC tailors its compliance strategy according to the risk rating obtained,
so that we can work with regulators to address the most significant risks and barriers to fair
reg istration practices.

For the 2023 I 24 risk assessment cycle, the five risk factors are set out below:

1. Organizational capacity

2. The overall control that a regulator exerts over its assessment and
reg istration processes.

3. The impact of major changes to registration practices and relations with
th i rd-party service providers.

4. The ability of the regulator to comply with newly introduced legislative and/
or regulatory obligations.

5. Public policy considerations:

i. Addressing labour market shortages.
ii, The ability to promote inclusion and address anti-racism concerns in

1



34

I
-'i
q:

reg istration processes.

Further detail on the indicators associated with these risk factors can be found in the OFC's
P iek-infnrrnarl (lnmnlia F ram rk and Dnlinrr

ln undertaking a risk analysis for the CCO, your compliance analyst James Mendel carefully
examined your responses to the 2022 Fair: Registration Practices Report and the
supplementary 2023 RICF questionnaire. For each of the risks identified above, they assessed
both the probability that the risk will occur and the significance of the consequences.

For quality assurance purposes, your risk analysis has been reviewed by another staff member
and discussed with the Fairness Commissioner and OFC management.

Co ratulations on achievin this result. As a low-risk regulator, the OFC will arrange to meet
your co ege on an annu is and you will be required to submit an annual Fair

Registration Practices Report. Your compliance analyst will be in touch to schedule this
meeting and identify any issues for discussion arising from this risk assessment.

We look fonrvard to continuing to work with you to advance fair registration practices in the
ch iropractic profession.

Sincerely,

Ming-Young Tam
Director, Office of the Fairness Commissioner

cc. lnivin Glasberg, Fairness Commissioner of Ontario
Tanya Chute-Molina, Manager of Business and Operational Planning, OFC
James Mendel, Compliance Analyst, OFC

2



From:
Sent:
lo:
Subject:
Attachments:

Rose Bustria |TEM 1.4.2

Jo-Ann Willson
February 21,2024 B:57 AM
Rose Bustria

FW:OFC Updates

35

Memo Legal Obligations Guide Update.pdf; LOG-RP and Trades.pdf;

Guidance on CER Alternatives.pdf

Registration and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.111
Toll Free:'l -877 -577 -47 7 2
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

ln-office services are availabte by appointment on[y. Ptease use the email or phone contact inf ormation above or, if you

require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone a|416-922-6355 ext. '100 or emaiI J:e-e-e-gtion@eeo.on.ca
and your inquiry witt be d:rected appropriatety.

CCO is committed to providing inctusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuats are

treated with dignity and respect. Ptease contact us if you require accommodations. P[ease ensure that att

communications with CCO are respectfuI and professionat.

CONFI DENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: lp, Marie Claire (She/Her) (MLITSD) <MarieClaire.lp@ontario.ca> On Behalf Of Tam, Ming-Young
(MLrrsD)

Sent: Wednesday, February 2I,2024 8:31AM
To: Ta m, M i ng-You ng ( M LITSD) < M ing-You ng.Ta m @onta rio.ca>

Subject: OFC Updates

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Dear Regulators

We are providing a few updates from the Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC)

Enclosed, you'll find the following

A memo regarding updates on the Office of the Fairness Commissioner's (OFC) policy
and program initiatives.
Legal Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide for Regulated Professions
and Compulsory Trades (Version 3.0).
lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience.

a

a

a

1



lf you have any questions, please reach out to your compliance analyst.

Regards,

Ming-Young Tam I Director, Office of the Fairness Commissioner
ming-voung.tam@ontario.ca I www.fairnesscommissioner.ca I SUBSCRIBE to the OFC Newsletter

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

An Agency of the Government of Ontario

Please contact me if you need this communication in another format.
Our working hours may be different - please do not feel obligated to reply outside of your working hours.

36

I
II

.

2



FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
'180 Dundas Slreel W., Sulte 300, Toronto ON M7A 2So

BUREAu Du coMMrssnne t iiioJrrt
180, rue Dundas O., Bureau 300, Toronto {Ontario) M7A 2So

MEMORANDUM

Date February 20,2024

To: Registrars and Chief Executive Officers,
Reg ulated Professions,
Regulated Health Colleges,
Skilled Trades Ontario.

From Ming-Young Tam,
Director, Office of the Fairness Commissioner

Subject: New Legal Resources for Regulated Professions and other Updates

With the start of the new year, I am writing to provide a few updates regarding the Office
of the Fairness Commissioner's (OFC) ongoing policy and program initiatives.

Updated Legal Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide for
FARPACTA Regulated Professions and Gompulsory Trades

Late last year, the OFC distributed the second iteration of its Rlsk-informed Compliance
Framework and Policy (RICF) to regulators to kick-off the 2023-2024 risk assessment
process. At this time, the OFC is pleased to share an updated RICF companion
document entitled Legal Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide
("guide") for Regulated Professions and Compulsory Trades. The updated guide

replaces the previous version dated March 14,2023.

The guide is designed to provide regulated professions with insights on how to comply
with their legal obligations and to share best practices designed to elevate the
registration practices that they employ.

Our office has revised this version to reflect recent amendments to the Fair Access to
Regulated Professions and Compulsory Trades Act, 2006 (FARPACTA or the Act),
which introduced new legal obligations for regulators to:

Adhere to time limits for making decisions on applications for registration, internal
reviews or appeals.

37

a



-
lj
l
-

a

a

38
Accept the results of language proficiency tests approved under the federal
lmmigration and Refugee Protection Act.

Work in consultation with their responsible ministers to ensure that, as a matter of
public interest, the people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of
qualified, skilled and competent regulated professionals.

Fulfill new reporting obligationsa

Together, the updated RICF and the guide form the basis upon which the OFC willwork
with FARPACTA regulators over the next two years to improve registration outcomes for
all applicants, including internationally trained individuals.

I have enclosed PDF version of this document with this memorandum. We expect to
post this document, along with a French language translation, to our internet site
shortly.

The OFC will be consulting with the Ontario Ministry of Health on the development of a
similar updated guide for the regulated health colleges.

lnformation and Advice to FARPAGTA Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian
Experience

The OFC is also pleased to share a document entitled " lnformation and Advice on
Alternatives to Canadian Experience" to address recent legislative and regulatory
amendments that limit the ability of regulated professions to retain Canadian experience
requirements (CERs).

ln this regard, the government recently amended FARPACTA to prohibit a regulated
profession from retaining a CER unless the Minister of Labour, lmmigration, Training
and Skills Development grants an exemption for public health and safety reasons or
where the regulator has established a viable alternative to its CER based on the criteria
outlined in Ontario Regulation 261122 made under the Act.

This document provides information and advice to regulators on how to comply with the
requirements of the Act and regulation, as defined above, and identifies associated best
practices. We have also included this document with this memorandum until such time
as it is posted up on our internet site. Please note that this version now replaces the
predecessor document entitled lnformation and Advice on Approaches for Licensing
lnternationally Trained Applicanfs which the OFC published in March 2023.

2



39
Although both the legal obligations and CER documents refer specifically to FARPACTA
requirements, they also contain a list of fair registration best practices that regulated
health colleges may wish to consider in improving the fairness and efficiency of their
own registration practices. ln short, we hope that all regulators can benefit from these
materials.

An Update on our Data Portal and the Gompletion of the 2023 Fair Registration
Practices Report - All Regulators

As we indicated in our November 2023 communications to you, the OFC is hard at work
to deploy a digital solution for regulators to submit their annual Fair Registration
Practices Reports (FRP). Our goal is to launch this system by late-March 2024 with a

late-May 2024 target date for regulators to send in their FRPs. We will update you on
the actual launch and FRP due dates as we get closer to completing this work.

ln the coming days, your Compliance Analyst will be reaching out to you regarding the
next steps for the 2023-2024 risk assessment process. ln the meantime, we ask that
you please circulate the attached materials to your leadership and staff as appropriate

lf you have any questions, please connect with your Compliance Analyst.

Kindest regards,

[Original Signed by]

Ming-Young Tam
Director, Office of the Fairness Commissioner

Attachments:
. Legal Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide for Regulated

Professions and Compulsory Trades (Version 3.0)
. lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

3



Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration
Best Practices Guide for Regulated
Professions and Gompulsory Trades

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

coMMrssArRE R t'EouttE

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
BUREAU DU coMMrssArRE n t'EeuttE

An agency of the Government of Ontario
Un organisme du gouvernement de I'Ontario



Version Number:

41
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide
for Regulated Professions and Gompulsory Trades

Effective Date: January 30,2024

Version 3.0

Replaces Registration Practices Assessment Guide: For Regulated
Professions and Health Regulatory Colleges (2016) and
Registration Practices lndicators and Sources: A Companion to the
OFC's Registration Practices Assessment Guide (2016)

Policy and Program Unit, Office of the Fairness CommissionerResponsible Area

Any questions about this policy or requests for alternate formats can be sent to the
Office of the Fairness Commissioner by email at ofc@ontario.ca.

i
i

January 2024



Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

Table of Contents

l. lntroduction:

ll. Organization of this Guide:

lll. Legal Obligations under Fair Access Legislation: ..............

1. Fair Registration Practices: General Duties

2. Fair Registration Practices: Specific Obligations

Obligation No 1:

Obligation No.2:

Obligation No.3:

Obligation No 4: .

Obligation No 5: .......

Obligation No 6:

Obligation No 7: .

Obligation No 8: .

Obligation No 9: .

3. Review and Reporting Obligations..........

3.1 Other Compliance Obligations lnvolving the Provision of a Report

Requirement No.1 : ...............

Requirement No.2:

3.2 Annual or Period Reporting Obligations ..............

3.3 Audits

Appendix 1 : .............

42
.0

.3

.7

.8

.8

12

13

14

17

19

20

25

29

31

33

37

37

37

41

43

45

48

2January 2024



l. Introduction:

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

43
ln this document, the Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) is offering information and

advice to organizations that regulate professions and compulsory trades (hereinafter

regulators) to assist them to:

understand how the OFC will evaluate their compliance with the legal obligationsa

a

contained in the FanAccess to Reoulated Professions anct Comutlsoru Trade.s Acf
2006 (or FARPACTA); and

implement associated best practices in their organizations.-
i

q
It represents the next iteration of the OFC's efforts, over the last 16 years, to work with
regulators to help ensure that registration practices are "transparent, objective, impartial and

fair".

Ontario's fair access legislative framework is set out in two provincial statutes, which are

broadly similar in nature. These are FARPACTA (which governs the 14 non-health professions

and Skilled Trades Ontario) and the Health Professions Procedural Code under Schedule 2 of
the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (or RHPA). This statute governs the practices and
policies of the 26 self-governing health colleges.

This guide focuses on the provincial regulators that are subject to FARPACTA. A separate
document for the health regulatory colleges may be found here.

The purpose of this guide is two-fold

to provide regulators with information and advice to more fully understand how to
comply with their obligations under FARPACTA; and

to provide OFC statf with a tool to help them assess the degree to which a regulator is

complying with its legal obligations.

This version has been updated to reflect recent amendments to FARPACTA, which introduce
new legal obligations for regulators to:

ensure that the people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of competent
regulated professionals;

accept results of language proficiency tests approved under the lmmigration and

Refugee Protection Act (Canada);

adhere to time limits for making decisions on applications for registration, internal
reviews or appeals; and

a

a

a

o

a

3January 2024



Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

. fulfil additional reporting obligations.l 44
This guide should be read in conjunction with the OFC's risk-informed compliance framework
and po licv

These documents form the basis upon which the OFC will work with regulators to improve
registration outcomes for allapplicants, including internationally trained individuals.

ln general terms, the desired objectives include implementing modern and efficient
assessment and registration processes, issuing high quality, consistent and fair decisions, and
a commitment to adopting best practices.

The OFC believes that two key metrics to define a regulator's success relate to the average
and maximum time required to issue registration decisions and the percentage of
i ntern ational ly trained applicants who are successfu lly reg istered.

As indicated previously, the legal obligations that regulators must meet are set out in
FARPACTA. ln general terms, these legal obligations may be divided into three broad
categories:

The general duty to provide registration practices that are transparent, objective,
impartial and fair and to ensure that, as a matter of public interest, the people of Ontario
have access to adequate numbers of qualified, skilled and competent regulated
professionals.

a

a A list of specific duties that relate to:
o providing information to applicants;
o making timely decisions with accompanying responses and reasons, that comply

with specified timelines;
o providing applicants with an internal appeal or review process within specified

timelines;
o specifying the documentation that an applicant must provide to the regulator to

assess their qualifications;

o ensuring that assessment decisions made by the regulator, or a third-party
service provider, are transparent, objective, impartial and fair;

o providing training for individuals who make assessment and registration
decisions;

o offering the right to the applicant to obtain access to relevant records pertaining
to the application; and

1 Working for Workers Act, 2021, Working for Workers Act,2022, Working for Workers Acl, 2023, and Ontario
Regulation 621122.

4January 2024



Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

o filing an emergency registration plan with the Fairness Commissioner 45
A series of review and reporting requirements that the Fairness Commissioner may
oblige regulators to undertake based on OFC policy guidelines and Aor their specific
circumstances. These relate to:

o The provision of reports on:
. the relevance and necessity of registration requirements, the timeliness of

registration decisions, and the reasonableness of fees that are charged to

applicants; and
r accountability frameworks that govern the relationships between a

regulator and a third-party service provider.

o A regulator's annual or periodic reporting obligations to the OFC.

o The obligations that a regulator must fulfillwhen it undergoes an audit.

ln this guide, the OFC will identify, where appropriate, the steps that it believes regulators
should take to fulfill these legal obligations. The object is to provide greater clarity to regulators
on how to comply with their legislative requirements.

ln tandem with these legal obligations, this document also contains a companion list of fair
registration best practices. The OFC believes that these approaches, when implemented, can

materially improve the quality, timeliness and fairness of registration decisions, and generally

reflect excel lent client-service princi ples.

The distinction between legal obligations and best practices is an important one. Regulators
are required to comply with legal obligations as a matter of law. The failure to do so may attract
enforcement consequences. The list of legal obligations may be thought of as the core
elements of a fair registration compliance framework. Best practices, on the other hand,

represent approaches that regulators can choose to adopt to further improve their service
offerings and how they interact with applicants.

ln that respect, the guide is designed to motivate regulators to continually reflect on how they
can incorporate the overarching principles of transparency, objectivity, impartiality and fairness
into their dayto-day registration practices. By adopting best practices, a regulator can

demonstrate leadership in its field and more fully embrace modern, fonryard-looking and

empathetic regulatory processes.

It should also be noted that the selection and implementation of best practices can sometimes
differ between regulators based on the nature of their mandates and business processes, and

the character of the professions or trades for which they are responsible.

a

i
-ia

5January 2024



46
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

There are several further points to be made about these fair registration practices. First, while
the OFC may suggest a certain pathway to achieve a desired result, it recognizes that each

regulator is subject to unique circumstances and that there may be different ways to achieve a

particular goal. The OFC will, therefore, apply an appropriate level of flexibility and discretion
when conducting its assessments of registration practices. As a modern regulator, the OFC will

tailor its assessment activities in a proportionate manner to focus on potential risks and

opportunities to improve practices.

Second, the OFC recognizes that some regulators will be subject to their own enabling
legislation which may provide the regulator with the discretion to develop its own measures
and procedures to comply with its legal obligations. These obligations may be the same, or
different from, those that apply under FARPACTA.

It should be noted, however, that under section 31 (1) of FARPACTA, if a provision of this Act
or of a regulation made under this Act, conflicts with a provision of another Act or a regulation
made under another Act, the FARPACTA provision or the regulation under FARPACTA
prevails to the extent of the conflict.

Third, in this guide, the OFC will refer to certain statutory provisions, or use certain terminology
to characterize its advice on how a regulator should approach a particular fair registration
obligation or practice. When the OFC utilizes the term "shall" or "must", this will typically be

associated with a legal obligation set out in a statute. These terms are associated with
mandatory legal obligations.

When the OFC employs the term "should", this constitutes the OFC's advice that a particular

approach or activity is desirable. However, such an activity would not be mandatory. Finally,

the use of terms such as "may" or "can" would signal that regulators have a wider scope of
discretion in terms of acting upon a particular piece of information or advice.

It is the OFC's intention to keep the list of these practices evergreen. We plan to review them
regularly to ensure that they remain current, alongside the OFC's list of exemplary / best
practices. The OFC views this collection as a common resource and invites regulators to assist
us to keep these ideas timely, forward-looking and relevant.

On a related issue, on November 14, 2023, the government tabled Bill 149, Working for
Workers Four Act, 2023.lf passed, it will prescribe the criteria that must be met to comply with

the obligation for a regulated profession to:

assess applicant qualifications in a way that is transparent, objective, impartial and fair;

and

o

6January 2024



47

a

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

where a third party makes such assessments, take reasonable measures to ensure that
the assessments are made in a way that is transparent, objective, impartial and fair.

:
l

The government has signaled that, if the bill passes, it will immediately begin work to develop
the accompanying regulatory provisions to operationalize the legislation. lt is intended that this
process will be informed by a series of focused stakeholder consultation sessions. Once these
provisions, and the associated regulations, regulations are finalized, the OFC will once again
update these guidelines to address the new obligations that are established.

While the OFC has authored this guide for certain defined purposes, stakeholders have
indicated to us that it could also be employed to meet other objectives. For example, the
document could also serve as a useful tool to orient new board of director or council members
on the key responsibilities outlined in the legislation. lt could also be employed as a self-
assessment tool.

Please note that this resource has been prepared to assist regulators to understand their
obligations under FARPACTA. lt is not intended to replace FARPACTA, and reference should
always be made to the otficial version of the legislation.

It is the responsibility of regulators to ensure that they comply with the legislation. This
resource does not constitute legal advice. The OFC will apply and enforce FARPACTA based
on the facts that are identified. This resource does not affect the OFC's enforcement discretion
in any way.

ll. Organization of this Guide:

This guide is organized into three parts. Part I offers an introduction and Part ll explains how
regulators can apply this document to develop measures and procedures to meet their
legislated obligations. The heart of the document, however, is found in Part lll, which outlines
the OFC's information and advice with respect to legal obligations that apply to regulators.

To make it easier to follow, Part lll is organized around the three categories of legal obligations
as set out in FARPACTA: the general duties; specific duties; and reporting requirements.

To provide clarity for users of this guide, we have also linked each specific duty with the
corresponding provision in the legislation. The guide then refers to the OFC's information and
advice for each specific legislative provision. The document also includes information on how
the OFC will assess whether, and to what extent, a regulator has demonstrated compliance
with the particular legal obligation. ln that respect, the OFC will outline the type of actions
and/or documentation that it will consider to formulate its compliance determinations.

7January 2024



48
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

To provide further clarity, each legal obligation is accompanied by one or more recommended
examples of how regulators can achieve the required outcomes. The OFC also identifies a list

of best practices to help regulators achieve the general duties of transparency, objectivity,
impartiality and fairness prescribed in the legislation.

The fourth sub-section of Part lll identifies the reporting requirements for regulators associated
with preparing and filing their Fair Registration Practices Reports. The content of this section
identifies:

the nature of the regulator's specific legal obligations, with links to the relevant sections
in the legislation; and
commentary on how the OFC will ascertain whether the regulator has met these
obligations.

Sub-section five articulates the legal obligations that a regulator must fulfill should it become
subject to an audit.

It is important to note that regulators are subject to legal consequences for failing to meet their
legislative obligations. For example, under section 26 (1) of FARPACTA, if the Fairness
Commissioner concludes that a regulated profession has contravened Part lll or Vl of the
legislation (which dealwith specific duties, the issuance of reports and cooperation on audits),

the commissioner may issue a compliance order to the profession requiring that it do, or refrain
from doing, the things specified in the commissioner's order.

lll. Legal Obligations under Fair Access Legislation:

1. Fair Registration Practices: General Duties

According to section 1 of FARPACTA, the purpose of the legislation is to:

"Help ensure that regulated professions and individuals applying for registration by
regulated professions are governed by registration practices that are transparent,
objective, impaftial and fair".

This articulated purpose is reinforced in section 6 of the Act, which is described as the Fair
Registration Practices Code. This code subsumes two distinct duties:

the general duty "to provide registration practices that are transparent, objective,
impartial and faid'; and

a

a

a

8January 2024



49

I
J
I

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

a the public interest duty for a regulated profession to work in consultation with a
responsible Minister to "ensure, as a matter of public interest, that the people of Ontario
have access to adequate numbers of qualified, skilled, and competent regulated

professionals."

Both duties are broad in nature and not defined further in the legislation

General Duty to provide registration practices that are transparent, objective, impartial
and fair.

While this general duty constitutes an overarching legal obligation in its own right, the four
nested principles of transparency, objectivity, impartiality and fairness also provide a
philosophical underpinning and interpretative framework for applying the more specific duties
contained in the legislation.

While the courts in Ontario have not had occasion to interpret these provisions in the context of
fair access legislation, the OFC has historically defined these terms in a common sense and
straightfonruard fashion. The discussion below is designed to convey the OFC's current working
definitions of these principles. These definitions should be considered as plain language
interpretative aids.

Transparency:
To be transparent means that a regulato/s instructions and guidelines must be clear, accurate
and straightfonarard. This degree of clarity is necessary to enable applicants to easily follow the
required steps in the registration process. Transparency also demands information that can be

easily understood with clear milestones to allow applicants to monitor their progress in
completing the registration process.

Objectivity:
To be objective means that a regulator's tools, assessment criteria, procedures and training
processes are designed to enhance the consistency of decision-making across applicants.
Such results should be achieved regardless of the individual rendering the decision, the
particular context and/or whether the determination is made by the regulator or a third-pafi
service provider. The decision-making systems should also invest in well-trained and qualified

adjudicators to promote sound, valid and reliable decisions.

lmpartiality:
To be impartial means that a regulator must make its decisions through a process that is free
of bias that, if present, could produce subjective or tainted assessments or decisions. Sources

IJanuary 2024



50
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices curoe

of bias could include actual or perceived conflict of interest, preconceived notions, or a lack of
cultural competency. Each regulator is responsible for identifying sources of bias and for taking
appropriate steps to ensure impartiality, which would normally include enhanced training and
procedures to follow where an issue of bias is suspected.

Fairness:
Fairness must sit at the heart of the registration process for applicants who wish to join a
profession, college or compulsory trade. Fairness comprises several dimensions. lt is often
contextual in nature and not always amenable to precise definition. lt can also overlap with the
first three principles discussed.

At its core, fairness means that a regulator needs to identify the steps necessary, and the
documentation required, for a candidate to complete the registration process. The assessment
must be rational and above-board, and not place unnecessary and ill-conceived obstacles in
the way of success. Everyone should have the same prospects irrespective of their country of
training or background. The process needs to be expedient. And there must be a chance for
an arms-length review if the individual disagrees with a decision. Those running the processes
should embrace their responsibilities with a spirit of purpose, wisdom and empathy.

Public interest duty to consult with responsible ministers to achieve positive labour
market outcomes.

Under section 6 (2) of FARPACTA, a regulated profession has a duty to work in consultation
with its responsible minister to ensure, as a matter of public interest, that the people of Ontario
have access to adequate numbers of qualified, skilled and competent regulated professionals.

To place this provision in some context, the provincial government has become increasingly
more focused on addressing labour shortages in the professions and skilled trades. Qualified
immigrants have become an indispensable source of labour to fill these gaps. The government
has, in turn, become more active in the legislative and program domains to address
registration barriers that immigrants often encounter.

Traditionally, regulators have focused on protecting the public interest by ensuring that
applicants possess the academic and technical skills necessary to skillfully undertake their
work. There is now a growing recognition that an undersupply of professionals can also directly
compromise public health and safety and concurrently constrain economic activity.

ln addition, everyone in the applicant registration ecosystem must strive to harmonize the
strategy to bring higher numbers of skilled immigrants into the country with efficient registration
practices to effectively utilize this talent. This dialogue must also foster system-wide solutions

January 2024 10



t
J

=

51
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

that enable internationally trained applicants to ultimately obtain meaningful employment in

Canada that recognizes their skills, training and aspirations.

Regulators must also pay close attention to the needs of employers who will absorb the supply
of new professionals and skilled tradespersons. They should be aware of the skillsets that are

in demand and any unfounded concerns or stereotypes about the qualifications of
internationally trained applicants.

To achieve these important objectives, regulators need to implement fair and efficient
registration practices. These should focus on establishing registration requirements that are

evidence based and that eliminate barriers that unreasonably delay the registration of qualified

applicants. Regulators should also strive to adopt a client focused approach to registration.

ln structuring their consultation sessions with responsible ministers, regulators should be
prepared to discuss (1) the supply and demand characteristics of their profession or trade, (2)

whether labour market shortages are likely to arise in the short, medium and longerterms, (3)

the steps that they are taking to help close the supply and demand gap and (4) their efforts to
reach out to other stakeholders to address these complex issues in a systematic way.

Fair Registration Best Practices Related to Public lnterest Duty to Consult with
Responstble Ministers to Achieve Positive Labour Market Outcomes:

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this
obligation to provide for a better experience and outcomes for all applicants and to increase
the throughput of qualified candidates for licensure.

Evidence-based decision making

To fulfil their duty to consult with responsible ministers, regulators should critically examine the
evidentiary basis for their current practices, research best practices in other professions and /
or jurisdictions, and take steps to align their own registration processes with these practices.

This approach might include:

Collecting and analyzing data on applicants who have pursued different registration
pathways and how their performance as members of the profession correlates with
broad measures of competence, such as complaints received and any consequential
disciplinary action taken.

a

January 2024 11



52

seeking feedback from applicants and proactively identifying opportunities for removing

barriers, simplifying registration procedures and streamlining the registration process.

exploring innovative ways to register qualified applicants more quickly, by deploying
LEAN methodologies, provisional registration techniques, or parallel processing (e.9.,

allowing applications to proceed down the registration pathway while waiting for
outstanding documentation).

C I ient-focused approach

lmmigrants constitute an underutilized talent pool for addressing labour shortages. Regulators
should, therefore, create a welcoming environment for internationally trained individuals
through the elimination of barriers that compromise the fairness and efficiency of registration
processes. These measures could include:

reviewing registration processes to ensure that they do not unjustifiably limit the ability
of regulators to attract or retain certain groups through the analysis of race-based and

other demographic data for applicants and / or members of the profession;

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

periodically reviewing the regulator's registration requirements to verify that they
continue to be relevant and necessary, and to eliminate duplicative assessment
methodologies.

undertaking initiatives to allow the regulator to assess an applicant's qualifications while
they reside outside of Canada;

considering and providing accommodations in cases where an applicant indicates that
they cannot obtain the required documentation for reasons beyond their control;

collaborating with education providers and employers to develop programs that may

assist lTAs, and unsuccessful candidates, to obtain registration in the regulated
profession; and

assisting those who require specific credentials to complete their registration journeys

by developing customized training and experiential learning plans for candidates who
are missing certain discrete qualifications (i.e., micro-credentials).

2. Fair Registration Practices: Specific Obligations

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

January 2024 12



I

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

Sections 7 through 12 of FARPACTA set out the specific requirements that regulators must
meet to comply with their legislative obligations.

Obligation No 1: The Regulated Profession Shall Provide lnformation to
Applicants about its Registration Practices and Requirements.

Section 7 of FARPACTA reads as follows

A regulated profession shall provide information to individuals applying or intending to
apply for registration by the regulated profession and, without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, it shall provide:

(a) information about its registration practices;
(b) information about the amount of time that the registration process usually takes;
(c) objective requirements for registration by the regulated profession together with a

statement of which requirements may be satisfied through alternatives that are
acceptable to the regulated profession; and

(d) a fee sca/e related to registrations.

How the OFC Will Ascertain whether the Regulator Has Met Obligation No.l:

This list of statutory requirements is relatively straightfonryard. The key issue is whether the
regulator is providing the prescribed type of information to applicants. To make its assessment,
the OFC will obtain the necessary confirmation from a review of public information sources and
discussions with the regulator.

Fair Registration Best Pracfices Related to Obligation NoJ:

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this
obligation to provide for a superior client experience and better outcomes for all applicants.

The information is organized on the regulator's website in a way that it is easy to find, written in
plain language, and is complete and accurate.

The registration information outlined in section 7 is available in the French language (for
some regulators, this will be a requirement already set out in their enabling legislation,
and not purely a best practice).

53

The information is presented in accessible and, when appropriate, multiple formats that
are easy for applicants to retrieve and follow.

a

a

January 2024 13



54

a

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

The information lets applicants know whom they may contact if they require further
guidance.

Obligation No.2: The Regulated Profession Shall Provide Timely Decisions,
Responses and Reasons to Applicants

Section 8 of FARPACTA reads as follows

A regulated profession shall,
(a) ensure that it makes registration decrsions within a reasonable time;
(b) provide written responses to applicants within a reasonable time; and
(c) provide written reasons to applicants within a reasonable time in respect of all
registration decisions and internal review or appealdecisions.

Section 9.1 of FARPACTA and Ontario regulation261l22 made under the Act further
particularize this obligation for domestic mobility applicants (DLMAS) and internationally trained
individuals (lTls) as follows:

Domestic labour mobi lity applicants:

Section 9.1 of FARPACTA reads as follows

(2) A regulated profession shall, within 10 business days after receiving an application
for registration from a domestic labour mobility applicant, provide a written
acknowledgment of receipt of the application.

(3) The written acknowledgment of receipt shall include a statemenf as fo whether the
application includes everything required by the regulated profession in respect of the
application and any other prescribed information.

(4) A regulated profession shall, within 30 buslness days after receiving an application
for registration from a domestic labour mobility applicant and everything required by
the regulafed profession in respect of the application, make a registration decision and
provide the applicant with,

(a) written communication of the registration decision;
(b) written reasons respecting a registration decision,

(i) to propose that the applicant not be granted registration,
(ii) to not grant registration to the applicant, or
(iii) to grant registration to the applicant subject to conditions; and

January 2024 14



-
-1

55
Legislated Obligations and Falr Registration Best Practices Guide

(c) information respecting the applicant's rights to any internal review or appeal,
including any applicable procedures and deadlines.

(5) A regulated profession shall, within 10 business days after making an internal review
or appeal decision in respect of a domestic labour mobility applicant, provide the
applicant with written communication of the decision made upon the internal review
or appeal and written reasons respecting the decision.

I ntern atio n al ly trai ned i ndivi d u als

Section 5 of Ontario Regulation 261122 made under FARPACTA, reads as follows

(1) A regulated profession shall comply with the time limits set out in this section for at
least 90 per cent of the applications for registration received from internationally trained
individuals each calendar year.

(2) A regulated profession shall, within 10 business days after receiving an application
for registration from an internationally trained individual, provide a written
acknowledgment of receipt of the application.

(3) The written acknowledgment of receipt shall include a statemenf as fo whether the
application includes everything required by the regulated profession in respect of the
application.

(4) A regulated profession shall, within six months after receiving an application for
registration from an internationally trained individual and everything required by the
regulated profession in respect of the application, make a registration decision and
provide the applicant with,

(a) written communication of the registration decision;
(b) written reasons respecting a registration decision,

(i) to propose that the applicant not be granted registration,
(ii) to not grant registration to the applicant, or
(iii) to grant registration to the applicant subject to conditions; and

(c) information respecting the applicant's rights to any internal review or appeal,

including any applicable procedures and deadlines.

(5) A regulated profession shall, within 10 business days after making an internal review
or appeal decision in respect of an internationally trained individual, provide the
applicant with written communication of the decision and written reasons respecting the
decision.

January 2024 15



56
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

Please see Appendix 1 of this document for a summary of the time limits contained in the
provisions noted above.

How the OFC Wiil Asceftain whether the Regulator Has Met Obligation No.2:

Section 8 of FARPACTA imposes an obligation on regulators to ensure that their registration
decisions, and other nested steps in the process, are made within a "reasonable time". To
assess this issue, and in situations where specific timelines are not imposed, the OFC would
typically review by the regulator's website for information about timelines or service standards
relating to acknowledging applications, communicating registration decisions and reasons, and
communicating appeal or review decisions.

The OFC will also analyze information that regulators report on decision making time frames in

their annual Fair Registration Practices Reports to ensure adherence to the time limits noted
above for DLMAs and lTls, and follow-up accordingly.

After analyzing the reported decision-making timelines, the OFC will consider the following
factors in selecting its compliance approach:

The extent to which a regulator's statistics deviate from the time limits prescribed by
legislation or regulation.

Evidence of material improvements in timeliness of decision-making over the last
reporting cycle.

Comparisons to performance standards and results achieved by regulators that are
similarly situated.

a

a

a

a Broad trends in confirmed applicant complaints.

Fair Registration Best Pracfices Related to Obligation No.2:

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this
obligation to provide for a superior client experience and better outcomes for all applicants:

the regulator informs applicants about potential delays, and estimated dates for
providing responses, decisions or reasons when delays are incurred;

the regulator puts formal procedures in place to measure its performance against
service standards that go beyond legislated time limits;

a

a

January 2024 '16



T

i

57
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

the regulator benchmarks its timelines against those for regulators that are similarly
situated.

the regulator periodically reviews its service standards and timelines to identify
opportunities to enhance etficiency and ensure that they do not disadvantage one group

of applicants as compared to others.

Obligation No.3: The Regulated Profession Shall Provide Applicants with
an Internal Review of or Appeal from its Registration Decisions.

Section 9 of FARPACTA reads as follows:

(1) A regulated profession shall provide an internal review of or appealfrom its
registration decisions within a reasonable time.

(2) A regulated profession shall provide an applicant for registration an opportunity to

make submission s with respect to any internal review or appeal.

(3) A regulated profession may specify whether submissions rn respect of an internal
review or appeal are to be submitted orally, in writing or by electronic means.

(4) A regulated profession shall inform an applicant of any rights the applicant may
have to request a further review of, or appealfrom, the decision.

(5) No one who acted as a decision-maker in respect of a registration decision shall act
as a decision-maker in an internal review or appeal in respect of that registration
decision.

How the OFC Will Ascertain whether the Regulator Has Met Obligation No.3:

The crux of this section is the requirement that a regulator provide an internal review or appeal
mechanism from its registration decisions within a reasonable time, and that the process

adheres to the steps for procedural fairness outlined in those provisions.

To ascertain whether the regulator has met this obligation, the OFC will examine

the steps that the regulator has taken to ensure that it operates a credible internal
review or appeal mechanism;

the adequacy of the regulator's published materials which identify the opportunities for
applicants to make submissions with respect to internal reviews or appeals;

o

o

a

a

January 2024 17



58
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

the average time that a regulator takes to complete a review or appeal from the date of
the initial request to the date that the process is completed;

how the regulator's practices measure up against those of regulators that are similarly
situated;

how the regulator provides information to applicants about the formats in which
submissions can be made (i.e., orally, in writing or by electronic means);

how the regulator informs applicants about their rights to request a further review of, or
appeal from, a decision;

the regulator's published materials or other documentation to confirm that no-one who
acted as a decision-maker in respect of a registration decision also served in the same
capacity in an internal review or appeal in the same matter; and

whether the regulator's processes may potentially prejudice one category of applicants
compared to another.

Fair Registration Best Practices Related to Obligation No.3:

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this
obligation to provide for a better experience and outcomes for all applicants:

the regulator puts formal procedures in place to measure its performance against its
timelines and / or service standards and publishes the results.

the regulator also provides information regarding:
o the specific steps that an applicant must follow to complete the review or appeal

process, and the sequencing of those steps;
o the issues that can or cannot be appealed, where applicable;
o the grounds upon which an internal review committee will agree to reconsider an

initial decision; and
o precedents regarding the content and format of submissions.

the regulator safeguards the impartiality of its internal review and appeal decisions by
o following well-documented procedures;
o basing its decisions only on relevant criteria and evidence;

a

a

a

a

o

a

a

a

January 2024 18



59
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

o informing decision-makers involved in internal reviews and appeals about
potential sources of bias and the steps that they should take if they feel that they
cannot review a case impartially;

o engaging legal counsel to periodically review the regulator's review and appeals
processes.

if a hearing is required, the regulator provides reasonable accommodation to allow
applicants to effectively participate in the process; and

if the regulator charges fees for internal reviews or appeals, those fees do not exceed
the actual costs associated with those proceedings.

Obligation No 4: The Regulated Profession Shall Provide lnformation to
Applicants on what Documentation of Qualifications Must Accompany an
Application.

Section 10 (1) of FARPACTA reads as follows:

A regulated profession shall make information publicly available on what documentation
of qualifications must accompany an application and what alternatives to the
documentation may be acceptable to the regulated profession if an applicant cannot
obtain the required documentation for reasons beyond his or her control.

How the OFC Wiil Ascertain whether the Regulator Has Met Obligation No.4:

This is also a straightforward requirement. The OFC will seek information from the regulator on

how it communicates the information identified in this section to individuals applying, or
intending to apply, for membership in the profession or compulsory trade. This inquiry would
ordinarily include a review of the regulated profession's website to confirm that the required
information is available and easily accessible, and to verify that other publicly available
communication materials are provided to applicants.

Fair Registration Best Pracfices Re/ated to Obligation No.4:

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this
obligation to provide for a better experience and outcomes for all applicants:

The information that the regulator communicates to prospective applicants should
identify:

o the required content of the documents organized in an easy to access format;

a

a

I

i

a

January 2024 19



a

60
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

o the required format of the documents, including the translation format, if
applicable;

o the required method for sending the documents to the regulator;
o how to contact the regulator to explore other alternative documentation that may

be acceptable beyond the examples that have been posted publicly. (This
information would be particularly important where the applicant cannot obtain the
required documentation for reasons beyond their control).

The identified information is available in the French language (for some regulators, this
may already be a requirement in their enabling legislation, and not purely a best
practice).

The regulator allows the applicant to submit the documentation directly as opposed
through intermediaries, with appropriate safeguards.

The information provided allows the applicant to readily discern who the individual may
contact if they require further information.

The OFC strongly encourages regulators to take a fair and generous approach to accepting
alternative documents in situations where the applicant will experience significant difficulties in

obtaining these materials, and the registration of the applicant would not otherwise
compromise the public interest. Regulators should, at all times, seek to facilitate the
registration of competent applicants and not place unnecessary barriers in their paths.

Obligation No 5: The Regulated Profession Shall Assess Qualifications of
Applicants in a Way that is Transparent, Objective, lmpartial, and Fair.

Section 10 (2) of FARPACTA reads as follows:

lf a regulated profession makes its own assessment of qualifications, it shall do so in a
way that is transparent, objective, impartial and fair, and if it relies on a third party to
assess qualifications, it shall take reasonable measures to ensure that the third party
makes fhe assessment in a way that is transparent, objective, impartial and fair.

How the OFC Will Ascertain whether the Regulator has Met Obligation IVo.5.'

The assessment of applicant qualifications can often form the most critical part of the
registration process. Decisions about qualifications determine whether an individual may enter
a profession, how quickly that process can occur and what additional steps, if any, the
candidate must take to advance their application.

a

a

January 2024 20



-
:
=:

61
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

ln assessing the qualification of applicants, many regulators delegate components of this
process to third party service providers ("third parties"). Whether it is the regulator or third party

that conducts the assessment of qualifications, the legislation requires that the process be

conducted in a transparent, objective, impartial and fair manner.

ln addition, this provision requires that the regulator take "reasonable measures" to ensure that
the third party conducts the assessment in a way that is transparent, objective, impartial and

fair. Note that the term "reasonable measures" is neither defined in FARPACTA nor its
regulations.

Section 13 (3) (d) of FARPACTA is also relevant to this discussion. This provision specifies
that it is the function of the Fairness Commissioner to:

"Monitor third pafties relied upon by regulated professions fo assess the qualifications of
individuals applying for registration by a regulated profession to help ensure that their
assessme nts are based on the obligations of regulated professions under the Act".

While the OFC relies on this provision to obtain information from third parties and to broadly
review their work, it will typically look to, and rely upon, regulators to fulfill their obligation under

section 10 (2) of the Act to "take reasonable measures to ensure that the third party makes the

assessment in a way that is transparent, objective, impartial and fai/'.

To explore whether the regulator has met this obligation, the OFC will assess the regulator's
processes for the hallmarks of these attributes. The OFC will also seek information from the
regulator about the measures it takes to hold its third-party service providers accountable for
transparent, objective, impartial and fair assessments and to determine if these measures are

reasonable and applied consistently.

For assessment methods undertaken by the regulator, the OFC will review relevant information

sources to verify:

the connection or link between the assessment methods and the registration
requirements or specific competencies that they are intended to measure;

the measures that the regulator takes to ensure that its assessment methods and

criteria are methodically and psychometrically sound;

how the regulator ensures that only qualified assessors make the assessment
decisions; and

o

a

a

January 2024 21



62

a

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

how the regulator informs applicants about the assessment criteria, methods and
results of the assessment.

Where the regulator delegates any part of the assessment function to a third party, the OFC
will request relevant materials that identify the measures that the regulator takes to hold its
third-party service providers accountable for assessments that are transparent, objective,
impartial and fair, and to consider whether these measures are reasonable in the
circumstances. The OFC will also solicit information on whether the regulator has taken
reasonable measures to inform itself about the way the third party undertakes its assessment
processes.

While the legislation does not define what constitutes a transparent, objective, impartial or fair
assessment, the OFC believes that the adoption of assessment practices listed below embody
these four principles. Consequently, the OFC will consider these practices, among others,
when determining compliance with this legislative obligation:

the regulator has established clear and objective criteria for making assessment and
registration decisions, which are clearly documented and consistently followed;

the regulator only insists on reviewing hard to obtain documents where there is a strong,
bona-fide rationale or justification to review them and where the public interest would
not othenrise be compromised;

the regulator recognizes international educational credentials unless there is evidence
of subsfantive differences between those and Canadian credentials;

the regulator implements measures to help ensure that its assessments are valid,
reliable and free from bias;

the regulator ensures that all individuals who assess qualifications, or make registration
decisions, possess the relevant knowledge and skills, and receive adequate training;
and

the regulator clearly documents its expectations to third-party service providers

a

a

a

a

a

a

The OFC will especially wish to review documentation that links the assessment methods
employed with the registration requirements or specific competencies necessary for entryto-
practice. This analysis may include a review of competency frameworks, blueprints and/or
related documentation. The OFC would also consider any psychometric review that attests to
the validity and reliability of the assessment method.

January 2024 22



:
,

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

Similarly, the OFC will explore whether the regulator has established any qualifications for its
assessors and, if these exist, whether the regulator selects individuals in accordance with the
skills necessary to do the required work. The OFC will also review how often and clearly the
regulator communicates with applicants to explain the nature of the assessment process to
them.

Finally, the OFC will analyze the measures that the regulator has put into place to hold third
parties accountable, and whether these measures are reasonable.

The OFC recognizes that the context within which each third party provides assessment and
testing services is unique. Consequently, it will take these considerations into account in

determining whether the measures that the regulator has taken are reasonable in the
circumstances. The office will consider the following factors:

the nature of the assessment decisions made by the third party and the extent to which
they influence the regulator's overall decision-making process;

whether these decisions are binding on the regulator or whether the regulator retains
the discretion to override them where considerations of fairness so dictate;

whether the regulator has established service standards that stipulate the average and
maximum timeframes for the provision of services by third parties to applicants and the
associated reporting protocols where these standards have not been met;

the extent to which the regulator exerts contractual control over material aspects of the
third party's assessment methods or procedures;

whether there is a contract in place between the regulator and the third party that
establishes service standards for the processing of applications and, if so, whether the
agreement affords the regulator the necessary authority to rectify non-compliance with
these standards where the circumstances so dictate;

whether there is evidence that the third party's procedures have produced unfair or
arbitrary assessments;

whether the regulator has the capacity to verify how well the third party adheres to the
agreed upon service standards; and

63

whether the third party is subject to a recognized quality assurance framework.

Fair Registration Best Practices Related to Obligation No.S:

a

o

a

a

a

a

a

a

January 2024 23



Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this
obligation to provide for a better experience and outcomes for all applicants:

To help applicants better understand the regulator's assessment criteria, the regulator's
registration materials for applicants should provide:

o examples of scenarios and/or illustrations to explain the relevant assessment
criteria and how an applicant's qualifications will be assessed against those
factors;

o information to help applicants better understand the potential outcomes of the
assessment process;

o information about the accommodation of special needs, which may include
examples of situations where accommodations have been provided in the past;

and
o online self-assessment tools.

a

a

a

64

To frame objective assessment decisions, the regulator should:
o express its assessment criteria in measurable units to minimize subjectivity in

assessment decisions; and
o establish specific scores or grading scales used in the assessment methods that

measu re competencies or performance.

The regulator should establish a process to periodically evaluate the educational
programs it assesses to ensure that its criteria remain relevant and valid.

The regulator should document any potential sources of bias, and/or the circumstances
that may compromise impartial assessment decisions and educate its assessors about
these considerations.

The regulator should similarly ensure that the process through which an applicant can
appeal the assessment of their qualifications is straightfonryard and not cost prohibitive.

lf there a potential for a delay in scheduling assessment appointments or making
assessment decisions, the regulator should establish procedures to inform applicants
about these delays and provide estimated scheduling/decision dates.

With respect to third-party service providers, the regulator should ensure that:
o the examination protocols employed by its third-party service providers are

subject to periodic psychometric testing;

a

a

a

a

January 2024 24



i
q:

65
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

o it considers the periodic retendering of third-party service assignments as a way
to ensure that it is receiving the highest quality services in the most cost-effective
fashion;

o it regularly reviews, and refreshes, its memoranda of understanding or
agreements with its third parties to ensure that the necessary accountability
provisions are in place and that the fees charged to applicants are reasonable;

o the agreements that it enters into with third parties address such issues as the
protection of personal information and appropriate cyber-security measures;

o in conjunction with its third parties, it establishes robust protocols to
communicate with applicants in situations where assessment or examination
schedules are disrupted;

o where it requires clinical examinations for registration purposes, its third party is
taking reasonable steps to develop virtual, in addition to, paper-based testing
options.

o there is a mechanism in place to resolve disputes where the contents of an

agreement between a regulator and a pan-Canadian assessment or testing
agency may be inconsistent with the provisions of FARPACTA.

Obligation No 6: The regulated profession shall accept English or French
language proficiency test results according to the requirements set out in
Ontario Regulation 261122 made under FARPACTA.

Section 10.1 of FARPACTA reads as follows

A regulated profession shall ensure that it complies with any regulations respecting
English or French language proficiency testing requirements.

Section 4 of Ontario Regulation 261/22 made under FARPACTA, reads as follows

(1) An applicant for registration satisfies a regulated profession's English or French
language proficiency testing requirement if the applicant demonstrates, within two years
before the date of making the application, English or French language proficiency at a level
satisfactory to the regulated profession on a test that is approved under the lmmigration
and Refugee Protection Act (Canada) for use rn assessrng language proficiency.

(2) Subsection (1) does not limit a regulated profession's ability to accept other
examinations, fesfs or assessmenfs as evidence of English or French language proficiency,

(3) An applicant's resu/fs on a test referred to in subsection (1) are deemed to be valid for
the purposes of this Regulation until the applicant receives a registration decision or, where
an internal review or appeal occurs, receives an internal review or appeal decision.

January 2024 25



66
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

@ This section applies only in respect of new applications for registration received by a
regulated profession after the first anniversary of the day this section comes into force. (i.e.,

by July 1, 2023).

How the OFC Will Ascertain whether the Regulator Has Met Obligation IVo, 6,'

Most professional regulators in Ontario identify the ability to communicate effectively as a core
skill that applicants must possess to practice their chosen profession or trade in a safe and
competent fashion. These requirements are worded in different ways, but they essentially
require that applicants demonstrate language proficiency at levels satisfactory to the regulator
through one or more of the language tests that the regulator prescribes.

This specific legal obligation applies to those regulated professions that require applicants to
demonstrate English or French language proficiency by submitting results that they receive
from a language proficiency testing provider.

It obliges the regulated profession to accept the tests that are approved under the lmmigration
and Refugee Protection Act (Canada) for use in assessing language proficiency. These tests
are used by lmmigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC) and are commonly
required for immigration purposes.

As of January 1, 2024, these tests were:

o The lnternational English Language Testing System (IELTS) General Test.

. The Canadian English Language Proficiency lndex Program (CELPIP) General Test

. Pearson Test of English (PTE) Core Option

. The test d'6valuation de frangais (TEF Canada).

. The test de connaissance du frangais (TCF Canada).

The regulation contemplates that a regulated profession may prescribe its own profession-
specific minimum scores for these tests. These minimum scores may differ from the scores
adopted by IRCC. The regulator may also accept tests or methods other than those accepted
by IRCC to demonstrate language proficiency if the regulator also accepts IRCC test results.

ln addition, test results are deemed to be valid until the applicant receives a registration
decision or, where an internal review or appeal occurs, until the applicant obtains an internal

Regulators should be aware that the list of approved tests may change over time

January 2024 26



67

t
l

-1

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

review or appeal decision. This provision is designed to ensure that the currency of an

applicant's test results does not time out when the registration process is elongated.

To determine whether the regulator has met this obligation, the OFC will verify whether:

It is the regulator's practice to accept the tests used for immigration purposes, as

specified in the Ontario Regulation 261122.

The regulator accepts the corresponding test results as valid proof of language
proficiency if they were completed within two years before the date of making the
application.

The regulator accepts the corresponding test results as valid proof of language
proficiency if they fall within a range that the regulator has established to be satisfactory

The regulator treats the test results as valid until the applicant receives a registration
decision or, where an internal review or appeal occurs, obtains an internal review or
appeal decision.

The regulator informs the individuals responsible for the assessment of applicant
credentials of these legal requirements.

o

a

a

a

a

To verify that the regulator demonstrates those five attributes, the OFC will typically review
available documentation including policies and / or guidelines for assessors on this topic, as

well as the contents of public-facing internet sites, which prescribe language proficiency

requirements for prospective applicants.

ln addition, where a regulator specifies passing scores for these examinations that are higher
than those stipulated by IRCC, the OFC will ask the regulator for evidence to justify the
rationale for imposing language testing requirements on applicants that are more stringent
than those specified for immigration purposes.

Fair Registration Best Pracfices Related to Obligation IVo. 6,'

The OFC recognizes that the regulators will typically build language proficiency requirements
into their registration practices to protect public health and safety.

However, in establishing these rules, they should also consider immigration and labour mobility

objectives and obligations, and to take reasonable steps to identify and remove unnecessary
ba rriers for international ly trai ned appl icants.

January 2024 27



68
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

ln addition, language proficiency should be seen as a journey for applicants where full
proficiency may not achieved at the point in time when a candidate is otheruvise qualified to
begin work in a profession or skilled trade. ln these situations, regulators should exhibit
flexibility to let these candidates through the registration gate, coupled with a strategy to
enhance these competencies as part of a continuing professional development plan.

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this
legal obligation to help provide for a better experience and outcomes for all applicants:

The regulator's language proficiency standards should align with the skill level required

to practise the profession or trade and / or pass the regulator's registration
examinations. These standards should not exceed the proficiency levels that are

commonly accepted in employment settings and should also be referenced to the
Canadian Language Benchmark rating system.

o

a

a

a

The regulator should provide applicants with a variety of options on how they can

demonstrate language proficiency in English or French. These may include:

o identifying countries where the language of education is either English or French

and presumptively deeming applicants who have graduated from these
jurisdictions to meet the regulator's language proficiency requirements (a practice

followed by the Ontario College of Teachers);
o providing applicants with the option to submit documentation establishing that

they received their primary or secondary education in English or French and

deeming those applicants to have met the relevant requirements; and

o offering applicants the option to submit documentation to establish that they have

been employed or performed profession / trade-related tasks in an environment
where the language of communication is English or French, or both, and

assessing language proficiency against this experience.

ln tight labour supply environments, regulators may decide to licence internationally
trained applicants provisionally subject to the condition that they improve their language
proficiency skills while serving the public in the workplace (an approach that the College
of Nurses of Ontario has recently taken.)

There may also be situations in which an applicant is able to safely practice without
reaching language proficiency at levels that a regulator normally requires.

ln this situation, a regulator may, on-a case-by-case basis, review the alternative that an

applicant proposes with a view towards exempting the individual from the ordinary
language proficiency requirement and grant an exemption, subject to the applicant's

January 2024 28



69

a

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

agreement to satisfy specific conditions, including the availability of a translator (a
practice followed by the College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and
Acupuncturists of Ontario).

Where a regulator has already established alternatives to its language proficiency

requirements, or wishes to introduce new ones, it should:
o regularly review its language proficiency criteria to confirm that they remain

relevant and necessary for the practice of the profession or trade, and whether
there are alternatives and / or innovative ways to demonstrate language
competencies;

o adopt the best set of alternatives that match the profession's or trade's individual
context;

o ensure that language proficiency alternatives are accessible and affordable;

o regularly engage with employer groups to ensure that the regulator's approach to

language proficiency is aligned with employer needs given labour market
shortages in many sectors of the economy;

o identify and focus on the outcomes that the language proficiency requirement
seeks to achieve;

o recognize the variety of ways that individuals from different cultures develop
language skills and abilities, and adopt successful approaches that other
regulators or jurisdictions have implemented;

o leverage technology and web-based tools to capture process efficiencies; and

o in consultation with the post-secondary educational sector, offer applicants

improved access to individual language courses, bridging programs and micro-
credential and / or advanced-standing opportunities to enable them to fulfill any
missing language competencies in a timely fashion.

Obligation No 7: The Regulated Profession Shall Ensure that Training is
Provided to the lndividuals Assessing Qualifications and Making
Registration, or lnternal Review or Appeal Decisions.

Section 11 of FARPACTA reads as follows

A regulated profession shall ensure that individuals assessing qualifications and making
registration decisions or internal review, or appealdecisions have received training that
includes, where appropriate,

a) training on how to hold hearings; and
b) training in any special considerations that may apply in the assessmenf of

applications and the process for applying those considerations.

How the OFC Wiil Ascertain whether the Regulator has Met Obligation No.7:

January 2024

-
;q

29



70
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

The individuals who make assessment, registration, internal review or appeal decisions are

exercising important authorities that will often have significant consequences for applicants. lt

is important, therefore, that they possess the skills and knowledge necessary to correctly
analyse individual situations and to exercise their judgment in a fair and consistent manner.

It is also critical that these decision-makers possess an appropriate level of cultural
competency since that they will regularly dealwith internationally trained applicants from a
broad array of countries and with distinct educational backgrounds and work experiences.
ln order to ascertain whether a regulator has met this obligation, the OFC will seek information
from the regulator on the training that it provides to decision makers and confirm that the
required training topics identified in section 11 of FARPACTA have been appropriately
addressed. This inquiry would ordinarily include a review of relevant documentation, including

an assessment of orientation and initial training materials for new members undertaking this
work and the nature of continuing professional development.

ln more particular terms, the OFC will seek confirmation that the following topics have been

addressed in the relevant training materials:

o how to assess qualifications, and to issue clear, concise, coherent and easyto-
understand decisions;

. the objectives of fair access legislation and the four guiding principles;

. cultural competency; and

. how to issue impartial and objective decisions in the context of assessment, registration
and appeal processes.

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this
obligation to provide for a better experience and outcomes for all applicants:

the regulator should pair experienced decision-makers with individuals who are new to
the role;

the regulator should provide opportunities to discuss difficult cases, while ensuring that
the presiding member(s) retains authority to make the final decision;

the regulator should ensure that individuals who assume this work understand their role
and can exercise their functions independently and, in an objective and arms-length
fashion, and

Fair Registration Best Pracfices Related to Obligation No.7:

o

a

a

January 2024 30



a

71
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

the regulator should retain a trusted expert, with legal and adjudication expertise, to
periodically review its training materials and to provide input on how they could be
improved substantively and from the perspective of procedural fairness.

)I
l:

=-l

The OFC will shortly begin consultations on creating an inclusion and anti-racism lens to help
regulators make culturally competent registration decision. Once this work is completed, this
section will be updated.

Obligation No 8: The Regulated Profession Shall Provide Applicants with
Access to their Records.

Section 12 of FARPACTA reads as follows

(1) Upon the wriften request of an applicant for registration by a regulated profession, the
regulated profession shall provide the applicant with access to records held by it that
are related to the application.

(2) Despite subsection (1), a regulated profession may refuse access to a record if,

(a) the record or any information in the record is subject to a legal privilege that
restricts disclosure of the record or the information, as the case may be;

(b) another Act, an Act of Canada or a court order prohibits disclosure of the record
or any information in the record in the circumstances;

(c) granting the access could reasonably be expected to lead to the identification of
a person who provided information in the record to the regulated profession
explicitly or implicitly in confidence, and the regulated profession considers it
appropriate in the circumstances that the identity of the person be kept
confidential; or

(d) granting the access could negatively affect public safety or could undermine the
integrity of the registration process.

(3) Despite subsection (2), an applicant has a right of access fo that paft of a record that
can reasonably be severed from the part to which the applicant does not have a right of
access by reason of that subsection.

(4) A regulated profession shall establish a process under which reguesfs for access to
records will be considered.

(5) A regulated profession may charge the applicant a fee for making records available if it
first gives the applicant an estimate of the fee.

January 2024 31



Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

(6) The amount of the fee shall not exceed the amount prescribed by the regulations or the

amount of reasonable cost recovery if no amount is prescribed.

(7) A regulated profession may waive the payment of all or any part of the fee that an

applicant is required to pay under subsection (5) if, in its opinion, it is fair and equitable
to do so.

How the OFC Will Ascertain whether the Regulator has Met its Obligation No.8:

Under this provision, upon written request, a regulator is required to provide access to an

applicant of the records regarding this individual's application that the regulator has in its
possession. This obligation is subject to certain exceptions.

The object of this section is to ensure that an applicant can review materials relating to their

application for registration to ascertain whether it has been processed appropriately and

whether to request a reconsideration, review or appeal. This provision constitutes an element
of proceduralfairness in that it allows applicants to know the case that they must meet in order

to seek redress from the decision made (or one that has been delayed).

ln order to ascertain whether the regulator has met the obligation set out in section '12 of
FARPACTA, the OFC will review the processes that the regulator has put into place to address
these disclosure requirements. The OFC will also seek evidence from the regulator that the
fees, if any, that the regulator charges to provide access to records do not exceed the amount
of reasonable cost recovery.

Fair Registration Best Pracfices Related to Obligation No.8:

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this

obligation to provide for a better experience and outcomes for all applicants:

The regulator informs applicants at the beginning of the registration process of their
right to access their records and the circumstances under which access to records will

be provided.

72

Where appropriate, the regulator provides context around any records that are provided

to the applicant and offers the individual a contact person should they have any further
questions.

The regulator provides clear direction to staff that:

o identifies the specific documents that would typically form part of an applicant's
records package;

a

a

a

January 2024 32



73

i

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

o outlines the procedures to apply when addressing an applicant's records request;
o includes guidelines on the situations where certain documents contained in a

records package may be withheld from disclosure;
o establishes timelines or service standards for providing such access; and
o makes legal counsel available to staff to address any contentious issues.

Obligation No 9: The Regulated Profession Shall File an Emergency
Registration Plan with the Fairness Gommissioner within One Year after
this Section Gomes into Force.

Section 7 of Ontario Regulation261l22 made under FARPACTA specifies that:

(1) A regulated profession shallfile an emergency registration plan with the Fairness
Commissioner within one year after this section comes into force.

(2) A regulated profession shall update the plan whenever there is a change in
circumstances that may affect the plan and, in any case, at least once every five years,
and shallfile the updated plan with the Fairness Commissioner within 30 days after the
update.

(3) The plan shall include,
(a) the date on which the plan was /asf updated;
(b) the date of the next planned update;
(c) measures to maintain continuity of the regulated profession's registration

practices during an emergency;
(d) where considered by the regulated profession to be appropriate, measures to

grant temporary registration during an emergency;
(e) where considered by the regulated profession to be appropriate, measures to

expedite the renewal of registration and renewal of temporary registration during
an emergency; and

(f) a plan for maintaining communication with applicants and the public with respect
to the regulated profession's registration practices during an emergency.

As section 7 was proclaimed into force on July 1,2023, the regulator must file its emergency
registration plan (ERP) with the OFC by July 2,2024.

Section 7 effectively requires that professional regulators create and file an ERP with the OFC
by a defined date, ensure that it addresses the stipulated elements, and keep that plan up to
date.

January 2024 33



74
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

Please note that this set of obligations applies to all regulated professions defined under

schedule 1 of FARPACTA and not to the health regulatory colleges that are governed under
Schedule 2 of the RHPA.

How the OFC Will Ascertain whether the Regulator Has Met Obligation IVo. 9;

The OFC willwork with professional regulators to ensure that they have filed their ERPs by the
prescribed date and that the plan contains the items identified in section 7(3) of the regulation.

The office will also review the contents of each plan that it receives and may choose to provide

comments to the regulator. The OFC is also willing to review a draft plan before it is brought to

the regulator's governing body for approval.

The OFC may also request that professional regulators share any instances where they may

have relied on the provisions of their ERP as part of their Fair Registration Practices Reports

that they are required to file on an annual basis.

Fair Registration Best Pracfices Related to Obligation IVo. 9;

What follows are the OFC's perspectives on how professional regulators can further advance
the spirit and intent of these regulatory provisions and provide a superior client experience and

better outcomes for all applicants.

The objective of section 7 is to ensure that each professional regulator has turned its mind to

the steps that it needs to take to maintain continuity of its registration practices during an

emergency. This is not a theoretical concern as the Covid-19 pandemic recently disrupted the
registration plans of thousands of applicants to the professions and skilled trades.

While there will be common elements to an ERP across the spectrum of FARPACTA
regulators, there will be differences as well, given that no two regulators approach their
assessment and registration processes in precisely the same way. The common goal,

however, is for regulators to assess how an emergency will likely impact the organization's
registration processes and to mitigate these risks in a way that minimizes impacts for both

registrants and the Ontario public.

What is an Emergency Situation?
Neither FARPACTA nor the regulation defines the term "emergency". Thus, professional

regulators have been given a wide latitude to define this term in a way that is reasonable

according to their own situations and needs.

January 2024 34



75

-
I

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

ln this respect, some examples of emergency situations could include physical disasters (e.9.,

earthquakes), pandemics, cyber attacks and scenarios where there is a serious shortage of
professionals or skilled trades persons to meet a defined and critical public need.

What is an Emergency Registration Plan, Why is if necessary and What ltems Should
the Plan lnclude?
An ERP can best be thought of as a professional regulator's strategy to maintain the continuity
of its registration processes, during unforeseen circumstances. Since such "black swan"
events have become increasingly more common, pre-planning for these events has become
essential.

Emergency situations are often associated with an urgent need for rapid decisions but in an
environment of time constraints and resource scarcity. There is also a compelling need for
clear and reassuring communications in scenarios where applicants are unsure about their
futures and depend upon clear information.

ln addition, how a government chooses to respond to an emergency may narrow the available
options for regulators. During the Covid-19 pandemic, for example, organizations needed to
work around restrictions on public gatherings, travel, and the locations on where examinations
could be held.

A well-conceived ERP should contain both risk identification and mitigation components. lt
should also specify the pathway for an organization to recover from the impacts of the
emergency. While the OFC does not possess deep expertise in the development of such
plans, it wishes to offer some information and advice on the process for developing such plans,

and their contents, much of which was garnered during the Covid-19 pandemic.

ln the registration context, the OFC believes that an ERP should address, among other things,
the professional regulator's ability to:

o Receive documentation from, and to otherwise communicate with, applicants.
. Receive documentation from educational institutions.
o Keep candidate assessment processes moving.
. Maintain a reasonable schedule of examinations.
o Find workarounds to allow candidates to provisionally register in a profession or skilled

trade and to later complete any outstanding licensure requirements.
. Communicate often, authoritatively and sensitively with applicants to the profession or

skilled trade.

Many regulators have delegated portions of their assessment and testing processes to third-
party service providers. On this basis, it is criticalthat, in developing their ERPs, they bring

January 2024 35



76
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

these entities into discussions on the parameters of the plan, and on service continuity goals

more generally. Similarly, it would be a best practice for regulators to consult with other
stakeholders, including past and present applicants to the profession, to better grasp the
issues to be addressed.

Sections 7(3Xd) and (e) of the regulation also provides professional regulators with the option
to include two additional items in their ERPs. These are measures to grant temporary
registration during an emergency and to expedite the renewal of registration and renewal of
temporary registration during an emergency.

Since the length of an emergency can be difficult to predict, it is particularly important for an

ERP to provide for predictable and seamless processes for applicants to renew their licenses
until more normal conditions return.

ln both cases, professional regulators must ensure that their existing legislative frameworks
will enable these steps to be taken.

The recent experience with the Covid-19 pandemic also demonstrated that regulators that
could rely on electronic registration processes fared much better than those who utilized
paper-based systems. Thus, an investment in this functionality would represent a key

mechanism to mitigate the impacts of many emergency situations.

Similarly, organizations that offered applicants the ability to take their examinations in a

virtually proctored environment, and to, thereby, avoid congregate settings, often removed a

substantial barrier to regulation. The OFC believes that the maintenance of a virtual or hybrid

examination capacity (e.9., in person and virtual), will generally enhance the ability of
regulators to remain flexible and to maintain continuity of services in an increasingly complex
environment.

It would also be important for regulators to consider whether their current legislative and

regulatory frameworks are sufficiently flexible to enable an agile response during emergency
situations. ln general terms, regulators can adjust their processes more easily, where their
regulatory and decision-making frameworks are straightfonruard and minimize the number of
steps required to confirm a new registration practice.

The Covid-19 experience has also shown that, during an emergency, ordinary decision-making
channels get jammed up with competing priorities. lt is, therefore, more challenging for a
regulator to gain the attention of government to fix problems that could have been addressed
earlier in a less hectic environment.

January 2024 36



i
I

77
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

While the OFC has not offered a particular template for the development of the ERP,
regulators may find the following resources to be of assistance:

. Government of Ontario Emerqency Manaqement page

. Emerqencv Management Framework for Ontario paqe

How the OFC Can Assisf
The OFC appreciates that the process of conceiving, and consulting upon, such a plan can be
complex. For that reason, regulators are welcome to reach out to their assigned OFC
compliance analyst to seek further advice, information and best practices on this important
topic.

3. Review and Reporting Obligations

3.1 Other Compliance Obligations lnvolving the Provision of a Report

Requirement No.1: The Regulated Profession Shall Undertake a Review of its
Registration Practices and File a Report.

Section 19 of FARPACTA reads as follows:
(1) Every regulated profession shall undertake a review of its registration practices at

times specified by the Farrness Commissioner to ensure that the registration
practices are transparent, objective, impartial and fair and shallfile a report on the
resulfs with the Faimess Commissioner by the date specified by the Fairness
Commissioner.

(2) The review shall include an analysis of,

(a) the extent to which the requirements for registration are necessary for or
relevant to the practice of the profession;

(b) the efficiency and timeliness of decision-making; and
(c) the reasonableness of the fees charged by the regulated profession in

respect of registration s.

How the OFC Wiil Ascertain whether the Regulator Has Met Reporting
Requirement No. 1:

As part of his duties, the Fairness Commissioner may require that a regulator undertake a

review of its registration practices to ensure that they are transparent, objective, impartial and
fair. While the Fairness Commissioner can specify the scope of this review, the commissioner
must, at a minimum, include an analysis of (a) the extent to which the requirements for
registration are necessary for, or relevant to, the practice of the profession, (b) the efficiency

January 2024 37



78
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

and timeliness of decision-making and (c) the reasonableness of the fees charged by the

regulated profession in respect of registrations.

This provision underscores that regulators must adopt registration practices that are

transparent, objective, impartial and fair. ln general terms, the Fairness Commissioner will

require that such a review be undertaken to address registration issues and/or complaints of a

systemic nature or where a regulator has failed to take reasonable steps to address a material

and/or longstanding reg istration matter.

Section 23(1) of the Act also requires that the regulated profession make the report that it

submits to the Fairness Commissioner, public.

As mentioned previously, section 19 reports must address, at a minimum, three specific
issues, which will now be considered individually.

(a) The extent to which the requirements for registration are necessary for, or relevant
to, the practice of the profession

The registration requirements to enter a profession will typically identify the qualifications that
an applicant must possess, the documentation that the applicant must provide to validate that
these qualifications have been met, attributes of a good character or suitability to practice, and

the fees that applicants must pay to engage the process. Qualifications, in turn, would most

often include:

o academiccredentials;
. evidence of language proficiency;
. practical (workplace) or clinical experience;
. successful completion of registration examinations; and
o other forms of competency assessments.

Some of these requirements may be found in a profession's or trade's governing statute or
regulations. ln other cases, the regulator may set these out in its bylaws and in its policies.

Regulators establish those requirements to ascertain which applicants for registration are
qualified to practice in the profession or trade. To this end, it is important that the requirements

are, in the words of the statue, "necessary for or relevant to the practice of the profession".

When reviewing the registration requirements for necessity and relevance, the OFC will

consider the following factors:

the rationale that the regulator has put fonrard to justify these requirements;o

January 2024 38



79
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

whether the requirements are reasonable proxies for the individual's capacity or
competencies to practice the profession;

whether the requirements produce unintended or differential impacts on internationally
trained applicants or other groups of applicants; and

whether there are practical alternatives to the requirements or the methods of
assessment.

Fair Registration Best Pracfices Related to Relevancy and Necessity of the
Req u i rem ents fo r Reg i strati o n

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this
requirement to provide for a better experience and outcomes for all applicants:
ln assessing whether its registration requirements are necessary to, and relevant for, the
practice of a profession, a regulator could undertake a self-assessment of its processes by:

o matching its registration requirements to the competencies necessary to practice the
profession;

. linking each current assessment method to the corresponding registration requirement
or competency required for entry-to-practice;

o analyzing the results to determine whether there exist any overlaps and/or gaps; and
o assessing whether there are alternate modalities through which these competencies

could be demonstrated in a way that preserves the public interest.

A critical component of a fair registration process involves the time that it takes a regulator to
make its registration decisions. This feature of timeliness depends on how effectively the
regulator can control the various elements of its registration process.

While a regulator can most directly control steps within its ambit (such as the efficiency of its
registration committee), in other cases, third party service providers may control inputs into the
process. ln these scenarios, regulators are responsible for ensuring that the third party

undertakes its work in a timely fashion.

ln still other cases, it is the applicants who will be responsible for ensuring that they take timely
steps to initiate and progress through the registration process expeditiously (e.9., provide the
necessary documentation).

When reviewing the efficiency and timeliness of a regulator's decision-making process, the
OFC will take into account the following considerations:

a

a

a

I
=

(b) The efficiency and timelines of decision-making

January 2024 39



Fair Registration Best Pracfices Related to the Timeliness of Decision-Making

80
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

. whether the regulator has developed both average and maximum time standards to
process the great majority of its caseload (e.9., 90 percent of cases completed within six

months);
. whether the regulator regularly measures its performance against these time standards

and report the results to its board of directors or council and the public;

. whether the regulator periodically reviews its registration processes to identify gaps,

bottlenecks and inefficiencies;
. whether the registration procedures and associated resourcing potentially favour one

group of applicants over another (e.9., domestically trained versus internationally

trained applicants);
o whether staff or members involved in the registration process are properly trained and

can devote the time and energy necessary to superintend this work in a professional

and empathic fashion;
r whether staffing levels are appropriate to efficiently process case volumes:
. how the regulator's performance compares with similarly situated regulators.

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this

requirement to provide for a better experience and outcomes for all applicants:
ln assessing whether its decision-making is timely and efficient, a regulator could assess its

processes in the following manner:

. identify the registration steps over which the regulator and its third-party service
providers exercise control and establish time standards for each of these steps;

. ascertain the average time taken for an applicant to move through each of these steps,

considering both mean and median time frames and the treatment of outlier cases;

. determine how these measurements may have changed over time;

. consider whether there are any bottlenecks in the system and whether adequate
resources have been allocated to discrete aspects of the registration process and the
system as a whole;

. identify opportunities for streamlining registration procedures without compromising
service quality;

o cofilp€lre performance with statistics obtained from similarly situated regulators; and

o provid€ recommendations to senior management and/or to the regulators board of
directors/council.

(c) Reasonableness of the fees charged by the regulated profession in respect of
registrations

January 2024 40



I
=iI
l

81
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

Both regulators and third-party service providers will $pically charge fees for the services that
form part of the registration process. The total fees that an applicant will be expected to pay
will depend on the number of steps required for registration and the fee schedules that service
providers apply

When assessing whether the fees that a regulator charges are reasonable, the OFC will take
into account the following considerations:

o the rationale for setting the fee amounts;
r how the fees relate to the cost of providing the services;
o how the fees charged compare with those administered by regulators that are similarly

situated;
. whether the regulator has explored opportunities to downwardly adjust fees and acted

upon the findings of these reviews; and
. whether the quantum of fees pose a potential hardship for qualified applicants and

whether the regulator has adopted a fee waiver policy to reduce or eliminate these fees
in appropriate circumstances.

Fair Registration Best Pracfices Related to fhe Reasonableness of Fees

What follows are examples of how regulators can further advance the spirit and intent of this
obligation to provide for a better experience and outcomes for all applicants:

The regulator should conduct periodic reviews of its fee schedule to help ensure that
costing assumptions remain valid.

The regulator should consult with organizations representing applicants and other
stakeholders when initially setting fees and periodically adjusting them.
The regulator could similarly apply an inclusion lens in setting fees by conducting an
impact analysis that involves ascertaining the effects of fees on various applicant
groups (e.9., domestic versus internationally trained applicants). lf these effects are
found to be substantial, the regulator could introduce different fee scales or, based on

evidence of need, decide to reduce, defer or waive fees for applicants in appropriate
circumstances.

Requirement No.2: The Regulated Profession Shall Provide a Report or
lnformation on its Gompliance with the Legislation.

Section 22 of FARPACTA reads as follows

(1) The Fairness Commissioner may require that a regulated profession provide the
Fairness Commissioner with reports or information relating to the regulated

a

a

a

January 2024 41



82
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

profession's compliance with this Act and the regulations and the regulated
profession shall prepare and file the reports with, or provide the information to, the

F ai rn e ss Co m m i ssion er.

(2) Reports and information required under subsection (1) are in addition to the reports
required under secfions 19, 20 and 21 .

How the OFC Will Ascertain whether the Regulator has Met Reporting
Requirement No.2:

Whereas section 19 of the Act requires that a regulator undertake a review of its registration
practices to ensure that they are transparent, objective, impartial and fair, section 22 (1)

focuses on compliance with the provisions of the Act and its regulations. ln general terms, the

OFC would rely on section 22 (1) where it has identified issues relating to instances of a

regulator's non-compliance with its legal obligations that are serious, pervasive or longstanding

in nature.

Corollary Provisions Relating fo Secfions 19 and 22 of FARPACTA

Sections 23 and 24 of FARPACTA impose additional obligations on regulators when they
provide reports to the OFC.

Section 23 of the specifies that

(1) A regulated profession shall file all repofts required to be filed by it under this Act or
the regulations with the Fairness Commissioner by the dates specified by the

F ai rn e ss Com mi ssion er.

(2) A regulated profession shall make reports filed under subsection (1) available to the
public.

Section 24 of FARPACTA reads as follows:

(1) Reports and certificates required by this Part and under the regulations shall be in
the form and contain the information specified by the Fairness Commissioner or as

may be specified in the regulations.

(2) Despite subsection (1), no report or other document prepared and submitted by any
person for the pu4poses of this Act or the regulations shall contain personal

information.

January 2024 42



I

=

83
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

Section 23 (1) requires that regulators file all reports by the deadlines that the Fairness
Commissioner specifies. Section 24 is an important transparency provision which, among
other things, obliges regulators to make their reports available to the public.

3.2 Annual or Period Reporting Obligations

Reporting Requirement No.l: The Regulated Profession Shall Prepare and File a Fair
Reg i strati o n P ra cti ces Repor{.

Section 20 of FARPACTA reads as follows:

A regulated profession shall prepare a fair registration practices report annually or at
such other times as the Farrness Commissioner may specify or at such times as may be
specified in the regulations.

Section 6 of Ontario Regulation 261122 made under FARPACTA specifies that

(1) The report referred to in section 20 of the Act shall include data respecting,
(a) the regulated profession's compliance with the time limits set out in section 5;
(b) the regulated profession's ability to register internationally trained individuals

who are eligible for registration without conditions within one year after the earlier
of,

(i) the date the regulated profession receives everything it requires in respect of
the individual's application for registration, and

(ii) the date any third party fhaf assesses fhe individual's qualifications on
behalf of the regulated profession receives everything it requires for that
purpose; and

(c) where a regulated profession has been unable to meet the one-year standard
referred to in paragraph (b), fhe sfeps being taken by the regulated profession to
meet that standard.

(2) The report shall be made available to the public by posting it on the regulated
profession's websife within 60 days after filing the report with the Faimess
Commissioner.

(3) This section applies only with respect to new applications for registration received
from internationally trained individuals by a regulated profession on or after the day this
section comes into force.

How the OFC Will Ascertain whether the Regulator has Met its Reporting
Requirement NoJ:

January 2024 43



84
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

Historically, the OFC has specified the discrete questions to be responded to in its Fair
Registration Practices Report (FRP) template. To ascertain whether a regulator has met this
reporting requirement, the OFC will confirm that the regulator has prepared and submitted the
required report and will review the completed document to ensure that is has been prepared

thoughtfully and responds fully to the questions that have been posed.

The questions that will form part of the FRP will be refreshed periodically to ensure that they
remain relevant and aligned with updated legislative and regulatory requirements, the OFCs
updated risk-informed compliance framework and broader system-wide objectives.

ln addition, section 6 of Ontario Regulation 261122 stipulates that the annual FRP Report shall
include data on a regulator's compliance with the six-month registration standard, and its ability
to meet the one-year standard for the registration of internationally trained individuals, or
where the regulated profession has been unable to meet the one-year standard, the steps that
it is taking to meet the standard.

These provisions apply to new applications for registration for internationally trained individuals
that a regulator receives from July 1, 2023, onwards. Public reporting will begin in the 2024
FRP Report, to coincide with the first full calendar year where this new legal obligation applies.

The OFC considers that the assessment of a regulator's ability to meet the one-year time
standard is particularly important since it measures the total time that it takes an applicant to
move through the assessment and registration.

As such, the OFC may ask the regulator to provide a supplementary process map outlining
each of the steps in its assessment and registration process and the time required for an

applicant to complete each step, to assess whether an applicant could feasibly complete all

steps within a one-year period.

ln situations where a regulator relies on a third-party service provider for some or all its

assessment activities, the OFC also recommends that the two organizations work together to
ensure a common approach to defining the starting point for the 12-month time limit, and to
facilitate measurement of total time from this point to communication of a registration decision

Upon receipt, the OFC will carefully review the data contained in the FRP and pay particular

attention to the point in time that the regulator deems its assessment process to begin. Where
a regulator is unable to assess and register an internationally trained applicant in one year, the
OFC will assess the steps that a regulator is taking to achieve this standard and undertake
discussions on what further steps can be taken.

January 2024 44



85
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

ln conducting this analysis, the OFC will consider, among other things

the frequency of a regulator's examination offerings and the availability of seats;

whether applicants are able to complete some or all of the steps in the assessment and
registration process in their home jurisdictions;

whether the regulator and / or third-party service provider has published service
standards for each stage of the process and measures its / their performance against
these standards;

the existence of validated complaints from applicants or stakeholder groups regarding
the overall length of the registration process; and

a

a

a

a

-
q
j
1

comparisons of results with similarly situated regulators.

Pursuant to section 23 (1) of the Act and subsection 6(2) of the regulation the OFC will also
verify that the regulator has made the report which contains this data publicly available within
60 days after filing the report with the Fairness Commissioner.

The OFC recognizes that the process of adopting appropriate licensing and reporting
requirements can be complex. On this basis, regulators are welcome to reach out to their
assigned OFC compliance analyst to obtain further information and advice on these topics

3.3 Audits

The authority of the Fairness Commissioner to order regulators to undergo audits is set out in
section 21 of FARPACTA as follows:

(1) Every three years or at such other times as the Falness Commissioner may specify or
at such times as may be specified in the regulations, the Fairness Commissioner shall
give notice to a regulated profession that an audit must be conducted in respect of its
registration practices and of its compliance with this Act and the regulations.

(2) The Fairness Commissioner shall give the notice required by subsection (1) at least 90
days before the audit is to begin and the notice shall state,

(a) that the regulated profession must choose and appoint an auditor from the roster
established by the Fairness Commissioner by the date specified in the notice;

(b) that if the regulated profession fails to choose and appoint an auditor by the date
specified in the notice that the Fairness Commissioner will choose the auditor;

(c) the scope of the audit and the audit standards that shall apply;

January 2024 45



86
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

(d) the date by which the audit must be completed; and
(e) that the regulated profession is responsible for paying the auditor's fees and

expenses.

(3) The regulated profession shall, by the date specified in the notice, choose and appoint
an auditor from the roster established by the Fairness Commissioner and notify the
Fairness Commissioner of its choice.

@) lf a regulated profession fails to notify the Fairness Commissioner of the name of the

auditor it has chosen and appointed by the date specified in the notice, the Fairness

Commissioner shall choose the auditor and notify the regulated profession of his or her
choice and the auditor shall be deemed to have been appointed by the regulated
profession.

(5) The auditor chosen and appointed under subsection (3) or (4) shall begin the audit
promptly, shall conduct it in accordance with the scope of the audit and the audit
standards set out in the notice under subsection (2) and shall complete the audit by the

date set out in the notice.

(6) An auditor may collect personal information, directly or indirectly, only for the purpose of
an audit required under this section, but an auditor shall not retain any personal
information after completing the audit and shall not include any personal information in

any draft report or final repoft submitted in accordance with this section.

(7) A regulafed profiession shall co-operate with the auditor and shall,
(a) produce such records for, and provide such other information to, the auditor

regarding its registration practices and any other matters related to compliance
by the regulated profession with this Act and the regulations as are reasonably
necessary for the auditor to perform his or her duties under this Act, including
any reports required from the regulated profession under section 19, 20 or 22 or
the regulations; and

(b) provide the auditor with any assisfance that is reasonably necessary, including

assisfance in using any data storage, processing or retrievaldevice or system, to
produce a record in readable form.

(8) Despite subsection (7), a regulated profession may refuse access to a record if,

(a) the record or any information in the record is subject to a legal privilege that
resfrlcfs disclosure of the record or the information; or

(b) another Act, an Act of Canada or a court order prohibits disclosure of the record
or any information in the record in the circumstances

January 2024 46



87

-
-

Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

(9) The auditor shall prepare a draft report on the audit and provide a copy of it to the
regulated profession, together with a notice that the profession may, within 30 days,
make written submissions to the auditor on the draft report.

(10) The auditor shall consider the submisslons, if any, made by the regulated profession
and may make any changes fhe auditor considers appropriate before finalizing the
reporT.

(11) The auditor shall make a final report on the audit and shall file it with the Fairness
Commissioner and provide a copy to the regulated profession to which the audit
relates.

(12) The auditor shallfile a certificate with the Fairness Commissioner certifying that the
auditor conducted the audit in accordance with this Act and the regulations and that he
or she has provided a copy of the auditor's report to the regulated profession.

(13) An audit is complete when the auditor has provided a copy of the final report to the
regulated profession to which the audit relates and has filed with the Fairness
Commissioner the final report and the certificate referred to in subsection (12) and, if
the regulated profession made submrssions to the auditor on the draft report, a copy of
the submissions made by the regulated profession.

ft Q The Fairness Commissioner shall provide the Minister with a copy of all auditors'
reports within a reasonable time after receiving them.

(15) The regulated profession shall pay the auditor's fees and expenses.

The OFC equates the audit function to an independent investigation undertaken by a third
party whose credentials the OFC approves. The auditor will be required to produce a report
with findings and recommendations. Under the legislation, the cost of the audit is borne by the
regulator and the final report must be filed with the minister.

Where the OFC determines that an audit is required, it will typically have acquired a firm
understanding of the situations where a regulator has not achieved compliance with the
legislation. On this basis, the office will most often employ an audit to undertake a defined and
targeted review of material and persistent deficiencies identified in a regulator's registration
processes.

Given the significant nature, cost and intrusiveness of the audit authority, the OFC will apply
this tool following a review of all other options and only where the circumstances so warrant.

January 2024 47



88
Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best Practices Guide

AppendiX 1: Registration time limits that apply to domestic labour mobility
applicants and internationally trained individuals

DLMA: an individualwho has applied for registration in Ontario and is currently
registered with a body that regulates the same profession in a Canadian province or
territory other than Ontario.
lTl: an individual who has been trained in a country other than Canada to practise a

regulated profession and who has applied for registration in that regulated profession in

Ontario.

Notes
1.

2

DMLA (1) rr (2)

Acknowledgement of an
Application:
Regulator to provide written
acknowledgement of the
application, and inform the
applicant as to whether the
application is complete.

10 buslness davs
after receiving an application for registration

Reg i strati o n Deci si on :
Regulator to communicate the
decision in writing, provide reasons
as required, and provide
information on rights to an internal
review or appeal including any
applicable procedu res and
deadlines.

30 busrness days after
receipt of a complete

application

90 per cent within six
months after receipt of
a complete application

Appeal or Review Decision:
Regulator to provide applicant with
written communication of a
decision made upon following the
internal review or of appeal and
written reasons respecting the
decision.

70 busrness days
after internal review or appeal decision

January 2024 48



I
-i

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
BUREAU DU coMMrssArRE e l'EeurrE

180 Dundas Street W., Suite 300, Toronto ON M7A 256
180, rue Dundas O., Bureau 300, Toronto (Ontario) M7A 256

ofc@ontario.ca
www. FairnessCommissioner. ca

January 2024 49



Information and Advice to Regulators
on Alternatives to Ganadian Experience

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

coMMrssArRE a l'EourrE

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
BUREAU DU coMMrssArRE n l'EourrE

An agency of the Government of Ontario / Un organisme du gouvernement de I'Ontario



T
l

Jq

=

lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

Background 91

Recent amendments have been made to the Fair Access to Regulated Professions and
Compulsory Trades Act, 2006 (FARPACTA or the Act), and to Ontario Regulation 621122 (lhe
regulation) made under the Act, that now limit the ability of regulated professions (regulators)

to retain Canadian experience requirements (CERs).

Please note that these amendments do not apply to the regulated health colleges that are
governed by the CER provisions found in the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 and
section 4 of Ontario Regulation 508122 made under that statute. However, health regulators
may equally benefit form reviewing the best practices section of this document.

ln general terms, section 10.2 of FARPACTA prohibits a regulator from retaining a CER unless
the Minister of Labour, lmmigration, Training and Skills Development (MLITSD) grants an

exemption for public health and safety reasons or where the regulator has established a viable
alternative to its CER based on the criteria outlined in section 1.2(1)1. of the regulation.

Historically, some regulators have determined that experiential requirements should be

incorporated into their registration practices. These may take the form of a set period of work
experience or experiential training, sometimes described as an internship or articling
placement. ln some cases, regulators have required that all, or a portion, of this work
experience or experiential training be obtained in a Canadian work setting.

Over the years, a variety of stakeholders - particularly in the human rights, government, and

immigration spheres -- have argued that CERs materially prevent internationally trained
applicants (lTAs) from obtaining registration and employment and that they are, prima facie,

discriminatory in nature.

These experiential requirements often represent the "last mile" in a long and costly registration
journey for lTAs. Canadian experience is not always easy to come by and some candidates
simply give up because they cannot obtain it.

As mentioned previously, section 10.2 of FARPACTA is the key statutory provision that
addresses CERs. Subsection 10.2(1) specifies that:

A regulated profession shall not require as a qualification for registration that a person's
experience be Canadian experience unless an exemption from the prohibition is granted
by the Minister for the purposes of public health and safety in accordance with the
regulations.

1February 2024



92
lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

The section, in turn, gave regulators until December 3,2023, to obtain such an exemption,
failing which any existing Canadian experience requirement would become void.

Section 10.2 (1.1) of the Act further allows a regulator to maintain a CER if it also adopts an

alternative:

A regulated profession may accept Canadian experience in satisfaction of a qualification

for registration only if it also accepts alternatives to Canadian experience that meet the
criteria prescribed by the regulations.

Sub-section 1.2 (1) of the regulation spells out these criteria as follows

A regulated profession may accept Canadian experience in satisfaction of a qualification for
registration only if it also accepts alternatives to Canadian experience that meet the following
criteria:

1. The alternative must involve international work experience or experiential training that
enables a person to acquire competencies that,

i. are clearly defined by the regulated profession,

ii. are necessary to the practice of the regulated profession,

iii. are the same as or substantially similar to those that would be acquired through
Canadian experience that satisfies the qualification requirement,

iv. would qualify the person for the same type of membership in the regulated
profession that would be granted to an applicant whose Canadian experience
safisfies the qualification requirement, and

v. can be obtained in at least one country other than Canada.

2. The work experience or experiential training may be obtained in any jurisdiction outside
of Canada in which a person can acquire the competencies described in paragraph 1.

3. lf the alternative includes an individualassessment, the assessment must be available
to applicants with work experience or experiential training obtained in any jurisdiction

outside of Canada, and must be available to such applicants,

i. on a regular basis, and
ii. for a reasonable fee, if any fee is charged

2February 2024



I
l

=
=

93
lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

Sub-section 1.2 (2) goes on to indicate that, for greater certainty, subparagraph 3 ii of
subsection (1) does not authorize any regulated profession or other body to charge fees for an
assessment.

Sub-section 1.2 (3) then stipulates that a description of an alternative, including the
requirements for obtaining the work experience or experiential training, the competencies to be
acquired through the work experience or experiential training, and any individual assessment,
must be published on a publicly accessible website maintained by the regulated profession.

Information and Advice to Regulators

Pursuant to its authority under section 13(3Xe) of FARPACTA, the Office of the Fairness
Commissioner (OFC) is pleased to provide information and advice to regulated professions to
enable them to better understand how to comply with the requirements of the Act as identified
above.

The OFC believes that, where a regulator has adopted a viable alternative and, thereby,
retained its CER, the alternative - whether it involves work experience or experiential training -

- must be bona fide in nature, reasonable, and proportionate to the desired registration
outcome. ln addition, the regulator must evaluate both Canadian and international experience
in a fair and transparent fashion.

ln addition, regulators should always be open to reviewing the continuing need for an
experiential requirement, especially where substitute practices can offer a more streamlined
and equitable registration process that does not materially impact public health and safety. ln
the past, the OFC has written about alternative routes for candidates to obtain licensure.l 2

To their credit, regulators have increasingly embraced new approaches to assess the
academic and experiential credentials of candidates. These often include new pathways for
applicants to acquire and / or demonstrate entry-to-practice competencies.

A focus on entryto-practice competencies, as demonstrated through competency-based
assessments (CBAs) and work experience gained in other jurisdictions, has become the option
of choice for many regulated professions.

1 Academic Requirements and Acceptable Alternatives: Challenges and Opportunities for the Regulated
Professions in Ontario, OFC,2013,
2 lmmigrant Professionals and Alternative Routes to Licensing: Policy lmplications for Regulators and
Government, J. Augustin, Canadian Public Policy,2015.

3February 2024



lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

This has included both regulators that have recently decided to eliminate their CERs ( and

those that apply CBAs as viable alternatives to their CERs .

Other regulated professions also permit lTAs to claim exemptions from the need to acquire
Canadian or Ontario-based experience. These processes are typically based on the ability of
candidates to demonstrate that they possess equivalent international experience with or
without the need to complete supplementary local training.

At minimum, to establish a credible alternative to its CER, a regulator must enable lTAs to
exhibit the desired competencies through modalities other than obtaining work experience in

Canada. For example, should a regulator value an applicant's ability to apply the Ontario
Building Code (the code), it could, for example, either require hands-on experience in working
with the code or require that an applicant:

describe a project where the individual successfully applied a building code from
another jurisdiction and explain how they might have proceeded ditferently if the project

had been carried out in Ontario; or

94

a

a demonstrate experience applying a building code in another jurisdiction and take an

online module on the code.

The OFC also encourages regulators to identify options for applicants to address competency
gaps identified through the assessment process. These may include alternatives such as

taking a course or completing an assignment focused on a discrete competency area.

With this context in mind, this document will describe how the OFC will assess whether a CER
alternative complies with the criteria set out in Section 10.2 of the Act and section 1.2 of the
regulation. lt will also outline some associated best practices that regulators could pursue to
create better outcomes for lTAs.

How the OFC Will Ascertain whether a CER Alternative Meets the Criteria Outlined in the
Act and its Regulation

As noted previously, the regulation sets out a series of criteria that regulators must fulfill to
establish an acceptable alternative that would, in turn, allow them to retain their CERs.

As a first step, the regulator must structure an alternative that involves international work
experience or experiential training that enables a person to acquire a clearly defined set of
competencies. These competencies must be necessary for the practice of the regulated

4February 2024



95

-
l

=

lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

profession and be the same as or substantially similar to those that would be acquired through
Canadian experience that satisfies the qualification requirement.

The regulator must also establish that this approach entitles the applicant to the same type of
membership as someone qualified through Canadian experience and show that the
competencies can be obtained in at least one country other than Canada.

The OFC will assess whether the regulator has fulfilled these criteria by reviewing the following
program attributes:

Recog nition of intern ation al experience:

The OFC will confirm whether the alternative allows applicants to use work experience or
experiential training obtained outside Canada to fulfill any identified experiential requirements.

Competency-based:

The OFC will seek information on the competencies to be acquired or assessed through the
CER alternative. These competencies should be clearly articulated, measurable (where
practicable), and rationally connected to the practice of the profession. The alternative should
not require that lTAs demonstrate competencies over and above those required of
domestically trained applicants.

Necessa4z to the practice of the regulated profession

The OFC would evaluate the regulator's rationale for determining that its assessment criteria
are necessary for individuals to practice in the regulated profession. This analysis should be
grounded on those skills that a professionalwould undertake on a routine basis and not in
more esoteric situations.

Comparability of criteria to those specified for CER options:

The OFC will compare the outcomes that the regulator has articulated for its CER program to
those criteria identified for the alternative. The office will examine the issue of comparability
broadly to ensure that the criteria are not disproportionate, onerous or cannot reasonably be
fulfilled th rough international experience.

Provision of comparable licensure.

5February 2024



96
lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

To assess this issue, the OFC will validate that applicants who completed an alternative to a
CER are entitled to the same type of membership or class of licensure as someone qualified

through Canadian experience. Typically, the OFC would review the regulator's program

documentation and decisions of its registration committee to secure this information.

Whether an applicant can obtain competencies / experience from another country:

According to the regulation, if the alternative includes an individual assessment, that
assessment must be available to applicants with work experience or experiential training
obtained in any jurisdiction outside of Canada. Furthermore, it must be accessible to such
individuals on a regular basis, and for a reasonable fee, if any fee is charged.

The OFC will first assess whether the regulator has confirmed that the required competencies,
coupled with the associated work experience or experiential training, can be obtained in at

Ieast one country other than Canada.

Availability of the alternative to applicants:

The OFC willthen review the ease with which applicants can access the assessment process.

ln general terms, the assessment opportunities should be available frequently such that they
do not impose barriers to registration. Some regulators have moved to a gold standard which
enables continuous access and / or the ability of the applicant to complete the assessment
process in their home country.

When assessing whether the fees that a regulator charges are reasonable, the OFC will
consider the following factors:

The rationale that the regulator has advanced for setting the fee amounts.

How the fees relate to the cost of providing the services.

How the fees charged compare with those administered by regulators that are similarly
situated.

Whether the quantum of fees pose a potential hardship for qualified applicants and
whether the regulator has adopted a fee waiver policy to reduce or eliminate these fees
in appropriate circumstances.

a

a

a

a

6February 2024



97

-

:

lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

Whether the information about the alternative is published on a publicly accessib/e website
maintained by the regulated profession:

Finally, the regulation stipulates that the regulator must publish a description of an alternative,
including the requirements for obtaining the work experience or experiential training, the
competencies to be acquired through the work experience or experiential training, and any
individual assessment, on a publicly accessible website maintained by the regulated
profession.

While these requirements are straightforward, it would be important for the regulator to position

its CER alternative in the context of the entire registration process. ln addition, the regulator
should identify the considerations (i.e., the pros and cons) that applicants may wish to weigh in
determining whether to assess the CER or alternative stream.

The OFC will also look to regulators to maintain statistics that identify the number of lTAs who
select either the CER or viable alternative assessment pathway, the success rates associated
with each option and changes to these trends over time. These success rates should include
the percentage of applicants who complete the CER or alternative and are subsequently
registered.

Regulators may also wish to focus on evaluating the longer-term performance of applicants
within the profession who have come through both processes. (e.9., through such metrics as
complaints and disciplinary actions).

Consi derati ons S pecifi c to Exe m pfion Processes

As previously discussed, some regulators have instituted procedures through which an

applicant may seek an exemption from a CER. By design, those systems provide applicants
with an alternative route to persuade regulators that their international experience should be

recognized.

There are, however, some subtle differences between an exemption process and other types
of alternatives to a CER which are important to highlight. While an exemption process is

narrowly focused on a decision to exempt or not exempt, other types of alternatives may be

designed to achieve broader objectives, including enabling applicants to obtain the
competencies that they currently lack (e.9., through self-paced learning or obtaining micro-
credentials).

Where an exemption process is available, the OFC will consider the following attributes to
determine it provides a credible pathway to licensure:

7February 2024



a

a

a

a

98
lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

Whether a regulator publicizes and promotes the exemption process as a viable option

Whether the regulator minimizes procedural barriers for seeking an exemption so that
each application can be evaluated on its own merits.

Whether the exemption criteria are reasonable in nature and take into account the
broad competencies, experience and skill sets of applicants.

Whether the exemption success rate is reasonable in the circumstances and compares
favourably with that achieved by similarly situated regulators.

Whether applicants who do not meet the bar for an exemption are provided with
alternatives, such as an abridgement that lessen the burden of the CER.

The training and cultural competencies of the decision makers.

Whether the regulator periodically monitors the success of the program and makes
necessary adjustments based on client feedback and other considerations.

a

a

a

Best Pracfices Related to CER Alternatives:

ln setting out a list of best practices, it should be noted that immigrants often arrive in Canada
with high levels of education. ln addition, many have already secured the right to practice their
trade or profession in their home jurisdictions and have accumulated relevant international
experience. On this basis, it is important for regulators to recognize the knowledge and skills of
these professionals, while supporting them to integrate effectively into Ontario workplace
environments.

The various alternative pathways for lTAs can be placed into seven broad categories

1. competency-based assessments;

2. other approaches to assess knowledge and skills (e.9., through knowledge-based and

/ or clinical examinations);

3. self-paced learning (e.9., online courses that often focus on the Canadian work
context);

8February 2024



99

I
j

-

lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

4. bridging programs and / or the availability of micro-credential courses to fill experiential
gaps;

5. mutual recognition agreements;

6. provisional or conditional licensing; and

7. post-registration quality assurance and / or continuing professional development
programs.

Based on the content of the regulation, some of the approaches noted above would not, on

their own, satisfy the criteria for a CER alternative. For example, provisional licensing, while a
best practice, does not meet the criterion of granting lTAs full licensure, comparable to those
who complete a CER. Nevertheless, when used in combination with other approaches, these
pathways can play an important role in opening doors for these individuals.

What follows below are some best practices that regulators can deploy, either individually or
collectively, to develop and enhance their CER alternatives. Most of these examples can also
be applied to designing an effective exemption process.

Co m pete n cy- b a se d assessmenfs;

Frame experiential requirements and criteria in terms of competencies and profession-

related knowledge and skills, rather than focusing on specific settings in which the
experience must be obtained. Allow for a combination of experience (e.9., applying an

international standard or code) and knowledge (of a Canadian standard or code).

Avoid posing questions to applicants which only a Canadian domiciled candidate could
successfully respond.

Review governing legislation, regulations, by-laws and policies to identify any barriers or
restrictions that may hinder flexibility, inclusivity or the ability to devise creative
alternatives.

ldentify opportunities to amend or update regulations or by-laws to accommodate new
and more inclusive assessment criteria. Seek amendments or clarifications if necessary
to provide legal authority for the use of competency-based assessments, ITA integration
programs or other alternatives.

a

a

a

IFebruary 2024



100
lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

Develop standardized assessments or examinations that test the practical skills and

theoretical knowledge required for the profession.

Work with other Ontario regulators, national bodies and post-secondary institutions that
have adopted competency-based models, to explore lessons learned and opportunities

to develop common processes, increase scale and lower costs.

Use external evaluation or employment verification services to assess or validate

foreign experience.

Flexible experiential recognition practices:

Exhibit flexibility and recognize the variety of ways that individuals from different
backgrounds develop professional knowledge and skills.

Explore how professions and trades are practiced and regulated outside of Canada to

identify similarities and / or evaluate licensing requirements in foreign jurisdictions for
their alignment with Ontario requirements. Use findings to make necessary adjustments

to registration requirements or practices.

Establish mechanisms for recognizing and accepting international certifications or
qualifications by, for example:

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

o establishing reciprocal recognition agreements with other countries, thereby
facilitating the acceptance of professional qualifications across borders.

o actively engaging with global partners, including other regulatory bodies and

international organizations, to share best practices in recognizing foreign
credentials.

Setting ITAs up for success

Given that competency-based self-assessment processes can require high level

language skills to translate an ITA's past-experience into Ontario-based competencies,
provide these candidates with an appropriate level of support to enable them to

complete these assessments in a fair, timely and informed fashion.

Working with partners, offer lTAs enhanced access to micro-credential courses,

bridging programs and advanced-standing opportunities tailored to the scope of any

missing competencies, to allow them to address gaps in a timely fashion.

a

February 2024 10



a

101
lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives to Canadian Experience

Create mentorship programs that pair internationally trained applicants with experienced
practitioners to round out their understanding of the practice of the profession or trade in
Ontario.

Proactively engage with employer groups to educate them about the merits of
competency-based assessments so that they do not unreasonably discount the skill
sets of individuals who have selected this assessment route.

A Few Last Words

Please note that the OFC has disseminated these best practices to assist regulators to
enhance the effectiveness of their alternatives to CERs. As the advantages of competency-
based assessment frameworks will be new to some regulators, it is important that any
associated change management initiatives be implemented carefully and through a client-
focused lens.

The OFC recognizes that the process of adopting appropriate assessment and licensing
requirements can be complex. On this basis, we encourage regulators to reach out to their
assigned OFC compliance analyst to obtain further information and advice, including
identification of other regulators whose experience may be relevant to their issues.

It is the responsibility of regulators to ensure that they comply with the legislation. Please note
that the contents of this document do not constitute legal advice, nor do they affect the OFC's
advice-giving or enforcement discretion in any way.

o

i
-.,1

l

February 2024 11



|TEM 1.4.3 102
FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
1 80 Dundas Street W., Suite 300, Toronto ON M7A 2So

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE
BUREAU DU COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUIlI
180, rue Dundas O., Bureau 300, Toronto (Ontarlo) M7A 2So

MEMORANDUM

Date: March 28,2024

To: Registrars and Chief Executive Officers,
Reg u lated Professions,
Regulated Health Colleges,
Skilled Trades Ontario.

From: Ming-Young Tam,
Director, Office of the fairness Commissioner

Subject Launching the OFC Portal for the Fair Registration Practices Report

We are pleased to inform you that our office has launched the OFC Portal for the Fair

Registration Practices Report (FRP). Under fair access legislation, regulators are required to

submit an FRP to the Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) each calendar year. The
portal responds to your request for an improved user experience to input and submit data for

the annual FRP exercise.

What has changed:

ln November 2023, the OFC consulted on the development of a data portal to identify key

issues and ideas from an end-user perspective. Subsequently, two regulator task groups

provided input on the data glossary and participated in a preview demonstration.

ln conjunction with our lT team, we used this valuable input to develop and refine the portal for

easier navigation and use. The new portal is built upon a web-based application set out in six

sections for input of quantitative and qualitative data. Specific features will, among other

things, enable:

Users to enter multiple professions or trades: The updated OFC portal now enables
regulators to submit data for multiple professions or trades in a single report.

Multiple users to work on one report: The updated OFC portal now permits multiple

users to enter the organization's information and data at the same time. The portal also

supports regular saving so that users can return to where they left off without needing to

complete the entire report in one session.

1



_-
l

=

103
Users to download and email a draft report for internal review/ approval: Users
can download and email a draft report in pdf at any time. This feature may be used to
share a blank report within the organization or a completed report for internal approvals
prior to submitting in the portal.

What to expect:

ln early 2024, you provided the OFC with the names and emails of individuals who will require
access to the portal. During the week of April 8, 2024, these individuals will receive an
invitational email. Please check your junk mail and follow up with your Compliance Analyst if
you have not received this email by April 12,2024, or if you need to add or remove portal

users.

The invitational emailwill enable the individual to register to the OFC Portal. ln order to
register, two-factor authentication will be required, using their work email and password. For
more information and tips on the registration process, we have developed step-by-step
instructions in Section 2 ol the Regulator User Guide, which can be accessed on our Data

Portal resource page at https://www.fairnesscommissioner.ca/DataPortalResources.

Nexf Sfeps

You are invited to attend a launch presentation for a walkthrough of the key features of the
OFC Portal. Please share this communication as appropriate and RSVP using this link
https://forms.office.com/r/tY57i7R2lU by April 9,2024, indicating your preferred date and time

. Session 1: April 11th from 11 am to 12 pm

. Session 2: April 16th from 2 pm to 3 pm

Alternatively, a User Guide and short videos on how to use the OFC Portal are available at
https://www.fairnesscommissioner.calDataPortalResources. Please note that resources will
continue to be added to this page over the coming weeks. For technical assistance specific to
the OFC Portal, please email: FRPReports@ontario.ca.

This year, regulators will have until June 12,2024, to submit their FRP report via the OFC
Portal.

We would like to thank you for your patience as we developed this valuable resource and
particularly appreciate the contribution of those regulators who helped us develop and test the
system.

Sincerely,

Ming-Young Tam
Director, Office of the Fairness Commissioner

2



104ITEM 1-4.4

View ln Browser

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

THE OFC NEWSLETTER

MARCH 2024

OFC ANNUAL REPORT 2022.2023

A Tipping Point for Fair Registration Practices

Annual Report of the offlce of
lhe Fairnass Commlssioner
2022-2023

I

The Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) is pleased to announce that our latest annual report has been publishe,

our website.

This annual report covers the period from April 1,2022, to March 31,2023, during which the OFC embarked on many impc
initiatives designed to achieve better outcomes for applicants to the professions and skilled trades. The report also provides statir
information, discusses current issues and highlights how our agency has implemented its risk-informed compliance framework.

For more details and to view the entire report, please click on SEeA!-n-u€l-Bcporl-2022-2023.

LEGISLATED OBLIGATIONS AND BEST PRACTICES GUIDE



f

Ii
l

105

Over the past few years, the Government of Ontario has introduced several important amendments to the Fair Access
Begutatea professions an pulsorvladesAct,200tvia Working for Workers bills introduced in,2021,2022 and 2023 and
O nt a ri o Re g u!a[on_261t22.

These amendments introduced new legal obligations for regulated professions relating to:

. Establishing time limits for making decisions on applications for registration, internal reviews and / or appeals.

. The ability of regulated professions to retain Canadian experience requirements.

. Developing Emergency Registration Plans.

. Accepting the results of language proficiency lests approved under the'federal lmmigration and Refugee Protection Act.

. Working in consultation with their responsible ministers to ensure that, as a matter of public interest, the people of Onti
have access to adequate numbers of qualified, skilled and competent regulated professionals.

. Fulfilling new reporting obligations.

To provide guidance on complying with these new legal requiremenls, and to promote the adoption of associated best practic
the OFC has updated its Legislaled_Sffigations and Best Practice gulated Professions and pglspty--Tradps-.
revised document can be found on our website in Comp.[anee_(fairnesscommissioner.ca).

The OFC also has updated its previously published document on lnformation and Advice to Regulators on Alternatives
Canadian Expcdcneg,. which can be found on our website in Resources for Regulators (fairnesscommissioner.ca).

Please note that, in a number of cases, these amendments do not apply to the regulated health colleges that are governed
Schedule 2 of the Regulated Heafth Professions Act, 1991 and section 4 of Ontario Regulation 508/22 made under that stah
However, regulated health colleges may equally benefit form reviewing the best practices section of these documents.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Did you know? Commissioner Glasberg and the OFC would be pleased to participate in one of your events, such as council
committee meetings, seminars and webinars, and AGMs. lf your group is interested, please contact us at sfc@gnlari!.ea.

These meetings are a great opportunity for the commissioner to connect with regulators and to inform people of the OFC's role
mandate. They also provide a forum to discuss the rapidly changing registration landscape in Ontario, new legislative provisions,
to promote best practices in the assessment and registration spheres.

Version frangaise



ITEM 1.5
Generated Internally

Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario
Advertising Committee Report to Gouncil
Consent Agenda
April 16,2024

108

Members: Dr. Colin Goudreau, Chair
Dr. Jarrod Goldin
Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda
Dr. Janine Taylor, non-Council member

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar

Cbmmittee Mandate

o To review proposed advertisements by members to ensure compliance with
CCO's Standard of Practice 5-016: Advertising and Guideline G-016:
Advertising.

E
The Advertising Committee has not met since the last meeting of Council

The Committee previously had a discussion on the role and mandate of the committee
and possible future methods of CCO regulating member's use of advertising, websites

and social media. The discussion is summarized in a memorandum to the Executive
Committee, included in the Council package.

The Committee continues to review and provide feedback on any proposed

advertisements submitted to CCO.

I would like to thank the committee members and staff support for the Advertising
Committee for all of their contributions during this time.

Respectfully submitted,

Dr. Colin Goudreau
Chair, Advertising Committee



|TEM 1.5.1

MeTUOnNNDUM

CollecE oF CHrnopRAcroRS oF Oruranto

Executive Committee

Advertising Committee

January 9,2024

Mandate and Role of the Advertising Committee

109

To:

From:

Date:

Subject:

The Advertising Committee met on Decemb er I,2023 to discuss its role and mandate. The

Committee is of the opinion that the current mandate to review and provide feedback to
submitted advertisements may no longer be appropriate and relevant, as very few members have

submitted proposed advertisements to CCO for review. Furthermore, this method of review may

not reflect the current use of social media by members.

The Committee brainstormed ideas of other methods to expand the role of CCO in regulating
members' use of advertising, websites and social media. These are swnmarized as follows:

The Committee had a high level discussion about what the next evolution and iteration of
the regulation of member's use of advertising, websites and social media may be. The
process of submission of proposed advertisements may be outdated, and there is a greater

use by members of social media platforms to communicate and advertise chiropractic
services. The growth of artificial intelligence may also have effects in this area.

There was discussion that methods of collecting and auditing member social media
content could be considered by CCO, including requiring members to disclose their
chiropractic social media accounts with annual renewal and selecting a number of them
for an audit and review. The Committee also discussed the possibility of CCO utilizing a

3'd party specializing in this area, as it had previously with the review of Council and

committee members' social media platforms.

The Committee had previously proposed expanding its mandate to review and respond to
informal allegations of improper advertisements brought to CCO's attention that are short

of a formal complaint. It is acknowledged that this function is already performed by the

Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee through the inquiries process; however,
this role could be more thoroughly communicated to stakeholders, including members.

a



Memorandum dated January 9,2024
Mandate and Role of the Advertising Committee 110

a The Committee discussed that more learning opportunities could be developed for
members on standards of practice, policies and guidelines related to advertising, websites
and social media. The Committee acknowledged that there is relevant content included in
the Regulatory Excellence Workshop and that a stand alone webinar is being developed
by the Quality Assurance Committee. The Committee provided feedback that further
CCO branding could be applied to a webinar with further refinement of the presentation.

There was discussion that further guidance on review of members' websites and social
media accounts could be provided to peer assessors and that the peer and practice
assessment process could be further expanded to include further review of a member's
chiropractic website and social media accounts. The Committee also discussed that the
stand alone webinar on advertising, websites and social media could provide practical
guidance for peer assessors.

There was discussion of members posting content to social media that is not specifically
addressed by the current advertising standard of practice. This includes members posting
adjustment/manipulation videos and engaging in sponsorship deals on social media
platforms. As the review of the advertising standard of practice and guideline is under the
mandate of the Executive Committee, the Advertising Committee asks the Executive
Committee to review these documents for potential amendments addressing these areas.

Members of the Committee have also observed improper use of social media in other
professions, such as bullying and harassment, posting medical procedures on TikTok and
dieticians posting false and potentially dangerous information about consumption of
sugar on social media sites. The Committee is of the opinion that proactive measures
should be considered by CCO to prevent this type of behaviour by CCO members on
social media.

As with review in any area, the Committee was of the opinion that it may be beneficial to
review what other Ontario health regulatory colleges are doing to proactively regulate the
use of social by members.

a

I
d
:

a

a

a

The Committee acknowledged that these areas of discussion are broader than the Advertising
Committee and affect CCO as a whole and a number of different committees. The Advertising
Committee concluded that the current role of the Committee may no longer be relevant and
appropriate and that the Executive Committee and Council should consider reimaging and
expanding the role in the above areas or else disbanding the current mandate of the Advertising
Committee and considering different methods in regulating members' use of social media that
could be assigned to different committees of CCO. New roles and methods of regulating
members' use of social media could also be an area of discussion at a broader Council meeting
or Strategic Planning session.

The Advertising Committee thanks the Executive Committee for its review and consideration of
this memorandum.

2



1

136
ITEM 4.1

Generated Internally

College of Chi ropractors of Ontario
Executive Committee Report to Gouncil
April 1 6. 2A24

Members

Staff Support:

Mandate

Dr. Sarah Green, Chair
Dr. Dennis Mizel, Vice Chair
Mr. Shawn Southem, Treasurer
Dr. Jarrod Goldin
Dr. Paul Groulx
Ms Zoe Kariunas
Mr. Scott Stewart

Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registraiand General Counsel

r To exercise the powers of Council between meetings of council with respect to anymatter requiring immediate attention other than theipower to make amend or revoke aregulation or by-law

' 
il?J::,"ide 

leadership in exercising cco's mandate to regulate chiropractic in the public

E
I lntroduction

o I am pleased to provide this report on behalf of the Executive Committee (the.,Committee,,).

o I would like to ${ !v welcoming back to cco council Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda and Drs.Mizel, viscorni and Santin. Thank you for yo* ongoittt commitment to CCo and itsmandate to regurate chiropractic in the pubiic interJst iriontario.

t 
firy^t^tt'e last report to council, the committee has met on two occasions, namely on March4,2024 and March 22,2024. The confidential minutes for March 4,2024and the draftminutes of March 22,2024 are included in the Council informationpu.tug. f..rbject toapproval at the next meeting scheduled for May 24,2024).



5

lll Communications and Strategic Planning - Dr. Green (ltem 4.1.29 and
following, p?ge 498, Main Agenda) 140

a

a

a

I am pleased to report that there are no by-law amendments for Council's consideration for
the April 16,2024 meeting. Thank you to everyone for your participation in the discussions

and debates concerning the proposed by-law amendments over many meetings, and for your

careful review of all feedback from stakeholders. The Committee may consider any further
amendments to policies, guidelines standards and by-laws during its next term (April2024 -
April2025).

Plans are well underway for the Regulatory Excellence Workshops, with sessions scheduled

to date in Ottawa, Kitchener/Waterloo and Niagara. The expectation is that we will have a

workshop in every electoral district, in addition to the virtual workshop on June 3,2024, so

all CCO members will have adequate opportunity to attend a workshop as part of their
ongoing quality assurance responsibilities.

In September 2024, Council will have the opportunity to review the Mission, Vision and

Strategic Objectives to guide the organization over the next five years. I am pleased to report

that the Regulator's Practice will help us with this review. Rather than a full redo of the

existing mission, vision and strategic objectives, they will help CCO Council with a Strategic

Planning Reality "Check In." Boyd Neil, and Chris Winsor will participate to the extent

required as we also review our progress on commendable practices arising from the CPMF

and the various action items identified in the Effectiveness Training Workshop held on

November 24,2023. Some items which were positively received at the September 2023

meetings will continue, including time for "healthy" breaks led by willing individuals.

As part of our commitment to ongoing improvement, the Committee has the following
recommendation:

Recommendation 4: Item 4.1.39 and 582, Main

That Council approve the Council Meeting Evaluation Form, and that the ffictive date be

April 16, 2024.

I emphasize that the form needs to serve Council's pu{poses, but it is a start. Please forward
any suggested amendments to me and Ms Willson as we continue to move forward with
ensuring Council effectiveness.

a

a



6

lV Ministry of Health - Dr. Green (ltem 4.1.41and following, page 594, Main
Agenda)

Thank you to CCO staff, and in particular, Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar, for working
in conjunction with Committee Chairs and staffto draft CCO's CPMF Report which was
filed with the Ministry on March 27,2024. The report is also posted on the website. We will
have an opportunity to review our commitments identified in the CMPF Report at the
September strategic planning sessions. We anticipate also being able to review any
commendable practices identified by the Ministry for incorporation into our future planning.

V Council and Committees - Dr. Green (ltem 4.1,43 and following, page 718,
Main Agenda)

A. Advertising Committee (Item 4.1.44 and followingn page 720 Main Agenda)

Over the course of many months, the Committee has considered the work of the Advertising
Committee in the context of current trends and practices. The Advertising Committee was
initially established to review advertisements submitted by members to ensure compliance with
CCOs advertising provisions. The way in which members communicate with the public has

dramatically changed, and now includes social media and various other communication vehicles.
Council members will be aware that the Committee did not recommend the establishment of an
Advertising Committee for the termApril 2024. This will allow for careful consideration of how
best to address communications-related issues, and what the terms of reference for any new
committee should be. I was pleased to note the recommendation from the Quality Assurance
Committee concerning a webinar for all members. The Committee has the following
recommendation:

Recommendation 5: Item 4.1.44 andfollowing, page 720, Main Agenda

That the Advertising Committee terms of reference be revoked.

B. Nominating Committee (Item 4.1.45 and following, page 7221{Iain Agenda)

The work of the Nominating Committee will be considered at the Council meeting onApril
17,2024. There is a minor policy amendment being recommended to delete the word slate

and include the word recommendation(s) where appropriate in Policy I-019: Policy on
Nomination and Election Procedures for Committee Positions.

\141

a

I
i

E

=l
l

a



7

Recommendation 6: Item 4.1.45 andfollowing, page 722, Main Agenda

That Council approve the amendments to Policy I-019: Policy on Nomination and Election
Procedures .for Committee P ositions.

Other Chiropractic/Health Related Stakeholders (ltem 4,1.52 and following,
page 754, Main Agenda)

Information conceming CCO's involvement with other chiropracticlhealthrelated
stakeholders is included in the Council information package primarily as FYI or for
background and context. Time permitting, verbal reports will be provided by those attending
or involved with the initiatives of stakeholders.

. Council members will note that:

Dr. Wanda Lee MacPhee, on behalf of the FCC, is reviewing the registration
practices of Canadian chiropractic regulators; this work will include efforts to
standardize letters of standing nationally as well as to harmonize registration
standards;

Ms Willson and I are scheduled to attend the upcoming Regulatory Council meeting,
as well as the FCC board meetings in May 2024,taking place in Toronto;

CCO has attended various meetings with the OCA concerning animal chiropractic;
CCO has been given a time slot to present to the Standing Committee on Bill 171 on

April22,2024 at 2:00 p.m.;

Dr. Mizel and Ms Willson have accepted an invitation from the CCA to attend the
Chiropractic Stakeholder Summit on April 18,2024;

142

VI

a

a

a

a

a

CCO will be hosting the HPRO board meeting on June 3,2024; The Fairness
Commissioner, Irwin Glasberg, as well as the Minister of Health, the Honourable
Sylvia Jones may be attending; and

I encourage all Council members to review the valuable information identified in the
monthly Legislative Updates provided by HPRO which CCO receives by virtue of its
membership in HPRO.

a



8

143

O

Vll Conclusion

I have enjoyed and leamed agreat deal serving as your President for the April2023 to April
2024 terms. I thank each of you for your contributions, and for the respectful dialogue
occurring during some challenging discussions.

a I look forward to the implementation of many of the initiatives agreed to by Council, as well
as the opportunity to review the CCO's mission, vision and strategic objectives in September
2025. Thank you for your ongoing support and commitment.

a I would be pleased to answer any questions arising from this report.

Respectfully submiued by,

Dr. Sarah Green,
President



|TEM 4.1.29

Bv+aw 6: ElecrloN or GouNGlL Merueens
Approvedby Council: February 24, 2001

imended: iebruary 12, 2002, September 24,2009, September 17, 2015,

February 23, 2016, February 28, 2017, April 24, 2018, January 6, 2019, June 19, 2019

(came tito e6ect September 13, 20Ig), September 14, 2019 (came into effect November
'28, 

20lg), iiptembZr 4, 2020 (came into ffict November 26, 2020), April 14, 2021

(came into ejfect June 16, 2021), September 10, 2021 (came into ffict November 25,
'2021), laniiry 20, 2023 (came into ffict January 20, 2023), November 23, 2023 (came

into ffict Feiruary 23, 2:024), February 23, 2024 (subject to approval of minutes April

16,2024)

6.1 Electoral District 1: Northern comprised of the districts of Kenora, Rainy River,

Thunder Bay, Algoma, cochrane, Manitoulin, Parry Sound, Nipissing,

Timiskaming; the district municipality of Muskoka; and the city of Greater

Sudbury.

Electoral District 2: Eastern comprised of the counties of Frontenac, Hastings,

Lanark, Prince Edward, Renfrew, Lennox and Addington; the united counties of
Leeds and Grenville, Prescott and Russell, Stormont, Dundas and Glengarry; and

the city of Ottawa.

Electoral District 3: Central East comprised of the counties of Haliburton,

Northumberland, Peterborough, and Simcoe, the city of Kawartha Lakes, the

regional municipality of Durham and the township of Scugog'

Electoral District 4: Central comprised of the city of Toronto and the regional

municipality of York.

Electoral District 5: Central West comprised of the counties of Brant, Dufferin,

Wellington, Haldimand and Norfolk, the regional municipalities of Halton,

Niagara, Peel and Waterloo, and the city of Hamilton'

Electoral District 6: Western comprised of the counties of Essex, Bruce, Grey,

Lambton, Elgin, Middlesex, Huron, Perth and Oxford, and the municipality of

Chatham-Kent.

Electoral District 7: Academic comprised of the entire province of Ontario'

6.2 A member is eligible to vote in District 7 and in the electoral district in which, as

of January 1't oflhe election year, has the member's primary practice, or if the

member is not engaged in the practice of chiropractic, in which the member's

primary residence is located.

498

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



j

Ij
i

:
j

i

l

By-law 6: Election of Council Members

For each electoral district referred to in column 1 of the following table, there
shall be elected to Council the number of members set out opposite in column 2.

Column 1 Column 2
Electoral District Number of Members

1 1

2 1

3 1

4 2
5 2
6 1

7 1

The term of office of a member elected to Council is approximately three years,
commencing with the first regular meeting of Council immediately following the
election. The member shall continue to serve in office until a successor takes
office in accordance with this byJaw.

6.5 A member who has served on Council for nine consecutive years is ineligible for
election to Council until a full three year term has passed since that member last
served on Council.

2

499
6.3

6.4

6.6

6.8

An election of members to Council shall be held in or about of March of each
year in accordance with the following schedule:

(a) in202l and every third year after that for electoral district I and one
Council member for each of electoral districts 4 and 5;

(b) in2022 and every third year after that for electoral districts 2 and,3
and one Council member for electoral district 4;

(c) in2023 and every third year after that for electoral districts 6 andT
and one Council member for electoral district 5.

6.7 The registrar shall set the date for the election of members to Council.

A member is ineligible to vote in a council election if in default of payment of any
fees prescribed by by-law or any fine or order for costs to cco imposed by a
cco committee or court of law or is in default in providing and returning any
information required by CCO.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 6: Election of Council Members 3

A member is eligible for election to Council in an electoral district, if on the

closing date of nominations and anytime up to and including the date of the

election:

(a) the member's primary practice of chiropractic is located in the

electoral district in the member is nominated or, if the member is not
engaged in the practice of chiropractic, the member's primary residence is

located in the electoral district in which the member is nominated;

(b) the member is not in default of payments of any fees prescribed by by-law
or any fine or order to pay costs to CCO imposed by a CCO committee or

court of law;

(c) the member is not in default in completing and returning any form
required by CCO;

(d) the member is not the subject of any disciplinary or incapacity proceeding

(e) a finding of professional misconduct, incompetence or incapacity has not

been made against the member in the preceding six years;

(0 if a member has been found to be incapacitated, CCO receives

confirmation from their treating practitioner that the member is physically

and mentally capable to serve on Council or a committee.

the member has not resigned from a position on Council, before

completing the term, within the last three years.

the member does not have an outstanding code of conduct matter with the

College.

the member is not, and has not been in preceding three years, an

employee, officer or director of any professional chiropractic association

such that areal or apparent conflict of interest may arise, including but not

timited to being an employee, offrcer or director of the OCA, CCA,
CCPA, AFC, CCEB, CSCE, the CCEC of the FCC, CCRF or CNAC;

0) the member is not, and has not been in the preceding three years, an

officer, director, or administrator of any chiropractic educational

institution, including but not limited to, CMCC and UQTR, such that a

real or apparent conflict of interest may arise;

(k) the member has not been disqualified from the Council or a committee of
the Council in the previous six years;

500
6.9

(e)

(h)

(D

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



I
1

:

l

:

By-law 6: Election of Council Members 4

501
0) the member is not a member of the Council or of a committee of the

College of any other health profession;

(m) the member has not been a member of the staff of CCO at any time within
the preceding three years;

(n) for District 7 only, the member is a member of the faculty of an accredited
educational institution;

(o) for any district other than District 7,the member is not eligible for election
in District 7, atd has not been eligible for election in District 7 in the
preceding three years;

(p) the member is not, and has not been within the preceding six years, an
adverse party in litigation against CCO, the Council of CCO, a committee
of CCO, or any of CCO's directors, officers, employees or agents, on a
matter related to CCO business;

(q) the members is not an accused currently charged with a criminal offence
under the Criminal Code of Canada; and

G) the member has not been convicted of a criminal offence for which the
member has not received a pardon pursuant to the Criminal Code of
Canada.

6. 10 The registrar shall supervise the nomination of candidates.

6.1 1 No later than 50 days before the date of an election, the registrar shall notifi' every
member eligible to vote of the date, time and place of the election and of the
nomination procedure.

6.12 The nomination of a candidate for election as a member of Council, together with
the written undertaking to the CCO Registrar shall be given to the registrar at least
35 days before the date of the election (i.e., the nomination date).

6.13 The nomination shall be signed by the candidate and by at least 10 members who
support the nomination and who are eligible to vote in the electoral district in
which the election is to be held.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 6: Election of Council Members

The candidate shall provide to the registrar by the nomination date or such later

date as the registrar permits, biographical information in a manner acceptable to

the registrar including content that is suitable for CCO's public interest mandate,

for the purpose of distribution to eligible members in accordance with the by-

laws.

5

502
6.14

6.15 A candidate may withdraw from the election to Council no later than 25 days

before the date of the election.

6.16 If the number of eligible candidates who have been nominated for an electoral

district is less than or equal to the number of members to be elected, the registrar

shall declare the candidates to be elected by acclamation'

6.17 The registrar shall supervise and administer the election of candidates and, for the

pulpose of carrying out that duty, the registrar may, subject to the by-laws,

(a) appoint returning offtcers and scrutineers;

(b) establish a deadline for the receiving of electronic ballots;

(c) provide for the notification of all candidates and members of the results of
the election;

if there has been a non-compliance with a nomination or election

requirement, determine whether the non-compliance should be waived in

circumstances where the fairness of the election will not be affected; and

(d)

(e) provide for the destruction of electronic ballots following an election.

6.18 No later than 10 days before the date of an election, the registrar shall send

electronically, or by any other medium as determined by Council, to every

member eligible to vote in an electoral district in which an election is to take

place, a list of the candidates, the candidates' biographical information if
provided, an explanation of the voting procedure, and electronic access to a ballot

for voting.

6.19 Voting for elections of member to Council shall be by electronic method or any

other medium as determined by Council.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



_i
I

t
I

By-law 6: Election of Council Members 6

6.20 The instruction for voting shall contain the following
503

a) a member may cast as many votes on a ballot in an election of members to
the Council as there are members to be elected to Council from the
electoral district in which the member is eligible to vote;

b) a member shall not cast more than one vote for any one candidate;

c) a member shall clearly indicate the voter's choice in one of the appropriate
places on the electronic ballot to indicate the voter's choice;

the electronic vote shall be received by 4 pm on the date indicated in the
notice of election and voting guide; and

e) the electronic vote will not be counted in the election unless it has been
received in accordance with the instructions for voting.

6.2I On the date of the election, the registrar or an agent shall tally the votes for each
candidate in each electoral district with a contested election.

6.22 The counting of the electronic votes shall be conducted so that no person knows
for whom any member voted.

6.23 Candidates or their representatives may be present when the electronic votes are
counted.

6.24 If there is a tie in an election of members to the Councii, the registrar shall break
the tie by lot.

6.25 A candidate may require a recount by giving a written request and depositing the
sum or $ 150 with the registrar no more than 15 days after the date of an election.

6.26 The registrar shall hold the recount no more than 10 days after receiving the
request.

6.27 If the recount changes the election result, the full amount of the deposit shall be
refunded to the candidate. If the recount does not change the election result, CCO
will keep the deposit to partially offset recount costs, including staff time.

6.28 When there is an intemrption of communications during a nomination or election,
the registrar shall extend the holding of nominations and election for such
minimum period of time as the registrar considers necessary to compensate for the
interruption.

d)

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 6: Election of Council Members

6.29 The Council shall disqualifu an elected member from sitting on Council if the
elected member:

(a)

(b)

is subject of any disciplinary or incapacity.proceeding;

is found to have committed an act of professional misconduct or is found
to be incompetent by a panel of the Discipline Committee;

(c) is found to be an incapacitated member by a panel of the Fitness to
Practice Committee;

fails to attend two consecutive meetings of the Council or of a committee
or of a subcommittee on which the member sits, without reasonable cause

in the opinion of Council;

7

504

(d)

fails to attend a hearing or review of a panel for which the member has

been selected, without reasonable cause in the opinion of Council;

becomes an employee, officer or director of any professional chiropractic
association such that areal or apparent conflict of interest may arise,

including but not limited to being an employee, officer or director of the

OCA, CCA, CCPA, AFC, CCEB, CSCE or the Accreditation Standards

and Policies Committee or the CCEC of the FCC;

in the case of a Council member from District 7, ceases to be a member of
the faculty of CMCC;

becomes an officer, director or administrator of any chiropractic
educational institution, including but not limited to CMCC and UQTR;

becomes a member of the Council or a committee of the College of any

other health profession;

breaches the conflict of interest provision(s) for members of Council and

committees, in the opinion of the Council after giving notice to the
member of the concern and giving the member a reasonable opportunity to
respond to the concem;

fails to discharge properly or honestly any office to which the member has

been elected or appointed or engages in conduct unbecoming of a Council
member, in the opinion of the Council, after being given notice of the
concern and a reasonable opportunity to respond;

(e)

(0

(k)

(e)

(h)

(i)

0)

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



,
I
I
'

By-law 6: Election of Council Members

505
becomes in default of payment of any fees prescribed by by-law or any
fine or order for costs imposed by a CCO committee or court of law;

(m) becomes in default of completing and retuming any form required by
CCO; or

(n) with the exception of District 7 (Academic), becomes a member of the
faculty of an accredited educational institution.

(o) becomes an adverse party in litigation against CCO, the Council of CCO
a committee of CCO, or any of CCO's directors, officers, employees or
agents, on a matter related to CCO business; or

(p) is charged with a criminal offence contrary to the Criminal Code of
Canada.

6.30 A council member shall resign from Council prior to applying for any CCO staff
position.

6.31 The seat of an elected Council member shall be deemed to be vacant upon the
death, resignation or disqualification of the Council member.

6.32 If the seat of an elected council member becomes vacant in an electoral district
less than 12 months before the expiry of the member's term of office, the
Council may,

(a) leave a seat vacant;

(b) appoint as an elected member the candidate, if any, who had the most
votes of all the unsuccessful candidates in the last election of council
members for that electoral district; or

(c) direct the registrar to hold an election in accordance with this by-law
for that electoral district.

6.33 If the seat of an elected council member becomes vacant in an electoral district
. more than 12 months before the expiry of the member's term of office, the

registrar shall hold an election in accordance with this by-law for that electoral
district.

6.34 The term of a member appointed under By-law 6.32(b) or elected in an election
under By-law 6.32(c) shall continue until the time the former council member's
term would have expired.

I

0)

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 6: Election of Council Members o

506
6.35 Despite By-law 6.32,6.33, and 6.34, where vacancy would result in the Council

not being properly constituted, the Council (in anticipation of the event before it is
not properly constituted) or the Executive Committee (after the Council is not
properly constituted) may appoint as an elected member for that district an

eligible member in that electoral district, where feasible. The appointed member
shall serve until the vacancy can otherwise be filled for that district. When
temporarily filling the vacancy in this way, the Council or the Executive
Committee shall:

(a) solicit interest from eligible members where feasiblel,

(b) take into account the criteria set out in By-law 12.5,

(c) require the prospective appointed member to sign an undertaking to not
seek or accept a nomination in the next election for the electoral district
before the appointment becomes ftnalz.

6.36 If, within 90 days after the date of the election, the Council is of the opinion that
there is a reasonable ground for doubt or dispute as to the validity of the election
of any member of Council, the Council shall hold an inquiry and decide whether

the election of the member is valid and, if an election is found to be invalid, the
Council shall direct another election to be held.

6.37 Where insufficient candidates are nominated for a district by the close ot
nominations, the Council may nominate a member who does not practice in the

district, and for District 7, is not a member of the faculty of the CMCC.

I There may not be sufficient time to solicit interest in every case and Council should be reconstituted as

soon as possible.
2 This is intended to preserve the neutrality of the process. Where a person intends to run in the next
election, they would receive a distinct advantage in being appointed to fill the vacancy until the election is

held.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



507
Bv-mw 7: ElecrloNs (wlrHlru Couttctl)
Approvedby Council: February 24, 2001

imended; September 24, 2009, September 17, 2015, June 19, 2019 (came into ffict
September 13, 2019), September 4, 2020 (came into ffict November 26, 2020),

November 25, 2021 (came into ffict February 25, 2022), November 23, 2023 (came into

ffict February 23, 2024), February 23, 2024 (subject to approval of minutes April 16,

2024)

7.r An elected member of the Council, who is not disqualified under By-law 6.29 is

eligible:

(a) to vote for elections within Council;

(b) for election to the position of president, vice-president or treasurer; and

(c) for election to the position of chair or member of a statutory or non-

statutory committee;

7.2 An appointed member of the Council is eligible:

(a) to vote for elections within Council;

(b) for election to the position ofpresident, vice-president or treasurer; and

(c) for election to the position of chair or member of a statutory or non-

statutory committee.

7.3 The Council shall at its first meeting following the general election, or as soon

thereafter as practicable, elect a president, vice-president and treasurer to hold

office until the first meeting of Council following the general election in the

subsequent year, and ifan election is not so held, the president, vice-president and

treasurer for the preceding year shall continue in offrce until their successors are

elected.

7.4 The election ofthe president, vice-president and treasurer shall be by secret ballot

using generally accepted democratic procedures, and where more than two

council members are nominated, the nominee who receives the lowest number of
votes on each ballot shall be deleted from the nomination unless one nominee

receives a majority of the votes cast on the ballot, and this procedure shall be

followed until one nominee receives a majority of the votes cast.

7.5 Each member of Council has one vote with respect to each of the offices of
president, vice-president and treasurer.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



j

I
:

5

1
:

By-law 7: Elections (within Council) 2

508

The president is the chief officer of CCO and the vice-president shall assist the
president in the discharge ofthe president's duties.

The president, vice-president or treasurer , ffidy be removed from office by a two-
thirds vote of the Council at a special meeting called for that pulpose, and the
Council may elect a new president, vice-president or treasurer from its members
to hold office for the remainder of the year.

The office of president, vice-president or treasurer becomes vacant if the holder of
the offrce dies, resigns or stops being a council member.

7.9

7.6

7.7

7.8

If the office of the president becomes vacant, the vice-president shall become the
president for the unexpired term of the office and the office of vice-president
thereby becomes vacant.

7.I0 The Council shall fill any vacancy in the office of vice-president or treasurer
using the procedures in By-law 7.4 at a special meeting which the president shall
call for that purpose as soon as practicable after the vacancy occurs.

7.ll The president of the Council shall be the chair of the Executive Committee and
shall participate in the Nominating Committee.

7.12 The Council shall at its first meeting following the general election, or as soon
thereafter as is practicable, elect the chairs and members of all statutory and non-
statutory committees of CCO. If such elections are not so held, the chairs and
members of the committees for the preceding year shall continue until their
successors are elected.

7.13 The election of chairs and members of statutory and non-statutory committees
shall be by secret ballot using generally accepted democratic procedures, and
where more individuals are nominated than available positions, the nominee who
receives the lowest number of votes on each ballot shall be deleted from
nomination and these procedures shall be repeated until each nominee receives a
majority of the votes cast.

7.14 Following the election of a particular committee, a member of that committee
shall be elected as chair. Each member of Council has one vote with respect to the
position of chairs of all statutory and non-statutory committees.

7.I5 The chair of any statutory or non-statutory committee may be filled by an elected
or appointed member of Council but not by a non-council member of CCO.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 7: Elections (within Council) 3

509
7.16 A chair or committee member of a statutory or non-statutory committee may be

removed from office by a two-thirds vote of the Council, with or without cause, at

a special meeting called for that pulpose, and the Council may elect a new chair to
hold the position for the remainder of the year.

7 .17 The position of chair of a statutory or non-statutory committee becomes vacant if
the holder of the position dies, resigns or stops being a Council member.

7.1 8 If the position of chair or committee member of a statutory or non-statutory
committee becomes vacant, the Executive Committee shall appoint a chair or
committee member for the unexpired term of the position.

7.19 The duties and powers of the Council include

(a) administering the RHPA, Chiropractic Act and the regulations and by-laws
under those acts;

(b) reviewing the activities of statutory and non-statutory committees of the

Council and requiring committees to provide reports and information to
the Council;

(c) requiring statutory and non-statutory committees of the Council to do

anything that, in the opinion of the Council, is necessary or advisable to
carry out the intent of the RHPA, Chiropractic Act, and the regulations
under those acts;

(d) finalizing and proposing amendments to regulations and by-laws under the
RHPA or the Chiropractic Act.

7.20 The duties and powers of the president of the Council include:

(a) facilitating the activities of CCO;

(b) chairing meetings of Council;

(c) chairing meetings of the Executive Committee;

(d) participating in the preparation of agendas of the meetings of Council and

meetings of the Executive Committee;

(e) supervising the arrangements for the annual meeting;

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



:

By-law 7: Elections (within Council)

510
taking all reasonable steps to ensure that directions of the Council and the
Executive Committee are implemented;

(e)

(h)

(i)

ensuring CCO is represented at all appropriate meetings;

presenting an Executive report at each Council meeting;

acting as a liaison between CCO and other professional organizations as

appropriate; and

4

(D

c) performing all acts and deeds pertaining to the office of president and such
other acts and deeds as may be decided by Council.

7.2I The president, while chairing a Council meeting or Executive Committee
meeting, may vote after all others have voted.

7.22 The president of Council shall be eligible for election to a maximum of two
consecutive one-year terms in the presidency.

7.23 The duties and powers of the vice-president include

(a) assuming the role of president in the absence of the president or when
appointed to do so by the president; and

(b) performing all acts and deeds pertaining to the office of vice-president and
such other acts and deeds as may be decided by Council.

7.24 The vice-president shall be eligible for election to a maximum of two consecutive
one-year terms in the vice-presidency.

7.25 The duties and powers of the treasurer of the Council include:

(a) overseeing all matters relating to the financial affairs of CCO; and

(b) performing all acts and deeds pertaining to the office of treasurer and such
other acts and deeds as may be decided by Council.

7.26 The treasurer shall be eligible for election to a maximum of two consecutive one-
year terms in the office.

7.27 The duties and powers of the secretary of the Council include:

(a) keeping a record of matters that the Council has referred to the
committees;

J

I
diI

I

l

,

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 7: Elections (within Council) 5

511

(b) having custody and care of the records and documents of the Council;

(c) giving or causing to be given notice of all council meetings and statutory

and non-statutory committees; and

(d) performing all acts and deeds pertaining to the office of secretary and such

other acts and deeds as may be decided by Council.

7 .28 The agendas for the meetings of Council shall be prepared by the Executtve

Committee in collaboration with the registrar and shall include a period during

which council members may raise for discussion topics relevant to the affairs of
CCO for possible inclusion in future agendas.

7.29 The registrar shall be the secretary of the Council.

7 .30 The duties and powers of the chairs of each committee shall include:

(a) facilitating the activities of the committee and reporting to Council;

(b) chairing meetings of the committee;

(c) participating in the preparation of agendas of the meetings of the

committee;

(d) taking all reasonable steps to ensure that directions of the committee are

implemented;

(e) acting as a liaison between the Council or Executive Committee and the

committee;

(D reporting to the Executive Committee upon reasonable request by the

Executive;

(g) reporting in writing to the council at the meetings of council on the

activities of the committee for the preceding year;

(h) preparing a work plan for the subsequent year, which includes all
budgetary requirements for the committee, by November 1 of each and

every year, or by such other time as directed by Council;

(i) ensuring the activities of the committee are conducted in a fiscally
responsible manner within approved budgetary restraints; and

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 7: Elections (within Council)

(j) performing all acts and deeds pertaining to the office of chair and such
other acts and deeds as may be decided by Council.

7.31 The chair of every statutory and non-statutory committee shall be eligible for
election to a maximum of two consecutive one-year terms.

b

512

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



513
Bv-uw 8: Gour.rcrl AND Courulrree MeenNGs
Approved by Council: February 24, 2001
Amended: September 24, 2009, September 17, 2015, June 19, 2019 (came into ffict
September 13, 2019), September 4, 2020 (came into effect November 26, 2020),
November 23, 2023 (came into effect February 23, 2024), February 23, 2024 (subject to
approval of minutes onApril 16, 2024)

8.1 The Council shall hold,

(a) an annual meeting which shall be called by the president between April 1

and June 30 ofeach year;

(b) regular meetings which shall be called by the president from time to
time; and

(c) any special meetings which may be called the by the president, or a
majority of council members, who deposit with the registrar a written
request for the meeting containing specifics of the matter or matters for
decision at the meeting.

8.2 The registrar shall cause each council member to be notified in writing of the
place, date and time of a council meeting by sending such notification by ordinary
prepaid mail, facsimile, e-mail or similarly effective method at least,

(a) 30 days before an annual meeting;

(b) 14 days before a regular meeting; and

(c) five days before a special meeting

8.3 The registrar shall cause to be included in or with the notification of all meetings
to council members, the agenda for the meeting.

8.4 The registrar shall cause to be included in or with the notification of a special
meeting to council members sufficient information about the matter or matters for
decision contained in the requisition of the meeting deposited with the registrar to
permit the member to form a reasonable judgment.

8.4.1 The registrar shall cause to be included in or with the notification to council
members of the first meeting, and any other meeting if appointment of a chair or
member of a committee is on the agenda, a copy of the Competencies for Council
and Committee Members and Peer Assessors.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



I

I
I.l
l
1

By-law B: Council Meetings

8.4.2 The registrar shall cause to be included in or with the notification of a special
meeting to council members sufficient information about the matter or matters for
decision contained in the requisition of the meeting deposited with the registrar to
permit the member to form a reasonable judgment.

8.5 The registrar shall cause the public to be notified of council meetings in
accordance with requirements prescribed under the RHPA, if any, and, if none, in
a similar manner.

8.6 No annual, regular or special meeting shall be made void because of an

inadvertent or accidental error or omission in giving notice. In addition, any
council member may waive the notice requirements and rati$r, approve and

confirm any proceedings taken at the meeting.

Subject to By-law 8.18, every meeting of the Council shall take place in Ontario
at aplace, date and time designated by the president or the majority of council
members calling the meeting but, if a place, date or time is not designated or is
incompatible with the by-laws, the registrar shall select a place, date and time
compatible with the by-laws which is reasonably close to the place, date and time
requested by the person or people calling the meeting.

2

415

8.7

8.8

8.9

Unless otherwise required by law or by-law, every question which properly comes

before the Council may be decided by a simple majority of the votes cast at the
meeting by council members, including the President who may vote last on every
question.

Voting at a council meeting shall be by a show of hands, or if appropriate, by
secret ballot.

8.10 Voting by proxy at council meetings shall not be permitted in any circumstances.

8.11 The Council shall consider or transact at the annual meeting:

(a) the annual report for the preceding year;

(b) the reports of the committees established under the RHPA;

(c) the financial statement of CCO;

(d) the report of the auditor; and

(e) the appointment of the auditors for the ensuing year.

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 8: Council Meetings 3

515
8.12 The Council may consider or transact at aregular meeting:

(a) matters brought by the Executive Committee;

(b) reports by statutory committees;

(c) reports by non-statutory committees which have received prior review by

the Executive Committee;

(d) any motion notice of which has been delivered in writing to the Registrar
at least 30 days before the Council meeting and which the majority of
Council members present and voting at the meeting view as warranting
Council discussion; and

(e) any other business that the majority of Council members present and

voting at the meeting view as urgent and requiring Council's immediate
attention.

8 . 1 3 The Council may only consider or transa ct at a special meeting, the matter or
matters for decision at the meeting contained in the requisition deposited with the

registrar.

8.14 The president shall cause a record of the proceedings of the council meeting
including all motions and recommendations to be recorded, and the written record

of the Council meeting, when signed by any two of the president, vice-president,
treasurer or registrar, is prima facie proof of the accuracy of the contents of every

such record.

8.15 The written record of the proceedings of a council meeting when accepted at a

subsequent council meeting, subject to any corrections made at such subsequent

meeting, is conclusive proof of the accuracy of the contents of every such record.

8.16 Whether or not a quorum is present, the president may adjourn any council
meeting and reconvene it at any time and from time to time and, if a quorum is

present at any reconvened meeting, any matter may be considered and transacted

which could have been transacted at the original meeting which was adjourned.

8.17 The rules of order for council meetings adopted from time to time by Council
shall guide the conduct of its meetings.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 8: Council Meetings

516
8.18 Any meeting of the Council or of a committee or of a panel that is held for any

pqpose other than for the conducting of a hearing, except as permitted under the
Statutory Powers Procedure Act,may be held in any manner that allows all
persons participating to communicate with each other simultaneously and
instantaneously.

8.19 Persons participating in the meeting, as outlined in By-law 8.18, are deemed to be
present at the meeting.

8.20 Notice of a meeting held under By-law 8.18 shall not speci8r a place for the
meeting but rather the means by which the meeting will be conducted.

8.21 The chair of any committee conducting meetings by conference call shall:

(a) consult with CCO to staff in the calling of a meeting and the preparation
of an agenda for the meeting;

(b) ensure minutes are kept; and

(c) record the time spent on the meetings.

4

I)I
J
t

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



517
Bv-uw 9: ReruuNERATtoN
Approvedby Council: February 24, 2001
Amended: September 24, 2009, June 24, 201l, September 17, 2015, September 4, 2020
(came into ffict November 26, 2020), November 25, 2021 (came into ffict February 25,

2022), November 23, 2023 (came into ffict February 23, 2024), February 23, 2024
(subiect to approval ofminutes April 16, 2024)

9.1 The per diems and reasonable expenses paid by CCO to committee members are

intended to partially off-set the cost of a contribution to the profession of
chiropractic rather than to pay for services rendered or to compensate for lost
income or the opportunity to earn income. "Committee members" means elected

council members and non-council members of statutory and non-statutory
committees.

9.2 Subject to other direction by Council, the president of the Council will receive an

annual honorarium of thirty-five thousand dollars ($35,000) payable no later than

one year after the date the president takes office. In the event the president's

tenure is less than one year, the president will receive a pro-rated amount
determined by the length of the president's tenure.

9.3 Committee members are entitled to the remuneration outlined in the chart below:

Description Allowable Claim
effective September 24, 2009

Committee members; full-day
meeting or hearing; meeting in
excess of three hours

Attendance per diem:
Preparation per diem

Chairs:
Others:

$400

$350
$200

2 Committee members; meeting or
hearing lasting less than three
hours

One-half attendance per diem:
One-half preparation per diem

Chairs:
Others:

$200

$1 75
$1 00

3 Conference call meetings:
applicable full or one-half day
attendance and preparation per
diem and reasonable expenses
(e.9., long distance charges, as
outlined in CCO lnternal Policy l-
012)

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 9: Remuneration

9.4

9.s

2

518

By-law 9.3, as it relates to payment of per diems and reasonable expenses, applies
to Discipline Committee and Fitness to Practise Committee members who
perform duties, such as conducting pre-hearing conferences or hearing pre-
hearing motions.

A member who is the principal author of a decision of the Discipline Committee,
Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee or Fitness to Practise Committee
may charge one attendance per diem for at least three accumulated hours of work
to a maximum of three per diems, but no preparation per diem, travel per diem or
meal expenses.

The following conditions apply to the remuneration entitlement of committee
members:

Per Diems and Reasonable Expenses

Committee members may claim for a full day attendance per diem when a

meeting or hearing is in excess of three hours.

Committee members may claim for a half day attendance per diem when a

meeting or hearing is in excess of one hour but is not in excess of three hours.

In extenuating circumstances, and subject to the approval of the Executive
Committee, two attendance per diems may be claimed for one calendar day.
Extenuating circumstances include committee members being called to an
emergency meeting with less than 48 hours notice which requires them to forfeit
office time.

9.6

Description Allowable Glaim
effective September 24, 2009

4 Travel time of more than three
hours (round trip) for all
committee members

Travel per diem: $300

5 Travel time of more than one hour
and less than three hours (round
trip) for all committee members

One-half travel per diem: $150
JI
J

l
,

l

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



By-law 9: Remuneration

(b)

3

519

Attendance for Full Duration of Scheduled Meeting

In order to be eligible for the appropriate attendance per diem, a council or

committee member shall attend the full duration of the scheduled meeting' If
extenuating circumstances apply which necessitate leaving a meeting earlier than

the scheduied end time, the council or committee member shall communicate this

in writing to the Chair of the meeting.

Reasonable expenses, as outlined in CCO Internal Policy I-0L2, and attendance

per diems may be claimed to attend conferences, educational sessions, speaking

engagements or other functions directly related to CCO business provided prior

approval is obtained from the Executive Committee.

Cancellation of Meetings/Hearings

A one-half attendance per diem may be claimed in the event of the cancellation or

adjournment of an offrcial meeting without one week's advance notice being

given, subject to the discretion of the Executive Committee:

(a) A full attendance per diem but no travel per diem or meal expenses may

be claimed in the event of the cancellation or adjournment of a Discipline

or Fitness to Practise hearing, without four weeks advance notice being

given, provided that the committee member was required, as a result of the

scheduled hearing, to make altemate office arrangements in order to be

available for the hearing. Unless the committee member ordinarily has

office time on Saturdays or Sundays, no per diem will be permitted for the

cancellation or adjournment of hearings scheduled on Saturdays or

Sundays.

A full attendance per diem including a travel per diem and meal expenses

may be claimed in the event a Discipline or Fitness to Practise Committee

member attends what is anticipated to be a full day hearing even if the

hearing is disposed of prior to the expiration of three hours' provided the

committee member was required as a result of the scheduled hearing to

make alternate office arrangements in order to be available for a full day

hearing.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



)

JI
I{
1l
l

By-law 9: Remuneration

9.7

9.8

4

520Conference Calls

committees are encouraged to conduct meetings wherever possible and
practicable by conference call; committee members will receive the
appropriate attendance and preparation per diems and reasonable expenses
for such meetings and payment of long-distance charges but will not
receive a travel per diem.

Preparation Time

Preparation time may only be claimed if preparation is in fact required for the
meeting/evenVhearing being attended.

At the discretion of Council, this by-law 9 applies to Non-Chiropractic
Committee Members with necessary modifi cations.

Council may, without amending the by-laws, adjust the amount of the President's
annual honorarium and/or the amount of any per diems (attendance and travel per
diem) in By-law 9 to reflect the annual changes to the Cost-of-Living Adjustment
(COLA) Ontario.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



521
BY-uw 11: GoruMrrrEE CoutposrnoN
Approvedby Council: February 24, 2001
Amended: September 24, 2009, November 30, 2012, September 17, 2015, June 19, 2019
(came into effect September 13, 2019), August 14, 2020 (came into ffict September 4,

2020), November 25, 2021 (came into ffict February 25,2022), November 23,2023
(came into ffict February 23, 2024), February 23, 2024 (subject to approval of minutes

onApril 16, 2024)

1 1 .1 The Executive Committee, inclusive of the president, vice-president and treasurer,

shall be composed of the following:

(a) Four members of Council who are members of CCO;

(b) Three members of Council who are appointed by the Lieutenant Governor
in Council;

ll.2 The president of the Council shall be the chair of the Executive Committee.

11.3 The Registration Committee shall be composed of:

(a) two members of Council who are members of CCO; and

(b) two members of Councils appointed to the Council by the Lieutenant
Governor in Council.

11.4 The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee shall be composed ofi

(a) two members of Council who are members of CCO;

(b) two members of Council appointed to Council by the Lieutenant Governor
in Council; and

(c) one member of CCO who is not a member of Council.

I 1.5 The Discipline Committee shall be composed ofi

(a) every member of Council; and

(b) up to three members of CCO who are not members of Council.

11.6 The Fitness to Practise Committee shall be composed of every member of
Council.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



-t

I
i
la

:

By-law 11: Committee Composition 2

522
ll.7 The Quality Assurance Committee shall be composed of:

(a) two members of Council who are member of CCO;

(b) two members of Council appointed to Council by the Lieutenant Governor
in Council; and

(c) one member of CCO who is not a member of Council.

11.8 The Patient Relations Committee shall be composed of:

(a) one member of Council who is a members of CCO;

(b) two members of Council appointed to Council by the Lieutenant Governor
in Council; and

(c) two members of CCO who are not members of Council.

1 1.9 Council may, by resolution, establish non-statutory committees, to include but not
be limited to a Nominating Committee. For each non-statutory committee,
Council shall specifu in the resolution the duties and responsibilities of the
committee, its composition and its termination date or event.

I 1 .10 A committee is still properly constituted if it has vacancies so long as a quorum
remains. Unless otherwise specified by the Code, three members of a committee
constitute quorum.

1 1 .1 1 By-laws 8.18 to 8.21 (electronic meetings) applies to committee meetings.

ll.l2 Despite the use in this By-law 11 of a definite number of committee members in
any category, Council may appoint additional committee members in any
category, except for the Executive Committee.

11.13 Despite the use in this By-law 11 of a definite number of committee members in
any category, Council may appoint alterative committee members in any
category. An alternative committee member may attend meetings and participate
in discussions but shall not vote unless a full committee member in the same
category as the alternative is unable to participate in the matter, including if the
full committee member has a conflict of interest.

11.I4 Despite any other provision of this By-Law 11, the Council may also appoint one
or more Non-Chiropractic Committee Members to any committee other than the
Executive Committee.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



|TEM 4.1.31
Jo-Ann Willson 536

Sent:
To:
Cc:

From: Robbie Berman <drrjberman@hotmail.com>

Wednesday, February 21, 2024 6:33 PM

Sarah Green; Jo-Ann Willson
Dennis Mizel; Sarah Green; Dr Paul Groulx; jgoldin@cmcc.ca; Angelo

Santin; 1 kylegrice@gmail.com; Dr. Michael Gauthier;

d rju liaviscomi @gmail.com; goudreaudc@ gmail.com

Final approval of Bylaws have 'special business' requirements and

transparency concerns

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe

Hello Dr. Green, CCO President, Ms. Jo-Ann Willson, CCO Registrar, and CCO elected members
(please circulate to public members)

I apologize for emaiiing each of you with this iong email but I don't know how else to get this
informition in front ofCouncil. This material is best explained face to face. I have requested an

invitation to meet/present this verifiable information and concerns directlyto Council and the
Executive committee. To date, this request has bben refused. It is not my intention or in my
best interest to debate my Regulatorybody; I am trulytryrng to help. I ask all of you to show
some professional courtesyby reading this information as well as the feedback regarding
Bylaws.
I im hopeful that at least a few Council members reading this email take heed to the importance
of getting it right and request Council to slow down with Bylaw re-writes, listen to/read all
relevantinformation, ana nr[y investigate all angles before moving forward with further Byiaw
reform. Correctness of process and accuracy of information helps CCO avoid unnecessary
challenges. This is the miin goal for submitting this information/concerns to,CCO's President
and Registrar before the February 25,2024 meeting (as per by CCO's Code of Conduct).

Here is why...

On January 2c.,2o2g CCO members observed the special meeting of Council. Bylaw
amendments were the only items on the agenda. Members express concerns that CCO Bylaw
changes had become far too common in recent years and were not strictly about protecting the
publii interest. Council voted 6-5 to amend a Bylaw. It was declared'the motion passed' even

though CCO Bylaw amendments have required a z/3 majority since CCO's inceptlon.
imm6diately emailed the President and Registrar expressing this concern. I asked if they could
provide a rrilid reason or reference why CCO Council was not following theappropriate
established procedures. The whole process seemed out of the ordinary. I did not receive a
response to this enquiry.

That Bylaw change cost the CCO membership tens of thousands of dollars when CCO had to
defenditself in alawsuit due to questionable procedures. Win or lose, Iawsuits against the
Coilege presents terrible optics and have financial consequences. Following recognized and
established protocol might have saved CCO time and saved CCO members money.

A President's Message was released on January 24, zoz3 which suggested Bylaw 8, specificaiiy-
clause 8.8, applies to CCO Bylaw amendments. This was the justification for suggesting a simple
majoritywuJ itt ttrut was required to aiter Bylaws. Bylaw 8 does not appiy. This is a verifiable

1

Subject:



i
I

truth. The President's Message further stated changes were in line with the CNO. After
reviewing CNO Bylaws it was identified that CNO clearly specifies (codified in Bylaw) a z/3
Tajgrlty requirement for Bylaws amendments and onlya 3 y"a. cooling offfollowing a
discipline finding. The President's Message was foundto 6e untrue. SJmething seeired off To
v-eri{ a9guragy, months were spent reviewing Bylaws from the other z5 Collegei. This review
clearly identified the vast majority of other Colleges did not implemeni the ariendments that
lCQ is now proposing/presenting as 'consistent to others' or 'best practices', nor were the other
Colleges amending Bylaws using 8.8 (the simple majority clause). lt was found that the vast
majority of Regulatory Colleges require a z/g majority to amend Bylaws, not just a simple
majoJity_. There are too many reasons to list here, but a z/g majority is the recognized^'gold
standard', not just in the regulatory world, but by many organizitions around the world.

Executiue Cornrnittee's exercise of Council's potaers

tz (t) Between the meetings,of the Council, the Executiue Committee has aII the potaers of the Council
uith respect to anA matter that, in the Committee's opinion, requires immediati attention, other thoLn
the pou er to rnake, o;rnend. or reuoke a regulatiort or bg -Iana.

2

537

It would be reasonable to expect that after CCO received multiple enquiries, which questioned
the process, there wouid !e an thorough investigation. checking and verif ing the 

"*iaity 
of the

content including researching the past and current governing rules. After ieview, CCO would
self-correct and proceed with appropriate processes moving forward. This has not been the
case.

Instead, on April 2c,2o2g the Past President sent me an emailed letter on CCO letterhead. I
though the letter wogld p_rovide valid answers; it did not. I became the subject of a personal
attack. The letter claimed CCO rules had changed and I was called'unprofessional'ior asking
questions. The letter went on to threatened myposition as a Peer Assessor. Expiaining the
correct procedtrres, holding CCO accountable, and revealing the inconvenient tiuth about Bylaw
reform seemed to anger the leadership. Although the current President sent a partial retraction
!o th9 original letter, when I did not receive any PeerAssessments by September zoz4,I
inquired. Following this inquiry, I received another letter September 6 zoz4,re-d.ecliring my
(same) communications as 'unprofessional' and now further accusing me of breaching a pier'
Assessor Code ofConduct, No investigation, no correspondence, justjudged and punlshed. I
felt it was an act of intimidation. This is not how CCO is supposed to function. I find it highly
hypocritical that as a Peer Assessor, I am sent into a membei's office to make sure a *"*5"r-
understands and abides by all of CCO rules; it is considered mentoring. However, when I
evaluated CCO in a similar fashion, identifying areas where Council could use improvement, the
leadership believed it had the right and power to attack the assessor, call me unpiofessional, and
eliminate me as an Peer assessor. I followed and continue to follow the CCO Co^de of Conduct
procedures by reporting factual truths/concerns to the Registrar and President and for that I
was inappropriatelypunished. It is verifiable that the Executive Committee does not have the
Iegislative authority to declare someone 'unprofessional' (only a discipline panel can following a
proper hearing). Legisiation dictates that only the QA committee can remove a Peer Assessoi(
after PA conduct investigation).

NB: It should be mentioned thlt having the entire Executive committee serve as a Bylaw
committee would be considered by most as inappropriate. This is basically forbidden by the
RHPA.
In fact, contrary to the actions observed, the Executive committee has very limited powers
according to the le_gislation. The current Executive seem to believe theyhave po*eis far greater
than those granted to them,through Council or legislation. Over-stepping the authority olthe
RHPA can have unintended repercussions for the organization. It ii notln the pubtc best
interest to unknowingly/knowingly e:pose CCO to unnecessary risks when such risks can be
easily avoided by simple twealis in procedures (eg. g person Bylaw committee) to produce better
policy.



538Report to Council

(z) If the Executiue Cornrnittee exercises a pou)er of the Council under subsection (1), it sho,ll
r.eport on its cctions to the Council at the Council's next meeting. 1991, c. tB, Sched. z, s. tz. By-
Iauts

February 29, 2c24 concerns...

The February 2j, zoz4 Public Council package contains only 86r or 1582 pages (45oA of
the Council package is hidden from the public). This is believed to be contrary to the
RHPArules.

2. There is a real matter of public interest up for Council discussion involving chiropractor's
ability to order 21st century diagnostic tests to better service the public of Ontario. Based
on this public interest perspective, it is not a good time to be amending Bylaws. Bylaws
changes mayverywell generate an additional iawsuit, a complaint to the Ministry, or
other requests for investigations. An investigation and asking for improved diagnostic
tests for chiropractors (public interest) appearing on the Minister's desk simultaneously
has potential negative effects.

3. The Executive report for the February 25, 2c24 Council meeting seems to suggest the
CCO leadership is focused on and determined to re-write the rule book that governs the
organization. Changing CCO Bylaws is a serious matter bringing with it huge
responsibility and individual accountability. Final Bylaws must be submitted to the
Minister of Health as per the RHPA. Unknowingly/knowingly exposing CCO to
avoidable risks is not in the organization's best interest. Every Council member who
votes must clearlyunderstand what they are voting for and that is: to change
fundamental organizational rules. Bylaw reform is a task that must be done absoluteiy
correct. A recorded vote is best practices.

Past Council members and many members of the profession have voiced major concerns around
this massive Bylaw reform. It is difficult to understand why any changes are necessary. It is
questionable why any CCO Council feels it appropriate to hitch its wagons to one undisclosed
legal report/opinion instead of relying on well-established protocols? Does this secret reporL
suggest dramatic additions or changes to governance? Suggest a simpie majorityfor
voting? Suggest anything else? It is unknown because CCO has not made this information
available to the public. Does this complywith the government's transparency obligations? It is
well known and legislatively required that all information used in the decision-making process

to change any CCO documents or rules are expected to be disclosed to the public. With limited,
if any public interest rationale disclosed publicly, and with no government instruction to do
so, the Executive Committee is recommending moving forward with their suggested Bylaw
changes? Many questioned posed have not been publiciy addressed, discussed, or answered as

to why any changes are necessary (eg. feedback questions pages 6t4-6zt)? Much of the written
feedback did not support the proposed changes but is being virtually ignored. Vital information,
although factual, has been left behind or relegated. These actions have the very real potential to
expose CCO and its leadership to unnecessary and avoidable challenge. There is no shame in
deciding no further changes are necessary or in the public interest. However, making changes
creates accountability and following acceptable rules, no matter what Council decides, serves to
mitigate risk.

3

1.



539
I am trying to help. As a past Council member, having previouslypresented Bylaw changes to
CCO Council, I do have an in-depth knowledge of what was considered the appropriate
requirements (best practices) to make CCO Bylaw changes in the past and why ttrese procedures
are still required and necessary. Since its inception, there are well-established CCO rules and
procedures used to make, amend, or revoke by-laws. This is not an opinion, it is a verifiable
fact. Beiow is the accepted protocol following stakeholder feedback.

As a matter of public interest:

1. Feedback is reviewed by all Council members. Any reievant discussion points, concerns,
or improvements are publiciy addressed, discussed, and referenced publicly.

2. Each Bylaw must be discussed and approved separatel)' and individually (ie. one bylaw at
a time). Some Bylaw changes can be approved easily, some require far greater
discussion.

3. Legislation requires a publicly available Council package that contain all documents,
drafts, reports use for/in the discussion. Discussion/debate is to occur at an open public
meeting.

4. Individual clauses within a Bylaw can be questioned/debated by any Council member. A
Council member who want to propose to additionally amend, adapt, or improve a Bylaw
would need to make such a motion. This motion then become an amendment to the
original motion. Council would first need to approve/fail the amendment then
approve/fail the full Bylaw.

5. If amendments are heavily debated, then it is appropriate to table that Bylaw motion and
sent that specific Bylaw back to the appropriate committee for adaptation.

6. Final approval: ALL Bylaws require azlgmajorityvote of the Councii for final
approval. This has been the rule since the beginning and has never changed. The z/g
majority has already been explained and can be further substantiated if necessary (see
feedback council package pages s6o-6+o). Azls majority demonstrates a true
consensus of the Council approving the change. Bylaws are special business and all
special business always requires azf gvole (ie. removal of president, chair, council
member, etc.)

Knowing and abiding bythe most appropriate rules (not opinions, undisclosed or otherwise) is
what maintains CCO's integrity and keeps CCO protected when challenged.

To protect CCO from chailenge, Council must make sure all Bylaw clauses being proposed
answer 3 fundamental questions:

t) \ryhy is any change being proposed? (provide evidence that a change is necessary - public
interest reasoning clearly discussed publicly)
z) What change is being proposed? (compare 'what it currently says" to "what it is going to
say") (CCO used to underline before and after documents as suggested by Ontario government)
3) How is the change an improvement (how does the new change better serve and protect the
public interest. Public interest reasoning clearly discussed publicly)

I provide this information in good faith to help protect the organization from avoidable
harm. I hope this information is received and utilized as intended and is distributed to
all Council members. I am available for an open discussion should any Council member
desire a more comprehensive discussion on why a veteran Council member has
repetitively voiced such concerns. I am truly worried about chiropractic self-regulation
being in jeopardy. I applaud all who dedicate their time and effort to help the
chiropractic profession better serve the public of Ontario

4

i
I

=



Sincerely and respectfully

Dr. Robbie Berman
Member in good standing since 1995
Past Council member

540

5



rrEM 4.1 .32
Joel Friedman

541
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Friday, March 8,2024 9:14 AM
Joel Friedman
CCO President's Message and Newsletter - March 1,2024

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

President's Message - March 1, 2024

Last November, as part of our annual strategic planning session, I and the
other members of CCO Council and staff participated in a workshop devoted to
how to best measure and ultimately improve the effectiveness of Council and
its committees. It was a fascinating and valuable workshop that provided
some concrete steps and learnings drawn from other regulators.

Council effectiveness can be characterized in many ways, from evaluating the
effectiveness of meetings, adherence to project plans and milestones/
maintaining and achieving statistical benchmarks for the college's business
(things like registrations, complaints processed, timely disposition of discipline
referrals, ongoing quality assurance initiatives, etc.) as well as solid financial
stewardship.

Undertaking a formal program to evaluate our effectiveness, as identified by
the Ontario College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF), is relatively
new for the CCO, although we have certainly been tracking performance
measures for some time. Like any new initiative, it's important that we start
simply and then begin to build upon the momentum we create, I am sure it
will be a meaningful journey for all of us.

One of the areas that reflects on Council's effectiveness is how we
communicate to members and the public, especially with respect to changes to
by-laws, standards of practice and guidelines. CCO has a solid record of
circulating this information, and also of putting planned changes out for
consultation and transparently incorporating feedback which ensures public
interest protection remains front and centre. And we will continue to reinforce
this. Some of the changes we discussed in our workshop included sending
more frequent newsletters to share updates on various Council initiatives and
priorities, even those that may be works-in-progress.

1



542
One current initiative is a plan to refresh CCO's website so it is the best it can
be for all CCO stakeholders, and to ensure both the public and members alike
can find the accurate and comprehensive information about the college that
they need. CCO received several qualified responses to its recently issued
request for proposal to undertake this website rejuvenation. I am excited on
behalf of the College to see where this will lead.

Congratulations to Returning Council Members

As of the close of nominations on February L6,2024, three CCO Council
members standing for re-election were acclaimed. Congratulations to returning
CCO Council Members Dr. Angelo Santin (District 1- Northern), Dr. Julia
Viscomi (District 4r Central) and Dr. Dennis Mizel (District 5: Central West),

It has been my pleasure to work alongside these three colleagues over this
past year, and I look forward to their continued contributions in the future.

As a reminder, internal elections to compose CCO committees will be held on
April 17,2024. A warm thank you to all candidates and Council members for
their passion and professionalism in ensuring the regulation of chiropractic in
Ontario.

Sincerely,

.!

, ,i.'; ::.n
I
t

;r., I t-/ tt _a

Dr. Sarah Green
President

*

CCO Newsletter - March L, 2024

2



543
CCO Council Approves Guideline G-O15: Virtual Care and
Amendments to Guideline G-O14: Delegation, Assignment and
Referral of Care and Standard of Practice 5-OO6: Ordering'
Taking and Interpreting Radiographs

CCO Council approved a number of new and amended standards of practice
and guidelines on November 23,2023 that came into effect on FebruarY 23'
2024. CCO thanks all stakeholders, including members, for providing feedback
to the various distributions.

New Guideline G-O15: Virtual Care

CCO Council approved new Guideline G-015: Virtual Care, following
distribution for feedback in June 2023. Guideline G-015: Virtual Care replaces
the temporary guidance on telecare provided during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Please review Guideline G-015: Virtual Care for protocols on providing care to
patients in virtual settings, including registration and professional liability
requirements, limitations of virtual care, expectations with respect to clinical
competency, privacy and confidentiality and patient interactions, record
keeping and business practices, and jurisdictional considerations.

Amendments to Guideline G-O14: Delegation, Assignment and Referral
of Care

CCO Council approved amendments to Guideline G-014: Delegation,
Assignment and Referral of Care, following distribution for feedback in June
2023. Amendments are reflected in underline and cross-out on page 3 of the
marked up version of the Guideline.

This guideline was reviewed as a result of a number of complaints to CCO

where care was assigned to an assistant as part of a chiropractic treatment
plan; however, there were miscommunications and misunderstandings by the
patient of the nature of the assigned care, As well, patients were not given an

opportunity to communicate or ask questions of their chiropractor' upon
request.

Communication with patients is an essential component of the doctor/patient
relationship. It is imperative that the nature of care and the right of the
patient to communicate and ask questions of their chiropractor is properly and

clearly communicated to the patient, especially when elements of care are to
be assigned to another individual.

Amendments emphasize the importance of proper and clear communication
and consent whenever treatment, as part of a chiropractic plan of care, is to
be assigned to another individual. This includes a discussion of the roles and
responsibilities of the individual providing the assigned care, the direction and
supervision provided by the member, and the right of the patient to
communicate with and ask any question of the member at any time during the
performance of the assigned care.

3



I
l

I

544
Fufther, the member who has assigned the care must ensure that either the
member or another member of CCO is available (which may include availability
remotely/virtually) to provide any direction or supervision, communicate with
the patient upon request and answer any questions from the patient. Any
individual providing assigned care must inform the patient of these rights and
facilitate any request for communication between the patient and the member.

Please review the marked up and clean version of amended Guideline G-014:
Delegation, Assignment and Referral of Care for further details.

Minor Amendments to Standard of Practice 5-OO6: Ordering, Taking
and Interpreting Radiographs

cco council approved minor amendments to standard of practice s-006:
Ordering, Takinq and Interpreting Radioqraphs. Amendments are underlined
and/or crossed out in the marked up version of the Standard of Practice.

Amendments reflect the application of consistent language from the record
keeping standard of practice and the common practice at many Ontario health
regulatory colleges, to collect demographic information as necessary to
identify, assessment and treat patients. As well, amendments emphasize the
importance of collecting information of the pregnancy status of the patient as
a contraindication, prior to any ordering or taking of a radiograph.

Annual Gathering of CCO Peer Assessors - January ZO, 2024

4



At the training day, Peer Assessors "workshopped" topics including proposed 5 hours of
hands-on continuing education at least once every three CE cycles (or six years) and a

proposed webinar on advertising, websites and social media'

The annual Peer and Practice Assessment meeting and workshop for CCO Peer

Assessors was held January 20,2024, at CCO's offices in Toronto. The session,
presided over by CCO President Dr. Sarah Green, was led by Dr. Katherine
Tibor, Director of Professional Practice, and attended by 29 Peer Assessors
alongside members of CCO's Quality Assurance Committee chaired by Dr- Paul

Groulx, as well as CCO staff including CCO Registrar lo-Ann Willson and
Deputy Registrar Joel Friedman.

The day-long session followed a packed, objective-driven agenda and featured
a mix of presentations, discussion and small group break-out sessions.
participants reviewed updated standards of practice, policies, and guidelines;
current trends in regulation; the role of the Peer Assessor and Peer Assessor
feedback; and the appropriate use of advertising, websites and social media.

Dr. Groulx thanked Peer Assessors for their tireless efforts throughout 2023 to
promote continuing competency among CCO membership, and to uphold the
duties and objectives of the College in the service of the public interest. Dr.

Tibor reminded all participants of the guiding principle of the peer assessment
program: that it is not a punitive undertaking, but rather provides members
wili the opportunity for learning and support. "It is about developing humane
approaches that maintain the strongest focus on risk and patient safety, while
also considering practitioner well-being" she said.

One particular area of focus for small-group discussion was the practice of
spinal adjustment or manipulation, in relation to Continuing Education (CE)

and peer-and Practice Assessments (PPAs). Mr.Joel Friedman noted that draft
amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio had been
circulated for feedback in September 2023, and were currently under review'
The draft amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003 propose that "every
member complete a minimum of a S-hour structured CE activity, that is a
hands-on spinal adjustment or manipulation activity and includes training in
the competency of manual spinal adjustment or manipulation skills, at least
once every three CE cycles (or six years)", These draft amendments are

currently under review, and any final approval of amendments is required to
be made by CCO Council,

The groups explored key aspects of assessing competence in spinal
adjustment, and discussed the availability of additional workshops or training
opportunities for members, the required expertise of the assessor, as well as

whether there were key learnings from other jurisdictions and regulated health
professions that include a physical technique as a component.

A surprise highlight for all participants was the screening of a video celebrating
the ninth year of service of six Peer Assessors: Drs. Pierre Ramlall, Victoria
Clarke, Brian Dower, David Hominuk, Janine Taylor and Marlene Turner, who
were d'uly acknowledged for their ongoing contribution to the self-regulation of
chiropractic in Ontario.

545

5



ij{j

At the close of the session, Dr. Tibor invited the Peer Assessors to sign the
code of conduct and Undertaking to Maintain confidentiality for peer
Assessors, It was a fitting end to a fulsome, educational and enjoyable
gathering of peers.

Peer and Practice Assessment Workshop - January 20, ZOZ4

CCO Council Approves By-law Amendments - November 23,
2023 and February 23t 2024

Like many other health regulatory colleges, CCO Council has conducted a by-
law review resulting in the approval of several amendments. Draft by-law
amendments were circulated for feedback to stakeholders, including members,
on September 19, 2023, and were carefully considered by Council along with
all feedback received at the November 23, zoz3 and February 23,2024
council meetings. cco thanks all stakeholders including members who
provided feedback, which is made available as part of the public council
packaqes. CCO Council also had the benefit of legal advice throughout the by-
law review process.

cco council approved a number of amendments to by-laws rerating to
ensuring gender neutral language, correcting minor inconsistencies, improving
clarity, and updating the fees by-law to reflect fees for the emergency class of
registration and Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Programs
(scERPs) at the November 23,2o2i council meeting. cco council approved
further amendments to by-laws related to eligibility for election to Council,
allowing the President to vote on motions before Council, and prescribing the
Nominating Committee as a non-statutory committee of CCO, which includes
the President as a committee member. Due to a number of considerations,
including persuasive feedback about the relatively small size of the chiropractic

546

6



profession in Ontario, CCO Council has maintained the cooling off period for
affiliations with other chiropractic associations and educational institutions at
three years for eligibility for election to Council.

CCO by-law amendments are subject to the approval of Council minutes at the
subsequent Council meeting and are posted on the CCO website upon approval
of the minutes.

CCO Regulatory Excellence Workshop Takes to the Road!

After a brief hiatus, CCO is once again hitting the road to offer the Regulatory
Excellence Workshop (REW) (formerly known as the Record Keeping
Workshop) in select Ontario communities. Currently, there are two scheduled
in-person workshops. The first will be held at the Hunt Club in Ottawa
Saturday, May 4,2O24t from 8:30am - lpm.The second will be in
Kitchener-Waterloo (venue TBD) on Wednesday, September 4t 2024,
from 5:30pm-9pm. Please continue to visit the CCO website as information
becomes available,

This is a great opportunity for members to meet directly with CCO

representatives including council members, staff and peer assessors, ask
pertinent questions and to socialize with their peers. Past attendees have
shared how beneficial they found the in-person session. Stay tuned for further
details.

As a reminder, all members registered in the General (i.e., Active) class of
registration are required to attend the REW once every 3 CE cycles (or 6
years). New members are required to complete the workshop following their
writing of the Legislation and Ethics examination, or within their first year of
registration with CCO. The workshop is free and available for all applicants and
members of CCO.

Please note, the REW continues to be offered online, with the next virtual
workshop planned forJune 312O24r 8:3O am - 1:OO pm. Please email Rose
Bustria at rbustria@cco.on.ca if you are interested in scheduling a workshop in
your district or if you plan to attend the virtual REW or either of the scheduled
in-person REW's.

547

7



548

I

CCO Council - February 23,2024

College of Chiropractors of Ontario | 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, M4Y 0E7 Canada

Unsubscribe ifriedman@cco.on.ca

Update Profile I Constant Contact Data Notice

Sent by cco.info@cco.on.ca powered by

Zt Constqnt
\9 Contqct

Try email marketing for free today!

lieve you have received the message in error, please contact the author by replying to this message. Constant Contact takes repods of abuse very seriously

I
=q
l



3/8i24, 9:09 AM

gg() Newsletter -... ch 1,2(J24

Constant Contact

|TEM 4.1.33

copy

Clicks

Did Not Open

Unsubscribed

Spom Reports

Mobile Open Percentoge

o

549
JETIL

Iletcils Reporting E{ect Mcp

Emoil Performonce
See how your emoils ore doing with your oudience. Compore your results to the industry

overoge

Sent

7035

74.1o/o
Open Rote

Click Rote

3.3o/o
Opens

Sent

Bounces

Successful Deliverles

Desktop Open Percentoge

5093

7035

161

6874

93.7o/o

228

1781

4

0

6.3o/o

Recommendotions
Here ore some things we think would help this compoign even more.

Sociol Shqre

Try shoring your emoil in a scciol post to get your messoge

post thct sc.lys "l'rn herei"

a Need Help? Let's Chot! X

Creote

https://app.constantcontact.comipaqes/campaiqns/email-details/reportins/activitv/e7bBfO6f-b2d9-4fe4-a64d-c12213b42b1c 112



3/8/24, 9:09 AM

ilr:;;c:'l,it:c;

Constant Contaci

ii*ry:* a

Sent Count

703s

550
rteLJLll LU5'-IJIllels seurLIIlr9 IUI PruuuLLs (Jr ScrvtLes ilng yuulS uil \:!Jugrc \ltru 9ilty iJUy l1..rr uLLu(lt LilLK5

I
IJ

1
;

Cl ick-Throug h Distribution
When o contoct clicks o link in your emoil, we'll show you the stots here.

Link

https://cco.on.colwp-content/uplo ods/2O24/Q2/G-OlsVirtuolCoreFeb2024clecn.pdf

https://cco.on.colwp-content/u p lo ads/2o24/ O2/G - 014F eb2024cl eo n. pdf

https:/files.constontcontoct.com/oe8f73eeOO1 /f1244e3b-4f d4-48f1-975f -

24d15b67 f o1 O. p d f? rd r=tru e

https://cco.on.colwp-content/u pl o ods/2O24/ O2lS-O06Feb2024c leo n. pdf

h tt p s ://c co. o n. c o/m e m b e rs - o f - c c o/wo r ks h o ps/

https:/files.constontcontoct.com/oeBf73ee001 /31206f 68-6780-4eo0 -87f 6-
29 cb o 4bb17o 8. p d f? rd r=tru e

htt ps://cco.o n.colo bo ut- c colby- I ows/

https://cco.on.co/o bout-cco/wh o-we-o re/cou nci l-meeti n gs/

Totql Click-throughs

Send History
History of this emoil being sent including how mony people it wos sent to.

Uniq. . . cks Distr. .. ion

113 26.20/o

1O4 24.1o/o

61 14.2o/o

53

44

33

12

11

431

12.3o/o

10.2o/o

7.7o/o

2-8o/o

2-60/o

100o/o

Dqte

Fri, Mor 1,2A24 9:30 om EST

Stqtus

Your emoil hos been successfully sent.

Templcte Ncme: cPE-PTl0fitu" 
o product ideo or request? submit it here!

@ 1996 - 2024 Constont Contoct, lnc. Terms of Service Acceptoble Use Policy Anti-Spom

Privocy Center Vulnerobility Disclosure Do Not Sell or Shore My Personol lnformotion Shore Screen

a Need Help? Let's Chot! X

https://app.constantcontact.com/paqesicampaiqns/email-details/reoortinq/activitv/e7b8f06f-b2d9-4te4-a64d-cf2213b42b1c 2t2



Rose Bustria

Subject: FW: CCO President's Message and Newsletter - March 1,2024

From: gauri shankar
Sent: Saturday, March 2,2024 8:32 AM

To: cco.info <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Re: CCO President's Message and Newsletter - March 1.,2024

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Great message Thank you CCO team !

Sent from my Bell Samsung device over Canada's largest network.

|TEM 4.1 .34 551

From: College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Sent: Friday. March 'J.,2024 9:31:38 AM

To: ,.,-,,,.-,,--..
Subject: CCO President's Message and Newsletter - March 1,2024

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

President's Message - March 1, 2024

Last November, as part of our annual strategic planning session, I and the
other members of CCO Council and staff participated in a workshop devoted to
how to best measure and ultimately improve the effectiveness of Council and
its committees. It was a fascinating and valuable workshop that provided
some concrete steps and learnings drawn from other regulators.

Council effectiveness can be characterized in many ways, from evaluating the
effectiveness of meetings, adherence to project plans and milestones,
maintaining and achieving statistical benchmarks for the college's business
(things like registrations, complaints processed, timely disposition of discipline

1



Rose Bustria
552

Subject: FW:CCO President's Message and Newsletter - March 1,2024

From: Dr. Dennis Mizel
Sent: Friday, March 'J.,2024 5:29 PM

To: cco.info <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Re: CCO President's Message and Newsletter - March 1.,2024

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Dr. Green,
I wanted to congratutate you on the recent update to the President's Message. I appreciate the new
layout, as it is much easier to read and contemplate. The use of different colors to separate the
Standards, Policies, and Guidetines makes reviewing them a breeze. The inctusion of hypertinks
within the articte is extremety hetpfut. Additional.ty, I found the undertined version hightighting the
changes to be very usef ut. Great job!
Sincerety,
Dr. Mizel

From: Col,tege of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca>
Date: Friday, March 1,2024 at 9:32 AM

To:
Subject: CCO President's Message and Newstetter - March 1 ,2024

K,D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

President's Message - March 1, 2024

Last November, as part of our annual strategic planning session, I and the
other members of CCO Council and staff participated in a workshop devoted to
how to best measure and ultimately improve the effectiveness of Council and
its committees. It was a fascinating and valuable workshop that provided
some concrete steps and learnings drawn from other regulators.

I



Rose Bustria
553

Subject: FW:CCO President's Message and Newsletter - March 1,2024

From: Igor Steiman
Sent: Friday, March 1,202411:41 AM
To: cco. info <cco. info@cco.on.ca>
Subject: Re: CCO President's Message and Newsletter - March 1,2024

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Good job -- I like this way of being updated.

lgor Steiman

On Fri, Mar 1, 2024 at 9:31 AM College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote

@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

President's Message - March 1, 2024

Last November, as part of our annual strategic planning session, I and the
other members of CCO Council and staff participated in a workshop devoted to
how to best measure and ultimately improve the effectiveness of Council and
its committees. It was a fascinating and valuable workshop that provided
some concrete steps and learnings drawn from other regulators.

Council effectiveness can be characterized in many ways, from evaluating the
effectiveness of meetings, adherence to project plans and milestones,
maintaining and achieving statistical benchmarks for the college's business
(things like registrations, complaints processed, timely disposition of discipline
referrals, ongoing quality assurance initiatives, etc.) as well as solid financial
stewardship.

1



Rose Bustria
554

Subject: FW: CCO President's Message and Newsletter - March 1,2024

From: Jim Veitch
Sent: Friday, March 1.,2024 2:04 PM

To: cco.info <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Re:CCO President's Message and Newsletter - March 'J,,2024

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Dear Dr. Green,

Thank you for this recent update on the College's activities. I am happy that there will be an increased
attempt at transparency of the College's activities.This has not been the case in the past. I refer to the
current office space acquisition. This was a major cost to the profession without any open consultation
of the members. Who exactly owns the office space? By what authority was the College able to put the
profession in a mortgaged situation? What happens if an unfriendly government
deregulates Chiropractic? Where does the money go when the office space is sold?

These are but a few of the many questions I have

Thank you for your time

Regards,

Dr. Jim Veitch
Member 42+ years

On Fri, Mar L, 2024 at 9:32 AM College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UCrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

President's Message - March 1, 2024

1



413124,11:55 AM College of Chiropractors of Ontario

Regulatory Excellence Workshops for CCO Members
555Virtuat/Onti ne Workshops |TEM 4.1.35

CCO hosts the online workshop - Regulatory Excellence Workshop (REW) for CCO members
(formerty titted the Record Keeping Workshop) approximately three times per year (in

conjunction with CCO's Legistation I Ethics examination).

The next virtual REW is scheduled for June 3,2024, B:30 am - 1:00 pm. Please see the
fottowing link for more information about this workshop and how to register.

ln-Person Workshops

CCO has scheduled in-person REWs for the foltowing dates and locations:

Saturday, May 4, 2024,8:30 am - 1:00 pm: The Ottawa Gotf and Hunt Club, 1 Hunt Club Road,
Ottawa, Ontario, K1V 1BB

Wednesday, September 4, 2024,5:30 pm - 9:00 pm: Location to be determined in the
Kitchener/Watertoo area

Please continue to visit this page for announcements of more dates and locations.

Alt REWs are free to attend. A tight mealwitl be provided.

Ptease emait Rose Bustria at rbustria@cco.on.ca to register for a REW.

.a.

aa

tt

':q:ilf:rl;FF1rrF zr{

REGUUIJNON
.L

https://cco. on.calmembers-of-cco/workshops/ 1t2



News & Updates

CCO President"s Messsge and Newstetter -
Mrrch L 2024

::ri . - t,-' \i-r.:'..::.:';"'- :l_ iL iir'r:i -!'.ii.::ir -

!-, rl ,l l"'::i'i -:r ,lr -; il ', . lil rl l:',t ' -

r. ,, ':j',i:,:rt- i",..'l '! " i

: ": i r-

.!.:r- ;- ..-:-- ,- : -.

,_ _._r" _ -:a+i

Read M{:rre }

?0?4 Etections to CCO Counqit

,:.t,,f :, .,.,: :t ri it '::i'11",1 -,'1r 
I

I, -, :..:- :.. 'j .'': : i-

€r:ai :r- l; ; l. -1 - r.'- --l

Reacl M0le )

About the Col,l,ege

fveryone ls entiried to safe ancl compet*rrt irealtl-r

care. Tc enEure the pub{rc lnterest is protect€d.
regulated health care provrclers tn Ontarto lnr"t5!

ilb{frrr1 ircetlt::es or (ertifiriat€s #f r*gl5tr&jllorl t(:t

p{a{iti$r tlr*ir' Prcfession

the CotleEe of Chrropraclors r:t Ctntario {CCO) is

the governrfig body e$tabt,shed by ttre provrncra{

qovei r"1 f]] e11 t Y $ I eq u i;t t t c lt Nf t) p f ll (: tt] I :; lr ) {:) r" i a I { #

Suery chirr:pr"actor prar-tisinq in Orrtario {'tll:5t hre 3

registered nretnher of C.CCI

Communications tcl CCO

CC{-l enctlrltaqes ait $takehotdels l*'
fE:rr"rar<J inquirie s reiating rr: CC$ te Ll(rl)

Cirertly. A great dea{ of itrfort'rratiotr is

readiiy avarlable ofl tl"re CC0 i'retrstte
C^^rn ...f^-n- r+in.r ir'.r1"'H"\{ -r-+r!r^

lnterested in Serving on a CCO

Committee?

-i-.. j" j:ri!;:j 'li;-,ll;1'::;.: E'i-;::(:' i!r1l r'-:

' l ir.lr, - ri r-:r-, '! 
- ;.1 1

'., | ,l

- j. ' 1,.11 ;i'

Rea* l4(]re )

Requert for Proporat: Website Re'de*ign *
February L"?.O24

' 1: -- _" 
' lt l i-

,i.:: --_ :.'=--, i:1.::::--.. i::-t -:j: :

-1.1r::ji :,: :lt"::'rl

Reaii More )

Upconning Events

' Aprri 15. 2024 8:30 anr - I 00 pnr - Cnr:nciL

lnleetrrrg
. .Apni L7.2rJ24.8.3,J ar:r - 1.00 pnr - lt'rterrrat

I l*cticrns/C*ur\cli tlr r€lttatl{!r i

" i..1a,; !, 2A?J" fi 3t] ..lr'r " fi"' 1'r'- lll Jt'r ,' rr l

R eq il iatl n" I x,: e I le r, r: e Y.;o r 
"l 

s {i o p. Dii : 
"r' 

a

il ntafla
. l''.a:i 50. 2024 - L*qisi;t^rol"1 arrs i=thtcs

l:(.11i11113; )c,11

r lture I 10;1.1- Ei il'arr - r irl;.rni'- Vlttt.ri
R e q r.r i a I r: qr E :: r: e [ [* r, c e !1i'; r,{ :] i', n ij

. -'lur"le 14 2024 8 30 arn - 1.00 pnr - Cc-.run*i

l,t€etrnq
. .Jun€ i4 2{"1?'i" 6 iJ0 pnr -'$ t}t} prri * '\t'rnrial

fi+rrerai M**ting
. Septenrirer 4.302j{.5 trC p*', - 9:ltf: i:irt - ltr-

F e rs c tr Lecl tr le to r'.' E r ce I ie rr c e r.'rta'r k5 h o tl
li l tc i're i-e r i' in./a ie i lt:) Q.'J t-r i.r i i':r

CCO Rerources

) Requldtt$rrs

> Standards of Practtce

> Fr:ircre:

> Suicjeline*

> Fubttcattorrs

I ilorrrrcll Meetrfi{l$

> Discipirne Flearings and Decrsrons

) iltrauthgilzed Practrce and Cqruft
rJrders

',iiei'; ai.

556

JL

Members of the Public

O S."p* of Practice and Authorized
Acts

Q Who are Chltopractots

Q Orulity Care for Ontarians

$ How to Ftle a ComPlarnt

[) Funrtirrg for TheraPY and

Counselling

S t-teattfr Professron Regutators of
Ontarlo

Q Partnership of Care

,-rf',rreS]

Quick Links for Members
C,/



@D Goltege of Chiropractors of Ontario

Memorandum

The Requlatorv Excellence Workshop is cominq to Ottawa!

CCO is the self-governing body, established by the provincial government
by statute to regulate chiropractors in Ontario in the public interest. One of
CCO's key strategic objectives is to communicate of the role, mandate and

mechanism of CCO to key internal and external stakeholders.

This will be an opportunity to:

Complete the mandatory Regulatory Excellence Workshop, in
person!
lnteract with CCO staff and Council members;
Get the latest updates on chiropractic regulation in Ontario;
Ask questions to enhance your knowledge of CCO.

. Opportunities to network and connect with your local colleagues;
o 4.5 hours Structured Continuing Education (CE) hours;
o Breakfast!

557

But wait, that's not all... attendance is free of charge and includes:

Date:
Time:

Location:

RSVP

Saturday, May 4,2024
8:30am - 1:00pm
(breakfast to be served at 8:00am)
Ottawa Hunt and Golf Glub
1 Hunt Club Road, Ottawa, ON (613-736-11021
Ms Rose Bustria, Administrative Assistant, CCO
at rbustria@cco.on.ca by April 23,2024



College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ondre des Ghinopraticiens de N'Ontario

558
CCO Regulatory Excellence Workshop (REW) - Ottawa - May 4t 2024

Representatives from the College of Chiropractors (CCO) are coming to Ottawa
on Saturday, May 4,2024 for an in-person Regulatory Excellence Workshop
(REW). Please see the memorandum below for further details and how to
register.

Please note: seating is limited, so please register ASAP by emailing Ms Rose
Bustria at rbustria@cco.on.ca by April 23, 2024 if you will be attending the
Ottawa REW.

Re g u I a to ry Exce I I e n ce Wo rks h o p*A$awa-:l{aY-4,-2!24

Attendance at a REW is mandatory once every three Continuing Education
(CE) Cycles (or once every six years) for members registered in the General
class of registration. CCO continues to offerthe REW virtually, with the next
virtual session scheduled for June 3,2024.

Please continue to visit the CCO website for updates on upcoming virtual and
in-person workshops.

413124, 11:58 AM Constant Contact

College of Chiropractors of Ontario | 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, M4Y 0E7 Canada

Unsubscribe jfriedman@cco.on.ca

Upiele_PfSlile I Constant Contact Data Notice

Sent by cco.info@cco.on.ca powered by

Zil Constont
\:U Contoct
Try email marketing for free todayl

https://apo.constantcontact.com/paqes/campaiqns/email-details/details/activitv/d90652d2-2c51-42bc-b136-3397f/a4df75 111



1

Collrcr or CnrnopRAcroRs or OnrARro
WonrsHoP
ReeularoRy ExcellrNcE FoR CCO MeMeens:
UruoeRsrRNDrNG youR Rou rru Seu-ReculRrrou
June 3, 2024

559
rs

CCO is holding this workshop virtually on
June 3, 2024,8:30 am - 1:00 pm.

The workshop is MANDATORY for candidates
writing the Legislation & Ethics examination
on June 3,2024, or CCO members within their
FIRST YEAR OF REGISTRATION with CCO.
This workshop is free and available for all
applicants and members of CCO.

All members registered in the GENERAL (i.e.,
ACTIVE) class of registration are required to
attend the workshop, or its predecessor, the
Record Keeping Workshop once every 3 CE
cycles (or 6 years). As this requirement came
into effect for the July 1,, 2022 CE cycle, mem-
bers may complete this requirement over the
next three CE cycles (or six years - until June
30,2028).

To register: Please confirm your attendance
with Ms Rose Bustria, Administrative
Assistant, via e-mail at rbustria@cco.on.ca.

Presenters:
Dr. Katherine Tibor, (Director of Professional
Practice),
Mr. Joel Friedman (Deputy Registrar).

In addition to reviewing STEP-BY-STER the
best practices in record keeping, this workshop
will also cover:
. an introduction to CCO
. accurately documenting the " story" of the

doctor/patient relationship (consultation,
history, examination, diagnostic imaging,
report of findings, communicating a

diagnosis, treatment, SOAP notes,
re-assessment, dismissal)

. informed consent - when and how

. communication with patients, avoiding
boundary crossings and prevention of
sexual abuse

. chiropractic scope of practice

. billing and business practices

. adjunctive therapies and assistive devices

. adjunctive therapies and assistive devices

. assignment and referral of care

. advertising, websites and social media

. privacy of personal health information

. leaving a practice

. new and amended CCO standards of
practice, policies and guidelines

. current events

DATES
June 3, 2024,8:30 am - 1:00 pm

Registered participants will receive a

Zoom link to the workshop by email.

Check CCO's web site at wranv.cco.on.ca
for updated information.

Kruowrnc rHE SrnnoaRDs, PolrcrEs AND GUTDELTNES =
PeIce OF MIND!



" rsion date: October 12,201-7

|TEM 4.1.36
560

@ CouecE oF GnrRopnAcroRs oF ONTARIo
Mrsslott, VrstoN, VRlues AND SrRRrectc OBJEcIvES

Mtsstott

The College of Chiropractors of Ontario regulates the profession in the public
interest to assure ethical and competent chiropractic care.

Vtslott

Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest in a Diverse
Environment.

Values

. Integrrty

. Respect

. Collaborative
o Innovative
o Transparent
. Responsive

Srnarecrc Oe.Jecrvrs

Build public trust and confidence and promote understanding of the role of
CCO amongst all stakeholders.

Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and patient-centered.

Ensure standards and core competencies promote excellence of care while
responding to emerging developments.

Optimize the use of technology to facittate regulatory functions and
communications.

Continue to meet CCO's statutory mandate and resource priorities in a
fiscally responsible manner.

1

2.

J.

4.

5.

Deaeloped at the strategic planning session: September 2017



4,t o (n

Thc Regulator's

Practicc
Proposal |TEM 4.1.37 561

To Jo-Ann Willson

Registrar & General Counsel

The College of Chiropractors of Ontario

Date: 21.03.2024

YOUR NEEDS

The College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) regulates the practice of chiropractors in the province.

The CCO is governed by a Council made up of fifteen members and has a staffteam of twelve. The

College would like to consider the relevance of the current strategic plan and determine the

organization's course for the next 3 to 5 years.

CCO has already begun work related to moving the College forward, including a website refresh,

participation in a Council Effectiveness Workshop, a phased approach to Council evaluation, and your

on-going progress and reporting guided by the College Performance Measurement Framework.

You have asked the Regulator's Practice ("The Practice") to develop a proposal to facilitate a llz day

in-person strategic planning session for Council members and staff focused on a review and update on

CCO's current Mission, Vision and Strategic objectives.

Ourteam members have significant experience working with and within professional regulators in

Ontario and across Canada. As regulatory professionals, we understand the essential need for

regulators to identify and focus on their critical priorities when developing a strategic plan.

OUR APPROACH

Our regulatory strategy process is grounded in clarity and simplicity. We work with our regulator

clients to define a clear, actionable, and achievable path forward through an engaging and intentional

approach, built on the following four core questions:

1. Who are we?

r What makes our organization unique?

r What are the values that define how we do your work?

o What is our regulatory philosophy or principles that guide how we regulate?



2 562
2. Where are we now?

o What internal or reputational strengths can we rely on moving forward?

o What is our internal capacity / constraints that need to be taken into consideration?
o What external challenges or demands need to considered?

3. Where are we going?

o Are there common points on the horizon that leaders and governors agree are worthy of
moving towards?

r What is the desired future for our organization - where do we want to be in three to five

years, practical ly and specifically?

4. How are we going to get there?

. Based on who we arer what we want to achieve, and the current environment - what is the
critical path to get us to where we want to go?

r What is the priority work we need to be engaging in?

o What could trip us up on the way?

PROPOSED WORK

The Practice will design a strategic planning process that will include an initial Discovery Phase, an

Environmental Scan and a facilitated in-person strategic planning session to support the review and

development of CCO's new strategic plan.

The Discovery Phase

The goal of the Discovery Phase is to understand the degree of clarity and alignment amongst the
CCO Council and staff with respect to the four core questions of strategic planning. This then allows

for the remaining planning process to focus on those elements requiring attention and not waste time

on elements where clarity and alignment already exist. This process will include:

+ lnitial Discovery Meeting - a meeting with CCO's Registrar and Council Chair (or Executive

Committee) to understand the College's current environment and strategic plan, conte)d

and confirm the strategic planning timelines.

+ Discovery Survey - a short survey to Council members and staff to assess the current

strategic objectives, Mission, Vision and Values and determine where there is alignment

and what needs additional consideration during the strategic planning session.

+ Discovery Report - the themes and findings gathered during the Discovery Phase with

recommendations regarding what areas require focus and attention. This report will be

part of the pre-meeting materials forthe strategic planning session.

>

I
J
:



563

The Environmental Scan

The Regulator's Praclice will develop an Environmental Scan for CCO looking at the following
+ Overview and context of professional regulation in Ontario, Canada and around the world

+ Changes and emerging strategic and regulatory practices of professional regulators,

including the CCO.

The scan will also form part of pre-meeting materials for the strategic planning session and support
the discussion with respect to the current reality (Where are we now?).

The Facilitated Strategic Planning Session

The design and priority elements of the planning session will be based on the needs emerging from

the Discovery Process in consultation with the Registrar and Council Chair. The facilitation team for the

in-person session will be determined based on the topics and issues to be dealt with within the
session. The session will likely include the following types of discussions:

+ A review and discussion of the Discovery Report and Environmental Scan

+ An interactive session with respect to the College's current reality incorporating elements of
the Environmental Scan in addition to Council and staff input regarding elements of CCO's

internal and external environmentthat need to be considered in the strategic plan.

+ An opportunity for participants to think about the future and what specific outcomes they

would like to see in 3 - 5 years.

+ Discussion with respect to various options and pathways CCO could take in order to

achieve these outcomes.

+ Clarity regarding those elements that could support or become barriers to CCO achieving

its strategic priorities.

The Regulator's Praclice will work with CCO staffto capture the feedback generated from the

strategic planning session to enable CCO staffto develop a draft strategic plan for Council

approval at a later date. The Regulator's Practice would be happy to support CCO after the
planning session to draft a strategic plan, working with your teams and other consultants, however

we have not incorporated that work into this proposal.

OUR TEAM

Depending on your needs and areas of focus that emerge from the Discovery phase, the Regulator's

Practice will form a team to support your facilitated strategic planning session that we believe will best

support the discussions that need to take place. The team members that we may engage in this

process have knowledge of regulation, strategic planning and facilitation .

?



5644

>
Kevin McCarthy, VP Advisory Services

Kevin will lead this strategy project and be the point of contact for the CCO throughout the process.

Kevin is the former Director of Strategy for the College of Nurses of Ontario (CNO), and has led a

portfolio responsible for governance, strategic planning, strategic policy development and

communications. Kevin was the senior leader accountable for the development and implementation of

CNO's Vision 2020, an influential report on governance modernization adopted by regulators across

Canada. Kevin has served as an advisorto professional regulators and ministries across Canada on

governance reform and modernizing regulatory processes and has been appointed to several Ontario

Ministry of Health task forces including The Public lnquiry into the Safety of Long-Term Care

Residents and the College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF).

Bradley Chisholm, Principal and Founder

Bradley will be an advisor for this strategy project and be available to support the in-person planning

session. For the last ten years Bradley has worked with professional regulators across Canada as both a

consultant and an executive leader. Most recently Bradley served as the Chief Officer, Strategy and

Governance for the newly formed BC College of Nurses and Midwives (BCCNM), leading two

regulatory amalgamations, building a modern governance framework from the ground up, and

providing governance advice to regulatory leaders and boards across the country. He is currently

supporting the on-going amalgamation of health regulators into two new multi-professional

regulators. ln 2021 Bradley was named the Governance Professionals of Canada's Governance

Professional of the Year for his work influencing and supporting modern, inclusive and effective

regu latory governance mod ern ization withi n Ca n ada.

Charles Holmes, Senior Advisor

Charles is a master facilitator and resource to CCO if needed for the in-person planning session.

Charles Holmes is a facilitator working with boards and executive teams across sectors and around the

world. Charles has deep experience working with health profession regulators and engaging in the

most critical discussions, working through current uncedainty and positioning for impact. Charles has

supported numerous strategic planning processes for both professional associations and regulators,

most recently working with a number of regulators involved with the multi-professional amalgamation

project in British Columbia.

lain Duncan. Advisor - Strategy and Leadership

lain Duncan is a collaborator with The Regulator's Practice and brings deep strategic planning

experience. lain is available as a potential resource to CCO for the in-person planning session. lain

Duncan's practice focuses on supported the leaders and strategy that shape social and environmental

impact. lain has worked with The Regulator's Practice to develop a customized leadership

development offering for regulatory leaders and collaborates in support of engaging and impactful

development of strategy.

c
j

a



1

|TEM 4.1.38 566

Council Effectiveness Workshop +
September Planning Session

Addendum

November 24,2O23 - Final Version (Approved - Febru ary 23,2024)

CCO Head Office

Boyd Neil I Chris Winsor



, i ]l ltr]-rl r FT,-I[II[I| [lflnr ljild rnr ] I 
-_

2

567

Cou ncil effectiveness workshop report
November 24, 2023

CCO Heod Office

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



3
Process

568

. How Council currently measure its effectiveness

. What indicators should be used to evaluate 'performance' of individual Council members

. What indicators should be used to evaluate 'performance of Council as a whole

Focus on addressing:

.'The Gold Finches (chaired by Dr. Sarah Green)

. 'The Blue Jays' (chaired by Dr. Michael Gauthier)

.'The Cardinals' (chaired by Ms Zoe Kariunas)

Three groups established to discuss/debate

Dotocracy exercise to coalesce central themes

. Boyd Neil and Chris Winsor

Facilitators

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



4

569

Dotocracy Exercise

Four questions tqbled out of group discussion and
debate, ranked as per the following tables

Imooe Credit Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



5#L- | n d icato rs of effective n ess

Ranked into three categories based on perceived

Priority:

L. LOW

2. MEDIUM

3. HIGH

570

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



tll l LL L.ll Xill IIL |I ilIl-lEl]llflmtfiM ll l,lllil tllll I i

6
LOW-MEDIUM priority as

ind icator of effectiveness

L Moving forward on
specific DEI goals

571

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



7
MEDIUM priority as

indicator of effectiveness

1-. ICRC decisions:
timeliness and trends

2. Fulfilling strategic
objectives

3. Communicating with
other regu lators

4. Meeting management
skills

5. Training sub-committee
chairs

5. Knowledge of mission I

vision I values

7 . Clea r u ndersta nd ing of
Council I individual role

572

tlf'\,,"-,n ,.

,i: -'-j r

|n

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



r:..Iru-. I ..ll!lillnr-nl|llliujlltultllll j.j_1, l_1 I -

8
HIGH priority as indicator
of effectiveness

L Public interest evident
as Council's'North Star'

2. Adherence to CPMF

bench ma rks

3. Timely and transparent
communications

4. Budget consistency

5. 3'd party evaluation of
Council

6. Council member:
. Participation
. Preparation
. Attenda nce
. Soft skills

573

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



#z-Data to collect for benchmarking against which changes @n

be measu red
574

Ranking Criteria

PhaseI(<Lyear)
Phase 2 (1-3 years)

Phase 3 (3-5 years)

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



rll r ..'.1]:Ju--rI - r,m]j-trul{rD![iil][t[rr rfi ]lrI _

575Phasel(<lvearl

L. ICRC decisions: and Discipline
Committee timelines & summaries (#

hearings, # joint submissions)

2. Trends within patient complaints

3. QA aggregate data from peer
assessments + post assessment
follow-up data

4. Registration statistics (# individuals,
schools, decisions)

5. Budget metrics/ad herence

Phase 2 n3 vearsl

L Google analytics re: assessment of
communications products

Phase 3 {3-5 vearsl

1,. Turnover of CCO

staff/Co m m ittees/Co u n ci I



#3-lnformation re: results of Council + Council member
evaluation to be released interna llV / externally

Ranking Criteria

PhaseL(<1year)

Phase 2 (1-3 years)

Phase 3 (3-5 years)

11

576

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



... ltrL.--.. .r _ !EEttrilflnilttt{t tJn lI[,t I

12Externallv

Phase 1 {<1 vear}

L. Executive summary of council
effectiveness results (leverage annua I

report ? CPMF)

Phase 3 (3-5 vearsl

L Third-party evaluation of Council
effectiveness

Phasel(<1vear)

L. Anonymized Council member + peer
effectiveness resu lts

Phase 2 II-g vearsl

L Consider exit interview results of
departing Council members (possibly
conducted by third party)

lnternallv
577



#4-Steps to be taken to ensure processes for individuallCouncil evaluatigns
are simple, easy to implement, not overly demanding on human or financial
resources and result in good quality individuals wanting to participate in

Council work
578

Phase I (< 1- year)

Phase 2 (1-3 years)

Phase 3 (3-5 years)

Ranking Criteria

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



lr : lr-ltr|l-, IL r Fr-trquflmull I | lin In I ]

14Phasel(<1vear)

Digital survey with simple
quantitative scale (either numbered

1-10 or Likert scale) for evaluating
meeti ng effectiveness (shou ld include
qualitative "why" option for low
score und er 7 or 'disagree'

responses)

Timely evaluations - immediately
post-meeting/within 24 hours -
meeting effectiveness

Digital survey with scales as per

above and 'why' options etc. for
onnuol personol evoluqtions of self
and peers

Phase 2 nA vearsl
579

T 1. Digital survey containing simple
q ua ntitative sca le (either n u m bered
1-L0 or Likert scale) for Annual
Council Member evaluations of
Council Effectiveness. (should include
qualitative "why" option for low score

under 7 or 'disagree' responses.)

Phase 3 (3-5 vearsl

L Third-party evaluation of Council
effectiveness

2

3



",n -..

15

580

ADDENDUM
Executive committee consensus on go-forward
communications

1

Post strategic plonning weekend (September 9-1-0, 2023)

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting



Go-forwa rd com m u n ications actions 16

581

Parse President's Message into different vehicles as "memos" or "news/updates" to
allow single-subject messaging

Continue President's Message in a shorter; personal/friendly manner

lnitiate regular newsletters featuring different content types, €.9., infographics, Q&As,
feature articles, g uizzes, explainer videos) with President's Message as lead

Update website as noted earlier in the meeting

Review metrics of communications tools, €.9., opening and reading of emails

Restart "road shows", i.e., hosted events for CCO to provide updates/"meet and
greet/Q&A sessions

Provide for "opt-in" option for members to receive printed annual report + continue to
provide to system partners (e.g., MPPs) as hard copies

Boyd Neil I Social Reach Consulting

---. Iflj -r'nrrl t['flmTm:rmlltr-tflil 1I lt! rfill |r r1l



411124,9:024M Council Meeting Evaluation Form Survey

rrEM 4.1.39
582

Council Meeting Evaluation Form

Council commitment to continuous improvement means that
Council members complete an evaluation for the effectiveness and

adherence to governance by-[aws, internal policies and the code of
conduct at the end of each Council meeting. Please rate each item
from 1 (tow) to 5 (high) and include any comments andlor
suggestions for improvement. Your responses from this
confidential survey will' be summarized and reviewed by the
Executive Committee.

1. Meeting Date

2. Was public interest protection at the forefront of al"l. discussions
and decision-making?

1

2

")J

4

5

N/A

https://www.survevmonkev.com I r 197 DZYtIN 116



411124,9:02 AM Council Meeting Evaluation Form Survey

3. Com ments 583

1i
J
:
-l

4. Were aL[ Council members in attendance, having prepared (i.e.

reviewed the information package), and being wi[Ling to
participate in discussions at the meeting (subject to extenuating
circu mstances) >

5. Comments

6. Were al.[ CounciI members given an opportunity to participate in
discussions (e.9., opportunities to speak were extended to those
who are quieter, and no one member dominated the
d iscussions)?

2

a
.)

4

5

N/A

1

2

J

httos://www.survevmonkev.com lr 197 DZY\NY 216



411124,9:024M Council Meeting Evaluation Form Survey

7. Com ments

8. Was time e{f ciently managed during the meeting so the agenda

was fotlowed and completed (subjected to extenuating
circumstancesX

9. Com ments

4

5 584
N/A

I
I

2

4

5

N/A

https ://www. su rvevmon kev. com I r I 97 DZYTNY 3/6



411124,9:02 AM Council Meeting Evaluation Form Survey

lO. Was the tone of the meeting respectfulof al'[ in attendance (e.g.,

there was no verbal or non-verbal behaviours that couLd be

construed as rude, disrespectfuL or dismissive)?

1
585

2

U

4

5
i
1

l

N/A

11. Comments

12. Did Councit keep discussions at a policy or strategic direction
(e.8., discussions did not veer into details of operations that are
not retated to policies or strategic direction)?

'1

2

5

4

5

Nin

https://www.survevmonkev.com I r 197 DZYWY 4t6



411124,9:O2AM

Powered by

Council Meeting Evaluation Form Survey

13. Comments

14. Were Counci['s governing documents compl.ied with (e.9., By-

laws, RuLes or Order)?

15. Com ments

16. Please provide any additional feedback that will" help us make

CounciL meetings as effective as possibLe. lnclude any topics
related to CCO's mandate to be considered for future
i nfo rmati o nalled u catio n a[ p u rposes for Co u nci [.

586

1

2

3

4

5

N/A

l..i tt t-r t:

https://www.survevmonkev.com I r 197 DZY\I0/

{n suru"yMonkey'
5/6



589

Should you tip your massage therapist or your chiropractor?
Here's what the experts say

Tip or not to tip: The decision whether to tip your massage therapist or your chiropractor may
depend on where you receive your service, some experts say. Dreamstimel

Manuela Vega
Published: February 17, 2024

So, the service you just received has released weeks of stress you had been carrying in

your body. Relieved, you stroll over to the cash register.

To your surprise, the POS system prompts you to tip



i
l

-1

What do you do? And should you have been tipping all along? Here's what the experts

say.

Should you tip your massage therapist? It
590

depends.

Whether you should tip your massage therapist depends on where you're receiving

care, but "there are no rules," and feelings on the matter vary between massage

therapists, one practitioner told the Star.

Nicki lskander, a registered massage therapist (RMT) who provides body-positive,

trans-friendly service for women out of her Parkdale home, does not accept tips in her

own practice.

One reason for that is because "massage therapy is health care," she said, and she

believes accepting tips can give the public the impression that massage is a luxury,

when for many people, it is a necessity.

"The massage therapists that came before me fought for recognition as health care

providers. Massage therapists have extensive training in the sciences like anatomy,

physiology, neurology, pathology, we can be an integral part of a person's injury

rehabilitation or chronic pain management or post operative care," she said. "But not

everyone knows this."

Having worked at a franchise spa, a chiropractic clinic and a massage studio in the

past, though, lskander highlighted that the norms aren't the same across the board

"lf you go to a clinic, like a chiropractic clinic or physiotherapy clinic or multidisciplinary

clinic, tipping is sometimes welcome, but less expected," she said.

"lf your massage therapist is self-employed - so they work from home, like I do, or they

rent an office - same thing. lt's sometimes accepted, but less expected."



Spas come with their own sets of norms 591

Tipping for a massage at a spa, however, "is typically expected" for a few reasons,

lskander said.

Parlially, because massages are being provided alongside services like facials and

pedicures, where tipping is customary, she explained.

"Also, some spas ... pay their staff lower-than-average wages, knowing that tips will top

up their income," she said. "So this puts the onus on the consumer to pay the therapist

a living wage."

lskander also noted that only an RMT can provide a massage therapy treatment, but

anyone can provide massage as a service, and some spas employ RMTs and non-

RMTs.

How much should you tip your massage
therapist?
At a spa franchise, tips are usually $10 and $20 for massages, lskander said

But at high-end spas, it's "not unusual" for RMTs to receive $100 or even $200 tips, she

added,

When she worked at a studio that had a tipping prompt, lskander found it was "pretty

common" for people to leave a small tip, usually $5 to $10.

When she worked at a clinic without the tipping option, tips were "few and far between"

to the point that she wouldn't factor them into her income, but when people did tip, they

would usually leave between $10 to $20.

"lt's a murky, controversial subject," she added. "lt can spark heated debate."



Should you tip your physiotherapist? 592

I
3
I
I

Tips are not expected or common in physiotherapy, experls told the Star

Charlotte Anderson, an assistant professor in the University of Toronto's physical

therapy department and a practicing physician who owns multiple clinics, said some

clinics with RMTs may allow for tips to massage therapists, but most rehab clinics that

are physio- or medically owned wouldn't even give the option.

"lt is a regulated medical profession working in public and private sectors," said

Anderson, who is also a Director on the Ontario Physiotherapy Association Board

"There is no tipping for physiotherapists."

The College of Physiotherapists of Ontario told the Star "it is our understanding that

tipping for physiotherapy is not commonplace, just like many other health care

services."

There are "no specific rules that prohibit physiotherapists from accepting tips," registrar

and CEO, Craig Roxborough, said in an emailed statement. But there are guidelines on

accepting gifts to help physiotherapists maintain professionalism.

"The College's standard on boundaries requires that physiotherapists maintain

professional boundaries with patients at all times and consider how a gift may impact

the therapeutic relationship," the statement said.

Should chiropractors be tipped?
Similar to physiotherapists, tipping for chiropractors seems to be the exception, rather

than the rule.

ln an emailed statement, the College of Chiropractors of Ontario told the Star, "there is

no prohibition on chiropractors accepting gifts or tips from patients," but chiropractors in



593
the province "must comply with all regulatory standards, policies and guidelines,

including provisions relating to billing and conflict of interest."

The college cited a standard on conflicts of interest in commercial ventures, explaining

"it is a conflict of interest for a member'to give or receive a rebate, gift or benefit to or

from a supplier of health care products or services or to or from a health, legal or any

other professional or practitioner for a patient referral."'

As well, chiropractors have guidance on communicating with patients that notes

"boundary crossings and violations may occur with the giving or receiving gifts," the

statement read.

Manuela Vega is a Toronto-based staff reporter for the Star's Express Desk



Joel Friedman |TEM 4.1 .41 594
From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:

Subject:

Ali, Asna (She/Her) (MOH) <Asna.Ali@ontario.ca>

Wednesday, March 27 , 2024 3:19 PM

Jo-Ann Willson
Maurier, Jason (MOH); Henry, Allison (She/Her) (MOH);Joel Friedman; Rose Bustria

RE: 2023 CCO College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Report

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Good afternoon Jo-Ann,

Thank you for the submission. On behalf of my team, I acknowledge receipt of your 2023 CPMF report. We will
be in touch if we have any questions.

Regards,
Asna

Asna A[i
Senior Policy Analyst I Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch
Ministry of Health I Ontario Pubtic Service
437-243-8547 | asna ali@ontario.ca

438 University Ave, toth ftoor
Toronto, ON M7A 1N3

Ontario @
Taking pride rn strengthenlng Ontario, its places and its people

From: Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson@cco.on.ca>

Sent: March 27, 2024 t2:26 PM

To: Regulatory Projects (MOH) <ResulatorvProiects@ontario.ca>; Henry, Allison (She/Her) (MOH)

<Allison.Henrv@ontario.ca>; Maurier, Jason (MOH)<Jason.Maurier@ontario.ca>; Velji, Karima (MOH)

<Ka rima.Velii@o nta rio.ca>

Cc: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>; Rose Bustria <RBustria@cco.on.ca>

Subject: 2023 CCO College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Report

CAUTION - EXTERNAL E-MAIL - Do not ctick tinks or open attachments unless you recognize the sender.
Good afternoon:

I am pleased to enctose CCO's CPMF Report for 2023. The report is also posted on the CCO website at the following
link: https://cco.o n.calwp-conte nt/u ploa ds/ 202 / 2O23CP MFRe oo rti npTo olMar ch27 2O24.odf

I woutd Like to thank Mr. Joe[ Friedman, Deputy Registrar, for his significant efforts and work on the comptetion of
this report.



CCO has a strategic ptanning session scheduted for September 13 - 15,2024, at which time we hope to review the
CPMF Report and CCO's progress, atong with any commendabte or best practices identified in the reports of our
cotteagues in heatth regutation.

Thank you, and ptease let us know if you have any questions. We look forward to an ongoing diatogue about
advancing and ensuring pubtic interest protection.

595

II
1
J
j

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

Cottege of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 111

Toll Free: 1-877-577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the emait or phone contact information above or, if you require urgent
assistance, ptease contact Reception by phone al 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or emait reception@cco.on.ca and your inquiry wilt be directed
appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inctusive, accommodaiing, and responsive services and ensuring that individuaLs are treated with dignity
and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodat:ons. Please ensure that att communications with CCO are respectf ul and
professionat.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or
disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in enor, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including any
attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

2



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de llontario CCO 2023 CPM F Reporting Tool

596

CCO College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Reporting Tool

Reporting Year: January 2O23 - December 2023

Filed: March27,2024



1[IllI_ - iIL

597

Table of Contents

7

7

8

8

Completing the CPMF Reporting Tool.

DOMAIN 1: GOVERNANCE

DOMAIN 5: REGULATORY POLICIES 34

DOMAIN 5: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE ..37

Table 5 - Context Measures 6, 7, 8 and 9 60

2lPage



598

3lPage



599

lntroduction

The College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF)

with the aim of answering the question "how well are Colleges executing their mandate which is to act in the public interest?" This information will:

L. Strengthen accountability and oversight of Ontario's health regulatory Colleges;

2. Help Colleges improve their performance;

Each College will report on seven Domains with the support of six components, as illustrated in Table 1.

Table 1: CPMF Measurement Domains and Components

Measurement
domains

Context
measures

Planned
improvement
actions

-+ Critical attributes of an excellent health regulator in Ontario that should be measured for the purpose of the
CPMF.

-+ lnitiatives a College commits to implement over the next reporting period to improve its performance on one
or more standards, where appropriate.

Standards
-) Performance-based activities that a College is expected to achieve and against which a College will be

measured.

Measures -) More specific requirements to demonstrate and enable the assessment of how a College achieves a Standard.

Evidence
-+ Decisions, activities, processes, or the quantifiable results that are being used to demonstrate and assess a

College's achievement of a standard.

--l Statistical data Colleges report that will provide helpful context about a College's performance related to a

standard.

I

2

3

4

5

6

4lPage



600

CPMF Model

achieve as an excellent regulator. The fourteen Standards within the seven measurement domains are listed in Figure 2.

Figure 1: CPMF Model for Measuring Regulatory Excellence

Organizational Focus
Applicant/

Registrant Focus

Results &

lmprovement Registrant Focus

7 Measurement,

Reporting and
lmprovement

r' The College
continuously

assesses rlskg and
,neasureg
evaluates, and
improves its
peformance.

/ The College is
transparent about its
pefformance and
improvement
activities.

6 Suitability to Practice
College effofts to ensure
that only those individuals
who are qualified, skilled
and competent are

registered, and only those
registrants who remain
competent, safe and
ethical continue to
practice the profession.

The College's policies,

standards of practice, and
practice guidelines are based
on the best available evidence,
reflect current besf pract ces,

are aligned with changing
publications and where
appropiate aligned with other

4 lnformation lvlanagement

College effotts to ensure its
confidential information is retained
securely and used appropriately in

administering regulatory activities,
legislative duties and objects.

2 Resources
The Coilege's ability to have
the financial and human
resources to meet its statutory
objects and regulatory
mandate, now and in the future

3 System Partner
Extenttowhich a College wo*s
with oth e r Co I I egesl sysfem

as appropiate, to help
execute its mandate effectively,
effi ci e ntly a nd/or coord i n ated
manner to ensure it responds to

1 Governance
/ College efforis to

ensure Council and
Committees have the

required knowledge
and skills to wanant
good governance.

/ lntegrity in Council
decision making.

/ College efforts in
disclosing how
decr'slons are made,
planned to be made,
and actions taken that
are communicated in
ways that are
accessib/e to, timely
and useful for relevant
audiences

5lPage



- l]]]uJ

Figure 2: CPMF Domains and Standards

601

Standards

L, Council and statutory committee members have the knowledge, skills, and commitment needed to effectively execute
their fiduciary role and responsibilities pertaining to the mandate of the College.

2. Council decisions are made in the public interest.
3. TheCollegeactstofosterpublictrustthroughtransparencyaboutdecisionsmadeandactionstaken.
4. The College is a responsible steward of its (financial and human) resources.

5. The College actively engages with other health regulatory Colleges and system partners to align oversight of the practice
of the profession and support execution of its mandate.

6. The College maintains cooperative and collaborative relationships responds in a timely and effective manner to
changing public expectations.

7. lnformation collected by the College is protected from unauthorized disclosure.

8. Policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines are based in the best available evidence, reflect current best
practices, are aligned with changing public expectations, and where appropriate aligned with other Colleges.

9. The College has processes and procedures in place to assess the competency, safety, and ethics of the people it
registers.

L0. The College ensures the continued competence of all active registrants through its Quality Assurance processes. This
includes an assessment of their competency, professionalism, ethical practice, and quality of care.

11. The complaints process is accessible and supportive.

12. All complaints, reports, and investigations are prioritized based on public risk, and conducted in a timely manner with
necessary actions to protect the public.

13. The College complaints process is coordinated and integrated.
14. The College monitors, reports on, and improves its performance.

Domains

Governance

Resources

System Partner

lnformation Management

Regulatory Policies

Suitability to Practice

Measurement, Reporting and
lmprovement

6lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

602
The CPMF Reporting Tool

public, the Ministry of Health, and other stakeholders with critical insights into the activities and processes of health regulatory Colleges.

communities, including the public, the Ministry, members, and other stakeholders.

highlighting opportunities for mutual learning and growth.

The ministry's Summary Report will be posted in English and French and weblinks to the report will be shared with the Colleges once it is published.

Completing the CPMF Reporting Tool

interpreted given the uniqueness of the profession each College oversees.

and progress made on commitments from previous years.

it will follow, timelines and any barriers to implementing that benchmark. This year Colleges should report on their progress in meeting the benchmarked Evidence.

referencing College docu ments.

TlPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Part 1: Measurement Domains

r. i. [[ ]- Jt lt[.r EEII]-[L.iLILtlr[ jl .l. jL . rL-l' _:_

603

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Thecompetencyand suitabilitycriteria are public: Choose an item.
lf yes, please insert a link and indicate the poge number where they con be found; if not, pleose list criterio.

CCO identifies competencies for candidates for election to Council and appointment of non-council committee members in the following
documents:

r Competencies for Council and Committee Members and Peer Assessors - this document was passed by CCO Council on November 25,
2027 and amended on June 2L,2023 to identify competencies for Council and committee members and peer assessors, including
competencies that candidates may already possess and competencies that can be learned and developed through CCO orientation
and educational opportunities.

r 2023 Notice of Election - the Notice of Election identifies the criteria for being eligible for election to Council and the factors and the
conflicts of interest that would preclude a member from being eligible for election to Council. ln the 2023 Notice of Election, CCO has

identified various competencies that candidates are encouraged to include in their election material, including: knowledge, expertise,
skillsandattributesrelatedto: chiropracticcareof patients,includingpatientsfromdifferentbackgrounds,protectionofthepublic
interest, serving on boards in an oversight role, interpersonal and communication skills, previous roles and experience in business,
organizational planning, human resources, health and safety, policy development, risk management, education and research,
financial or accounting, information technology and any other roles relevant to CCO's mandate and functions.

r CCO Bv-law 6 and Bv-law 12 identify criteria and requirements for being eligible to be a Council or committee member.

Professional members are
eligible to stand for election to
Council only after:

i. meeting pre-defined

competency and suitability
criteria; and

Benchntarked Evidpnce

II
r{
a&
(f,
z
tt

lrj
Uz
z
d.
LIJ

o(,

F{

z

oo

8 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdrE des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 604

existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be taking, expected timelines and dny borriers to implementation.

9lPage



]II L - l-. I[r ], Ll[i-trpl[iENfint[tltilil Inl ll

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 605

Yes

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

Duration of orientation training.

Please briefly describe the format of orientation training (e.g. in-person, online, with facilitator, testing knowledge at the end)

Please insert a link and indicate the page number if training topics are public OR list orientation training topics.

Candidates, Council and Committee members are required to participate in various orientation and training sessions throughout the year.
These include:

r ln April 2021, Council approved a mandatorv orientation session (communicated to members and stakeholders as part of the 2023
Notice of Election) for candidates for CCO Council for the 2023 elections to Council. This training session was led by CCO staff and
outside legal counsel and took place on February 21,2023 from 6 pm - 8 pm.

e On April 20,2023,8:30 am - 1 pm, Council and committee members participated in an glqlqgg on the College's mandate and
objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This was led by the Registrar and General
Counsel and outside legal counsel.

. At various times in May - June 2023, each committee held an introduction to the committee mandates and functions at its first
meeting.

. CCO Council approved an lnternal Policv on Guidance for Committee Chairs on April t9,2023.

. On September 8 - 10, 2023 - Council and staff attended strategic planning and educational sessions related to best practices on
CPMF, Council evaluation, and communications.

r On November 24,2O23,8:30 am - 11:30 am, Council and committee members attended an educational session on Council
effectiveness and evaluation led by outside consultants.

r New Council and Discipline committee members are required to complete the discipline training sessions conducted by the Health
Professions Reeulators of Ontario (HPRO).

lfthe rasponse is "l:)o(tioily" or "no', ls thc Callcqe pldnn!flq to itnt)rave its pprfarmanc( overthe tlext reportiirq peJiad?

,4d d iti a na I co nt tre nis lc I cl0 r iji cotion (optron o l).

ii. attending an orientation training
about the College's mandate
and expectations pertaining
to the member's role and
responsibilities.

l0lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

606
The College fulfills this requirement: Yes

The competency and suitability criteria are public: Yes

tf yes, pleose insert a link ond indicote the page number where they con be found; if not, pleose list criterio'

. Competencies for Council and Committee Members and Peer Assessors - this document was passed by CCO Council on November 25,

2O2I and amended on June 27,2023 to identify competencies for Council and committee members and peer assessors, including

competencies that candidates may already possess and competencies that can be learned and developed through CCO orientation and

educational opportunities.
. CCO lglgqZ and Bv-law 12 identify duties and powers of executive officers and committee chair and criteria for appointing committee

members. Candidates interested in all committee positions are required to submit a letter of intent and curriculum vitae, identifying

their interest, relevant competencies, skills and qualifications for committees. Committee members may also speak to their interest,

competencies, skills and qualifications to Council, prior to the appointment to committee.
. CCO Council passed a policy, lnternal Policv l-019: Policv on Nominations and Election Procedures for Committee Positions (page 1"68 of

April 21, 2022 public Council package), on November 25,202I, to outline the policies and procedures for the nomination and election

for committee positions. CCO applied this policy to elections of committee members, which took place on April 20, 2023. This internal

policy was amended at the September 8. 2023 Council meetins, and the amended policy will be applied to internal elections to

committee in April 2024.
. Consistent with the CpMF-inspired move toward competency-based selection and appointments process for all members of Council or

committees, CCO, like many health regulators in Ontario, has amended its bv-laws to permit the appointment of an individual who is

neither a member of the college nor a public member appointed by government, but who demonstrates the competencies, skills and

judgement to contribute to the work of a specific committee. Consistent with this policy, Mr. Robert MacKay was reappointed to the

Discipline Committee on April 20. 2023.
. With respect to evidencing the suitability of nominees, in keeping with the aspirational objectives of Measure 1.1 of the CPM F this year

the CCO Executive Committee directed all Council members to provide their interest, and relevant background and skills for any desired

Committee position. These responses were compiled for Council's consideration at its meeting on &dl-20.282.3.. Matching interest with

skills and competency for committee membership is a recognized best practice, supported by the MOHLTC and highlighted in the

landmark 2018 inquiry into the BC College of Dental Surgeons undertaken by Harry Cayton (known as the'Cayton Report').

b. Statutory Committee candidates

have:

i. Met pre-defined
competency and suitability
criteria; and

Eenchmarked Evidence

ll lPage



.- , r- .llr-lll.Jt[- . .

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

607

Yes

Choose an item.

response is "portiolly" or "no", descibe the College's plon to fully implement this meosure. Outline the steps (i.e., drofting policies, consulting stokeholderc, or
reviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond ony borriers to implementotion,

lf the

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe the format of each orientation training (e.g., in-person, online, with facilitator, testing knowledge at the end).

Please insert a link and indicate the page number iftraining topics are public OR list orientation training topics for Statutory Committee.

Candidates for CCO elections attended a mandatory orientation session conducted by outside counsel and CCO staff on February 21,
2023.
Committee members are required to attend an orientation session, which took place on April 20, 2023,8:30 am - 1 pm, on the College's
mandate and objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This was led by the Registrar
and General Counsel and outside legal counsel.
At various times in May - June 2023, each committee held an introduction to its committee mandate and functions at its first meeting.
New Council and Discipline Committee members are required to complete the Discipline Training sessions conducted by the Health
Professions Reeulators of Ontario (HPRO).

All Council and committee members are encouraged to attend additional HPRO training sessions, including governance training, reasons
writing and others.

Duration of each Statutory Committee orientation training.

ll'the response is"partially" ar"'no", isth? College planningto instrove its pert'orrnanrc averthe next rcportinq periad?

attended an orientation
training about the mandate
of the Committee and
expectations pertaining to a
member's role and
responsibilities.

I.

12lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 608

Additio no I com rne nts t'ar clarification ( optto na I ) :

13lPage



L rr rtrr rr - L,Mi-Etn[t[[[trr il[ [[r LTlt 1!] |

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
l-Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 609

Choose an item.

YsThe College fulfills this requirement:

Duration of orientation training.

Please briefly describe the format of orientation training (e.g., in-person, online, with facilitator, testing knowledge at the end).

Please insert a link and indicate the page number iftraining topics are public OR list orientation training topics.

Once appointed to Council, new public members participate in informal communication with the President, Registrar and General
Counsel, and outside legal counsel on the College's mandate and expectations pertaining to the appointee's role and responsibilities,
Council members, including public members, were required to attend an orientation session, which took place on April 20, 2023,8:3O
am - 1 pm, on the College's mandate and objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members.
This was led by the Registrar and General Counsel and outside legal counsel.
New Council and Discipline Committee members are required to complete the discipline training sessions conducted by the Health
Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO).

All Council and committee members are encouraged to attend additional HPRO training sessions, including governance training, reasons
writing and others.

lf th. raspanse it "partiolly" or "no", is thc College plcnninq to inprove its performan(.e over the next reportinq perlad ?

Ari d ition a I co n nt c nts far c lo rifi co ti o n ( o ptionol ).

c. Prior to attending their first
meeting, public appointments to
Council undertake an orientation
training course provided by the
College about the College's
mandate and expectations
pertaining to the appointee's
role and responsibilities.

14lPage



@,D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

610

Yes

Partially

']l..]:.,..j...:,::.'.:..]]..''.:]l]

CCO will be rolling out its action plan for Council evaluation in 2O24 and in the subsequent years.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year when Framework was developed OR last updated.

Please insert a link to Framework OR link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where the Framework is found and was approved.

Evaluation and assessment results are discussed at public council meeting: Chcose an itetr.

lf yes, pteose insert o link to the lost Council meeting dnd indicote the page number where the most recent evoluation results hove been presented and discussed.

As part of its strategic planning sessions on September 8 - 10, 2023, CCO Council and staff participated in educational and planning sessions

led by outside consultants focused on developing a framework for Council evaluation. Council continued this session at its Council meeting

on November 24,2023 and developed an action plan on Council evaluation to begin implementationin2024.These discussions were part of

the November 23, 2023 (paee 103 of public Council packaee) and Februarv 23, 2024 (paee 132 ofthe public Council packase) Council

meetings.

Council has developed and

implemented a framework to
regularly evaluate the
effectiveness of:

i. Council meetings; and

ii. Council.

15lFage



@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

61 1

Partially

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement:

Has a third party been engaged by the College for evaluation of Council effectiveness? Choose an item

lf yes, how often do they occur?

Please indicate the year of last third-party evaluation.

Although CCO has not engaged a third party for a formal review of the Council's effectiveness in 2023, CCO has brought in outside
consultants, including regulatory consultants, legal counsel and communication experts to facilitate education sessions on issues related to
governance, best practices for regulators, evaluating Council performance, and duties of Council. On September 8 - tO,2023 and November
24,2023, Council and committee members attended Council educational sessions and workshops intending on developing an action plan for
evaluating Council performance, led by CCO outside consultants and legal counsel.

CCO last updated its missions, vision, values, and strategic objectives using an outside facilitator in 2Ot7 (last full strategic planning to
update CCO's mission, vision, values, and strategic objectives).

Evaluation and assessment of Council will be a priority in 2024 and will be reported on further in the 2024 CPMF

U the responsc is "ttartiolly" or "no", ls tttc Collr:qe plonninE ta improve iis performance over the next repctrtinq period?

Evaluation and assessment of Council will be a priority in 2O24 and will be reported on further in the 2024 CPMF. CCO Council developed a

Craft action for Council evaluation from the September 8 - 70,2023 and Novembet 24,2023 Council meetings and strategic planning
tessions, which will begin implementation in2O24.

A d d iti o n a ! cc tit me nis for c la r ificrstion (a ptiana I )

b. The framework includes a third-
party assessment of Council
effectiveness at a minimum every
three years.

16lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

612

Yes

Partially

if Ihe rcspanse is "pn n ially ' or "no", is tht College isla n ninq Lo impnve ils perfarmonce r,.\ter llie ilexi te por'linq p€riod ?

Add i i i o na I ca ffi rnc nts I a t ( | o riiic ot i ou (olJ iio no | ) :

CCO will continue to hold education and training sessions for Council and committee informed by Council and committee member feedback.

The College fulfills this requirement:

please insert a link to documents outlining how outcome evaluations have informed Council and Committee training and indicate the page numbers.

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where this information is found OR

Please briefly describe how this has been done for the training provided over the last calendar vear.

Council and committee education and training are informed by council and committee member feedback and direction. Specific education and

training in2O23 took place at various times during the year - in February and April for orientation, September for strategic planning and

November for an end of year educational session and workshop focusing on Council evaluation. Topics included introduction to CCO and

professional regulation, duties of council and committee members, governance, best practices of colleges with respect to CPMF, avoidance of

conflict of interest, cyber security training, communication practices and Council evaluation.

CCO staff also participated in various education and training, including attending the CLEAR and CNAR conferences in 2023, attending various

HpRO meetings and events and continuing education events put on by outside law firms and organizations. Materials from educational

sessions are often included in public Council packages.

c. Ongoing training provided to
Council and Committee members

has been informed by:

the outcome of relevant
evaluation(s);

the needs identified by

Council and Committee
members; and/or

t-

il,

17lP age



.llt ! L llin ll ,

613KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

PartiallyThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to documents outlining how evolving public expectations have informed Council and Committee training and indicate the page numbers.

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where this information is found OR

Please briefly describe how this has been done for the training provided over the last calendar vear.

ln April 2021, Council approved a mandatorv orientation session (communicated to members and stakeholders as part of the 2023
Notice of Election) for candidates for CCO Council for the 2023 elections to Council. This training session was led by CCO staff and
outside legal counsel and took place on February 2t,2023 from 6 pm - 8 pm.
On April 20,2023,8:30 am - 1 pm, Council and committee members participated in an orientation on CCO's mandate and objectives,
duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This was led by the Registrar and General Counsel and
outside legal counsel.
At various times in May - June 2023, each committee held an introduction and orientation to its committee at the first meeting of each
committee. Depending on the committee, staff and outside legal counsel provided this orientation.
On September 8 - 1rO,2023 - Council and staff attended strategic planning and educational sessions related to best practices on CPMF,
Council evaluation, and communication practices.
As part of its strategic planning sessions on September 8 - 10, 2023, CCO Council and staff participated in educational and planning
sessions led by outside consultants focused on developing a framework for Council evaluation. Council continued this session at its
Council meeting on November 24,2023 and developed an action plan to begin implementationin2024 on Council evaluation. These
discussions were part ofthe November 23, 2023 (paee 103 of public Council packaee) and Februarv 23, 2024 (page 132 ofthe public
Council package) Council meetings.
New Council and Discipline committee members are required to complete the Discipline Training sessions conducted by the Health
Professions Resulators of Ontario (HPRO).

CCO staff participated in a number of education and training sessions in 2023 including attending educational conferences on topics
related to professional regulation, DEl, and legal trends put on by CNAR, CLEAR and HPRO.
Review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines continue to be informed by emerging regulatory issues, input from the lnquiries,
Complaints and Reports Committee based on trends and emerging issues in complaints, and correspondences from system partners,

ill'i"''ll#:Jt:itt#t"?ff[1H:;:]::irrRo),s DEr organizationar serf-Assessment and Action Guide (incruding Equity rmpact
Assessment Tools) will help CCO better understand public expectations. Training opportunities continue to be identified, and the
College will participate in HPRO training for all Colleges as part of HPRO membership.

iii. evolving public expectations
including risk management
and Diversity, Equity, and
lnclusion.

Further clarification:

Colleges are encouraged to define
public expectations based on input
from the public, their members, and
stakeholders.

Risk management is essential to
effective oversight since internal and
external risks may impact the ability
of Council to fulfill its mandate.

lSlPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 614

Yeslf the respon:;e is "pttrtiollv" or "no". is the College plannrng ta lmprove its petformonce averthe next reporting period?

CCO will be reviewing the guidance for demonstrating commitment to DEI at the Board level, including representation, awareness, and

appointments), and mitigating unconscious bias in decision making at both system and personal levels.

r HPRO EDI Oreanizational Self-Assessment and Action Guide (pdf)

r HPRO EDI Oreanizational Self-Assessment and Action Guide - Case Studies (pdf)

r HPRO EDI Oreanizational Self-Assessment and Action Guide - FAQs (pdf)

Ad di ti o n o I cc nt ntents fo r clo rif i cotion (optiona l) :

19l P age



r. lril lI. iL llllllLElllllLt-.ruIJll, ii r.!* !.1f, r".,:.

@D
College of Chiropractors of Onlario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 615

Yes
The College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year when the Council Code of Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest' Policy was last evaluated/updated.

Please briefly describe any changes made to the Council Code of Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest Policy' resulting from the last review.

3CO has several code of conduct documents that are required to be signed by council and committee members on an annual basis. These
nclude:

o CCO Code of Conduct for Council and Committee Members (public document on CCO's website, reviewed annually, last amended
June 27,2023)

o CCO Code of Conduct for Peer Assessors (public document on CCO'S website, reviewed annually, last amended April23,2O1,4)
r CCO Confidentialitv Undertaking for Council and Committee Members (public document on CCO'S website, reviewed annually, last

amended June2L,2023)
o CCO Confidentialitv Undertaking for Peer Assessors (public document on Cco's website, reviewed annually, last amended ianuary 20,

2024)
o lnternal Policv l-01"5: Zero Tolerance for Abuse, Neglect and Harassment (internal policy, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended

September 2018)

ncluded in every Council and committee information package, are the mission, vison, values and strategic objectives of CCO and the duties
rnd objects ofthe College under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 199L (RHPA) and the code of conduct for Council and committee
rembers. Council and committees always review these documents at the first meeting of a new council or committee to ensure that council
rnd committee members have an understanding of the regulatory and strategic objectives of the College. These documents are also
ncluded as part of any council and committee training.

3CO also has a Policv on Conflict of lnterest for Council and Non-Council Committee Members which is included and reviewed every time
lhere is a consideration of a conflict of interest on a specific matter. This is a public document available on CCO's website.

a. The College Council has a Code of
Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest'
policy that is:

i. reviewed at least every three
years to ensure it reflects
current legislation, practices,
public expectations, issues,

and emerging initiatives (e.8.,

Diversity, Equity, and
lnclusion); and

Further clarification:

Colleges are best placed to determine
the public expectations, issues and
emerging initiatives based on input
from their members, stakeholders,
and the public. While there will be

similarities across Colleges such as

Diversity, Equity, and lnclusion, this is

also an opportunity to reflect
additional issues, expectations, and

emerging initiatives unique to a

College or profession.

lfJ
Uz
z
&.
lrJ

o
(9
Fl

z

oo

6l
aE
6z
.t

20lFage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario 616

Choose an item.lf the respans€ is 'portiolly" or "no". is the College plonning to improve its perJotmonce aver the next reporting peilod?

Acidition dl c om me nts t'or cl a rifica tion (optiona l)

21 lPage



lll l t. - _ L-lr lil ll _

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L:Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

617
Yes

Choose an item

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the Council Code of Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest' Poliry OR Council meeting materials where the policy is found and was last discussed
and approved and indicate the page number.

iee response above

l l the response is "portio ll1t" or '' no", ls the Cal leqe planninq to i mprove its aerf,:rinance ovgr the next repotting period ?

Acitliticnai romrnents f{ir ciilfif iceiian (cpf:ionol)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Cooling off period is enforced through: By-law

Please provide the year that the cooling off period policy was developed OR last evaluated/updated.

Please provide the length ofthe cooling off period.

How does the College define the cooling off period?

- lnsert a link to policy / document specifi/ing the cooling off period, including circumstances where it is enforced and indicate the page number;

- lnsert a link to Council meeting where cooling off period has been discussed and decided upon and indicate the page number; OR

- Where not publicly available, please briefly describe the cooling off policy.

CCO Bv-law 6: Election of Council Members and Bv-law 12: Appointment of Non-Council Members identify "cooling off' periods as follows:
r A member may be on CCO council or a committee for a maximum of nine years and then is required to be off CCO council or a

committee for at least three years until being eligible for election again to Council or appointment to a committee.
. A member may only be chair of Council or a committee for a maximum of two consecutive years.
. A member is required to not be an employee, officer or director of a professional chiropractic organization that is identified as having

a conflict of interest with CCO for a period of at least three years before being eligible for election to CCO Council

ii. accessible to the public.

b. The College enforces a minimum
time before an individual can be

elected to Council after holding a
position that could create an

actual or perceived conflict of
interest with respect their
Council duties (i.e., cooling off
periods).

Further clarification:
Colleges may provide additional
methods not listed here by which they
meet the evidence.

22lP age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
l-odre des chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 61 I

CCO distributed to stakeholders, including members, proposed amendments to various by-laws, including cooling off periods. The

distribution can be found at the @[qlqglln! as part of the September 19,2023 President's Message. All feedback from
stakeholders, including members, was included in the November 23, 2023 Supplementarv public Council package. CCO Council

deferred consideration of by-law amendments related to cooling off periods to its February 23,2024 Council meeting.

23lPage



/ll r It-U--ra tr |rfi-[!n[Lmwt[ il I [fi rt[] t 1

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

619

Choose an item

Yes

tlt:t;/^,n.,^.7i"n.'7;61tjy'pt n,t.i..t,tttrltapJlOnFti(j,oinl;ove!t.fr-:t'Otrtu^.rovo.fltpne^l ,elot::ngppnod?

Add iti o tn I cofi me nt:; for r I o rifircti cn ( ostiicnct ) )

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year when conflict of interest the q uestionnaire was implemented OR last evaluated/updated.

Member(s) note whether their questionnaire requires amendments at each Council meeting and whether they have any conflicts of interest based on Council
agenda items: No

Please insert a link to the most recent Council meeting materials that includes the questionnaire and indicate the page number.

s Policv on Conflict of lnterest for Council and Non-Council Committee Members and Code of Conduct are included and reviewed every
me there is a consideration of a conflict of interest on a specific matter. This is a public document available on CCO'S website. At the

nning of all Council and committee meetings, council and committee members are required to identify any conflict of interest that may
rise with any item on the agenda, based on the criteria of this policy. The remainder of Council and committee members will then make a

ination of whether this member has a conflict and whether they should be absent from the meeting for this agenda item. Legal

Council members complete and sign a code of conduct, confidentiality undertaking, lnternal Policy on Zero Tolerance for Abuse, N

nd Harassment, and elected member undertaking on an annual basis. All of these forms, in addition to the Policy on conflict of interest,
potential conflicts of interest issues https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2023l04/Council-Orientation-Elections-Public-Packaee-

gh these forms are completed annually, all council and committee members are required to identify any potential conflicts of interest
council or committee agenda items, at the beginning of a meeting, prior to review of those items.

reviews all conduct documents on an annual basis and will seek outside legal advice in making updates to these documents.
on conflict of interest is provided at the annual orientation on April 30,2023 and other times, such as during the candidate

of2023 and as onnnt 2023mber 8 -

dvice may also be sought, depending on the issue.

(paees 313 - 323)

on Febru

c. The College has a conflict-of-
interest questionnaire that all
Council members must complete
annually.
Additionallv:

i. the completed
questionnaires are included
as an appendix to each

Council meeting package;

ii. questionnaires include
definitions of conflict of
interest;

iii. questionnaires include
questions based on areas of
risk for conflict of interest
identified by Council that are
specific to the profession

and/or College; and

iv. at the beginning of each
Council meeting, members
must declare any updates to
their responses and any
conflict of interest specific to
the meetinq agenda.

24lP age



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 620

Choose an itemlf the respanse is "partiolly'' or "no", is the College plonninE to improve its performonce over the next reporting period?

Atld ition o I com me nts for cla rificotio n (option ol)

25lPage



lll L I m-tnillnilfitfliilt [T[' t]fl I'rl

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

621

Choose an item

Yes
The College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe how the College makes public interest rationale for Council decisions accessible for the public.

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials that include an example of how the College references a public interest rationale and indicate the page number

Council materials include committee reports that describe the public interest rationale, as well as processes, research and background
materials for any motion that is made for approval from Council. Reports to Council often includes research on practices and procedures of
other jurisdictions and Ontario regulators in Ontario, feedback from distributions to members, patients and stakeholders and government
regulations and priorities. Public Council packages can be found at the followins link.

lftiic tc(patlse is "porliaily" ot "no", is lhe Cclleqe pianninq to improv( ils perfarnance aver the ne:tt reaortinq peiod?

Ariditianol cotitntents iar rJoriftcal:icn (if needed)

d. Meeting materials for Council
enable the public to clearly
identify the public interest
rationale and the evidence
supporting a decision related to
the College's strategic direction
or regulatory processes and
actions (e.9., the minutes include
a link to a publicly available
briefing note).

26lPage



@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

622

Choose an item.

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year that the formal approach was last reviewed.

Please insert a link to the internal and external risks identified by the College OB Council meeting materials where the risks were discussed and integrated into the

College's strategic planning activities and indicate page number.

3CO regularly reviews, assesses, and manages internal and external risks in the following manner:
r CCO reviews all standards of practice, policies and guidelines on an annual basis. This review involves how assessing internal and

external risks might inform amendments considered for these documents. Review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines

are also informed by internal communication, such as communication from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee based

on trends in complaints, and external communication, such as communication from system partners and stakeholders, as well as

circulation of documents for feedback from stakeholders, including members, organizations and patients.

r The lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee continued to apply risk management tools developed in2027, available to the
public and posted on the complaints webpage, to identify, assess and manage risk associated with complaints.

. ln 2023, CCO continued to prioritize identifying, assessing and managing risk associated with lT functions and cyber security,

including obtaining enhanced cyber security insurance, requiring dual factor identification for logins, training for staff, reviewing and

enhancing ryber security requirements and conducting an independent assessment on cyber security.

ifthe response is "portial!1t" or "no", is the Colleqt plonninE to improve it.s perfonronc€ ave/ the next reporti|19 periad?

e. The College has and regularly
reviews a formal approach to
identify, assess, and manage
internal and external risks- This

approach is integrated into the
College's strategic planning and
operations.

Further clarification:
Formal approach refers to the
documented method or
which a College undertakes to
identify, assess, and manage risk. This

method or process should
be regularly reviewed and

appropriate.

Risk management planning activities
should be tied to strategic objectives
of Council since internal and external

risks may impact the ability of Council

to fulfill its mandate, especially in the
absence of mitigations,

27 lP age



ll I lllX_NlflL t, , tE-tlItlfltrfllrlmi ilt it I

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

623
Additionol cotytntents far clorification (if needed)

lnternal risks are related to operations
of the College and may impact its
ability to meet its strategic objectives.
External risks are economic, political
and/or natural factors that happen
outside of the organization.

23lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors ol Oniario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

624

Chr:ose an iiem.

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the webpage where Council minutes are posted.

Please insert a link to where the status updates on implementation of Council decisions to date are posted OR where the process for requesting these materials is

posted.

CCO posts on its "News & Updates" pase and distributes to members and stakeholders through President's Messages and other
communication materials any new and amended CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies and guidelines approved by Council, once

they come into effect following approval of the Council minutes. Status reports are also publicly communicated through committee reports

as part of public Council packases.

CCO publishes Council minutes once they are approved, in accordance with Policv l-017: Minutes for CCO Meetings (page 493 of the April

1,4,2O2I public Council package)

Council minutes (once approved)
and status updates on the
implementation of Council
decisions to date are accessible
on the College's website, or a

process for requesting materlals
is clearly outlined.

LU
Uz
zt
LIJ

o(9
J
z
a
oo

dt
a
G
oz
F
Jh

29lPage



,lll r I t lll Ir __ rlrnilIlBu[lnllm] Llm l!-l

KD
College oi Chiropractors of Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

625

Yes

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the webpage where Executive Committee minutes/meeting information are posted.

3CO publishes Executive Committee meetings dates in its public Council packages and posts them on the CCO website on the Councjl
neetins pase. The public Council package includes committee reports, including the Executive Committee report to Council, which includes
lll recommendations recommended to Council by the Executive Committee. Recommendations include a description of the
"ecommendation, all relevant documents, including marked up copies of changes to existing documents, relevant information from other
'egulators, stakeholders and system partners, and feedback from members and stakeholders, if applicable. The Executive Committee report
rlso includes any decisions or approvals made by the Executive Committee to be ratified by Council, if properly constituted.

lf tho resp<tnse is "partictlly" or "no". is the Colleqtc pianning to inprove ils pcrformoncc over the next ieportinq period?

b. The following information about

Executive Committee meetings is

clearly posted on the College's

website (alternatively the College

can post the approved minutes if
it includes the following

information).

i. the meetingdate;

ii. the rationale for the

meeting;

iii. a report on discussions and

decisions when Executive

30lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario 626

Committee acts as Council

or discusses/deliberates on

matters or materials that
will be brought forward to or

affect Council; and

iv. if decisions will be ratified by

Council.

Acitl ition e I co m ftte nts.to r ( lo rit'Aa tion (optirs nnl)

31 lPage



rll-trllrEIiIlLt.-jlL|]l-1.11 I jI- -Lin tLl

Kd
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

627

Yes

Chocse an item.

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement:

o Please insert a link to where past Council meeting materials can be accessed OR where the process for requesting these materials is clearly posted.

CCO posts its upcoming Council meeting dates and public Council meetins materials once they are prepared, generally one week in advance

The College fulfills this requirement:

\otices of discipline hearinss are posted both on the CCO website and under the member profile on the public reeister. These postings
nclude a link to the Notice of Hearing and discipline hearing dates once they are scheduled. Following the discipline hearing, an agreed
rtatement of fact, discipline decision and suspension dates are posted.

Please insert a link to the College's Notice of Discipline Hearings.

a. With respect to Council

meetings:

i. Notice of Council meeting
and relevant materials are
posted at least one week in

advance; and
ii. Council meeting materials

remain accessible on the
College's website for a

minimum of 3 years, or a

process for requesting
materials is clearly outlined.

b. Notice of Discipline Hearings are
posted at least one month in
advance and include a link to
allegations posted on the public

register.

32lPage



Kd
College of Chiropractors of Ontano
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

628

Yes

Choc:;e an rie m

The College fulfills this requirement:a. The DEI plan is reflected in the
Council's strategic planning

activities and appropriately
resourced within the
organization to support relevant
operational initiatives (e.g., DEI

training for staff).

a

a

Please insert a link to the College's DEI plan.

Please insert a linktothe Council meeting minutes where DEI was discussed as part ofstrategic planning and appropriate resources were approved and indicate

number.

Council approved a Diversitv, Equitv and Inclusion (DEl) Plan on April 20,2022. Among the objectives in the DEI Plan and the actions in

Appointing three CCO staff members as DEI officers.

Directing CCO committees to review standards of practice, policies and guidelines through a DEI lens. CCO Council approved

amendments to several standards of practice, policies and by-laws, including Standard of Practice 5-006: Orderine, Takine and

lnterpretins Radiosraphs, Policv P-018: Fundine for Therapv and Counselling for Patients Sexuallv Abused bv Members and CCO'S by-

law review and amendments. Amendments included using gender neutral language whenever possible, and increasing information
and accessibility to the funding for therapy program.

ldentify current CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines which include DEI principles for both members and CCO, such as

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients and Policv P-057: Accessibilitv Policv.

Publish CCO's Land Acknowledeement on the CCO website, and begin every Council meeting with a reading of this.

a

a

33lFaEe



II L I llr -Xi ! |r:-trr[[miltt I I ]{ tn I I

629College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario

a Various DEI training and meeting opportunities through HPRO, other regulatory colleges and other providers. ln2O23, CCO staff
attended the following education sessions related to DEI: Aiming for Equity in Leadership: March 16, 2023, Unconscious Bias

Workshop: April 26, 2023, Understanding Gender Diversity in Children and Adolescents: May tO, 2023, Discussing Diversity: May 29,

2023, Anti-Racism in Health Care Regulation: June 29, 2023, Antisemitism in health care: September t9,2023, CNAR Programs -
Compassion in Regulation: Taking a People-Focused Approach, A Roadmap for Centering Equity, Diversity and lnclusion as a

Regulator: October 17, 2023

lncluding a presentation on DEI and accessibility at the Peer Assessor Workshop on January 28,2023.
CCO actively supports the work of HPRO on anti-racism and Diversity, Equity and lnclusion and will be reviewing and applying its

resources and guides in 2023. The work of the HPRO in these areas has helped inform CCO work on Diversitv. Equitv and lnclusion.

DEI events for staff, including the celebration and education on various events and holidays throughout the year.

a

a

O

is a member of the Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO), and the CCO Registrar is a member of the Board of Directors.
Board has committed one of its three strategic priority areas to EDl. All 26 Colleges within the RHPA are members of H PRO and have

to this priority. Within HPRO's EDI priority, HPRO has completed an important project that provides an EDI Organizational Self-

ment and Action Guide (including an Equity lmpact Assessment Tool). The Guide addresses the CPMF and its seven distinct domains
provides specific steps to be considered for improvement.

Guide helps the College carry out its EDI and anti-racism self-assessment across all aspects of the College's work and functions. lt also

the College with its continual EDI and anti-racism integration and improvements. lt was based on research and evidence, and it
ncluded dedicated efforts and collaboration from College staffwho, along with project management provided by external consultants

ridge Malkam who have expertise in EDl.

College will continue to support HPRO as it adds to its EDI toolkit and provides ongoing education, information, and training for College

and governors.
r HPRO EDI Orsanizational Self-Assessment and Action Guide (pdf)

o HPRO EDI Oreanizational Self-Assessment and Action Guide - Case Studies (pdf)

a

34lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des chiropraticiens de lOntario

630
Choose an item.lf ihe respunse is 'partiolly" or "no". is tbe College planning to improve its petfornta nce over the next reportinl] period?

Addi tir:n al co m m€ nts for cla rifi cati on (optionai)

35lPage



I E-i-trrn[rrniuril il | tr[ rnt I I

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 631

PartiallyThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the Equity lmpact Assessments conducted by the College and indicate the page number OR please briefly describe how the College conducts
Equity lmpact Assessments.

lfthe Equity lmpact Assessments are not publicly accessible, please provide examples ofthe circumstances (e.g., applied to a policy, program, or process) in which
Equity lmpact Assessments were conducted.

CCO has several policies and procedures intended to ensure that decisions are fair and non-discriminatory. These include the following
documents and excerpts from those documents:

Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion Plan
. Direction to Committees to review standards of practice, policies and guidelines through a DEI lens.

Diversitv. Equitv and lnclusion Proeress Update
Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients

o Members are to be sensitive to those with language difficulties and to provide an interpreter, when necessary.
o Members are to address the patient directly, even if an interpreter or support person is present.

Guideline G-009: Code of Ethics
r Chiropractors shall render care to those who seek it, without discrimination on the basis of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour,

ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, socio-
economic status or disability.

Guideline G-011: Accommodation of Human Riehts and Disabilities
r To encourage members to foster an environment in which the rights, autonomy, dignity, and diversity of all patients are respected;
o To outline members' obligations under the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, (the Code) and Accessibility for Ontarians with

Disabilities Act, 2005 (AODA) to:
o provide health care services without discrimination; and
o accommodate patients who may face barriers to accessing care.

Policv P-045: CCO's Leeislation and Ethics Examination
r CCO is committed to accommodating candidates with physical and/or learning disabilities in completing its Legislation and Ethics

examination. A candidate who is otherwise eligible to write the Legislation and Ethics examination may file a written request to the
Registrar, along with proof of the disability, for reasonable, alternative testing accommodations if he/she is unable to write the
examination under standard circumstances. CCO will make reasonable efforts to accommodate individuals with disabilities.

b. The College conducts Equity lmpact
Assessments to ensure that
decisions are fair and that a

policy, or program, or process is

not discriminatory.

Further clarification:

Colleges are best placed to determine
how best to report on an Evidence.
There are several Equity lmpact
Assessments from which a College
may draw upon. The ministry
encourages Colleges to use the tool
best suited to its situation based on
the profession, stakeholders, and
patients it serves.

36lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontatio 632

Yes

>olicv P-057: Accessibilitv Policv
o CCO is committed to providing inclusive and responsive services, in accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, the

Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2004, that accommodates applicants, members of CCO and members of the public

with disabilities in accessing CCO services.

The experience and background of Council and committee members should complement each other and represent the diversity of
practice in Ontario.

Council and committee members should demonstrate a commitment to diversity and inclusion.

CCO Council approved amendments to several standards of practice, policies and by-laws, including Standard of Practice 5-006: Ordering,

Iakins and lnterpreting Radiographs, Policv P-018: Fundins for Therapv and Counselling for Patients Sexuallv Abused bv Members and CCO's

by-law review and gg-en!14g4gg. Amendments including using gender neutral language whenever possible, and increasing information and

accessibility to the funding for therapy program.

:r!-^ rr^-L^-- rrr^.,^-L^- tE tnll\

a

lf the respcilse is "portidlly" or "no", is the Ccileqe planning ta irnpro,te its performonce over !he rtext reportina periDd?

Ad d ition a I co m fi (i nt s jc r cic rit'icati o n (option al)

CCO will continue to review and adopt DEI principles, including further review and revisions of CCO's DEI plan, participation and adoption of
HRPO DEI resources, and further education and training related to DEl.

3TlPage



ll ill ]. ,[1.llli.[I-Ulllti. nll]l.Lrlrlil I J-1., . -1r1 .. !-,

633@d
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

YesThe College fulfills this requirement

Please Insert a link to Council meeting materials that include discussions about activities or projects to support the strategic plan A/VD a link to the most recent
approved budget and indicate the page number.

Please briefly describe how resources were allocated to activities/projects in support of the strategic plan.

Among CCO's strategic objectives is the committee to "Continue to meet CCO's statutory mandate resource priorities in a fiscally responsibl€
'Yta n n er".

Fiscal management is one criterion at which CCO has excelled, as evidenced by the following:
. Through extensive efforts over many years, CCO built sufficient resources to purchase a new home for CCO headquarters in 2019 at

Yonge and Bloor.
. CCO's new office space was built out on budget (despite many setbacks).
r CCO increased members'fees for 2023 renewal by the Cost-of-Living-Adjustment (COLA), as authorized in Bv-law 13: Fees. This

resulted in a $SO increase to General members'fees for 2023 renewal. This was the first fee increase since 2011. CCO did not
increase any renewal fees for 2024 renewal (launched in October 2023).

. CCO approved amendments to Bv-law 13: Fees on November 23,2023, following circulation to stakeholders. includins members, for
feedback. Amendments included a reflection of feesforthe emergencyclass of registration and Specified Continuing Education or
Remediation Programs (SCERPs).

o The staff complement is small, competent, and loyal; there are 12 staff members for just over 5400 members.

ICO has operated in a fiscally responsible manner as evidenced in its financial reports published in its annual reports and in every Council
Teeting package. 2022 audited financial statements are included in the 2022 Annual Report and2023 financial statements will be posted in

lhe2023 Annual Report, on completion of the audit. CCO has operated with a surplus in every year in the recent past and has reserves that
rre sufficient to operate CCO for at least one fiscal year.

a. The College identifies activities

and/or projects that support its
strategic plan including how

resources have been allocated.

Fu rther clarification:

A College's strategic plan and budget

should be designed to complement

and support each other. To that end,

budget allocation should depend on

the activities or programs a College

undertakes or identifies to achieve its

goals. To do this, a College should

have estimated the costs of each

activity or program and the budget

should be allocated accordingly.

l
Ir,l

F

<t
o
c,
oz
Ft/}

U)
LU
U
d.
lo
tJ)
UJ
6.
c.i
z
a
oo

38lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 634

Choose an item.If the respo,s? is "portiolly' or "no", is lhe Callege plonning to improve ils pett'ormancL' o\/ei tl1€ next rcpartinq pericd?

Ad d iI i o rr a I (atn iue nl s t'or c I o tit'i co t i on ( oat iond I )

At every Council meeting, CCO Council reviews its expenses vs. budget for every budget item ongoing during the fiscal year. CCO will review

any budget items where the actual expenses may be in excess of the budgeted cost. This may occur for committees such as lnquiries,

Complaints and Reports and Discipline where the committee costs are contingent on the number of complaints and discipline hearings and

may be difficult to predict exactly when approving a budget. Since these are core functions, CCO has always been able to fulfill the mandate

of these committees by increasing the budget line for that particular committee or function. CCO will also use these increased figures as a

guide for budgeting for the next year.

Despite the requirement to increase particular budget items or committees as described above, CCO has not gone over budget as a whole
during a fiscal year.

At every Council and Executive meeting, actual financial results are compared with the budget and significant variances are reviewed and

investigated further.

39lPage



.rll L LITlII r|riEilrfi$giilill{ttm] til it I

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

635

Choose an item

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:
. Please insert a link to the "financial reserve policy" OR Council meeting materials where financial reserve policy has been discussed and approved and indicate the

page number.

. Please insert the most recent date when the "financial reserve polid' has been developed OR reviewed/updated.

. Has the financial reserve policy been validated by a financial auditor? Yes

CCO Council approved a financial reserve policv (page 554 ofthe June 22,2022 public Council package) on November 25,2021, based on
recommendations from the Executive Committee. This policy was developed in collaboration with CCO's financial auditor.

lf lhe re,:;pr:nse is "parlictlly" cr "no' , ts the: Colleqe plttn;:ino le irn{rrave iis performance aver the stxi reporl-inq period?

Additionnl ccmmcnls lor clarification (if neede d)

b. TheCollege:
i. has a 'tinancial reserve

policy" that sets out the level
of reserves the College
needs to build and maintain
in order to meet its
legislative requirements in

case there are unexpected
expenses andfor a reduction
in revenue and

ii. possesses the level of
reserve set out in its
'financial reserve policy".

40lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 636

Yes

.eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond ony barriers to implementotion.

The College fulfills this requirement:

. Please insert a link to the College's written operational policies which address staffing complement to address current and future needs.

. please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the operational policy was last reviewed and indicate the page number"

Note: Colleges are encouraged to add examples ofwritten operational policies that they identify as enabling a sustainable human resource complement to ensure

organizational success.

CCO includes detailed financial statements in the in-camera section of each Council package as well as each Executive Committee meeting

package. At each meeting, the treasurer provides a detailed report on CCO's updated financial information, including assets and liabilities,

yearly spending vs. budget items, details about various fixed costs and reports on human resources, staff and staff training updates.

CCO's financial and human resources information is publicly available in CCO's annual reports.

c. Council is accountable for the

success and sustainability of the

organization it governs. This

includes:

i. regularly reviewing and

updating written

operational policies to
ensure that the organization

has the staffing complement

it needs to be successful now

and, in the future (e.g-,

processes and procedures

for succession planning for

Senior Leadership and

ensuring an organizational

culture that attracts and

retains key talent, through

elements such as training

and engagement).

Benchmarked Fvidence

41 lPage



ill l l I il rlr ,Ll!

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 637

Yes

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's data and technology plan which speaks to improving College processes OR please briefly describe the plan.

ln 2023, CCO continued to prioritize identifying, assessing and managing risk associated with lT functions and cyber security, including
requiring two-factor identification for logins, training for staff, reviewing and enhancing cyber security requirements and conducting an
independent assessment on cyber security. CCO obtained additional cyber security insurance, and continued requiring two-factor
authentication for remote access to CCO emails and files.

CCO continues to review its use of technology as it applies to virtual council and committee meetings, virtual discipline hearings, member
and corporation renewal, and reporting of qualitv assurance activities.

lfthe rrsponse is "partiully" or "na", !s tlle (ollege plnnning to improve its performonce averthe next reportinq period?

/\dd itiona I cam me nts ;lo r c lo rific atl o n (ootion o l)

regularly reviewing and
updating the College's data
and technology plan to
reflect how it adapts its use

of technology to improve
College processes in order to
meet its mandate (e.9.,

digitization of processes

such as registration, updated
cyber security technology,
searchable databases).

il.

42lP age



Kd
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 638

+I I

Standard 5: The College actively engages with other health regulatory colleges and system partners to align oversight of the practice ofthe profession and suppo.t execution

of its mandate.

other system partners to support and strengthen alignment of practice expectations, discipline processes, and quality improvement across all parts of the health system

where the profession practices. ln particular, a College is asked to report on:

- How it hos engoged other heolth regulotory Colleges ond other system partners to strengthen the execution of its oversight mondote ond dligned proctice

expectotions? Please provide detoils of initiatives undertaken, how engogement has shoped the outcome of the policy/program and identify the specific changes

imptemented atthe Cottege (e-g., joint standards of proctice, common expectotions in workplace seftings, communications, policies, guidonce, website, etc.).

CCO actively engages with other health regulatory colleges, system partners and stakeholders to align the oversight of the practice of the
profession and support execution of its mandate. The following is a description of several of those organizations and CCO's involvement in them.
Specific initiatives with stakeholders and system partners are further described in standards 5 and 6.

The Health Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO): is an organization comprised of all health regulatory colleges governed under the RHPA.

HPRO regularly has meetings of all its directors and Executive Committee, as well as several sub-committees, including Communications and

Corporate Services. HPRO conducts training and seminars for council and staff of regulatory colleges, such as governance training, basic and

advanced discipline training and prevention of sexual abuse of patients. The discipline trainine is a requirement for CCO Council and committee

members to complete before sitting on a Discipline panel. Additionally, HPRO has conducted many virtual and in-person meetings in 2023,

The two standards under this domain are not assessed

based on measures and evidence like other domains, as

there is no 'best practice' regarding the execution of
these two standards.

outcomes, and next steps that have emerged through a

dialosue with the ministrv.

Beyond discussing what Colleges have done, the

dialogue might also identify other potential areas for

alignment with other colleges and system partners.

?^I^-^-lnstead, ,.,i I I

DOMAIN 3: SYSTEM PARTNER

STANDARD 5 and STANDARD 5

43lPage



tll lLLlll-- lIL qFl-l![il0nlill!! lll.llril rlrrT i j

639@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

primarily to communicate with the Ontario Government and Ministry of Health and communicate among health regulatory colleges. CCO staff
have attended many meetings and educational session conducted by HRPO, including ongoing meetings related to the professional regulation and
DEl. CCO staff participate in several HPRO groups including those related to practice advisors, DEl, CPMF and others. Educational sessions related
lo DEI are summarized in the DEI section of this document.

Ihe Ontario Fairness Commissioner (OFC) is the organization that assesses the registration practices of regulated professions and trades in Ontario
lo make sure they are transparent, objective, impartial and fair for anyone applying to practise his or her profession in Ontario. CCO provides
annual reports to the OFC, posted on CCO's website and has annual meetings with the OFC to discuss ongoing developments in registration
practices. CCO's 2022 annual report (most recent report) to the OFC is posted on CCO'S website.

Ihe Federation of Canadian Chiropractic (FCC) is a national federation of chiropractic regulators, educational institutions and specialty colleges
whose purpose is to promote effective communication and cooperation among its members relating to education, accreditation and regulation of
:hiropractic in the public interest that enhances the work of the members collectively and individually. The FCC typically holds boa rd meetings in

April and November. CCO actively participates in these meetings, and specifically in the chiropractic regulatory group. The FCC provides a national
Forum to:

. exchange best practices concerning regulatory issues,

r develop the capacity to:
o educate federal government policy makers in the public interest concerning regulatory affairs,
o educate those involved in chiropractic regulation,
o educate the chiropractic profession concerning the public interest,

. establish standards and to evaluate and accredit chiropractic educational programs, and

. provide leadership on issues such as licensure, accreditation, examination, continuing competence, inter-jurisdictional mobility, scope of
practice, standards of practice, codes of ethics and specialty designation.

l-he FCC regularly holds two multi-day meetings, typically taking place in April and November each year, as well as holding additional meetings and
:ommunication exchanges throughout the year.

Ihe Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association (CCPA): the largest malpractice protective association for chiropractors in Canada. The CCPA

rttends meetings at the FCC and has presented on issues related to professional liability protection. CCO engages in regular communication with
:he CCPA and both organizations often refer members with questions related to professional liability protection vs. professional regulation. The
ICPA was also instrumental in helping to develop the "Roadmap of Care" documents, which has been used as an educational tool in CCO

rvorkshops.

44lPage



@D
College oi Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

640

Ihe Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board (CCEB): conducts clinical competency examinations for individuals seeking licensure to practise

:hiropractic in Canada. The CCEB is responsible for the development, delivery and administration of three examinations:
. Component A - Chiropractic Knowledge
. Component B - Clinical Decision Making
. Component C - Clinical Skills Demonstration

As a member of its board of directors, CCO attends annual meetings of the CCEB, along with all other chiropractic regulators across Canada. Board

meetings include presentations, discussions and review of topics such as examination composition and administration, psychometric analysis of
lhe examination, modified examinations for experienced practitioners, as well as the election of various board positions the review and approval

of financial information. CCO attended the CCEB Board Meeting on November 22,2023. The CCEB has updated its examination structure in late

2023/early 2024. CCO will report on these updates in its 2024 CPMF.

Ihe Canadian Memorial Chiropractic Collese (CMCC) is the only English-speaking accredited chiropractic college in Canada. CMCC is a member of
the FCC and attends those meetings to participate in discussions and policy development around accreditation and educational. CCO is in

continuous communication with CMCC concerning the requirements for new graduates to become registered with CCO following graduation. CCO,

along with other stakeholders and system partners will often present to students at CMCC on matters related to professional regulation. On

August 25, 2023, CCO presented to CMCC students on topics related to professional regulation.

fhe Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) is the largest professional association for chiropractors in Ontario. CCO communicates continuously

with the OCA. The OCA is a stakeholder for CCO and is included as a recipient of CCO communications, including the distribution of draft
documents for feedback.

The Canadian Chiropractic Association (CCA) the largest professional association for chiropractors in Canada. CCO communicates continuously
with the CCA. The CCA is a stakeholder for CCO and is included as a recipient of CCO communications, including the distribution of draft
documents for feedback.

The Alliance for Chiropractic (AFC) is an Ontario chiropractic advocacy group that exists to heighten public awareness of the multitude of health

benefits associated with chiropractic care. CCO continuously engages in communication with the AFC. The AFC is a stakeholder for CCO and is

included as a recipient for CCO communications, including the distribution of draft documents for feedback.

45lPage



l1 ll LI llll I

@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

641

I Il ll| rr -- rEtl[lltt]$nlltt [n rm rilr r

CCO received communications and participated in a number of meetings \ /ith various chiropractic associations on the topics of changes to entrv-
lo-oractice examinations, chiropractic care of animals and the consultations on amendments to the Veterinarians Act and number of CCO

cistributionsforfeedbackfromstakeholders,includingmembers,includingintroducingan@proposedamendments
lo guidelines on assisnment of care. development of a new suideline on virtual care, proposed amendments to various bv-laws. and proposed

amendments to standards on continuing education reouirements.

46 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
l-Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

642
standard 6: The College maintains cooperative and collaborative relationships and responds in a timely and effective manner to changing public/societal expectations.

The intent of Standard 6 is to demonstrate that a College has formed the necessary relationships with system partners to ensure that it receives and

:ontributes information about relevant changes to public expectations. This could include both relationships where the College is asked to provide information by

;ystem partners, or where the College proactively seeks information in a timely manner.

. Please provide examples of key successes and ochievements from the reporting year where the College engaged with portnes, including patien*/public to ensure

it con respond to chonging public/societol expedotions (e.9., COVID-79 Pandemic, mentol health, ldbot mobility etc.). Please olso describe the mdtters thdt were

discussed with eoch ofthese portners ond how the informdtion thot the College obtained/provided wos used to ensure the College could respond to a public/societol

expectotion.

o ln oddition to the portners it regulorly interacts with, the College is osked to include informdtion about how it identifies relevant system partners, mdintains

relationships so that the College is able access relevant informotion from partners in a timely manner, ond leveroges the informotion obtdined to respond

(specific examples of when ond how a College responded is requested in stondord 7).

Following are examples of key successes and achievements from 2O23 in which the College engaged with partners, including patients and

the public, to ensure it responds to changing public/societal expectations.

Health Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO): CCO Council and committee members attended various training sessions conducted by

HRPO related to conducting discipline hearings, governance and other professional regulatory topics. Staff participated in various HRPO

meetings, committees and educational sessions related to the Quality Assurance, Practice Advisory, CPMF and DEI training. Council and

committee members applied the knowledge from discipline training to serve on four discipline panels in 2023, three of which were
uncontested and one of which was contested. CCO actively supports the work of HPRO on anti-racism and Diversity, Equity and lnclusion

and will be reviewing and applying its resources and guides in 2023. The work of the HPRO in these areas has helped inform CCO work on

Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion. Participating in the Quality Assurance and Practice Advisory groups has helped inform amendments to CCO's

Qualitv Assurance prosram, including introducing more mandatorv continuing education prosrams for the July 7,2022 -June 30, 2024 CE

cycle, updating a second version of the Self Assessment for more experienced practitioners, and updating Peer and Practice Assessment

f PPA) 2.0 to include more examples and case scenarios to be analyzed as part of Peer and Practice Assessment (PPA). HPRO also meets

every other week to discuss any emerging issues in professional health regulatory in Ontario. CCO has staff members of HPRO's EDI Network
they actively participate in meetings and educational opportunities. The Network's activities include environmental scans and knowledge

sharing, outreach to system partners through HPRO (e.g., Office of the Fairness Commissioner), opportunities for sharing in a safe and

inclusive space, and documents and tools that the College can consider for possible implementation.

47 lP age



r rLrIU- a tr,lln-rEll0ll[Wl4ll lll llrl LIIII l]I

643KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO filed its 2022 Annual Report to the OFC (most recent report) and posted on CCO's website. CCO continues to be meet its key
performance indicators for registering applicants in a timely, consistent and transparent manner, as reported to the OFC, including those
registering under labour mobility and from other jurisdictions outside of Canada. CCO was indicated as a "low risk" college by the OFC as it
relates to registration practices. CCO regularly communicates with other regulators inside and outside Canada to obtain letters of standing
and other information relevant to registration of applicants.

CCO attended meetings ofthe FCC Regulatory Council and full FCC, which included presenting reports from all jurisdictions across Canada, sharing
best practices and emerging issues in chiropractic regulation across Canada and accrediting Canadian chiropractic educational programs.

CCO attends annual meetings of the CCEB as a member of the board, along with all other chiropractic regulators across Canada. Board meetings
nclude presentations, discussions and review of topics such as examination composition and administration, psychometric analysis of the
examination, modified examinations for experienced practitioners, the election of various board positions the review and approval of financial
nformation. CCO attended the CCEB Board Meeting on November 22,2023.

CCO presented to CMCC students on August 25,2023 on topics related to professional regulation, on August 25,2023.

CCO received communications and participated in a number of meetings with various chiropractic associations, including the OCA, CCA and AFC on

lhe topics of changes to entrv-to-practice examinations, chiropractic care of animals and the consultations on amendments to the Veterinarians
Act and number of CCO distributions for feedback from stakeholders, including members, including introducing an Emergencv class of registration,

A ^t ^1 l^.,^t^^*^^+ ^f proposed amendments to various by-
aws, and proposed amendments to standards on continuing education requirements. Feedback on these various consultations from stakeholders,
ncluding members, are included in public Council packases.

48lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

644

Choose an item

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

. Please insert a link to policies and processes OR please briefly describe the respective policies a nd processes that add resses disclosure and req uests for information.

CCO has various policies and by-laws intended to maintain privacy and prevent the unauthorized disclosure of information:
r CCO has a Privacv Code outlining the privacy practices of the College, available on the CCO website.
r CCO Council and committee members and peer assessors are required to sign annually a confidentialitv undertakine.
o CCO staff members have all signed a confidentialitv undertakine with regard to working remotely. This undertaking outlines the

expectations of maintaining privacy and confidentiality specific to remote work.
CCO makes member information public in accordance with the public register requirements of the Health Professions Procedural Code and

Bv-law 17: Public Resister.

The College demonstrates
how it:

i. uses policies and
processes to govern the
dlsclosure of, and
requests for
information;

a-

{
I_l

Fz
LU

lfJ
(J

z

z
o
F

t
o
Lz
+
z
a
oa

o
e,

oz
Ftn

49lPage



.lli L r .lrLllnl ]- I ml-llBllflrnilllll {l | il' Inl I I

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

645

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to policies and processes OR please briefly describe the respective policies and processes to address cybersecurity and accidental or unauthorized

CCO continued with several cyber security initiatives in 2023:
r CCO continued to use cyber security insurance.
. CCO continued to apply and expand its use of two-factor authentication access to CCO emails and files while working remotely

disclosure of information.

.eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc,) the College will be taking, expected timelines and ony borriers to implementotion.

ln conjunction with its lT providers, CCO will continue prioritizing lT and cyber security reviews in 2023, enhancing security, and performing
ndependent assessments.

uses cybersecurity
measures to protect
against unauthorized
disclosure of
information; and

uses policies, practices

and processes to address
accidental or
unauthorized disclosure
of information.

Eenchmorked Evidence

il-

ilt.

50lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

646

YesThe College fulfills this requirement

please insert a Iink to document(s) that outline how the College evaluates its policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines to ensure they are up to date

and relevant to the current practice envlronment and indicate the page number(s) OR please briefly describe the College's evaluation process (e.9., what

triggers an evaluation, how often are evaluations conducted, what steps are being taken, which stakeholders are being engaged in the evaluation and how are

they involved).

At the first committee meeting, following the constitution of new committees annually, every committee reviews all its standards of
practice, policies, guidelines, policies and by-laws and identifies documents that should be reviewed and considered for amendments.

Committees may recommend amendments to documents for various reasons, including receiving a memorandum from the lnquiries,

Complaints and Reports Committee on recent complaints matters, complying with legislative and regulatory amendments, researching

and applying best practices from other professional regulators and other jurisdictions and other communications from system partners

such as the Office of the Fairness Commissioner, chiropractic professional associations and malpractice insurance providers and members

of the public. The following are examples of revisions made to CCO documents in 2023:
. CCO circulated draft amendments to its Registration Regulation to introduce an Emergency Class of Registration. Feedback was

included in public Council packages (pages 35 - 111) and final approvals for amendments to the Registration Regulation were

made on August 31,2023.
o CCO approved amendments to Policv P-018: Fundine for Therapv or Counsellins for Patients Sexuallv Abused bv Members to

include more details on the policies and procedures of review of applications for funding. CCO also expanded this section on the

website to include more information and common Q&A's and developed a flowchart to visualize the process.

r CCO circulated to stakeholders, including members, proposed amendments to guidelines related to assignment of care and a new

guideline on virtual care. These reviews were taken as a result of a number of complaints related to the issue of assignment of
care in an effort to strengthen the communication and consent regarding assignment of care between the chiropractor and

patient. Establishing a permanent guideline on virtual care was done to replace temporary guidance during the COVID-19

pandemic and to address new and emerging areas of practice. Feedback was reviewed and included in the November 23, 2023

ls of these documents were made bv Council on November 23,2023. Content related topublic Council packaee and final approva

a. The College regularly evaluates

its policies, standards of

practice, and practice

guidelines to determine

whether they are

appropriate, or require

revisions, or if new direction

or guidance is required based

on the current practice

environ ment.

Benchmarked Evidence

TF
i
r

6
o
c,

i1i
=oUZ
=Rh
to
F
J
f(,
LIJ
e.
,;
z

oo

51 lPage



ll[M--tI _ lE]-lf,trrwrrrrrllfr rrrr rl

@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 647

these new and amended guidelines is included in CCO workshops. Guideline G-014: Delesation, Assisnment and Referral of Care
and Guideline G-015: Virtual Care are posted on the CCO website.
CCO circulated to stakeholders, including members, proposed by-law amendments related to a number of topics, including DEl,

using gender neutral pronouns, improving clarity and eliminating redundances, correcting minor inconsistencies, changing cooling
off periods to be eligible for election to Council, allowing the President to vote on matters before Council, and updating the fees
by-law to reflect fees for the emergency class of registration and Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Programs
(SCERPs). Feedback was included in the November 23, 2023 public Council packase. Council appioved a number of by-law
a mendments and deferred consideration of others to the February 23, 2024 Council meeting. Updated bv-laws are posted on the
CCO website.

a

reviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be tdking, expected timelines ond any borriers to implementotion.

52lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

648
YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to document(s) that outline how the College develops or amends its policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines to ensure they

address the listed components and indicate the page number(s) OR please briefly describe the College's development and amendment process.

3CO reviews all its by-laws, internal policies standards of practice, policies and guidelines on an annual basis or if there is a regulatory
'eason for review, such as a change in legislation, a direction from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee or Discipline

3ommittee or a change in public health requirements (e.g., related to the COVID-19 pandemic). ln its review, CCO committees will include

is part of their review, as included in committee materials:
. Evidence and data related to inquiries, complaints and discipline trends and results,
r Risk based analysis posed to patients and the public, including the review of journal and academic articles, and

. Comparable documents from other Ontario Health regulatory colleges and other chiropractic regulators across Canada and

sometimes in other jurisdictions (USA, Australia, UK)

CCO also reviews submissions and responses to distributions and requests for feedback from members, patients, stakeholders, system

partners, professional associations, academic institutions, and professional malpractice insurance providers. As described in the previous

section, CCO conducted several distributions for feedback from stakeholders, including members, on various new and amended standards

cf practice, guidelines and by-laws. Feedback and recommendations for approval of several of these documents are summarized as part of

lhe November 23,2023 Council meeting:
.@
o CCO Council Meeting Public Supplementarv Packaee - Compilation of Feedback re: Bv-law Distribution as at November 20. 2023,

excludins lesal advice which mav be discussed in camera bv Council pursuant to Ss. 7(2) of the Code

a

Recommendations to Council

,eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be taking, expected timelines ond any borriers to implementotion.

b. Provide information on how
the College takes into
account the following
components when

developing or amending
policies, standards and
practice guidelines:

i. evidence and data;

ii. the risk posed to patients /
the public;

iii. the current practice

environment;

iv. alignment with other
health regulatory Colleges

(where appropriate, for
example where practice

matters overlap);

v. expectations ofthe public;

and

vi. stakeholder views and
feedback.

Benchmarked Evidence

53lPage



L,ll lr.rIiIl-- LtrL rlr:-Eta!ilrnrt{trntt[ rr '1 j

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

649
YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe how the College reviews its policies, guidelines, standards and Code of Ethics to ensure that they promote Diversity, Equity and lnclusion

' Please highlight some examples of policies, guidelines, standards or the Code of Ethics where Diversity, Equity and lnclusion are reflected.

CCO has several policies and procedures intended to ensure that decisions are fair and non-discriminatory. These include the following
documents and excerpts from those documents:

Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion Plan

r Direction to Committees to review standards of practice, policies and guidelines through a DEI lens.

Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion Proeress Update
Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients

r Members are to be sensitive to those with language difficulties and to provide an interpreter, when necessary.
r Members are to address the patient directly, even if an interpreter or support person is present.

Guideline G-009: Code of Ethics
o Chiropractors shall render care to those who seek it, without discrimination on the basis of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour,

ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, socio-
economic status or disability.

Guideline G-011: Accommodation of Human Rights and Disabilities
r To encourage members to foster an environment in which the rights, autonomy, dignity, and diversity of all patients are respected.
r To outline members' obligations under the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, (the Code) and Accessibility for Ontarians with

Disabilities Act, 2005 (AODA) to:
o provide health care services without discrimination; and

o accommodate patients who may face barriers to accessing care.
Policv P-045: CCO's Leeislation and Ethics Examination

o CCO is committed to accommodating candidates with physical and/or learning disabilities in completing its Legislation and Ethics

examination. A candidate who is otherwise eligible to write the Legislation and Ethics examination may file a written request to the
Registrar, along with proof of the disability, for reasonable, alternative testing accommodations if he/she is unable to write the
examination under standard circumstances. CCO will make reasonable efforts to accommodate individuals with disabilities.

c. The College's policies,
guidelines, standards and
Code of Ethics should
promote Diversity, Equity,
and lnclusion (DEl) so that
these principles and values
are reflected in the care
provided by the registrants of
the College.

54lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 650

Choose an item.lf thr: re sponse is " partio ll)J" ar " na", is the Colleqe plonnina tcs improve its perfornance ove r the next reperting period ?

ArJditir:rtoI r:ontni:nts for clorif icution (apticnaI)

Policv P-057: AccessibiliW Policv
. CCO is committed to providing inclusive and responsive services, in accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, the

Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2004, that accommodates applicants, members of CCO and members of the public

with disabilities in accessing CCO services.

Comoetencies for Council and Committee Members (November 25. 2021)
. The experience and background of Council and committee members should complement each other and represent the diversity of

practice in Ontario.
. Council and committee members should demonstrate a commitment to diversity and inclusion.

CCO Council approved amendments to several standards of practice, policies and by-laws, including Standard of Practice 5-006: Orderins,

Iakine and lnterpreting Radioeraphs. Policv P-018: Fundins for Therapv and Counsellins for Patients Sexuallv Abused bv Members and

CCO's by-law review and amendments. Amendments including using gender neutral language whenever possible, and increasing

information and accessibility to the funding for therapy program.

55lPage



il ,...1tU. ll! LI flLl6l--lllllllj- llll.LJ ]l;ll ].lrLI- " JiL---.

@D
College of Chiropraclors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

651

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link that outlines the policies or processes in place to ensure the docu mentation provided by ca ndidates meets registration requirements and indicate
page number OR please briefly describe in a few words the processes and checks that are carried out.

Please insert a link and indicate the page number OR please briefly describe an overuiew of the process undertaken to review how a College operationalizes its
registration processes to ensure documentation provided by candidates meets registration requirements (e.g., communication with other regulators in other
jurisdictions to secure records of good conduct, confirmation of information from supervisors, educators, etc.).

3CO's Prospective Members section of its website includes all regulations, by-laws, policies, application forms, decision-making charts for
"equirements for registration and links to outside organizations, such as educational accrediting agencies and the clinical competency
3xamining board.

3CO's Registration Coordinator receives completed applications from prospective members and verifies them to determine if all the
"equirements for registration are included. As part of the registration application submission, CCO will receive documents from outside
lrganizations, such as transcripts from accredited chiropractic educational institutions, examination results from the CCEB and Vulnerable
iector Police Checks from police departments.

)nce a completed application is received and reviewed by the Registration Coordinator, it will then be reviewed by the Registrar and
Seneral Counsel. The Registration Coordinator and Registrar and General Counsel will review each application to ensure that all
'equirements for registration in CCO's Registration Regulation and various registration by-laws and polices have been met.

f any application is missing a requirement or if there is a question as to the completeness of an application, the applicant will be asked to
rrovide additional information.

a. Processes are in place to
ensure that those who meet the

registration requirements receive

a certificate to practice

(e.g., how it operationalizes the

registration of members,

including the review and

validation of submitted

documentation to detect

fraudulent documents,

confirmation of information from

supervisors, etc.)1.

I*I

(D

o
OE

6zl,..i4:ZF
FU'U
e
o-
OF
F
J
co

F
5
V\

6
z

oo

56lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

652
Only after review and approval from the Registrar and General Counsel, will an application for registration be approved and the applicant

be issued a certificate of registration. Approximately 95% of applications are approved by the Registrar and General Counsel.

lf there is a question whether the applicant meets the requirements for registration, the application and additional information will be

referred to the Registration Committee for review and a decision. Review of the application may include a request for additional

information for review, such as a member's professional portfolio, outlining their quality assurance and continuing education activities,

letters of good standing from other regulated jurisdictions in which the member practised and any applicable letters from medical or legal

practitioners or experts. The Registration Committee will also review CCO Ig!g!jg!: and policies as well as decision-making charts based

on specific criteria and past precedents to help guide its decisions for previous members and new applicants.

Following review of an application and all applicable information, the Registration Committee may make the following decisions

r Register the applicant,
. Register the applicant with terms, conditions and limitations,
o Not register the applicant,
. Require the applicant to complete further requirements to be eligible for registration, or
. Request further information.

any certificate of registration, including whether an applicant is eligible to be granted an exemption from a particular requirement.

5TlPage



I rh-l.lXl- rll LmEt!ilItlm1fltfllltilil ril tnt t

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

653
Choose an item.

Yes

Choose an item.

lf l:he respr.:nse is "iJflr'tiollV" ar "na", isthr Ccllt:qe planninq ta im';rove ils pe{orfttonce over the next reporiinq perlodi)

tldtl i L ion a 1 co rn rn? n ts 16r (l a ri I icttti on {opt ion o I )

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link that outlines the policies or processes in place for identifying best practices to assess whether an applicant meets registration requirements
(e.9., how to assess English proficiency, suitability to practice etc.), a link to Council meeting materials where these have been discussed and decided upon and

indicate page numbers OR please briefly describe the process and checks that are carried out.

Please provide the date when the criteria to assess registration requirements was last reviewed and updated.

Ihe Registration Committee annually reviews its regulations, policies and by-laws related to criteria and processes for registration. CCO

tlso reviews annual recommendations from the Ontario Fairness Commissioner for ways to further ensure its registration processes are
lair, impartial, and transparent. CCO'S bi-annual meetings with the Federation of Canadian Chiropractic often include discussions and
tharing of best practices regarding registration issues, accreditation and movement of members and applicants across jurisdictions within
3anada.

( the response i-< "portiallv" or "no", is the Colie ge plannina to itnprave iis performanc<: over the ne xt rcportino iteriod?

Ad d i ticna i rct rn ntcrtf s.fat cl a rifi csi i on ( o ption o l)

b. The College periodically

reviews its criteria and

processes for determining

whether an applicant meets

its registration requirements,

against best practices (e.g.,

how a College determines

language proficiency, how

Colleges detect fraudulent

applications or documents

including applicant use of
third parties, how Colleges

confirm registration status in

other jurisdictions or
professions where relevant

etc.).

58lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 654

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe the currency and competency requirements registrants are required to meet.

Please briefly describe how the College identified currency and competency requirements.

please provide the date when currency and competency requirements were last reviewed and updated.

please briefly describe how the College monitors that registrants meet currency and competency requirements (e.g., self-declaration, audits, random audit etc.)

and how frequently this is done.

Ihe Registration Committee reviews its annual renewal processes each year to ensure that members self-declare on various aspects of

their practice, including their business addresses, preferred methods of communications with CCO, professional malpractice insurance

provider and coverage, mental and physical competency to practise chiropractic, good character reporting, reporting of any criminal

charges or convictions or findings of professional negligence and other practice information. Every two years, during the same renewal

period, members are also required to report on their compliance with CCO's Quality Assurance requirements, such as compliance with self-

assessment and continuing education. Quality Assurance requirements and reporting are found in the Quality Assurance section of this

document. lnformation related to 2024 renewal can be found at the following link.

CCO's Registration Committee reviews legislation and regulation, specificallythe RHPA and its regulations, for any updates to registration,

renewal or public register requirements to ensure its renewal process is compliant with existing legislation and regulation. As well, in its

review, the Registration Committee will review all relevant bv-laws, regulations and ,pcIslCS for any updates to the renewal process. lf
necessary, CCO will consult with outside legal counsel for any advice.

For the 2024 renewal process, the Registration Committee met in July 2O23to review the 2024 renewal memorandum and online

questionnaire and made recommendations to Council, which were approved in September 2O24.

lf a member answers certain questions, such as disclosing that they have a criminal offence or charge or that they lack the mental or

physical capacity to practise chiropractic, CCO's Registration Coordinator will automatically be notified by email through the renewal

system, and that member's renewal will be pending a review by the Registrar and if necessary, the Registration Committee. Following

review, the renewal status of the member may be approved, denied or approved with terms, conditions and limitations.

c. A risk-based approach is used

to ensure that currency2 and

other competency
requirements are monitored
and regularly validated (e.9.,

procedures are in place to
verify good character,

continuing education,
practice hours requirements
etc.).

59lPage



r1.f,tr- a L m-tlnril wnlfl!il t [l[ Tn rt] |

KD
College of Chiropractors ol Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 655

Choose an item
lfthe response is' porttolly" rsr "na". is the Calliot plonninq ta imprava its p?rt'armailte ovet the next reportinq period?

Aild iti c' na I co itl irents fo r c la rilir:oti on (a !)tia ncl)

assessed as part of registration processes are included (e.g., during renewal of a certificate of registration, or at any other time).

60lPage



KO
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

656

Choose an itent

YesThe College fulfills this requirement

Please insert a link to the most recent assessment report by the OFC OR please provide a summary of outcome assessment report.

Where an action plan was issued, is it: completed

CCO's OFC reports can all be found at the followins link. CCO has been identified as a "low risk" college by the OFC, as of February 21,

2024.

CCO has continuously updated the "Prospective Members" section of its website to ensure that its registration practices are transparent,

objective, impartial and fair. These updates, based on its meetings and self-assessments with the OFC, have included more links to outside

organizations, costs associated with the registration process, lists of requirements and formsto be completed for registration with CCO,

links to all relevant by-laws, regulations and policies associated with registration, and flowcharts to visualize requirements for registration

tor different types of applicants, depending on their circumstances.

CCO's meetings with chiropractic stakeholders, such as educational accrediting boards and clinical competency examination providers

include discussions and meetings to ensure that CCO's registration practices, including those administered by third parties, are transparent,

objective, impartial and fair.

a. The College addressed all

recommendations, actions

for improvement and next

steps from its most recent

Audit by the Office of the

Fairness Commissioner (OFC).

61 lPage



I!, ll-Lrl[rnirllL]-,tllll.lil il l.!i u r:.-_

657
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe a recent example ofhowthe College has assisted its registrants in the uptake ofa newor amended standard:

- Name of Standard

- Duration of period that support was provided

- Activities undertaken to support registrants

- % of registrants reached/participated by each activity

- Evaluation conducted on effectiveness of support provided

Does the College always provide this level of support:
lf not, pledse provide o brief explonation:

Yes

CCO approved amendments to Policv P-018: Fundins for Therapv or Counselline for Patients Sexuallv Abused bv Members to include
more details on the policies and procedures for review of applications for funding. CCO also expanded this section on the website to
include more information and common Q&A's and developed a flowchart to visualize the process.

CCO circulated to stakeholders, including members, proposed amendments to guidelines related to assignment of care and a new
guideline on virtual care. These reviews were taken because of a number of complaints related to the issue of assignment of care in an
effort to strengthen communication and consent between the chiropractor and patient regarding assignment of care. A permanent
guideline on virtual care was created to replace temporary guidance during the COVID-19 pandemic and to address new and emerging
areas of practice. Feedback was reviewed and included in the November 23, 2023 public Council packase and final approvals of these
documents were made by Council on November 23,2023. Content related to these new and amended guidelines is included in CCO

workshops. Guideline G-014: Delegation, Assignment and Referral of Care and Guideline G-015: Virtual Care are posted on the CCO

website.

CCO Council approved amendments to several standards of practice, policies and by-laws, including Standard of Practice 5-006: Orderine,
Takins and lnterpretins Radiosraphs, Policv P-018: Fundins for Therapv and Counsellins for Patients Sexuallv Abused bv Members and
CCO's by-law review and amendments. Amendments including using gender neutral language whenever possible, and increasing
information and accessibility to the funding for therapy program.

Provide examples of how the
College assists registrants in

implementing required
changes to standards of
practice or practice guidelines

(beyond

communicating the existence
of new standard, FAQs, or
supporting documents).

Further clarif ication:

Colleges are encouraged to
support registrants when
implementing changes to
standards of practice or
guidelines. Such activities could
include carrying out a follow-up
suruey on how registrants are
adopting updated standards of
practice and addressing
identifiable gaps.

t!
!2F(J
e
o-
oF
F
J
d
F
f
tJt

6
z
a
oo

c,

o
c,
6z
6

62lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

658

Choose an itemtJ th(: rcspo!|st: is "patiillly'' or "na", is flie Colletle planning ta imprave iis p?rt'armatlce aver the next reparting period?

Ad d iLi on6 i cam men Ls for r: lc ri {i coti o n ( optiontt l)

ICO communicated amendments and supported implementation of new amended documents by means of various messages to

;takeholders, including members, and communicate many of these amendments in its March 1, 2024 distribution (following the February

23, 2024 Council meeting, when many of these provisions came into effect. CCO also presents updates on these ainended documents as

eart of its Resulatorv Excellence Workshop (REW) (which is offered for free virtually three times a year, and will be offered as part of free,

n-person road shows in 2024 around Ontario - three are scheduled), updates to its PPA !=1Q and 2.0 checklists and programs. Further

;tatistics about these initiatives can be found in the Quantitative section of this document related to Quality Assurance initiatives.

As of July !,2022, the REW has become a mandatory component of CE requirements, to be completed once every six years. The REW is

continuously updated to include the most recent version of standards of practice, policies and guidelines, as they related to all aspects of
professional regulation and patient care, as well as new and amended documents and how they apply to practice.

CCO staff is always available to respond to questions from members, stakeholders, and members of the public. lf there is a novel issue

raised, this may be brought to the attention of the appropriate committee for further review.

63lPage



. L L[i. ]r Lll ilii ril 

-rtlir 

i,|l r[ r,ll.l.1l Ll]ul_ - !lll-* .

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

659

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please listthe College's priority areas offocus for QAassessment and briefly describe how they have been identified OR please insert a linkto the websitewhere
this information can be found and indicate the page number.

lstheprocesstakenaboveforidentifyingpriorityareascodifiedinapolicy: Yes

lf yes, pleose insert link to the policy.

CCO's Q\ Program, details which are available on the CCO website consists of many components, including Professional Portfolio, Self
Assessment, Continuins Education, PPA 1.0, PPA 2.0 and REW and the Core Competencies Document.

All members are required to participate in the QA program and are required within a two-year Continuing Education (CE) cycle to complete
a self-assessment, participate in continuing education and report these activities to CCO through the member portal.

The requirements of the quality assurance program are described in Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio. As well,
approximately 250 - 500 members are randomly selected each year for either PPA 1.0 or 2.0. However, there are several factors which
may trigger a specific member being selected for a PPA, a requirement to attend a REW or additional educational activities:

. Members re-entering the General (i.e., active) class of registration after a period of at least two years are required to attend a REW
and be peer assessed, in addition to re-taking CCO's legislation and ethics examination. This is described further in Policv P-053:
Returnins to the General Class of Certificate of Registration.

. Members who are subject to the inquiries, complaints and reports or discipline process are often required to participate in various
components of the QA program, such as a the REW and PPA, through undertakings and discipline decision. These activities are
intended to remediate deficiencies found through the complaints or discipline processes.

a. The College has processes

and policies in place

outlining:

i. how areas of practice that
are evaluated in QA
assessments are identified
in order to ensure the
most impact on the quality

of a registrant's practice;

64lPage



@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 660

Yes

3CO receives feedback on its QA program in a number of ways:

o CCO holds an annual PPA workshop with all its peer assessors. ln 2023, CCO held an in-person peer assessor workshop on January

28,2023. This workshop provided an opportunity for peer assessors to offer valuable feedback on both versions of the PPA.

Presentations to the peer assessors was also provided on new and updated standards of practice, policies and guidelines, DEI and

competencies as they relate to controlled acts. Each peer assessor conducts approximately IO -20 peer assessments per year and,

as representatives of CCO who have the opportunity to assess and interact with members in an educational setting, they provide

invaluable feedback on strengths, weaknesses and areas for improvement for the PPA and the QA program in general. Peer

Assessors can also provide feedback on the program through a variety of systems and all feedback is brought forward to the QA

Committee for analysis and consideration of further ways to improve the program.

o Each PPA includes a feedback form that is completed by the member being assessed. All feedback is reviewed by the QA Committee

for the purposes of improving the program
o All substantive new or amended by-laws, regulation, standards of practice, policies and guidelines are distributed to members and

stakeholders for feedback, as well as posted publicly on the "News & Updates" section of the CCO website providing an opportunity
for the public and patients to provide feedback as well. All feedback related to quality assurance initiatives is reviewed by the

Quality Assurance Committee and Council for further amendments.
o ln 2023, The QA Committee reviewed in detail the "Right Touch" regulation document and will be including it in all committee

information packages, The current PPA program utilizes the "Right Touch" principles as it is meant to be educational and remedial

rather than punitive. Only continued non-compliance results in punitive measures, such as referralto the lnquiries, Complaints and

Reports Committee

lf I ht respanse is "partiaily" ar "no", is the College p!'tn ninq to im cravr it: pr rlormd nca ov(:r i h I n(xt re parti ng periad ?

CCO continuously reviews and assesses its quality assurance initiatives and participates on HPRO groups involving quality assurance staff of
other Ontario health regulatory colleges in order to advance its understanding of best practices and areas for improvement for CCO's QA

Program. CCO also continue to review the "Right Touch" model of regulation for opportunities to incorporate elements of this approach

into its Quality Assurance program.

AC d il ia n o l (r m m?nts fo r c la ifi cot i on ( o ptiono i )

https://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/publications/right-touch-regulation).

65lPage



r lLIIllJIt. - I ImI-IUlllttrtlllr llt lru Lrilr rirl

661
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

The College fulfills this requirement: lY"'
Please insert a link to document(s) outlining details of right touch approach and evidence used (e.g., data, literature, expert panel) to inform assessment approach
and indicate page number(s).

OR please briefly describe right touch approach and evidence used.

Please provide the year the right touch approach was implemented OR when it was evaluated/updated (if applicable).

lf evoluoted/updoted, did the college engdge the following stakeholders in the evaludtion:

- Public Yes

- Employers Yes

- Registrants Yes

- otherstokeholders Yes

Ihe QA Committee reviewed the Right Touch regulation document in detail at several meetings in Fall 2021 and reported on this as part of
:he Qualitv Assurance report to Council on November 25,2O2!. As part of its review, the Quality Assurance Committee applied the
bllowing principles:

. Using a risk-based approach, primarily risk to the patient, in reviewing standards of practice, policies and guidelines as well as

programs and processes of Quality Assurance.

e Reviewing relevant information in the review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines, including but not limited to:
comparable documents from other Ontario health profession and other chiropractic regulators from other jurisdictions,
memoranda from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee, statistics related to complaints and discipline, feedback from
members, stakeholders, patients and organizations, and research and academic articles.

r Amendments to various CCO documents and programs such as the REW are reported on elsewhere in this document.

lf lhe rt:stanse is "poriialiy" or "na", tstht Collcqe plcnniia ta imgrov€ it.t perfcrntancs overlhe tlexi reportinq ptiiod? lru,

ICO continuously reviews and assesses its quality assurance initiatives and participates on HPRO groups involving quality assurance staff of
)ther Ontario health regulatory colleges in order to advance its understanding of best practices and areas for improvement for CCO's QA
)rogram. CCO also continues to review the "Right Touch" model of regulation for opportunities to incorporate elements of this approach
nto its Quality Assurance program.

A d d i ii a, a I rcm meili:i fa t c lt:r t.il i cotion ( option t i)

The College fulfills this requirement: lY"t

ii. details of how the College
uses a right touch,
evidence informed
approach to determine
which registrants will
undergo an assessment
activity (and which type of
multiple assessment
activities); and

66lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 662

Choose an ite m

Please insert a link to the document that outlines criteria to inform remediation activities and indicate page number OR list criteria,

{s described above, the QA program and the PPA Program specifically are primarily an educational and remediation program, and punitive

neasures, such as referral to the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee have only occurred in situations of non-compliance.

ndividual PPAs may result in additional remediation or member requirements, such as re-submitting patient health records for review.

lJ tht responw is "portiully" or "no",ls the Colleqe planning to inllrcve its perfcrnanLe ovo( the next rcportinq period?

iii. criteria that will inform the
remediation activities a

registrant must undergo

based on the aA
assessment, where
necessary.

6TlPage



. lu tt_ J tr,,lll ruilr,ru,ilrlii],J* . J -:.--.--

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario 663

Yes

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

. Please insert a link to the College's process for monitoring whether registrant's complete remediation activities OR please briefly describe the process.

. Please insert a link to the College's process for determining whether a registrant has demonstrated the knowledge, skills and judgement following remediation
OR please briefly describe the process.

Both PPA streams, 1.0 and 2.0 are designed to be non-punitive, providing real-time feedback to members on a wide range of topics related
to chiropractic practice. Additionally, the QA Committee reviews the summary reports and provides all members with an officia I

Disposition Report. This report would include, if appropriate, specific remediation recommendations for the member to follow. Further
remediation follow-up is scheduled on a case-by-case basis and CCO staff follows up with these members to ensure remediation
recommendations are incorporated intotheir practices. This can occurthrough resubmission of updated record keepingforms.

The College tracks the results
of remediation activities a

registrant is directed to
undertake as part of any
College committee and
assesses whether the
registrant subsequently
demonstrates the required
knowledge, skill and
judgement while practicing.

68lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontano
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

664

Yes

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the Col lege's website that clearly descri bes the College's complaints process including, options to resolve a complaint, the potential outcomes

associated with the respective options and supports avallable to the complainant.

Please insert a link to the polices/procedures for ensuring all relevant information is received during intake OR please briefly describe the policies and procedures

if the documents are not publicly accessible.

ICO has several pages on its website describing the complaints process, including how to file a complaint, the information to be included in

) complaint, template letters used in the complaints process, the various steps of the complaints process and the possible outcomes of the
:omplaints process. Any complaint involving allegations of sexual abuse include communication from CCO staff to the complainant of the
lvailability of funding for therapy and counselling and direction on where to find the appropriate information and forms. These are

ncluded at the following links, under both the "Members of the Public" and "Members of CCO" tab on the website:
. https://cco.on.calmembers-of-the-public/how-to-file-a-complaint/
. https://cco.on.ca/mem be rs-of-the-pu b lic/how-to-file-a-com pla int/the-com p la ints- process-2/

. https://cco.on.calmembers-of-the-pu blic/how-to-file-a-complaint/a ppointment-and-powers-of-investigators/

. https://cco.on. calmem be rs-of-th e-p u b lic/how-to-file-a-com pla int/the-discipline-p rocess/

ICO staff will often correspond with potential complainants by phone and/or email to assist them with the complaints process

The different stages of the

complaints process and all

relevant supports available to

complainants are:

i. supported by formal
policies and procedures

to ensure all relevant

information is received

during intake at each

stage, including next

steps for follow up;

ii. clearly communicated

directly to complainants

who are engaged in the

complaints process,

including what a

complainant can expect

at each stage and the

supports available to

them (e.9., funding for

Fl
6E
oz
tn

uJ(J
tr(.)
E.
o-
oF

F
I
co

F
l
v1

6
z

oo

69lPage



Ll.

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de lontario 665

Ad ditiona I com me nts fo r cla rificdti a n (opiiana l)sexual abuse therapy);

and;

T0lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

666

Yes

response is "partially' or "no", describe the College's plan to fully implement this measure. Outline the steps

existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be taking, expected timelines ond ony barriers to implementotion.
(i.e., drofting policies, consulting stakeholders, or

The College fulfills this requirement:

(see Companion Document: Technical Soecifications for Quantitative CPMF Measures).

Responses to inquiries from the public or members regarding the filing of an inquiry, complaint or report, are provided within one to five

business days. Emails and phone inquiries are directed to the staff member associated with the question or concern. lf a staff member is

away for a period of time, an auto response is provided by email or phone to contact another staff member who will be able to assist the

individual.

College staff will also inform individuals of the timeline associated with a response to their inquiry, complaint or report. This includes the

date of the next lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee meeting, an upcoming investigation or other processes within the

complaints committee.

Please insert rate

The College fulfills this requirement: Yes

please provide details of how the College evaluates whether the information provided to complainants is

All committees, including the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee, review their policies and procedures on an annual basis, or if
there is any regulatory amendment or committee or stakeholder feedback that will result in changes, to reflect any updated policies and

processes.

clear and useful.

b. The College responds to 90% of

inquiries from the public

within 5 business days, with

follow-up timelines as

necessary.

iii. evaluated by the College to
ensure the information
provided to
complainants is clear and

useful.

Benchmarked Evidence

71 lPage



LILLU_tll___ tri |rE-f,IqtDatilirttrtflt in []lS

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

667

Choose an item
tt'the response is "portiolly" or "na", isthe Callege planntng ta improve its perfonnance over the next repofting period?

Add ition o I c{}m r'ents fa r cl arificotion (opti onal)

72lP age



@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

668

Choose an item.

Yes

!f the r€tpcnse is "ptrrt:ictlly" 0r "no", is th€ Coi!t:tie plonninli ic irnptove jts periorrrtIncr: orter ifie next tepottiilu Lttiiadi

Additioncli fitrments fa, clorif tcalian l.,prionQl)

Please list supports available for the public during the complaints process.

please briefly describe at what points during the complaints process that complainants are made aware of supports available.

Ihe College supports the public in a number of ways:
. Communicating with the member of the public by phone and/or email to aid in understanding the existing standards of practice,

policies and guidelines of the College,
. Communications to members and members of the public involve the complaint process, possible outcomes of a complaint and links

to relevant tools used by the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee. lnformation and sample letters are included in the

inquiries, complaints and reports webpages,
. Assisting the member of the public with information on how to draft a letter of complaint and what accompanying information is to

be included,
. Assisting the member of the public in understanding the various steps of the complaints process, such as communication with the

member, review by the ICRC, investigation including the collection and review of clinical notes and records, timelines of the

complaints process and possible outcomes for complaints,
. CCO has assisted members of the public who are unable to write a letter of complaint. An example of this is CCO taking a recording

of the individual's complaint through a telephone conversation and transcribing this as a letter of complaints, and

. CCO has provided members with translated documents upon request.

Ihe College will inform a complainant who is making a complaint for an allegation on sexual abuse on the right of the complainant to apply

to the College for funding for therapy or counselling. The College will inform the complainant on the process for this application and direct

them to the various forms associated with the complaints process.

The College fulfills this requirement:c. Demonstrate how the College

supports the public during
the complaints process to
ensure that the process is

inclusive and transparent
(e.9., translation services are

available, use of technology,
access outside regular

business hours, transparency
in decision-making to make

sure the public understand
how the College makes

decisions that affect them
etc.).

T3lPage



. ., ...1. .,. -._ ... _ _ * I lLlxl_IIL prsllEfl[ilitml tu ilt]r

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

669

Yes

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

outlining how complainants can contactthe College during the complaints process and indicate the page number(s) OR please

Please insert a link to document(s) outlining how complainants are supported to participate in the complaints process and indicate the page number(s) OR please
provide a brief description,

The College provides formal letters to the complainant and member within the timelines of the complaints process under the Health
Professions Procedural Code under the RHPA. CCO will log and track complaints within the internal member database which includes key
dates that are required for communications consistent with the RHPA requirements. lnformation and sample letters are included in the
inouiries. comolaints and reports webpases

Please insert a link to document(s)
provide a brief description.

f lhe response is "partially" or "no", is the Colleqe planning to im$rcve its tlerformonce over the nexl reportinq period?

a. Provide details about how the
College ensures that all parties

are regularly updated on the
progress of their complaint or
discipline case, including how
complainants can contact the
College for information (e.9.,

availability and accessibility to
relevant information,
translation services etc.).

11.2 Atl partles to a complalnt and discipline process are kept up to date on the progress of their case, and complainant! are supported to participate effectively in
the process.

Measurer

T4lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

670

Choose an itenr

Yes

':. ':' ' :_ ri'2': i '_ " 
: :.". '

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to guidance document and indicate the page number OR please briefly describe the framework and how it is being applied.

Please provide the year when it was implemented Ofi evaluated/updated (if applicable).

3CO's lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee prioritizes complaints that have a high level of public risk, such as allegations of sexual

rbuse, patient harm and financial/insurance fraud.

3CO developed a number of risk assessment tools for reviewing and prioritizing complaints, which are posted publicly on the CCO

ur/ebpages related to complaints:
. Risk Assessment Framework Statement
. Risk Assessment Framework
. Risk Assessment Framework Tool
. lnterim Order Assessment Tool
. TransparencvPrinciples

a. The College has accessible, up-

to-date, documented
guidance setting out the
framework for assessing risk
and acting on complaints,
including the prioritization of
investigations, complaints,
and reports (e.g., risk matrix,
decision matrix/tree, triage
protocol).

oF
F
J
co

F
:)
v)
6
z

oo

nl

o
c,
oz
Fv,

t!
U
trU
E
o-

T5lPage



I 1-.- -! rllrig, l[ - lEquEslItItnt ltq !nt[

671@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre das Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Ad d iti o n o I co m me n ts f o r c I o r if i cati o n (o pti o rt a I )

T6lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontano
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

672

Choose an item

Yes
The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the policy and indicate page number oR please briefly describe the policy.

Please provide an overview of whom the College has shared information with over the past year and the purpose of sharing that information (i.e., general sectors

of system partner, such as 'hospital', or 'long-term care home').

Historically, CCO has communicated and shared information with other authorities, such as law enforcement, criminal and civil courts, as

authorized by governing legislation, when there are matters or concerns related to professional regulation as well as another governing

authority. These matters may arise in the inquiries, complaints and reports, discipline, fitness to practise and registration processes when

lhere are simultaneous investigations or decisions of other external system partners.

CCO developed a "Transparencv Principles" policy document, available to the public, which outlines this framework of transparency and

disclosure to outside parties.

a. The College's policy outlining
consistent criteria for
disclosure and examples of
the general circumstances
and type of information that
has been shared between the
College and other relevant
system partners, within the
legal framework, about
concerns with individuals and

any results.

LIJ(J

=(J
E

oF
F
J
6
F
f
U)

6
z

oo

(Yl
Fl
o
G,

6z
Ftn

77 lP age



]Il L rrirlXlr.,.-]! I MrrE[itl[rEtr]trrrfirIl I Lilr tnl I i

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 673

Yes

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to a document that list College's KPls with an explanation for why these KPls have been selected (including what the results the respective

KPls tells, and how it relates to the College meeting its strategic objectives and is therefore relevant to track), a link to Council meeting materials where this
information is included and indicate page number OR list KPls and rationale for selection.

n addition to its mission, vision, values and strategic obiectives and committee obiectives, CCO approved the Kev Performance
ndicators document for core CCO functions. KPls are regularly included in Council and committee packages, and are intended to identify
lhe core objectives of certain statutory committees and the annual review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines. CCO

:ontinues to meet its KPls, in terms of registering applicants in a timely manner, processing complaints in accordance with the
'equirements otthe RHPA, conducting PPAs on approximately 5-tO% of members registered in the General class of registration
ennually, and reviewing all by-laws, standards of practice, policies and guidelines annually, or more often if there is a regulatory reason

For review.

lf the response is "yscrtialiy" or "nc", rs thc College plcnnine to impravc its per,forntance ave{ the next reportlng perioci?

Outline the College's KPls,

including a clear rationale for
why each is important.

a.

Fz
L!

UJ

ot
o-

=od

z
FEo
o_
[t
E.

Fiz
LU

LU
t
:l
V)

LJJ

l-
z
a
oo

<f
d
ot
oz
Frh

T8lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 674

Yes

Yes

.4dtliti()nal .omments far (,lorif ication (if neec)er!)

ICO has prioritized review of its mission, vision, values and strategic objectives as part of its strategic planning session in September

2024, which may have an effect on its KPls.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the College reported to Council on its progress against stated strategic objectives, regulatory outcomes

and risks that may impact the College's ability to meet its objectives and the corresponding meeting minutes and indicate the page number.

Public Council packages include materials and reports from committees, describing their statutory objectives. This includes
.ecommendations for new and existing standards of practices, policies and guidelines, reports on inquiries, complaints and reports
appeals to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), discipline decisions, and communications and materials from

i/arious stakeholders and system partners. Recommendations from committee to Council are guided by CCO's statutory mandate,

regulation objectives, mission, vision and strategic objectives, and risks identified by the committee and Council.

lf Lhe respo!]se is "pdtl:i,:1il,v" or "no", is ihe Callegt: planniilg La itrprcve iis perJormonce over ihe next reporling period?

CCO developed a number of risk management tools for the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports process. lt will continue to work on

lormalizing its practices for the college and committees regarding identifying and tracking risks.

Addiliailcl cotrtfttcnts iar clorificution (il needed)

b. The College regularly reports to

Council on its performance and

risk review against:

i. stated strategic objectives

(i.e., the objectives set out

in a College's strategic

plan);

ii. regulatory outcomes (i.e.,

operational

indicators/targets with

reference to the goals we

are expected to achieve

under the RHPA); and

iii. its risk management

approach.

T9lPage



ll ll-nx-!-trIll.--:l[L]l il LJ_ .-ll -. -

675@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Partia lly

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the Council used performance and risk review findings to identify where the College needs to implement
improvement activities and indicate the page number.

Public Council packages include materials and reports from committees, describing their statutory objectives. This includes
recommendations for new and existing standards of practices, policies and guidelines, reports on inquiries, complaints and reports
appeals to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), discipline decisions, and communications and materials from
various stakeholders and system partners. Recommendations from committee to Council are guided by CCO's statutory mandate,
regulation objectives, mission, vision and strategic objectives, and risks identified by the committee and Council.

,eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the Cotlege wilt be toking, expected timelines ond any barriers to implementotion.

CCO developed a number of risk management tools for the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports process. lt will continue to work on
Formalizing its practices for the college and committees regarding identifying and tracking risks.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's dashboard or relevant section ofthe College's website.

All decisions addressing these issues are included in public Council package and communicated to members, stakeholders and system
partners and posted on the CCO website under the "New & Updates" section.

a. Council uses performance and
risk review findings to identify
where improvement activities
are needed.

Benchmarked Evidence

Performance results related to a

College's strategic objectives
and regulatory outcomes are
made public on the College's
website.

S0lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 676

Choose an item.lfihc response is ''portially'' or "no", isthe College planninq ic, improve its perJormance overtlle tlext reporting periad?

Ariditional comments far clctrification (if needed)

81 lPage



rll r L. n]]r]-['|l..rli

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

677
Part 2: Context Measures

recommended manner (e.g., due to differences in definitions), a College can report the information in a manner that is conducive to its data infrastructure and availability.

future.

order to understand how the information provided was calculated.

The ministry has also included hyperlinks of the definitions to a glossary of terms for easier navigation.

32lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 1- Context Measure 1

Regulatory Excellence Workshops (REW)

many years, CCO has mandated all its new registrants to attend the interactive REW

known as the Record Keeping Workshop) within the first year of registering
CCO. Additionally, to ensure all members are maintaining their knowledge and

nderstanding of the College's standards, policies and guidelines, it is mandatory for all

mbers to attend a REW once every three CE cycles (5 years). This change was

by Council and made effective on July 7,2O22

workshop is led by CCO staff, including one member of the profession, the Director
Professional Practice. Since the pandemic, CCO continues to deliver the workshop
ually as this facilitates access to all its members throughout the province. lt should

be noted that the College does not charge a fee to attend the workshop.

is compilation of the REWs from 2023

workshops
attendees

678

t
What does this informotion tell us? Quolity ossuronce (QA) ond Quolity
lmprovement (Ql) ore critical components in ensuring thot professionols provide

core thot is safe, effective, pdtient-centred and ethical. ln oddition, heolth care
professionols foce o number of ongoing changes that might impoct how they
proctice (e.9., chonging roles ond responsibilities, chonging public expectotions,
legislotive changes).

The information provided here illustrotes the diversity of QA octivities the College

undertook in ossessing the competency of its registronts ond the QA ond Ql
octivities its registronts undertook to mointoin competency in CY 2023. The diversity
of QA/QI octivities ond assessments is reflective of a College's risk-bosed approoch
in executing its QA program, whereby the frequency of ossessment ond octivities to
mointoin competency are informed by the risk of o registront not octing
competently. Detoils of how the College determined the opproprioteness of its
ossessment component of its QA progrom ore described or referenced by the
College in Meosure 10.2(o) of Stondard 10.

#

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the College's own method: Choose a n item
lf a College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure (CM)

ClVl 1. Type and distribution of QA/QI activities and assessments used in CY 2023*

Type of QA/QI activity or assessment:

DOMAIN 6:SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

83lPage



|.,llll I jmro-

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
l-Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

679

Feb 77

June 2

Nov 1

is interactive workshop continues to be an excellent opportunity for the College to
ber expectations; to talk about emerging trends; quantify, qualify and address

risks as members enter their practice life, all in keeping with the principles of
ht Touch regulation". REW provides its members and any interested parties (i.e.

surance companies) the ability to review any updates to standards of practice, polices
guidelines and their implementation strategies.

workshop features a step-by-step approach, broaching the following topics:
r an introduction to CCO

r accurately documenting the "story" of the doctor/patient relationship
(consultation, history, examination, diagnostic imaging, report of findings,
communicating a diagnosis, treatment, SOAP notes, re-assessment, dismissal)

. informed consent - when, how, and why
r communication with patients, avoiding boundary crossings and prevention of

sexual abuse
r chiropractic scope of practice
. billing and business practices
. adjunctive therapies and assistive devices (including orthotics)
o delegation, assignment and referral of care
o advertising, websites and social media
. privacy of personal health information (including the use of electronic health

care records)
r changes to and dissolution of practice
. new and amended CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines

120
126
116

Actual Number
ofAttendees

Present
Workshop

Date

84lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

680
. current events

further information regarding CCO's REW, please see the following link:

2. Peer and Practice Assessment (PPA)

surrounding the PPA Program can be found on CCO's website:
.Protq
r PPA 2.0

Quality Assurance (QA) Committee developed the PPA Program to enhance

bers' learning opportunities and ensure their compliance with the regulations,

of practice, policies, and guidelines.

becoming registered with CCO, members have the right to call themselves

iropractors and to practice chiropractic within the scope of practice identified in

Chiroproctic Act, 1997.1n assuming the right to practice, members also assume the
ponsibilities associated with this right, including the responsibility to maintain

ce

public must feel confident that chiropractors within Ontario, who demonstrated

competencies when they registered with CCO, continue to demonstrate thei
for the duration of their practice. As such, there is an expectation that

bers engage in life-long learning, and continually build their competencies

out their career

the assessment, peer assessors can flag any deficiencies noted with the
rs' record keeping and/or knowledge ofthe College's standards of practice,

and guidelines. This process also allows the member to engage in

their peer assessor regarding any noted deficiencies so that they may address the
ly

!.O = 242
2.0 = 274

35lPage



r .l [lll- rI! { [rtEtrrnlrmilt![ il | Ft til1 r lf

681
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

has developed two phases (thus far) to the PPA Program to acknowledge and
ddress the changes in member competencies that are gained with clinical experience.

I.O is intended for use with entry-to-practice new registrants/practitioners. lts
is to ensure members:

. Are adhering to 5-002: Record Keeping (https://cco.on.calwp-
content/uploads/2023l02lS-002Feb2023.pdf) with the review of five (5)

sterilized patient files;
o Fully understand all standards of practice, policies, and guidelines in a "Qand A"

formatted section;
. Fully understand all components of the professional portfolio and are able to

demonstrate their clinical competencies via continuing education activities.

2.0 has been developed for assessing more experienced practitioners and typically,
only used after a member has undergone PPA 1.0 and addressed any issues revealed
that process, These two streams of assessments also provide opportunities to

one-on-one, with members at different stages of their professional lives.

ng on successful elements of PPA 1.0, the PPA 2.0 assessment process involves:
A more in-depth, conversational review of a selection of four (4) patient files to
better ensure that members are maintaining an accurate patient health record,
reflective ofthe patient encounter and "story";
A review and conversation related to scenarios commonly encountered in clinical
practice that show implementation of regulations, standards of practice, policies,
and guidelines in real life situations;
A more complete review of the member's professional portfolio to ensure that all
co_mponents, especially areas needing improvement identified in the member's
Self-Assessment Plan of Action, are being addressed by the member.

PPA streams are designed to be non-punitive, providing real-time feedback to

a

36lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario

lmembers on a wide range of topics related to chiropractic practice. Members are 
I

lrandomly selected to participate in the program. Once assessments have been 
I

lcompleted, the QA Committee reviews the summary reports and provides all members I

l*itt .n official disposition report. This report would include, if appropriate, specific 
I

lremedial recommendations for the member to address. lf required, further remedial 
I

fiollow-up is scheduled on a case-by-case basis. A system has been implemented to trackl

lmembers who require additional submissions due to deficiencies noted during their 
I

IPPA. 
This is to help reduce the potential risk of members receiving complaints and 

I

lmaintain 
the interest of the public. 

I

ffh" nrrnb"r, of completed peer assessments for 2023 are as follows: 
It______t

I PPA,2023 I

I r.o 242 I

I r.o 274 
Ilr

learticination 
is Mandatory 

|

lrur"rO"r, who hold a General (i.e., General Active, General Non-Practising anA Cenerat 
I

lNon-Resident) 
Certificate of Registration are required to participate in this program. Irl

llf a member is registered as General Non-Practising and General Non-Resident, they willl
lundergo a modified assessment. For example, if the member does not actively see 

I

lpatients (General Non-Practising), the assessment would entail a review of their 
I

lknowledge of CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies, and guidelines. 
It"l

ffhe an Committee has taken steps to ensure that ALL members registered, regardless 
I

lof whether they work in direct patient care or not, take steps to maintain the skills and 
I

lknowled8e 
that are core to providing direct patient care. 

Itt
llnformation 

gathered during the peer assessment is shared with the members of the QAI

lCommittee only. I

682

STlPage



r L-LlIl. rIr I lm-[llltl [lI{X! ll l]jlllii rlfll rl i

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 683

Selection

randomly selects members to participate in the program and matches the selected
with a suitable peer assessor: a colleague trained to identify areas of

ent and encourage members to strive for continuous quality improvement
conduct the assessment, designed to be educational, not punitive

should also be noted that, in keeping with "Right Touch regulation" principles, the PPI
m has been increasingly used by both CCO's Registration Committee (e.g. having

undergo a proactive PPA when returning to practice after an absence) and
(e.9. creating the Peer Mentoring Program, based on PPA 2.0, that helps guide

rs' understanding and implementation of better practices for members having
n identified as non-compliant in some manner).

Assessors, Training and Support

continues to maintain a core group of highly trained peer assessors since the
ofthe program. These assessors play a key and vital role in the success of both

development and implementation of the program. Successful peer assessors must
the conditions and elements outlined in our P-057: Peer Assessors

2023, CCO had a roster of 31 trained and experienced peer assessors working in the
providing valuable guidance to members, in-person and remotely.

year, since the start of the PPA program, the QA Committee has hosted all peer
for an in-person day-long training workshop. This workshop typically involves

following elements

Review of updates to regulations, standards of practice, policies and guidelines
related to the practice of chiropractic;

a

88lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ont6rio

. Review of changes to the PPA programs to accommodate the above updates;

o Gathering front-line feedback from assessors on their experiences of the past

year's PPA cycle;

o Group and/or individual performance feedback to peer assessors;

o Small group break-out sessions that often task assessors with brainstorming,
creating and developing ideas for new elements, changes or refinements of
future PPA or other QA initiatives;

r Guest speakers with experience in quality assurance, continuing competencies

or other areas relevant to this initiative;
. Updates on current events such as professional or government trends and/or

initiatives;
o Plentv of opportunity for assessors from all over the province to interact with

their colleagues.

Cn January 28,2023, the annual Peer Assessor Workshop was held in-person at the CCO

rffices, with the option to attend virtually. Attendees included peer assessors, Council
)resident, elected professional and public-appointed members of the QA Committee,

rnd CCO staff. This yea/s break-out sessions focused on assessing core competencies

rnd controlled acts, as well as diversity, equity and inclusion.

)nce again, feedback was overwhelmingly positive, and assessors provided various

;uggestions for future workshops.

)eer assessors are always encouraged to contact the Director of Professional Practice if
:hey have any questions/concerns regarding the PPA Program or if they encounter a

rnique situation/question during an assessment.

684

39lPage



r l- Ll!l- LIL

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 685

lNew Peer Assessors
I

I

lln 
the fall ol2022, CCO appointed nine (9) new peer assessors. Criteria included:

| . Need for peer assessor(s) in each CCO district

I o Geographical location of the member's practice
. Type of practice and/or practice style
r Experience
o Additional professional qualifications, expertise and/or specialty
r Languages spoken
r Communication skills

ln-field training began in 2O22 with each new assessor being required to observe a
current peer assessor as they conducted both a PPA 1.0 and a PPA 2.0. Any new
assessor who had yet to complete PPA 2.0 was required to undergo this assessment

which counted toward their observations.

[raining for the new assessors continued on January 27 ,2023 with an Orientation Day,

hs well as their required attendance at the Peer Assessor Workshop the following day.

fhis full-day event included the following objectives:
Overview of CCO (duties and objectives; mission and strategic objectives;
mandate of QA;
The role of a Peer Assessor and the PPA Program;
5-002: Record Keeping;
Professional Portfolio.

a

a

a

a

It was during this session that new assessors were provided step-by-step instructions
and demonstrations on how to conduct both PPA 1.0 and PPA 2.0. New peer assessors
were then given the opportunity to work through the assessment paperwork by way of
mock assessments.

90lPage



@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Ihe final step to the new assessors'training took place in the field whereby each new

assessor conducted one PPA 1.0 and one PPA 2.0, with an experienced peer assessor
present. The experienced peer assessor ensured that their colleague completed all

components of the assessment, assisted with the assessment (if necessary), and

provided the new assessor with recommendations on how to enhance their assessment

skills.

3. Professional Portfolio and Continuing Education

CCO requires that members maintain a Professional Portfolio log where they track
compliance with all CCO continuing competency initiatives. The professional portfolio

would include, among other things:
a

. A log of all completed continuing education activities

. Materials collected while fulfilling their continuing education (CE) requirements
(e.g., course outlines brochures from conventions/conferences, etc.)

. Current samples of advertising.

All professional portfolio information is available at the following links:
o https://cco.on.calme mbers-of-cco/q ua litv-assu ra nce/professiona l-portfolio/
o https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2017l10/PP handbook Jan2017.pdf

Members were encouraged to log and track alltheir continuing education activities

through a confidential on-line member portal. This was developed to provide CCO with
the ability to track member activities as well as link registration actions to a member's
completion of other mandatory activities.

686

91 lPage



.li L r,llu-r-UL tr lm-ElllllnUrlin ll I l0r rrnl .i I

687
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
l-Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

noted above, in the report on PPA, CCO acknowledges the evidence which supports
at members should be demonstrating ongoing and evolving competencies throughout

r careers. This would be demonstrated in the types of CE activities undertaken. lt
the Committee's view that it would also be prudent to have a self-assessment

to reflect on basic, entry-to-practice competencies and then to have further
that engaged the member in self-reflection on competencies more

to advancing experience and expertise.

new version of the Self-Assessment, now referred to as $1,.Q], was launched at
start of the new CE cycle, July t,2022.lt is important to note that, where elements

SA 1.0 focus on entry-to-practice competencies such as knowledge of regulations,
ndards of practice, policies and guidelines, SA 2,0 was framed around the revised

2.0 is designed to assist more experienced members of the profession to reflect on
competencies after several years of practice. For example, members reflect on

us scenarios they may have encountered or may encounter in practice. These

arios are based on archival case examples and trends. The Core Competencies for
Members also clearly lays out basic expectations members should be aware of

providing care to the public in the section titled: "What to Expect when attending
chiropractor appointment: an application of the core competencies."

part of PPA 2.0, assessors reminded members of SA 2.0's purpose and the College's
mendation that it be completed within the first three months of a new CE cycle

assessors reviewed the Plan of Action Summary Sheet (as part of SA 2.0) and spoke
members about the steps they will can take to improve and enhance their

petencies.

92lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaris 688

Continu ing Ed u cati on Requi rements

As in all previous CE cycles, CCO has developed a mandatory CF program that is built on
the best available evidence, with respect to professional continuing competency. As

such, our program is a balance of "trust" and "proof" models, i.e., providing members a

range of options for meeting their requirements that embrace the diversity of practices

and popuiations served by those practices.

Additionally, CCO has always allowed members to engage in ongoing, continuing
competency development that is relevant to their areas of interest and expertise.
Additionally, members are to utilize their self-assessment (SA 1.0 or 2.0) to help guide

them toward any CE activity that will help 'fill in the gap" with respect to deficiencies
discovered after the completion of the self-assessment questionnaire.

CCO acknowledges that there are some members who do not engage in direct patient
care, but rather serve in administrative, research or academic roles; yet, they still
maintain a General registration. CCO still requires that all members who maintain a

General registration comply with the completion of all 40 hours of continuing education,
including five hours of structured activities related to the controlled acts permitted
within the chiropractic scope of practice (e.g., diagnosis and treatment of patients),

should they choose to engage in direct patient care at any point in time.

As mentioned in the section REW, it is now mandatory for members to attend one REW

every three CE cycles, or rather, once every six years. This measure is meant to be
proactive and educational in nature, to ensure all members are keeping up to date with
all standards of practice, policies, and guidelines, including their record keeping skills.
Attendance at a REW can be counted toward the member's continuing education hours.

93lPage



l r l:- lltrl,, rI!

K) College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 689

4, Peer Mentoring Program

The q,q 966rittee continues to work collaboratively with the ICRC and Discipline
Committee in the delivery of the Peer Mentoring (PM) Program. The program acts as a

specified continued educational remedial program (SCERP) option for ICRC, as well as a

course of action for members with disciplinary findings.

CCO maintains a roster of 13 peer mentors throughout the province. This group is

composed of current and former peer assessors who demonstrate excellent
knowledge of CCO's standards of practice policies, and guidelines, and some of whom
may be considered experts within the field (e.g., the peer mentor is a Fellow of the
College of Chiropractic Orthopedic Specialists).

This program is built from PPA 2.0. Since the Peer Mentoring Program is remedial in

nature, peer mentors conduct their sessions similar to an assessment with stronger
focus on the deficiencies/poor habits/disciplinary findings.

After each PM session, a disposition report is provided to the member to summarize
all pertinent findings. Mentors will then conduct subsequent PM sessions
(approximately three months later), with the expectation that the member will have

enhanced their record keeping skills and can demonstrate improved knowledge of all

standards of practice, policies, and guidelines. The number of peer mentoring sessions

depends on the member's ability to demonstrate changes and understanding of CCO's

standards of practice, policies, and guidelines and/or decisions made by the
committee.

ln 2023, three (3) members began the Peer Mentoring Program and another three (3)

members, who began the program in2O22, completed it.

v. <lnsert QA octivity or ossessment>

vi. <lnsert QA dctivity or ossessment>

3 members began

PM Program

3 members
completed PM

Program

94lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

viii.

lx.

X.

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or assessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessment>

690

95lPage



.. ,...t-_--.!.!u".ll .,-|EI'rrFrrilFr tn tl{l

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de lontario 691

Additio no I comments fo r clo rifi cotion (if needed )

+ Registronts moy be undergoing multiple QA octivities over the course of the reporting period. While future iterotions ofthe CPMF
moy evolve to copture the dilferent permutotions of pothways registronts moy undergo ds port of o College's Oj Progrom, the
requested stotistical information recognizes the current limitotions in doto ovoilobility today ond is therefore limited to type and
distribution of QA/QI octivities or ossessments used in the reporting period.

ivR

96 | Page



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

692
Table 2 - Context Measures 2 and 3

t
What does this information tell us? lf o registrdnt's knowledge, skills,

ond judgement to practice sofely, effectively, and ethically have been

assessed or reossessed ond found to be unsatisfoctory or o registront
is non-compliont with o College's QA Progrom, the College moy refer
them to the College's QA Committee.

The informotion provided here shows how many registronts who

underwent on octivity or ossessment os part of the QA progrom where

the QA Committee deemed thot their practice is unsotisfactory ond os

o result hove been directed to porticipate in specified continuing

educotion or remediotion program os of the stort of CY 2023,

understonding thot some coses mdy carry over.

REW:7.2%

PPA7.O:48%

PPA2.O:5.5%

#

REW: 362

PPA 1.O:242

PPA2.O:274

Context Measure {CM}

CM 2, Total number of registrants who participated in the QA Program CY 2023

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recom mended method or the College own method: Choose a n ite m

lf a College method is used, please specify the rationdle for its use:

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

9TlPage



LII L

@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

693

r[]lll. rlL

Self Assessment,
Professional
Portfolio and

Continuing
Education: lOO%of
members registered
in the General class

of registration

O.I2Yo

NR

Additiondl comments for clarification (if needed)

Self Assessment,

Professional
Portfolio and

Continuing
Education:

Approximately:
Approximately 5002

Members (Members

registered in the
General class of

registration)

5
CM 3, Rate of registrants who were referred to the QA Committee as part of the QA
Program where the QA Committee directed the registrant to undertake remediation in

cY 2023.

98lPage



@d
College o{ Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 3 - Context Measure 4
694

It

What does this informotion tell us? This informotion provides insight into the

outcome of the College's remedlol octivities directed by the QA Committee and may

help o College evoluate the effectiveness of its "QA remediotion octivities". Without
odditionol context no conclusions con be drown on how successful the QA

remedidtion octivities ore, os mdny foctors moy influence the practice ond

behaviour registronts (continue to) disploy.

50%

so%3

#

3

NR
* This number may include registrants who were directed to undertoke remediation in the previous year ond completed reossessment in CY 2O23.
**This meosure moy include ony outcomes from the previous yeor thot were carried over into CY 2023.

Additional comments for clari.f icotion (if needed)

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the College's own method: Ch oose a n item

lf o college method is used, please specify the rdtionole for its use:

Context Measure (CM)

cM 4. Outcome of remedial activities as at the end of CY 2023:**

l. Registrants who demonstrated required knowledge, skills, and judgement following remediation+

ll. Registrants still undertaking remediation (i.e., remediation in progress)

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

99lPage



[ilr rrEd]f&rL-_ruu.I l.I_ . a _,,..

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

695
Table 4 - Context Measure 5

I It

What does this informotion tell us? This information

focilitates transporency to the public, registrants and the
ministry regording the most prevolent themes identified in

formal complaints received ond Registror's lnvestigations
undertaken by o College.

0

20

0

0

7

27

0

20

13

0

13

LOO%

Registrar lnvestigations
initiated

#

0

3

0

0

7

4

0

3

2

0

2

15

%

11

13

20

22

9

17

4

7

0

0

3

700%

Formal Complaints
received

#

4

15

18

28

30

72

23

6

2

0

0

138

;tatistical dataiscollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod: Chocseanitein
lf a College method is used, please specify the rationale for its use:

Context Measure (CM)

CM 5. Distribution of formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations bytheme in CY2023

Themes:

il.

il1.

tv.

vt.

vil.

vilt.

tx.

X.

xl.

Advertising

Billing and Fees

Communication

Competence / Patient Care

lntent to Mislead including Fraud

Professional Conduct & Behaviour

Record keeping

Sexual Abuse

Harassment / Boundary Violations

Unauthorized Practice

Other <p/eose spec,t> (failure to cooperate with the College)

Total number of formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations**

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

100lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 696

Additional comments for clorificotion (if needed)

Formal Complaints

35

30

25

20

15

10

5 I t I
l. Advertising ll. Billing and Fees lll" Communication lV. Competence / V. lntent to Mislead

Patient care including Fraud

Vl- Professional

conduct &
Behaviour

Vll. Record keeping Vlll- Sexual Abuse lX. Harassment /
Boundary
Violations

X- tlnauthorized
Practice

Xl. Other <please

specify>

Formal Complaints
/vR

Reqistrar's lnvestisation

++The requested stotistical informotion (number dnd distribution by theme) recognizes thdt formol comploints and Registra/s Investigotions moy
include ollegotions thot foll under multiple themes identified obove, thetefore when added together the numbe6 set out pet theme moy not equal
the totol number of formal complaints or Reqistra/s lnvestigotions.

101 | P age



j r l: l-lll rtr lltwr:-lrlllLmlllil ll l]lllll rlll lrj

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

697

Registrar lnitiated

4.5

4

3

2.5

2

1.5

1

I0.5

0
l. Advertising ll. Billing and Fees lll. Communication lV. Competence / V. lntent to Mislead Vl. Professional

Patient Care including traud Conduct &
Behaviour

Vll. Record l(eeping Vlll. Sexual Abuse lX. Harassment /
Boundary
Violations

X. Unauthorized
Practice

Xl. Other <please

specify>

102 | Page



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontatio

Table 5 - Context Measures 5, 7, 8 and 9

698

t

Whot does this information tell us? The informotion helps the
public better understond how formol comploints filed with the

College ond Registrar's lnvestigations ore disposed of or
resolved. Furthermore, it provides tronsporency on key sources

of concern thot ore being brought forword to the College's

lnquiries, Comploints ond Reports Commlttee.

o//o

0

0

0

0

50

45

744

15

9

#

0

0

0

0

72

65

StatisticaldatacollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod:Recommended

lf o College method is used, please specify the totiondle for its use:

Conten Measure (cM)

CM 5. Total number of formal complaints that were brought forwa rd to the ICRC in CY 2023

cM 7. Total number of ICRC matters brought forward as a result ofa Registrar's lnvestigation in cY 2023

CM 8. Total number of requests or notifications for appointment of an investigatorthrough a Registrar's

lnvestigation brought forward to the ICRC that were approved in CY 2023

CM 9. Ofthe formal complaints and Registra/s lnvestigations received in CY 2023**:

Formal complaints that proceeded to Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR)

Formal complaints that were resolved through ADR

Formal complaints that were disposed of by ICRC

Formal complaints that proceeded to lcRc and are still pending

Formal complaints withdrawn by Registrar at the request of a complainant

Formal complaints that are disposed of by the ICRC as frivolous and vexatious

il.

ilt.

tv.

vt.

t.

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

103 | P age



lll I I r[I--.lL I lxll]-llrllllLlllllf]tullJf,lllrl llll r I _

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontado
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 699

ADR

Disoosal

Formal Comolaints
Formal Complaints withdrawn bv Reqistrar at the reouest of a complainant
NR

Registra/s lnvestigation

# Mdy relote to Registro/s lnvestigotions thotwerc brcught to the ICRC in the previous yeor.

disposes of as frivolous ond vexotious dnd o referral to the Discipline Committee will also be counted in totctl number of complaints disposed oJ by the IcRc.

Outcomes of Formal Complaints

80

70

60

50

4A

30

20

10

0 I
Vl. Formal complaints that are Vll. Formal complaints and

disposed of by the ICRC as Registrar's lnvestigations that
frivolous and vexatious are disposed of by the ICRC as

a referral to the Discipline
Committee

l. Formal complaints that
proceeded to Alternative
Dispute Resolution (ADR)

ll, Formal complaints that
were resolved through ADR

lll. tormal complaints that
were disposed of by ICRC

lV. Formal complaints that V. Formal complaints
proceeded to ICRC and are withdrawn by Registrar at the

still pending request of a complainant

57vil Formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations that are disposed of by the ICRC as a referral to the
Discipline Committee

104 | P age



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L0rdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 700

Additionol comments for clorificotion (if needed)

105lPage



l-lLi ilr jt-ilr ilElrrutL-lll[l]Jl.l..lj I Jrl- .Jx "".,--

701@c
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 6 - Context Measure 10

Advertising

Billing and Fees

Communication

Competence / Patient Care

lntent to Mislead lncluding Fraud

Professional Conduct & Behaviour

Record Keeping

Sexual Abuse

Harassment / Boundary Violations

3

8

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

t
0

0

2

0

t
2

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2

0

0

0

0

1,

0

0

0

0

t
0

0

0

0

0

0

1,

2

6

3

0

0

5

1

1,

il.

III.

tv.

vt.

vil.

vilt.

tx.

4

15

4

10

3

3

0

106lPage

t

Takes any other action it
considers appropriate that is

not inconsistent with its
governing legislation,
regulations, or by-laws.

Refers specified

allegations to the

Discipline

Committee

Agrees to
undertaking

Orders a specified

continuing education or

remediation program

lssues a

caution (oral

or written)

Proves advice or

recommendations

# of ICRC Decisions++

Take no

action

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College's own method: Choose an ite14

lf a College method is used, pleose specify the rationole for its use:

Context Measure (CM)

CM 10. Total number of ICRC decisions in 2023

Distribution of ICRC decisions by theme in 2023+

Nature of Decision

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Unauthorized Practice

Other <pleose specify>

702
0

0

X.

xt.

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

above, therefore when odded together the numbers set out per theme may not equol the totdl number of formol complaints or registro/s investigationt or decisions.

ivR

or Registror investigotion ond could focilitote o diologue with the public about the opproprioteness of on outcome reloted to o porticular formal comploint.

Additionol comments for clorificotion (if needed)

107lPage



rll L -. - --..,urul ri ,

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 703

Distribution of ICRC Decisions by Theme
16

14

1,2

10

8

6

4

il,
2 II l.r0 I

lX. Harassment /
Boundary
Violations

T
Xl. Other <please

specify>

L Advertising ll. Billing and Fees lll. communication lV. Competence / V. lntent to Mislead Vl. professional Vll. Record Keeping Vlll. Sexual Abuse
Patient Care lncluding Fraud Conduct &

Behaviour

X. Unauthorized
Practice

I Take no action

t Proves advice or recommendations

I lssues a caution {oral or written)

I Orders a specified continuing education or remediation program

I Agrees to undertaking

I Refers specified allegations io the Discipline Committee

I Takes any other action it considers appropriate that is not inconsistent with its governing legislation, regulations, or by-laws.

108 | Page



@D
College of Chiropractors of Qntano
Lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario

704
Table 7 - Context Measure 11

t
Whot does this informotion tell us? This informotion illustrotes the moximum length of time in which 9 out of 10 formol
comploints or Registror's investigotions ore being disposed by the College.

The informotion enhances tronsporency about the timeliness with which o College disposes of formol comploints or

Registror's investigotions. As such, the information provides the public, ministry, and other stokeholders with informotion

regording the opproximate timelines they can expect for the disposol of a formal comploint filed with, or Registror's

investigotion undertdken by, the College.

Days

24r

238

Additionol comments for clorification (if needed)

Statistica I data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the College own method: Chocse a n ite rr

lf College method is used, pleose specify the rationale for its use:

Context Measure {CM)

CM 11, gOth Percentile disposal of:

L A formal complaint in working days in CY 2023

ll. A Registrar's investigation in working days in CY 2023

Disposal

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

109lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 8 - Context Measure 12

l.:lrf L illlii ll 

-nllLlu 

jfiLlll.ll l.XL . llrl .',-.

705

t
Whot does this informotion tell us? This informotion illustrates the moximum length of time in which g

out of 70 uncontested discipline hearings ond 9 out of 10 contested discipline heorings are being
disposed.

The informotion enhonces tronsporency obout the timeliness with which o discipline heoring
undertoken by o College is concluded. As such, the informotion provides the public, ministry, and other
stokeholders with inJormotion regording the approximote timelines they con expect for the resolution
of o discipline proceeding undertoken by the College.

Days

180

88s

Statistical datacollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod: Recommended

lf o College method is used, please specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure (CM)

CM 12. 90th Percentile disposal of:

l. An uncontested discipline hearing in working days in CY 2023

ll. A contested discipline hearing in working days in CY 2023

Disoosal

Uncontested Discipline Hearing
Contested Discipline Hearins

Addilionol Lommcnts lot clorilicotion (if ncedad)

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 1.2

110lFage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 9 - Context Measure 13

106

Ir

Whot does this information tell us? This informotion focilitotes tronsporency to the public, registronts

ond the ministry regording the most prevolent discipline findings where o formol complaint or
Registror's lnvestigotion is referred to the Discipline Committee by the ICRC.

#

0

0

3

0

0

4

t
0

0

0

2

0

0

Vll. Offenceconviction

Vlll. Contravenecertificaterestrictions

lX. Findingsinanotherjurisdiction

X. Breach of orders and/or undertaking

Xl. Falsifying records

Xll. False or misleading document

Xlll. Contravene relevant Acts

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the College's own method: Choose a n item.

lf College method is used, pleose specify the rotiondle for its use:

Discipline decisions may have more than one finding type. There were a total of 4 discipline decisions in 2023.

Context Measure lGMl

CM 13. Dlstribution of Discipline finding by type*

Type

l. Sexual abuse

ll. lncompetence

lll. Fail to maintain Standard

lV. lmproper use of a controlled act

V. Conduct unbecoming

Vl. Dishonourable,disgraceful, unprofessional

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 1.2

111 lPage



_.. .".i..-.-..- _.*. --.. ,._- ttL I ulD fr,_ rr Erf,rllrDlltrlnr r[ 'rlF

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
gordre des ChiropEticiens de I Ontario

707

number of discipline coses.

Additionol comments for cldtificdtion (if needed)

112 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 10 - Context Measure 14

708

t
Whot does this informotion tell us? This informotion will help strengthen tronsporency on the type of
actions taken to protect the public through decisions rendered by the Discipline Committee. lt is important
to note thot no conclusions can be drawn on the opproprioteness of the discipline decisions without
knowing intimote detoils of each case including the rationole behind the decision.

#

1,

3

3

3

3

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College own method: Choose an item

lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rationole for its use:

Context Measure (CM)

CM 14. Distribution of Discipline orders by type*

Type

l. Revocation

ll. Suspension

lll. Terms, Conditions and Limitations on a Certificate of Registration

lV. Reprimand

V. Undertaking

not equol the total number of discipline cases.

Revocation
Susoension

Terms. Conditions and Limitations
Reprimand

Underta king
NR

Additianal comments for clorificotion (if needed)

DOIVIAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

113lPage



. ,. |..r,JlIL-l-!L

@D
College oi Chiropractors ol Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

709
Glossary

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR): Means mediation, conciliation, negotiation, or any other means of facilitating the resolution of issues in dispute.

Return toiTahlc.5

Contested Discipline Hearing: ln a contested hearing, the College and registrant disagree on some or all of the allegations, penalty and/or costs.

Return to: Table 8

both liability and penalty decisions, where relevant).

Return to: Table 5. Table 7, Table 8

complaint inquiries and other interactions with the College that do not result in a formally submitted complaint

Return to: Table 4, Table 5

request of the complainant, where the Registrar believed that the withdrawal was in the public interest.

Return to: Table 5

NR: Non-reportable: Results are not shown due to < 5 cases (for both # and %). This may include 0 reported cases.

Return to: fqhle_l, Table 2, Table 3, Table 4, Table 5, Table 6. Table 9, Table 10

must inform the ICRC of the appointment within five days.

114lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

710
Return to: Table 4, Table 5

certificate which terminates the registrant's registration with the College and therefore their ability to practice the profession.

Return to: Table 10

Suspension: A suspension of a registrant's Certificate of Registration occurs for a set period of time during which the registrant is not permitted to:

. Hold themselves out as a person qualified to practice the profession in Ontario, including using restricted titles (e.9., doctor, nurse),

. Practice the profession in Ontario, or

. Perform controlled acts restricted to the profession under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.

Return to: Table 10

Reprimand: A reprimand is where a registrant is required to attend publicly before a discipline panel of the College to hear the concerns that the panel has with their practice.

Return to: Table 10

website.

Return to: Table 1.0

College and the respondent may make a joint submission on penalty and costs orthe College may make submissions which are uncontested by the Respondent.

Return to:feb!e:E

Undertaking: ls a written promise from a registrant that they will carry out certain activities or meet specified conditions requested by the College committee.

Return to: Table 10

115lPage



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.42

Jo-Ann Willson
April 2, 2024 4:18 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: Ontario Government and Association of Ontario Midwives Reach

Agreement

711
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 1'l'l
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -477 2
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: vwvw.cco.on,ca

In-office services are avaitabte by appointnrent only. Ptease use the emaiI or phone contact inf ornration above or, if you

require urgent assistance, ptease contact Reception by phone af 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or emait reqeplloll@'eQo.On-Ca

and your inquiry witt be directed apprdpriate[y.

CCO is conrmitted to providing inctusive, accommodating, and responsive services and enstrring that individuals are

treated with dignity and respect. PLease contact us if you require accommodations. Ptease ensure that aLL

conrnrunications with CCO are respectfuI and professionat.

CONFI DENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other

distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-

mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Ontario News <newsroom@ontario.ca>

Sent: Tuesday, April 2,2024 4:L7 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Ontario Government and Association of Ontario Midwives Reach Agreement

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

NEWS RELEASE

Ontario Government and Association of
Ontario Midwives Reach Agreement

April 02,2024
Ministrv of Health

1

Ontario@



Ontario @ 712

TORONTO - Today, the Government of Ontario and the Association of
Ontario Midwives (AOM) announced that they have successfully ratified a
new interim funding agreement starting April 1 ,2024.

This interim agreement includes an investment of more than $15 million to
increase compensation and help connect people to midwifery services. By
working together, the ontario government and AoM are ensuring families
and newborns can continue to connect to high-quality care from midwives
closer to home.

"The important work of midwives has an immense impact on the lives of
parents and their newborns," said Sylvia Jones, Deputy Premier and
Minister of Health. "This interim agreement is a step towards a stronger
partnership that benefits both midwives and growing families across
Ontario."

Ontario's midwives play an important role in our public health care system
ontario will continue to work with the AoM to support midwifery in ontario
and ensure that midwives can continue to provide high-quality care to
families and newborns across the province.

Additional Resources

Your Health: A Plan for Connected and Convenient Carea

Media Gontacts

Hannah Jensen
Minister Jones' Office
Hannah. R. Jensen@ontario. ca

Anna Miller
Communications Branch
media.moh@ontario.ca
416-314-6197

We have recently updated Ontario Newsroom Subscription. You may receive additional emails. lf
you would like to update your subscription preferences or unsubscribe, click the 'manage your
subscriptions' or'unsubscribe' links down below.

2

i
l

e
I

i



Rose Bustria
713

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
April 3, 202410:28 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: Ontario Building New Medical School at York University Focused

on Primary Care Doctors

Councit.

Jo-Ann Wittson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

Cottege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 111
Toll Free: I -877 -577 -477 2
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: iowillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: vvww.cco.on.ca

ln-office services are available by appointnrent only. Please use the emaitor phone contact lnJornlation above or, if you

require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 416-922-6355 ext. '1 00 or emait reception@,c-C0.on.ea

and your inquiry witt be directed appropriatety.

CCO is conrmitted to providing inctusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that !ndividuats are

treated w:th dignlty and respect. Please contacl us if you require accommodations. P[ease ensLlre that all
communications with CCO are respectf uI and professionat.

CONFIDENTIALITY
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Dr.M izel <d rmizel @stcatha rineschiropractic.com>
Sent: Wednesday, April 3, 2024IO:27 AM
To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>
Cc: Sarah Green <drsarahgreenL@gmail.com>
Subject: Fwd: Ontario Building New Medical School at York University Focused on Primary Care Doctors

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

FYI

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: Ontario News <newsroom@ontario.ca>
Date: April 3, 2024 al9:1 9:36 AM EDT

To: drmizet@stcatha rineschi ropractic.com
Subject: Ontario Buitding New Medical Schoot at York University
Focused on Primary Care Doctors

1



Ontario @ 714

NEWS RELEASE

Ontario Building New Medical School at York
University Focused on Primary Gare Doctors

New school is one of a number of provincial initiatives
that will help connect up to 98 per cent of Ontario
residents to primary care

April 03,2024
Premier's Office

TORONTO - The Ontario government is providing an initial investment of
$9 million through the 2024 budget, Building a Befter Ontario, to begin the
design and planning for York University's new medical school in Vaughan.
The new medical school will be the first in Canada that is focused on
training primary care doctors and is helping fulfill Ontario's commitment to
ensure that everyone who wants to have a primary care provider can
access one.

"Today's announcement is part of our plan to connect more Ontario families
to more convenient care, including primary care," said Premier Doug Ford.
"As the first medical school in Canada focused primarily on training family
doctors, this new schoolwill make an enormous impact in the lives of
people in York Region and across Ontario."

This new medical schoolwill include up to 80 undergraduate seats and up
to 102 postgraduate seats starting in September 2028, with up to 240
undergraduate seats and 293 postgraduate seats on an annual basis once
operating at full capacity.

By focusing primarily on training family doctors, the York University training
model will devote approximately 70 per cent of the new postgraduate
training seats to primary care, when the medical school becomes
operational in 2028.ln addition to other historic investments to increase the
number of medical school seats, expand interprofessional primary care
teams and efforts to break down barriers so highly skilled internationally
trained doctors can care for people in Ontario, Ministry of Health modelling
shows that these initiatives will help connect up to 98 per cent of people in
Ontario to primary care in the next several years.

2

i



Ontario @ 715
"Our government is taking historic action to grow our health care workforce
by launching the largest expansion of Ontario's medical education system
in over a decade," said Sylvia Jones, Deputy Premier and Minister of
Health. "Our investment in York University's new medical school is another
way our government is increasing the number of doctors in our health care
system to make it easier for people to connect to world class care in their
community for years to come."

Ontario is rolling out the largest expansion of medical education in over 10
years as it continues to build a stronger, more resilient health care system,
especially in growing and underserved communities. The expansion
includes all six medical schools currently across Ontario, as well as the new
medical school at Toronto Metropolitan University when it becomes
operational in 2025, adding 260 undergraduate seats and 449 postgraduate
positions over the next five years. These seats are in addition to the new
seats planned for York University's new medical school.

"Our investment in York University's new medical schoolwill make it easier
for future doctors to access the exceptional postsecondary education that
Ontario is so well known for," said Jill Dunlop, Minister of Colleges and
Universities. "By helping to train more primbry care physicians, we will
ensure Ontario families in growing communities like York, Simcoe and
Muskoka continue to have access to the care they need, closer to home."

The 2024 Budget, Building a Better Ontario, continues to support the
province's work through the Your Health plan to build a robust health
system that puts people at the centre of care, making it easier and more
convenient for them to connect to care.

Quick Facts

a

Announced as part of the 2022 and 2023 Ontario Budgets, Ontario is

adding 260 undergraduate medical seats and 449 postgraduate
seats, starting in 2022-23, as part of the province's largest expansion
of medical education in more than 10 years.
These medical expansions will bring the total number of
undergraduate seats and postgraduate training seats to 1,212 and
1,637 respectively, by 2028, in addition to the new seats being
created at York University.
The Ontario Learn and Stay Grant provides full, upfront funding for
tuition, books and other direct educational costs to students in return
for working in the region where they studied for a term of service
after graduation. The grant application for the 2024-25 academic
year will open this spring for students entering the first year of an

3

a



Ontario@ 716
eligible nursing, paramedic or medical laboratory technologist
program.

Quotes

"This new investment to support increased physician education in Ontario
comes at a criticaltime and marks an important milestone in York's
trajectory as an internationally recognized leader in higher education.
Amidst growing demand for family doctors and other primary care general
specialists, I want to thank Premier Ford and his government for being
responsive to this pressing need, for their vision and clear commitment to
York's School of Medicine - and a healthier future for Ontarians."

- Rhonda Lenton
President and Vice-Chancel lor, York U n iversity

"By building a new medical school in Vaughan, our government is taking
action to ensure families in Vaughan and King have access to better
healthcare, closer to home. This game changing investment was my top
local priority to deliver, and by doing so, we will train the next generation of
doctors for decades to come. The York medical school in Vaughan will be
situated beside the state-ofthe-art CortellucciVaughan hospital, and the
soon-to-be built long-term care home; that together will significantly improve
the quality of care of our families and seniors."

- Stephen Lecce
MPP King-Vaughan

Additional Resources

2024 Onteirio Budqet: Buildins a Better Ontarioa

Media Gontacts

Gaitlin Glark
Premier's Office
Caitlin. Clark2@ontario.ca

Liz Tuomi.
Minister Dunlop's Office
Liz.Tuomi@ontario.ca

4



Ontario @ 717

Media Desk
Communications Branch
mcu.media@ontario.ca

We have recently updated Ontario Newsroom Subscription. You may receive additional emails. lf
you would like to update your subscription preferences or unsubscribe, click the 'manage your
subscriptions' or'unsubscribe' links down below.

Visit the Newsroom
Manage your subscriptions

Unsubscribe

5



Version date: June 17, 2020

|TEM 4.1.44

AoveRnst NG Gourvllrree
Tenus or RerenENcE

(Approved by Council: June 17,2020)

1. Gomposition

LI The Advertising Committee is composed of two elected members, one public

members, and one non-Council member.

2. Mission, Vision, Values and Strategic Objectives

Mission

The College of Chiropractors of Ontario regulates the profession in the public interest to

assure ethical and competent chiropractic care.

Vision

Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest in a Diverse Environment.

Values

. IntegriU

. Respect

. Collaborative

. Innovative

. Transparent

. Responsive

Strategic Objectives

1. Build public trust and confidence and promote understanding of the role of CCO

amongst all stakeholders.
2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and patient-centered.

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote excellence of care while responding

to emerging developments.
4. Optimize the use of technology to facilitate regulatory functions and communications.

5. Continue to meet CCO's statutory mandate and resource priorities in a fiscally
responsible manner.

3. Accountability and Reporting

720

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



!

1

I
:i

I

Advertising Committee Terms of Reference
Version Date: June 17,2020

721
3.1 The Advertising Committee is a non-statutory committee pursuant to By-law 11 in

accordance with S. 94 (lXD of the Health Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2
to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.

3.2The Committee reports to the governing Council via the Executive Committee.

4. Duties under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1gg1

4.1 The Advertising Committee will:

o advise members of the Committee's procedures for reviewing advertising;
o review advertising submitted by a member for approval and feedback, in

accordance with Policy P-004: Advertising Committee Protocol;

5. Meetings

5.1 The Advertising Committee will conduct meetings approximately twice per year in
person or by teleconference call as often as necessary.

5.2The Advertising Committee will review submiffed advertisements, in accordance with
Policy P-004: Advertising Committee Protocol, between meetings.

2

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.46

Jo-Ann Willson
March 7,20241:28 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: Letter from the Honourable Lisa Thompson, Minister of Agriculture,
Food and Rural Affairs
302-2024-194 CCO.pdf

724
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Attachments:

Exec, Councit, QA.

Jo-Ann Wiltson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

Gottege of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1-877 -577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

ln-office services are avaiLabte by appointment only. Please use the emait or phone contact inf ormation above or, if you

require u rgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone aL416-922-6355 ext. 100 or emaiI Iece-plion@clo.on.ea
and your inquiry wiil lle directed appropriately.

CCO is comtritted to providi:rg inclusive, accomnrodating, and r.esponsive services and ensurir-rg tlrat individuals at.e

treateci with dignity and respect. PLease contact us if you require accommodations. Please errsure that all
communications with CCo are respectf uI and professionaL.

CONFI DENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any aitachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above- Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) <minister.omafra@ontario.ca>

Sent: Thursday, March 7 ,2024 1:11 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>
Subject: Letter from the Honourable Lisa Thompson, Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Please see the attached letter from the Honourable Lisa Thompson, Minister of Agriculture,
Food and RuralAffairs.

Confidentiality Warning: This email contains information intended only for the use of the
individual named above. lf you have received this email in error, please notify us by return
email and destroy all copies of this message. Thank you.

Corporate Correspondence Unit
Communications Branch

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs

1



Ministry of Agriculture,
Food and Rural Affairs

Office of the Minister

77 Grenville Street, 1lth Floor

Toronto, Ontario M7A 183

Tel:416-326-3074
www. onta rio. ca/OMAFRA

Foodlond
ON]ARIO

ONfAR:O

Ministdre de l'Agriculture, de

l'Alimentation et des Affaires rurales

Bureau du ministre

77, rue Grenville, LL" 6tage

Toronto (Ontario) M7A 183

Tdl. : 4L6 326-3074
www.ontario. ca/MAAARO

;t 725

Ontario

March 7,2024

Jo-Ann Willson
Registrar and General Counsel
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
ipwillson cco.on.ca

Dear Ms. Wilson

I am pleased to share with you that today, our government introduced the proposed
Enhancing Professional Care for Animals Act, 2024.|f passed, this will be the first
significant change to the legislative framework that oversees veterinary medicine in

Ontario in almost 35 years.

Our government undertook extensive consultations to explore opportunities to
modernize the existing Veterinarians Act, gathering feedback and submissions from a
broad spectrum of stakeholders, organizations and the public. Thank you for taking the
time to share your perspective on modernizing the legislative framework for the
veterinary profession and the importance of animal chiropractic care. Our government
values our partner and stakeholder relationships, and I want to assure you that your
feedback was carefully considered during this process.

The proposed legislation acknowledges that there are other qualified non-veterinary
practitioners providing care to animals. Section nine, subsection 5 of the bill authorizes
exemptions for Chiropractors to continue to practice on animals, subject to regulations.
There is also a provision being proposed that details title protection for chiropractors
while caring for animals. I also want to clarify that chiropractors working on animals
would remain members of the College of Chiropractors and would not have to be a
member of two different regulated colleges.

I recognize that there is a vital need for collaboration and consultation in order to
develop an oversight framework that reflects animal care provided by non-veterinarians,
including chiropractors and especially between different regulatory colleges. Should this
bill pass, the legislation would require the College (which would be renamed the College
of Veterinary Professionals of Ontario) to consult with any profession which provides
treatment that would be addressed in regulations under the new statute, such as
chiropractors, and report those outcomes to the Minister.

t2

Good things grow in Ontario
A bonne terre, bons produits

Ministry Headquarters: l Stone Road West, Guelph, ontario N1G 4Y2

Bureau principal du ministdre: 1, rue Stone ouest, Guelph (Ontario) N1G 4Y2

Terre nourrici6re



-2-

Again, thank you for your and your team's ongoing participation in this consultation
process and for your thoughtful feedback to date. I hope the productive dialogue will
continue moving forward as we work together. As always, my Ministry and I are open to
answering any questions you may have.

Please accept my best wishes

Sincerely,

Lisa M. Thompson
Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs

Did you know about the Farmers'Wellness lnitiative?
r Your mental health is important! lf you're a farmer or a member of a farm family and in need of mental

health support, please call t-866-267-6255 and arrange to speak with a professional today.
o For additional resources visit: https://farmerwellnessinitiative.cal.

726



Legislative
Assembly
of Ontario

Assemblee
ldgislative
de l'Ontario 727

lST SESSION, 43RD LEGISLATURE, ONTARIO
2 CHARLES III,2024

ITEM 4.1 .47

Bitl l7l

An Act to enact the Veterinarian Professionals Act, 2024
and amend or repeal various acts

The Hon. L. Thompson
Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs

Government Bill

lst Reading

2nd Reading

3rd Reading

Royal Assent

March7,2024

@@



i
l

728
EXPLANATORYNOTE

SCHEDULE 1

VETERINARY PROFESSIONALS ACT, 2024

The Veterinqrians Act is repealed and replaced with the Veterinary Professionals Act, 2024. The following are
highlights from the Veterinary Professionals Act, 2024.

Part I provides for how terms used in the Act are to be interpreted.

Part II deals with the governance of the College of Veterinary Professionals of Ontario. In this Part the objects of the
College are established. Rules respecting the Council and committees of the College are also set out.

Part III sets out the rules respecting authorized activities and provides limits on who can carry out authorized activities
and the circumstances in which they can be carried out. This Part also deals with reasonably foreseeable serious bodily
harm to animals or persons resulting from treatment, advice and omission from treahnent or advice. Finally, this Part
sets out the persons who may use certain restricted titles and the circumstances in which such titles can be used.

Part IV deals with licensing of members of the College, including rules respecting applications for, terminations of
and hearings respecting licences. The Part also deals with accreditation ofveterinary facilities and the process and
rules respecting certifi cates of accreditation.

Part V deals with the College's Executive Committee.

Part VI provides for a quality assurance program to be established by the regulations which will aim, amongst other
objects, to assure the quality of the practice of members of the College.

Part VII sets out requirements for certain persons to report certain things the Registrar of the College. The Part also
sets out the process for making, investigating and addressing complaints against members and former members of the
College.

Part VIII deals with investigations and resolutions. The powers and duties of the College's Investigations and
Resolutions Committee in considering and investigating the conduct of members and former members of the College
are set out.

Part IX provides for addressing professional misconduct, incompetence and impairment to fitness to practise. The
powers and duties of the College's Discipline and Fitness to Practise Committee are set out with respect to such
mafters.

Part X deals with appealing decisions or orders of certain committees of the College or of the Board to the Divisional
Court.

Part XI provides the process and rules for persons to apply for a certificate of authorization to establish a professional
corporation for the purpose ofpractising veterinary medicine. Rules respecting such professional corporations are also
set out.

Part XII deals with contravention or failure to comply with the Act or the regulations. Two categories of offences are
established.

Part XIII sets out the powers of the Minister and Lieutenant Governor in Council with respect to the College.

Part XIV deals with assorted administrative and miscellaneous matters.

Part XV deals with regulations made by the Council of the Coliege, subject to the approval of the Lieutenant Governor
in Council, by the Minister and by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. This Part also deals with the Council of the
College's by-laws and standards for veterinary facilities and the practice of veterinary medicine.

Part XVI deals with transitional matters.

Part XVII sets out amendments to the Veterinary Professionals Act, 2024 and consequential amendments to other
Acts.

SCHEDULE 2
ONTARIO ASSOCIATION OF VETERINARY TECHNICIANS ACT, 1993

Currently, the Ontario Association of Veterinary Technicians Act, 1993, gives the Association the power to grant its
members the right to the exclusive use of certain professional designations. The Schedule amends the Act to remove
that power as the new Veterinary Professionals Act, 2024, enacted elsewhere in the Bill, grants members the exclusive
right to use the titles. Various other amendments are made to the Act respecting the objects of the Association, the
composition of the board, the Association's by-law making powers and other similar and related matters.



729

2024BilI 171

1.

2.
J.

Schedule I
Schedule 2

An Act to enact the Veterinary Professionals Act,2024
and amend or repeal various acts

CONTENTS

Contents of this Act
Commencement
Short title
Veterinary Professionals Act, 2024

Ontario Association of Veterinary Technicians Act, 1993

Preamble

The Govemment of Ontario:

Recognizes the importance of access to professional care for animals in Ontario'

Is supporting the health and well-being of animals in ontario, and creating conditions to increase access to care for animals,

including co-mpanion animals and those in the agricultural industry'

Believes that any legislation governing veterinary professionals should embrace modern approaches to professional self-

regulation and go.,reriance as riell as allowing for modern practices and new technologies.

Is improving oversight of the veterinary profession in the public interest and increasing transparency to benefit veterinary

professionals and their clients.

Therefore, His Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly of the Province of Ontario, enacts as

follows:

Contents of this Act

I This Act consists of this section, sections 2 and 3 and the schedules to this Act.

Commencement

2 (l) Except as otherwise provided in this section, this Act comes into force on the day it receives Royal Assent'

(2) The Schedules to this Act come into force as provided in each Schedule.

(3) If a Schedule to this Act provides that any of its provisions are to come into force on a tlay to be- named by

|iio.f"*ution of the Lieutenurrt Gote.nor, a proctamation may apply to one- or more of those provisions' and

ii""i"-"ti"rs may be issued at different times with respect to any of those provisions.

Short title

3 The short title of this Act is the Enhancing Professional carefor Animals Act' 2024.



2

730

i
.1
I
:

2.
J.

4.
5.

6.

7.

8.

SCHEDULE 1
VETERINARY PROFESSIONALS ACT, 2024

CONTENTS

PART I
INTERPRETATION

Inter'retation. 
*ART tr

GOVERNANCE
Couecr

College of Veterinary Professionals of Ontario
Objects

CouNcrl
Council
Officers
Quorum

Couvrrtrees
Committees
Panels of committees

PART III
AUTHORIZED ACTIVITIES, RISK OF HARM AI{D RESTRICTED TITLES

AurHop.tzso AcrrvITIEs
Authorized activities
Exceptions

RrsronHanv
Risk of harm

Rrsrzucrso TTTLES AND TERMS
Restricted titles
Restricted terms

PART IV
LICENSING AND ACCREDITATION

LrcEusrNc
Licensees
Application
Issuance oflicence
Consideration by Licensing Committee
Termination of licences
Continuing jurisdiction
Applications after revocation, suspension, etc.

Accnnpltartou
Certificate of accreditation required
Application
Inspections
Issuance of certificate of accreditation
Consideration by Accreditation Committee
Referral of existing certificate of accreditation

REVIEW BY BOARD
Hearing or review
Hearing public
Exception to closed hearings
Procedure for hearings, reviews

PARTV
EXECU-IIVE COMMITTEE

Executive Committee
PART VI

QUALITY ASSURANCE
Quelrrv AssURANCE PRoGRAM

Quality assurance program

Qualnv AssunaNCE CoMMrrrEE
Function of the Committee

Coupr-ntce wrrH euAt-rry AssuRANcE
Co-operation by members
Confi dentiality of information
Quality assurance and other information

9.
10.

ll.

12.
13.

14.
15.
16.
17.
18.

19.
20.

21.
22.
zJ-
24.
25.
26.

27.
28.
29.
30.

J1.

32.

33.

34.
35.
36.



J

PART VII
REPORTS AND COMPLAINTS

MEMBERS' RrponrtNc OSLIGATIoNS
Report by member
Self-report re offences
Self-report re professional negligence and malpractice
Self-report re other professional memberships and findings
Self-report re charges and bail conditions
Publication ban

CouplarNrs
Complaints
Complaints in bad faith

Process
Ar-renNnrrvE DTSPUTE RESoLUTIoN

REcrsrRnR's INVESTT0ATToNS

Appointment of investigator
Powers of investigator
Copying ofdocuments and objects

PART VIII
INVESTIGATIONS AND RESOLUTIONS

INVESTIGATIONS AND RESOLUTIONS COMMITTEE

Duties of the Investigations and Resolutions Committee
Complaints in bad faith

INTERTM OnoBns
Interim orders

Frruess ro Pnacrtss
l)efinition
Interim order

Revlaw Bv Boeno
Review of certain decisions
Rules re review process

Reviews by Board public
Exception to closed reviews

PART IX
DISCIPLINE AND FITNESS TO PRACTISE
DtsctpLINE AND FITNESS To PRACTISE CoMMITTEE

Duties of the Discipline and Fihress to Practise Committee
PRoFEsstoNAL MIScoNDUcT AND IxcovpereNcr

Professional misconduct
Orders of Discipline and Fitness to Practise Committee
Publication and delivery of decisions
Stay ofdecision on appeal

Frruess ro PnacrtsE
Powers of Discipline and Fitness to Practise Committee
Reports of medical practitioners
Stay ofdecision on appeal, fitness to practise
Hearings Public

DISCIPLINE AND FITNESS TO PRACTISE COMMITTEE HEARING PROCESS

Committee
Process

PA.RT X
APPEAL TO COIJRT

Appeal to court
PART XI

PROFESSIONAL CORPORATIONS
Professional corporations
Notice of change of shareholder
Application re members
Professional, fiduciary and ethical obligations to clients
Conflict in duties
Restrictions re certificate

PART XII
OFFENCES

Type A offences
Type B offences
Limitation period

731
3t.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42.

43.
44,

45.

46.
47.
48.

49
50

59.
60.
61.
62.

63.
64.
65.
66.

67
68

51.

52.
53.

54.
55.
56.
57.

58.

69.

70.
7r.
72.
t3.
74.
75.

76.

78.



4

732
79.
80.
81.

PART XIII
POWERS OF MINISTER AND LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR IN COUNCIL

Powers of Minister
Reports
College supervisor

PARTXIV
GENERAL

Registers
Confidentiality
Hearings and submissions
Evidence in civil proceedings
Court orders
Registrar's certificate as evidence
Delivery ofnotice, order or document
Posting of timelines
Crown liability
No personal liability or liability of College
Proceedings barred

PARTXV
REGULATTONS, STANDARDS AND BY-LAWS

REGULATIoNS
Regulations, Council
Lieutenant Governor in Council Regulations
Regulations, Minister
General provisions re regulations

Standards
SreNoanps

Bv-r-aws

PART XVI
TRANSITION

Definitions
Transition Council
Registrar
Members
Certificates of accreditation continued
Certifi cates of authorization
Orders and directions
Reporting re fitness to practise
Regulations

PART XVII
SELF-AMENDMENTS, CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS AND REPEAL

Self-amendment
Animal Health Act, 2009
Animals for Research Act
Business Corporations Act
Dog Owners' Liability Act
Drug and Pharmacies Regulation Act
Fair Access to Regulated Professions and Compulsory Trades Act, 2006
Livestock Community Sales Act
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care Appeal and Review Boards Act, I 998
Ontario Labour Mobility Act, 2009
Opioid Damages and Health Care Costs Recovery Act, 2019
Provincial Animal Welfare Services Act,20l9
Repeal

PARTXVIN
COMMENCEMENT AND SHORT TITLE

Commencement
Short title
Authorized activities

I
t

82.
83.
84.
85.
86.
87.
88.
89.
90.
91.
92.

93.
94.
95.
96.

97.

98. By-laws

99.
1 00.
101.

102.
103.

104.

I 05.
106.
t07.

108.
109.
I 10.

111.
112.
I 13.

I 14.
I 15.

I 16.

tr1.
I 18.

I 19.
120.

r21.
122.

Schedule 1



8

733
Vacancies

(4) If one or more vacancies occur in the membership of a committee, the remaining members shall constifute the committeeunless the committee has fewer members than is necessary to constitute a quorum.
Chairs

(5) The council shall name one member of each committee to chair the committee.
Term

(6) No person shall be a member of the same committee for more than six consecutive years.
Other committees

(7) The council may establish and appoint members to such other committees as it considers necessary.
Panels of committees

8 (l) unless provided otherwise under this Act, the chair of a committee, other than the Executive committee, may, inaccordance with the regulations and subject to any quorum and composition rules in the regulations and by-laws,
(a) establish panels to carry out any of the work of the committee; and
(b) appoint the members of such panels.

Appointments

(2) Appointments to panels shall be at the discretion of the chair but shall comply with any requirements under this Act.
Multiple panels

(3) A member of a committee may sit on more than one panel of the committee during the same period.
Simultaneous panels

(4) A committee may sit in two or more panels simultaneously so long as a quorum is present in each panel.
Authority of panels

(5) unless provided otherwise under this Act, a panel of a committee can exercise all of the authorities of the committee.

AUTHORIZED ACTIVITIES, RISS$$ iJIRM .qND RESTRTcTED rrrr,Es
AuruoRlzuo ACTIVITIES

Authorized activities

9 (l) No person shall carry out an authorized activify described in section 1 of Schedule 1 while engaged in the practice ofveterinary medicine unless the person is a member.

Limitations

(2) A member may only carry out an authorized activity whiie. engaged in the practice of veterinary medicine and subject toany prescribed conditions or prohibitions and any termsiconditionr"oi limit"ti";r id;;J oo-tt .liil."n.",
Authorized activities 

- non-members
(3) Despite subsection (1), a person who is not a member may, subje-ct to an^y prescribed conditions or prohibitions, carry outan authorized activity while engaged in the practice of veterinary m"eaicine ir,

(a) the regulations permit a person who is not a member to carry out the authorized activity; and
(b) the authorized activity is delegated to that person by a member.

Authorized activities 
- students

(4) Despite subsections (1) and (3), a.student may.carry out an authorized activity if the student is doing so while engaging inthe undergraduate curriculum of'studies at a veterinary -"di;ir";;;;;; or a veterinary technician program provided for inthe regulations or the by-laws.

Authorized activities 
- professionals

(5) Despite subsections (1) a.1d (3), the followingpersons may, subject to and in accordance with any prescribed guidelines,processes' terms, conditions, limitations or prohibitions, carry ;ut su;h aurhorized ;*ril;;; ;il L. prescribed:
l. A person who, under the Chiropractic Act, 1991, is a member of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario.
2. A person who, under the Phannacy Act, j,991, is a member of the ontario College of pharmacists.

3 ' A person who belongs to or practises a prescribed profession or such other persons as may be prescribed.



Collaboration

(6). Whel developing a proposal for
wrth such professions as would be
consultations.

Exceptions

734

l0 (1) Subsection 9 (1) does not apply to prevent a person from carrying out an activity described in sections 2 and 3 ofSchedule l.
Application of Drug and pharmacies Regulation Act
(2) The Drug and Pharmacies Regulationlcl does. not apply to. prevent a member from compounding, dispensing or sellingdrugs in the course of engaging inihe practice o?veterinaryir.aiJirr"-'-- 

-

Sale of drugs

(3) Regulations made undet the Animal Health Act, 2009 donot apply to- prevent a member from selling a drug in the courseof engaging in the practice of veterinary m.oi"in. to an owner of livestocti tor the treatment of livestock.

R]SKoF HARM
Risk of harm

11 (1) No person 
"*lt* :tl i]:-Tber acting within the sqope. 

.o! the- practice of veterinary medicine shall rreat an animal, oradvise an owner or their representative with rJspect to an animai's_treatti, in circ.,-st""..rl'" *rri"illil, ..uronubly foreseeablethat serious bodily harm to an animal o. u p"ttoi *uy result from thi tr.uit""nt o. advice or from an omission from the treatnentor advice.

Exceptions

(2) Subsection (l) does not apply with respect to,
(a) any treahnent by a person who is acting under the direcfion of or in collaboration with a member if the heatment iswithin the scope of the practice of veteriiary medicine;
(b) an activity carried out by a person ifthe activity is an authorized activity that was delegated under subsection 9 (3) tothe person by a memberj

(c) an activity set out in section 2 ofSchedule 1, ifthe person carryring out the activity is not otherwise prevented to do sounder the Act; or

(d) any prescribed treatment, advice, authorized activity or person.

RTsTrucTeo TITLES AND TERMS
Restricted titles

Veterinarian members

12 (1) Unless otherwise permitted. uy .Fe regulations, no person other than a veterinarian member shall use the title"veterinarian", "veterinaqrsurgeon" oi'"do"toi;or variationi, uutr.uiuiioor, abbreviations oirru.lutiorrs or equivalents inanother language, while engaged in the practice of veterinary *La;"i".. --'
Veterinary technician members

(2) unless othenvise permjftgq by- the regulations, no person other than a veterinary techniciar member shall use the title"Registered veterinary techniciaf'.or "iegisterJ 
""t!ti*.yil-.ir"i"gl't" or variations, abbreviations, abbreviations ofvariations or equivalents in another languagj, while engaged in the practice of veterinary medicine.

Exception, chiropractors
(3 subsection a member of the of of Ontario use the title "doctor" while

uslng
name.

9

regulations in relation to subsection (slthe coilege shall take reasonable steps to consultaddressed in those regulations ana sirait ,.p;;il the Minister on the outcome of those

or
care

Restricted terms

13 No person shall use the term ,,veterinary
anotier language to refer to their building,
building, vehicle or land.

care use ln

facility" orvariations, abbreviations, abbreviations ofvariations or equivalents in
vehicle or land unless they hold a certificate of accreditation in ,"tation-io tirat



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1 .48

Jo-Ann Willson
March 7,2024 1:33 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: Ontario lntroducing Measures to Help lmprove Access to
Veterinary Services

735
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Exec, Councit, QA.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

Goltege of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: iowillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

ln-office services are avai[able by appointment only. P[ease use the emaiI or phone coniact inf ormation above or, if you

require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone aI 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or emaiI reception@-c!o.or-1.ca

and your inquirywitt be directed appropriatety.

CCO is comnritted to providing inctusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individua[s are

t.eated witn dignity and respect. Ptease contact us if you require accommodations. Ptease ensure that att

comr.nunications with CCO are respectf uL and professionat.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Ontario News <newsroom@ontario.ca>
Sent: Thursday, March 7 ,2024 1-:19 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subiect: Ontario lntroducing Measures to Help lmprove Access to Veterinary Services

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

NEWS RELEASE

Ontario lntroducing Measures to Help lmprove
Access to Veterinary Services

1

Ontario @



Ontario @ 736

New legislation recognizes important role veterinary
technicians play in providing care

March 07,2024
Ministrv of Aqriculture, Food and RuralAffairs

TORONTO - Today, the Ontario government introduced legislation
designed to enhance access to professional animal care.

The Enhancing Professional Care for Animals Acf would, if passed, pave
the way to formalizing the broad scope of practice for veterinary technicians
that could result in an expanded role. The legislation would also streamline
the complaints resolution process and increase penalties for actions that
intentionally harm an animal.

"Continued access to safe and professional care is critical for pet owners
and farmers which is why we are proposing to modernize the 3S-year-old
legislative framework regulating the veterinary profession," said Lisa
Thompson, Minister of Agriculture, Food and RuralAffairs. "This bill is
designed to enable better access to veterinary services, recognize the
important role of veterinary technicians, improve oversight of the profession
and increase quality assurance through measures like continuing
education."

Following extensive public consultations with stakeholders and partners on
ways to modernize the laws governing veterinarians and improve access to
care in Ontario, the proposed new legislation would provide a number of
important benefits, including:

Enabling the creation of a formal scope of practice for veterinary
technicians that would allow them to perform to the full potential of
their training and expertise.
New requirements for continuing education similar to other regulated
professions.
An improved complaints resolution process to allow disputes to be
addressed more quickly.
lncreased penalties to better reflect the seriousness of actions that
could harm animals.
Ensuring more public representation on the council of the regulatory
college overseeing veterinary professionals to bring broader
perspectives.

lf passed, the new legislation would better align oversight of Ontario's
veterinary profession with other self-regulated health professions in the
province.

2

a

a

a

a

a

I
1

l
l



Ontario@
737

Quick Facts

Through the proposed Enhancing Professional Care for Animals Act,
the Ontario government is meeting commitments made in the 2023
Ontario Budget and taking action to reach the goals set out in the
Grow Ontario Strategy.
The government is expanding veterinary capacity in underserviced
areas of Ontario through the Veterinary lncentive Program which
provides up to $50,000 for up to 100 recently licensed veterinarians
who locate in an underserviced area to provide care to livestock and
poultry in these communities.
The government is also working to increase access to veterinary
care by providing $14.7 million over two years to create 20 new
veterinary school spaces each year.
For more information about OMAFRA programs and services,
contact the Agricultural lnformation Contact Centre (AICC) by phone
at 1-877-424-1300 or by e-mail at aq.info.omafra@ontario.ca.

a

a

a

a

Quotes

"Today is a pinnacle moment, a significant step towards a robust and
effective legislative framework to govern veterinary medicine in Ontario.
This legislation strengthens public protection and more accurately reflects
current veterinary practice. Our council and the licensed members of our
college recognize that this legislation will support veterinary teams and
enable us to serve the public with efficiency, transparency and
accountability. This is good news for the public, for veterinary medicine, and
for veterinary teams in Ontario."

- Dr. Wade Wright
President, Gollege of Veterinarians of Ontario

"After nearly a decade of tireless advocacy, OVMA is pleased that the
concerns of the veterinary profession, stemming from an outdated
legislative framework, have been heard and that a new Act has been
introduced. OVMA supports legislation that reduces the regulatory burden
on the profession by recognizing the vital role of Registered Veterinary
Technicians. The association remains committed to ensuring that outcomes
are fair, balanced, and reflective of the current profession and meet the
needs of pet owners, producers, and Ontario's animals by providing a
flexible framework that protects the public interest."

3



Ontario @

_i

-.1

l

738
- John Stevens
CEO, Ontario Veterinary Medical Association

"This is a historic moment for Registered Veterinary Technicians (RWs),
and I am so proud of the work we have done together with Minister
Thompson to get here. This new legislation will expand scope of practice for
RVTs, positioning Ontario as a future-ready leader in the regulation of
veterinary medicine by enabling RWs to participate in team-based
veterinary care to the full extent of their abilities and training. We look
fonryard to continuing to work with the Ontario government to grow our
profession."

- Kirsti Clarida
President, Ontario Association of Veterinary Technicians

"The Ontario SPCA and Humane Society strongly supports allowing
registered veterinary technicians to practice at a level reflecting their
training and expertise. This is an important step to increase access to
veterinary care in Ontario and we look fonryard to working with the province
to further ensure all animals can get the care they need."

- Doug Brooks
President & CEO, Ontario SPCA and Humane Society

"The Ontario Federation of Agriculture is pleased to see the Ontario
government's modernization of the Veterinarians Act. Veterinarians play a
critical role, promoting the health and welfare of animals and maintaining a
healthy, safe and sustainable agri-food system. These proposed changes to
modernize and streamline the Act will ensure Ontario farmers have access
to modern and quality care for their livestock, a crucial component to the
economic stability of Ontario's rural communities."

- Drew Spoelstra
President, Ontario Federation of Agriculture

Additional Resources

Ontario Modernvtno Leo islation for Veterinarv Professionals
Ministrv of Aqriculture, Food and RuralAffairs
2023 Ontario Budget: Building a Stronq Ontario
Grow Ontario Strateqv
College of Veterinarians of Ontario

4

Media Gontacts



Ontario @
739

Sam McGormick
Minister's Office
Sam.McCorm ntario.ca

Gonnie Osborne
Communications Branch
OMAFRA. med ia@ontario. ca
519-826-3145

We have recently updated Ontario Newsroom Subscription. You may receive additional emails. lf
you would like to update your subscription preferences or unsubscribe, click the 'manage your
subscriptions' or'unsubscribe' links down below.

Visit the Newsroom
Manage your subscriptions

Unsubscribe

5



Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals

ITEM 4.1.49

GHrnopnecnc Cane oF ANTMALS

Standard of Practice 5-009
Quality Assurance Comrnittee
Approved by Council: April25, 1998
Amended: February 19, 2008, December 4,2015, November 24,2022 (came into
effect February 24, 20231

Note to Readers: In the event of any inconsistency between this document and the legislation that
affects chiropractic practice, the legislation governs.

lnrcrur

To advise members on when and how they can conduct chiropractic care of animals, and to

remind them that the primary responsibility for the health care of animals is with veterinarians.

Oe.Jeclves

o To promote professionalism, safety and effectiveness in the chiropractic care of animals.

o To inform members of CCO of their obligations relating to the chiropractic care of animals.

o To ensure appropriate coordination and consultation between chiropractors and veterinarians
in the chiropractic care of animals.

o To educate the public as to the appropriate nature of the chiropractic care of animals.

DescnlploN oF STANDARD

A member is advised that:

The primary responsibility for the health care of animals is with registrants of the CVO,
who are responsible for appropriate history taking, comprehensive examination,
including clinical pathology, and imaging, and the overall carelmanagement of animals.

Consent to the chiropractic care of animals must be fully informed and voluntarily given

by the owner of the animal, and members are required to comply with all standards of
practice and applicable legislation relating to chiropractic.

In providing chiropractic care to an animal, a member shall:

demonstrate successful completion of a program in animal chiropractic of a minimum of 200
hours of formal training that includes, but is not limited to, studies in the following subject

areas: anatomy, neurology, biomechanics, animal adjustment technique, diagnosis,
pathology, chiropractic philosophy, and ethics and legalities;

740

@D

a

a

a



Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals

741
a ensure the record of care includes the name of the treating registrant of CVO and the relevant

portions of the veterinary record;

provide, upon request and only with the consent from the owner of the animal or otherwise in
accordance with the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, 2000
(PIPEDOI a copy of relevant portions of the record to the treating registrant of CVO within
a reasonable time of providing chiropractic care to an animal;

maintain separate appointment books, separate health and financial records and, where
animals are provided with chiropractic care in the same office as humans, maintain a separate
portion of the office devoted to animal chiropracticz; and

ensure that the owner of the animal(s) is fully informed about the member's insurance
coverage3.

Exemption

A member will be exempted from the first bulleted item above if she/she:

is enrolled and participating in an approved program in animal chiropractic, leading to the
successful completion of a program in animal chiropractic of a minimum of 200 hours of
formal training that includes, but is not limited to, studies in the following subject areas,
anatomy, neurology, biomechanics, animal adjustment technique, diagnosis, pathology,
chiropractic philosophy, and ethics and legalities;

completes the approved program in animal chiropractic within two years of their enrolment;

provides chiropractic care to animals within the parameters of their course of study; and

informs the owner of the animal(s) that they have enrolled and are participating in but have
not yet graduated from an approved program in animal chiropractic.

I Since the chiropractic care of animals does not involve human health care, the Personal Information Protection
and Electronic Documents Act, 2000 (PIPEDA) and not the Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004
(PHIPA) would apply to the coilection, use and disclosure of information related to the chiropractic care of animals.
2 Maintenance of separate office space is a minimum requirement for health and sanitation reasons, particularly in
light of the various communicable diseases common to human and animals.
3 This requires the member to advise the owner of the animal if the member's policy of insurance or membership in
a protective association does not provide covsrage for the chiropractic care ofanimals. The owner should be
informed about the member's insurance coverage as part of the general requirement that there be "informed"
consent.

a

a

i

i
I
"1

a

a

a

a



Standard of Practice 5-009; Chiropractic Care of Animals

742
LeorslnttvE CoNTEXT

The goveming legislation as it relates to human health care is the Regulated Health Professions

Act,TggI,as amended (RHPA) andthe Chiropractic Act, 1991.The governing legislation as it
relates to animal health care is the Veterinarians Act, 1990. Specific relevant provisions are

outlined below. The RHPA and the Chiropractic Act arc administered by CCO and the

Veterinarians Act is administered by CVO.

Sections of the RHPA

Objects and Duty of the CCO - Section 3 of the Regulated Health Professions (Code),

Schedule 2to RHPA (Gode):

(1) ICCOI has the following objects

To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

quality of the practice of the profession.

e To develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge, skill and programs to

promote continuing competence among the members'

(2) lncarrying out its objects, the [CCO] has a duty to serve and protect the public
interest."

Sections of the ChiroPractic Act

Section 3: Ghiropractic Scope of Practice

"The practice of chiropractic is the assessment of conditions related to the spine, nervous system

and joints and the diagnosis, prevention and treatment, primarily by adjustment, of,

r dysfunctions or disorders arising from the strucfures or functions of the spine and the effects

of those dysfunctions or disorders on the nervous system; and

r dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the joints."

Section 9: Restricted Titles for Chiropractic

"(1) No person other than a member shall use the title 'chiropractor', a variation

or abbreviation or an equivalent in another language.

(2) No person other than a member shall hold himself or herself out as a person

who is qualified to practise in Ontario as a chiropractor or in a specialty of
chiropractic.

a

(3) In this section, 'abbreviation' includes an abbreviation of a variation."



i
I
1

l

Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals

743
Sections of Regulation 852/93 under the Chiropractic Act

Section 1 (2): Definition of Professional Misconduct for Ghiropractors (Standards of
Practice)

"The following are acts of professional misconduct for the purposes of clause 5 1 ( I ) (c) of the
Health Professions Procedural Code: Contravening a standard of practice of the profession or
failing to maintain the standard of practice expected of members of the profession."

Sections of the Veterinarians Act

Subsection 1 (1): Definition of Veterinary Medicine

"The 'practice of veterinary medicine' includes the practice of dentistry, obstetrics (including
ova and embryo transfer) and surgery in relation to an animal other than a human being."

Section 3: Objects of GVO

"(1) The principal object of the [cvo] is to regulate the practice of veterinary
medicine and to govern its members in accordance with this Act, the
regulations and the by-laws so as to serve and protect the public interest.

(2) For the purpose of carrying out its principal object, the [CVO] has the
following additional obj ects :

establish, maintain and develop standards of knowledge and skill among its members;
and

O

establish, maintain and develop standards of qualification and standards of practice
for the practice of veterinary medicine."

Subsection 11 (1): Licence Required to Practice Veterinary Medicine

"No person shall engage in the practice of veterinary medicine or hold himself/herself out as
engaging in the practice of veterinary medicine unless the person is the holder of a license."

Sections of Regulation 1093 (General - Part ll Practice Standards) under the
Veterinarians Act

Section 17: Definition of Professional Misconduct for Veterinarians (Standards of
Practice)

"For the purposes of the Act, professional misconduct includes the following: Failing to maintain
the standard of practice of the profession."

a



Joel Friedman ITEM 4.1.51

Joel Friedman

Tuesday, March 26,2024 3:57 PM

sci@ola.org
Request to Present to the Standing Committee on the lnterior regarding Bill 171,

Enhancing Professional Care Animals AcL,2024

750
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Good Afternoon,

I am writing to the attention of Ms. Thushitha Kobikrishna, Clerk of the Committee, Standing Committee on the lnterior
( Legislative Offices).

I am writing from the College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) with a request for CCO to present to the Standing

Committee regarding Bill 171,, Enhoncing Professionol Care Animols Act, 2024. CCO is the regulator for chiropractors and

in Ontario and had previously made written submissions to the consultations on Bill I7'J. as it relates to the chiropractic
care of animals.

This subject has been a topic of debate in the second reading of the Bill 171 and CCO would welcome the opportunity to
present on the regulation of the chiropractic care of animals, the current standard of practice, the complaints and

discipline process, and any other public interest considerations related to the chiropractic care of animals by members

of CCO.

I have also put in a request to appear to present on the Legislative Assembly of Ontario website but was given your

contact by a professional colleague to contact as well.

We look forward to hearing back and please let me know if you have any questions.

Regards,

Joet D. Friedman, BSc, LL.B
Deputy Registrar
Gol,Lege of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, Ontario M4Y 0E7
Tet: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 104
Tol[ Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-ma i [: jf riedman @cco.on. ca
Web Site: w\ A t eeo,on qa

ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact above or, if you require urgent assistatrce, please

contact Recephon by phone at416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email reception@cco.on.ca, and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, acconrmodating. and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated with dignity and

respect. Please contact us rf you require accommodalions. Please ensure that all comnrunications with CCO are respectful arrd professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or
disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notiry CCO immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including any
aftachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

1



Joel Friedman 751
From:
Sent:
To:
Subiect:

Legislative Assembly of Ontario <donotreply@ola.org>
Tuesday, March 26,2024 2:29 PM

Joel Friedman

Request to appear as a committee witness: submission confirmation

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Thank you for your apptication to appear in front of a committee at the Legistative Assembty of Ontario
Your information has been successfutty received.

Ptease note that submitting an apptication does not guarantee you witt be setected to appear in front of
the committee.

The ProceduraI Services Branch organizes hearings under the direction of committee members or the
House. The Cl,erk of the Committee wit[ contact you if you are chosen to present.

lf you woutd l,ike to make changes to any information you have atready submitted or add any additional.
materiat, ptease contact us and reference your appl.ication lD.

Your apptication lD is: 130386

lf you are chosen to appear before a committee you can atso bring hard copies of any additionat materiaI
you woutd tike to submit, as long as you bring 25 copies and fottow our guidetines for printed materiat.

lf you have any questions about pubtic hearings, appearing at a consuttation, or submitting materiat,
ptease refer to the participating in committees page on our publ.ic website. You can atso contact our
office at:

Procedu raI Services Branch
Whitney Btock
Room 1405
99 Wetl,estey St. W
Toronto, ON M7A 142
Tetephone: 41 6-325-3500
Fax: 41 6-325-3505
TW: 416-325-3538

Col,l.ect catls are accepted

Here is a copy of your apptication, for your records

Submitted on Tue, 03/26/2024 - 14:24
1



The bitt or item of business you have chosen is: Bitt 171, Enhancing Professional Care for Animats Act,
2024

752

i

l

Ghoose a topic

Do you know the bitt title or business (e.g., pre-budget consuttations) you'd tike to speak or submit
materiaI about?
Yes

Choose an apptication

Which apptication would you Like to submit?
Request to appear as a committee witness (with the option of submitting materiaL)

Which pubtic hearing(s) woutd you like to apptyfor?
Deadl.ine: Wednesday, April, 3rd, 2024 at 12:00 PM (EDT)

Add your information

Are you apptying to appear as an individual, or on behal,f of an organization?
I am an emptoyee or member apptying to appear on behatf of an organization

Ful[ name
MrJoet Friedman

Job titte or role
Deputy Registrar

Gontact phone number
41 6 922 6355 ext. 1 04

Emait address
ifriedman@cco.on.ca

Organization name
Cottege of Chiropractors of Ontario

Address tine 1

59 Hayden Street

Address tine 2
Suite 800

2

City



Toronto

Postal, or zip code
1"14Y OE7 753

Province or state
ON

Gountry
Canada

To be decided
No

Presenterl
Ms Jo-Ann Wittson, Registrar and GeneraI Counsel

Presente12
Mr JoeI Friedman, Deputy Registrar

Language of you r presentation
Engtish

Do you require any speciaI accommodation (e.9., accessibility, technotogy)?
No

Do you want to inctude an etectronic written brief atongside your appl,ication to appear (optionat)?
No

3



Specialty Colleges Council

Conseil des colldges de sp6cialit6
756

ccEc1.t4.2
Jan L9,2024

To Whom it May Concern

The Specialty Colleges Council (SCC) of the Federation of Canadian Chiropractic serves as a facilitator for
members to meet, share information and advance their profession. The SCC provides a forum for the

exchange of best practices regarding regulatory issues that relate to chiropractic specialists and takes

great interest in the actions and activities of specialty colleges. There is currently an open public member
position on the SCC.

I am reaching out to you today to request your assistance in conveying the message to potentially

interested members of the public. Please feel free to recommend to us the name of any potential

candidates and we can follow up with them. We encourage interested members of the public to self-

identify, or, for you to nominate worthy individuals for the role of a public member with the SCC. More

details are contained in the attachment, which outlines the responsibilities of the role, skills that we are

seeking, an outline of the time commitment required, and details on the honoraria and expenses

policies. We are particularly seeking those with educational or project management experience. Those

with a health professions background and experiencewith specialists in otherfields are particularly

sought after.

This is an excellent opportunity for a member of the public to be involved in the development and

governance of chiropractic specialties in Canada. I am more than willing to answer any questions that
you or prospective applicants may have.

We look forward to your reply

Yours truly,

Specialty Colleges Council

I.

//-nd.t^,4d'-a2

Frangois Hains, DC

Chair

The Federation of Canadian Chiropractic . La F6d6ration chiropratique canadienne

604-5657 Spring Garden Road, Lobby Box142, Halifax, NS B3J 3R4

www.chirofed.ca Tel: 902.406.4351



Specialty Colleges Council
757

Conseil des colldges de sp6cialit6

Request for expressions of interest
Public Member
Specialtv Colleges Council. Federation of Canadian Chiropractic

January 2024

The Federation of Canadian Chiropractic is a national organization accountable for three discrete

functions. Accreditation of Doctor of Chiropractic Programs in Canada through the Council on

Chiropractic Education Canada, Regulatory Council, a forum through which chiropractic regulators

across Canada engage on matters of interest to them, and the Specialty Colleges Council, which

represents the five chiropractic specialities in Canada.

Specialty Colleges Council is seeking a public member to join their team. The Federation Board appoints

the public member to the Specialty Colleges Council and does so from lists of candidates provided by

each of the five specialty colleges.

ln order to be effective in the role, the public member should have experience with or exposure to post-

secondary education at the graduate level, particularly as it relates to teaching, research, project

management, governance, or administration. Those with a health professions background and

specialists in other fields are particularly sought after.

Representatives will be expected to attend up to two face-to-face meetings a year and up to five 1-.5

hour teleconferences annually. ln addition, to be fully effective it is anticipated that representative

would invest approximately 15 hours of meeting preparation time each year.

ln recognition of the workload, public members of Speciality Colleges Council are eligible for a per diem as

follows:
a. for meetings greater than six hours in length S+OO per meeting day

b. for meetings less than six hours in length $200 per session

c. for meetings of 1-2 hours in length 5100

Reasonable travel expenses to in-person meetings will be reimbursed on a pay and claim basis within 30

days of receipt oftravel expenses.

Term of appointment is for two years, with term limits still in development' To be fully conversant and

effective in the role, it is anticipated that the minimum commitment would be two terms (four years) of

service to the Council.

Those eligible to be appointed to a public member role on Specialty Colleges Council must:

a. not have any conflict of interest with any accredited Canadian chiropractic program or

specialty college,

The Federation of Canadian Chiropractic ' La F6d6ration chiropratique canadienne

604-5657 Spring Garden Road, Lobby Box 142,Halifax' NS B3J 3R4

www.chirofed.ca Tel: 902.406'4351



Specialty Colleges Council 758
Conseil des colldges de sp6cialit6

b' not concurrently be employed by or serve on the Federation of Canadian Chiropractic (FCC)
Board or the boards of any chiropractic provincial, territorial or national association or
regulatory board during the term of their appointment,

c. not be or have been an elected member of the governing body of a DCP or a chiropractic
specialty college within the three years immediately prior to the commencement of such
person's term on Specialty Colleges Council, and;

d. not be or have been a faculty member, executive officer or other administrator of a

Canadian chiropractic program or a chiropractic specialty college for the three years
immediately prior to the commencement of such person's term.

Applicants should provide contact details, a cover letter and a CV to the council as follows

Specialty Colleges Council
602-5647 Spring Garden Rd, Box 142
Halifax, NS B3J 3R4

gmacdonald@ pathfinder-grou p.com

902.406.43s1,

https://chi rofed.ca /specia ltv-colleees/

The Federation of Canadian Chiropractic . La F6d6ration chiropratique canadienne
604-5657 Spring Garden Road, Lobby Box 142,Halifax, NS B3J 3R4

www.chirofed.ca Tel: 902.406.4351

t



Rose Bustria ITEM 4.1.55
Jo-Ann Willson
February 29,2024 5:27 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: lnvitation to Chiropractic Stakeholder Summit
Letter to CCO-Su m m it Rep rese ntatio n-Feb 2024.docx

874
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

lmportance: High

Exec and Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 11'1

Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

ln-office services are availabte by appointment only. Please use the enlait or phone contact inforntation above or, if you

require urgent ass;stance, please contact Reception by phone al 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or emaiI Ie€eplion@eco.ol,ca
and your inquiry witt be directed appropriatety.

CCO is corrnritted to providing inclrisir.re, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individua[s are

treatecl with dignity and respect. Ptease contact us if you require accommodations. Ptease ensure lhat att

conrmunications with CCO are respectfut ard professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above. Any other

distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Ayla Azad <aazad @chiropractic.ca>
Sent: Thursday, February 29,2024 3:19 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Cc: Dean Wright <dwright@ccpaonline.ca>; Caroline Brereton <cbrereton@chiropractic.on.ca>

Subject: lnvitation to Chiropractic Stakeholder Summit
lmportance: High

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hetto Jo-Ann,

Attached ptease find a l,etter of invitiation to the 2024 Nationat Chiropractic Stakehotder Summit on

behatf of the ccA, ccPA and ocA.
We sincerety hope the CCO teadership wittconsider our invitation to attend this important event.

Thank you,
Ayl,a

Dr. Ayla Azad, DC, MBA (She/Her)

Chief Executive Officer

1



Chef de la Direction

Association
chiropratique

canadienne

Canadian
Chiropractic
AssociationH 875

I
-J
l

184 Front St. East, Suite 200 Toronto, ON MsA 4N3
Tel: 416-585-79O2X225
t-877-222-9303
Fax: 415-585-2970
cHrRopRAcilc.cA I cHtRopRATtquE.cA o 0 @ @

The CCA acknowledges the enduring and vibrant presence, culture, history and inherent rights of First
Nations people, M6tis and lnuit across Canada on whose traditional territories CCA members live dnd
worN as well os where the CCA has its head ofiice in Toronto, // L'ACC reconnait la culture et l'histoire
des membres des PremiEres nations, des M6tis et des lnuits de tout le Canoda, ainsi que leur prdsence
durable et dynamique et leurs droits inhdrents sur les territoires traditionnels oit vivent et travoillent
des membres de (ACC et oil est Atabli son sidge social d Toronto.

NOTE: This e-mail message, and any attachments, is intended only for the named recipient(s) above and may contain

information that is privileged, confidential and/or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. lf you
have received this message in error, or are not the named recipient(s), please immediately notify the
sender and delete this e-mail message. Thank you.

Aprit 19 - 20'n, 2024

LEARN
CONNECT

ENGAGE

.R
CCA E
NCr'24 

r

hIATIONAL
CONVENTIOhI
& Tf?ADtS[-1OW
A Ieorrr Approorh for
o Heoltlly Futurp WWW.CCA.NCT.CA

Westin Harbour Castte Hotel,
Toronto, ON

CNSEz4 DE IACC. 19 . 20 AVRIL 2024
HOTEL WESTIN HARBOUR CASTLE. TORONTO. ON

2



Association
chiropratique

canadienne

Canadian
Chiropractic
Association

CANADIAN

CHIROPRACTIC

PROTECTIVE

ASS0CrATrON

Ontario
Chiropractic
AssociationH H

February 29,2024 876
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Attn: Dr. Sarah Green, CCO President
Dr, Dennis Mizel, CCO Vice -President
Dr. Shawn Southern, CCO Treasurer
Jo-Ann Willson, CCO Registrar and GeneralCounsel

Dear CCO leaders,

The Canadian Chiropractic Community is holding a joint meeting on April I8th,2024, called the National
Chiropractic Stakeholder Summit. This biennial one-day meeting brings together leaders in the
chiropractic profession to strengthen relationships and find opportunities for collaboration between all

stakeholders in order to advance the profession.

Since the last Summit meeting, many relationships across the profession have strengthened and we are
now experiencing the benefits shared collaboration can have on our strategic priorities. lt is in this
renewed spirit of collaboration and mutual respect for each other's mandates, the CCA, CCPA, and your

Ontario Association, OCA, would like to personally extend an invitation to the CCO to attend the
Nationa I Chiropractic Stakeholders Summitt,

This meeting will take place from 8:30 am - 4:30 pm on Thursday April 18th at the Westin Harbour Castle

Hotel in Toronto, ON. Up to three representatives from each organization are invited to attend Ihe2024
Summit. Please note, organizations will be billed back the meeting costs for room rental, food &
beverage and AV for the meeting on a per attendee basis.

The Summit is followed by the CCA National Convention and Tradeshow and again all stakeholders are
welcome to attend.

CCO is a key stakeholder in the chiropractic profession in Canada, regulating the largest number of
Chiropractors in a complex health system environment. Your perspectives are invaluable. We are

looking forward to having the CCO represented at this important Summit.

lf you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact any of us. Please RSVP the names of your
organization's representatives to Sarah Perry at sperrv@chiropractic.ca by Friday March 8th,2024.

Sincerely,

Dr. Ayla Azad, CCA CEO & Dr. Judy Forrester, CCA Chair
Dr. Dean Wright, ccPA cEo & Dr. Shane Taylor, CCPA President
Caroline Brereton, OCA CEO & Dr. Raquel Marques, OCA Chair



Rose Bustria
877

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
March 12,2024 12:59 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: lnvitation to Chiropractic Stakeholder Summit

Councit

Jo-Ann Wiltson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

Cottege of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 111

Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: iowillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on-ca

ln-ofJice services are avai[able by appointment only. P[ease use the email or phone contact inf ormation above or, if you

require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone al 416-922-6355 ext. 1 00 or enraiI Letcplion@cco.onsa
and your inquiry witt be directed approprtately.

CCO is committed to providing inctusive, accomrxodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuats ate
treated with dignity and respect. Ptease contact us if you require accommodations. P[ease er]sure that att

communications with CCO are respectfuI and professiona[.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Ayla Azad <aazad@chiropractic.ca>

Sent: Tuesday, March 12,2024 L2:37 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Cc: Dean Wright <dwright@ccpaonline.ca>; Caroline Brereton <cbrereton@chiropractic.on.ca>

Subject: RE: lnvitation to Chiropractic Stakeholder Summit

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

HiJo-Ann,
Thanks so much for your response and we are very much tooking forward to seeing you and Dr.

Mizet at the event.
We are working on the agenda with an organising committee and witt be sharing it priorto the event.
We do have Denise Gerein from Saskatchewan who is on the organising committee to ensure there
is a "regutatory [ens" as we work on items for discussion.
I hope that hetps.
Ayta

Dr. Ayla Azad, DC, MBA (She/Her)
Ch ief Executive Officer
Chef de la Direction



Association
chiropratique

canadienne

Canadian
Chiropractic
AssociationH 878

184 Front St. East, Suite 200 Toronto, ON M5A 4N3
Tel: 415-585-7902X225
L,877-222-9303
Fax: 416-585-297O
cHrRopRAcTrc.cA I cHrRopRATtquE.cA o I @ @

The CCA acknowledges the enduring and vibrant presence, culture, history ond inherent rights ol First
Nations people, M6tis dnd lnuit dcross Canada on whose troditional territories CCA members live and
work, as well as where the CCA has its head ollice in Toronto. // L'ACC reconnait la culture et l'histoire
des membres des Premidres nations, des MEtis et des lnuits de tout le Canoda, oinsi que leur prdsence

durqble et dynamique et leurs droits inhdrents sur les territoires troditionnels oil vivent et travaillent
des membres de (ACC et oil est Etobli son siEge sociol d Toronto.

NOTE: This e-mail message, and any attachments, is intended only for the named recipient(s) above and may contain

information that is privileged, confidential and/or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. lf you
have received this message in error, or are not the named recipient(s), please immediately notify the
sender and delete this e-mail message. Thank you.

From: Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson@cco.on.ca>

Sent: Wednesday, March 6,2024 7:53 AM
To: Ayla Azad <aazad @chiropractic.ca>
Cc: Dean Wright <dwright@ccpaonline.ca>; Caroline Brereton <cbrereton@chiropractic.on.ca>
Subject: IEXTERNAL] RE: lnvitation to Chiropractic Stakeholder Summit

Thank you very much for the invitation, and atso for the efforts to estabtish and maintain positive
retationships with stakehotders within the chiropractic community. Are you abte to share the
agenda for the Thursday, Aprit 1 8,2024 meetings? lt woutd be hetpf ut to confirm that there are
items that retate to the rote of regutators and their pubtic interest protection mandate. Based on
earty discussions, it tooks tike Dr. Mizet and I witt be abte to attend. Dr. Green and Mr. Southern witt
be away on ptanned hotidays. Look forward to hearing f rom you f urther.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

Gottege of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 1'11

Toll Free:'l -877 -57 7 -47 7 2

2

April 19 - 20'0, 2024

LEARH
CONNECT

ENGAGE

NATIONAL
CONVENTION
& TRADESHOW
A feanr Approoch far
a Heolthy Future WWW.CCA-NCT.CA

Westin Harbour Castte Hotet,
Toronto, ON

.R
CCA A
NCr',24 

r
cNsE?4 DE LACC . 19 - 20 AVRTL 2024
HOTEL WESTIN HARBOUR CASTLE. TORONTO. ON



Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: vvww.cco. on.ca

Association
chiropratique

canadienne

Canadian
Chiropractic
Association

879
ln-office services are avaitabte by appointment onty. P[ease use the emaiI or phone contact inf ormation above or, if you

require urgent assistance, ptease contact Reception by phone at 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email receplion@sco.on.qa
and your inquiry witt be directed appropriatety.

CCO is committed to providing inctusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuats are

treated with clignity and respect. P[ease contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that att

communications with CCO are respectful and professionaL.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNI
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Ayla Azad <aazad@chiropractic.ca>

Sent: Thursday, February 29,2024 3:19 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson@cco.on.ca>

Cc: Dean Wright <dwright@ccpaonline.ca>; Caroline Brereton <cbrereton@chiropractic.on.ca>

Subject: lnvitation to Chiropractic Stakeholder Summit
lmportance: High

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hetlo Jo-Ann,

Attached ptease find a tetter of invitiation to the 2024 Nationat Chiropractic Stakehotder Summit on

behatf of the ccA, ccPA and ocA.
We sincerety hope the CCO teadership witt consider our invitation to attend this important event.

Thank you,
Ayta

Dr. Ayla Azad, DC, MBA (She/Her)

Chief Executive Officer
Chef de la Direction

184 Front St. East, Suite 200 Toronto, ON M5A 4N3

Tel: 415-585-7902X225
t-877-222-9303
Fax: 416-585-297O

cHtRopRAcflc.cA I CHIRoPRAT|QUE.CA o 0 @ @

3



April 19 - 20'n, 2024

LEARN
CONNECT

ENGAGE

NATIONAL
CONVENTION
& TRADESHOW
A Teon Approach for
o Heolthy Future www.ccA-Ncr.cA

-#rf

.;\

Westin Harbour Castte Hotel,
Toronto, ONccA a

NCT'24 
T

cNsE24 DE L'ACC . 19 - 20 AVRTL 2024
HOTEL WESTIN HARBOUR CASTLE. TORONTO, ON

880

I

The CCA ocknowledges the enduring and vibrant prcsence, culture, history and inherent rights of First
Ndtions people, Mdtis dnd lnuit across Candda on whose traditiondl territories CCA members live and
work, os well ds where the CCA has its head office in Toronto, // L'ACC reconnait la culture et I'histoire
des membres des Premiires notions, des Mdtis et des lnuits de tout le Cdnddo, ainsi que leur prEsence
durable et dynamique et leurs droits inh6rents sur les territoires traditionnels oit vivent et travaillent
des membres de (ACC et oil est Atdbli son siige social d Toronto.

NOTE: This e-mail message, and any attachments, is intended only for the named recipient(s) above and may contain

information that is privileged, confidential and/or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. lf you
have received this message in error, or are not the named recipient(s), please immediately notify the
sender and delete this e-mail message. Thank you.

4



Rose Bustria

Subject: FW: Canadian Chiropractic Association Facebook

From: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson @cco.on.ca>
Sent: Friday, February t6, 2024 L2:22 PM

To: Rose Bustria <RBustria@cco.on.ca>

Subject: FW: Canadian Chiropractic Association Facebook

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Regishar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: iowillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

ln-office services are available by appointment only. P[ease use the emalI or phone contact information above or, if you

require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone al 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or emaiI rece,p,Iig-n@cco.olaca

and your inquiry witt be directed appropriatety.

CCO is contmitted to providing inclusive, accommodating, and reslronsive services and ensuring that individuals are

treated with dlgnity and respect. PLease contact us lf you require accomrnodations. Please ensure that ati

conrmunications with CCO are respectfuI and professionaL.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Dr.M izel <drm izel@stcatha rineschiropractic.com>
Sent: Friday, February L6,2024t2:17 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson cco.on.ca>

Cc: Sarah Green <drsarahgreenl@gmail.com>
Subject: Canadian Chiropractic Association Facebook

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

|TEM 4.1.56 881



lndigenous Chiropractors take a crack at
curbing opioid crisis
*a g lefea i llerrle,/rs. c a,r f]'!

882

I

2



-ba.)
b
5a-

Ganadian
Ghiropractic Ass...
2,013 followers
15m. O

aaa x

883

The CCA is excited to support a
major milestone in our mission to
improve healthcare access for rural
and lndigenous communities. Under
the leadership of Dr. David Peeace
and co-chair Jennifer Ward, the
Chiropractic lndigenous Caucus
(ClC) is filling critical care gaps and
mentoring future chiropractors to
meet rural and lndigenous
healthcare needs.

By increasing access to care, the
CCA and CIC are working to address
the opioid crisis with non-
pharmaceutical solutions. Togethe4
we're dedicated to culturally
competent care and bettering the
well-being of Indigenous
communities nationwide.



.t
I

:

J
I

Stay tuned for updates on our
progress!
Read more: https://lnkd.in/
d5kA6xMq

lndigenous Chiropractors take
a crack at curbing opioid crisis
eaglefeathernews.com . 3 min read

884

:
$It

Dennis Mizel, B.S., DC., FCCPOR

Vice President

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Havden Street, Suite 800
Toronto ON M4Y OE7

Tel (41.61922-63ss

Fax: (416) 925-9610
Mobile: (905)401-8977

E-mail : drmizel@stcatha rineschiropractic.com
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

4



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.57 885
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
February 27 ,2024 12:05 PM

Rose Bustria

FW:CCPA Communiqu6

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: vvww.cco.on.ca

ln-office services are avaitabte by appointment onty. Please use the emait or phone contact in{ormation above or, if you

require urgent assistance, ptease contact Reception by phone aL416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email receplion@,c,e-o-On.ea

and your inquiry wilt be directed appropriatety.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accorxmodating, and respor.rsive services and ensuring that individua[s are

treated with dignity and respect. P[ease contact us if you require accommodalions. Please ensure that att

communications with CCO are respectful and professionat.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any aftachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: CCPA <admin@ccpaonline.ca>

Sent: Tuesday, February 27,2024 12:01 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: CCPA Com m uniqu6

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

CANADIAN

CHIROPRACTIC

PROTECTIVE

ASSOCIATION

I



JI
i

I
I

CCPA Gommuniqu6

February 2024

A note from the CEO: Something New

By Dr. Dean Wright

Last year I wrote to you about CCPA undertaking a strategic planning process. Now
that plan has been approved by our Board of Directors, and we are in the process
of putting it into action. One of the key themes of CCPA's plan revolves around the
question, how can we offer more to you - our members -while not asking more
from you financially?

886

2

Fees freeze for 2024



We realize these past few years have created a significant financial impact on
running a practice, as well as taking care of every day requirements. ln 2022 the
CPl, depending on where you reside, was around six per cent. Then in 2023 it
reached four per cent. When we account for a compounding factor, we have seen a
more than 10 per cent increase in just two years. While CCPA has felt this
inflationary impact, we realize it has been harder on our members. This is why we
took the step to freeze our membership dues for 2024. Your fees for this year are
exactly the same as in 2023.

Parental leave*

Also new for 2A24, we have introduced a parental leave category that allows new
parents to take a six-month leave from practice without having to pay CCPA
membership fees for this period. While we know this is an amazing time for parents,
it can also be stressful. We hope, by offering a parental leave option, we can help
reduce the burden so you can focus on your family.

No-cost prior-acts protection

When a chiropractor retires from practice, whether with CCPA or an insurer, they
typically have the option to purchase something known as "tail protection". This
coverage protects doctors for six years after they retire, as lawsuits are rarely filed
and served at the time of the incident. A suit usually trails an incident by an average
of 18 months. Remember, CCPA's coverage works on a "claims-made" basis,
meaning a DC must be a member in good standing of CCPA at the time the lawsuit
is filed, not just when the incident occurs. This is the standard across the insurance
industry. As of 2024, we have waived the fee for this coverage, providing tail
protection at no cost to our retiring members.

These changes are centred on CCPA helping you reduce your bottom-line costs,
while maintaining exceptional service. We understand the challenges of running a
practice and we are committed to helping you have the best practice experience
possible.

There are other strategic plan initiatives underway that we believe will help improve
your member experience. We are investigating ways to expand and enhance our
service to you. Stay tuned; there is more to come from CCPA.

And remember: if you have an issue or concern, or you are just not sure where to
turn, reach out to us. We are just a phone call or email away.

887

3



I
:

-.1

*Members in Alberta are encouraged to call the CCOA to discuss the regulatory
ramifications of this category.

Our records indicate you prefer receiving correspondence in English. To update your
communication preferences, please contact us at admin@ccpaonline.ca. Click here to

unsubscribe.

CCPA: 802 The Queensway, Etobicoke, ON MBZ 1N5
admin @ccpaon line.ca, 41 6-7 81 -5656, (TF) 800-668-2076

Copyright @ 2024 Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association, all rights reserved

888

ln this month's installment of the Ouch Files, you'll find an example of why it's
essential to follow your instincts when you feel a pulltoward a particular course
of action during care. The story is written by Dr. Shima Shahidy, CCPA Director

of Claims.

Read the OUCH File now

New OUCH File Online

4



Health
Profession
Regulators
of Ontarioffiffiffi

|TEM 4.1.59
Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)

Suite 301 - 396 Osborne St, PO Box 244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0

email: bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions'on.ca
Phone: 416-986-0576

February 28,2024

lrwin Glasberg, Ontario Fairness Commissioner

Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC)

3rd Floor, Suite 300

1"80 Dundas St W

Toronto ON M7A 256 Transmitted by email: lrwin.Glasberg@ontario.ca

Re: OFC Risk-lnformed Compliance Framework (RICF)

Dear Mr. Glasberg:

I am writing to you in my capacity as Chair of the Board of Directors of the Health Profession

Regulators of Ontario (HPRO). HPRO is a collective of the 26 health regulatory Colleges in

Ontario, advocating for ongoing regulatory improvement that supports the public interest.

HPRO and its members share your Office's commitment to transparency, objectivity,

impartiality, and fairness in registration practices.

Fair registration practices are vitally important for a safe and effective health system.

Registration is a key area of Colleges' day-to-day functions, and Ontario's health regulatory

Colleges register or renew almost 400,000 healthcare professionals annually. Robust

registration practices enable regulators to measure the quality of new practitioners and help

to prevent future problems in practice, all in the public interest.

I write today about the RICF and to engage in discussions with your Office to work toward its

implementation and improvements in the coming months.

GENERAL COMMENTS

HPRO supports the OFC's focus on equity, diversity, and inclusion (EDl), and the OFC is to be

applauded for its recognition of the need to promote inclusion and address anti-racism

concerns in Colleges' registration processes. Similarly, HPRO has identified EDI as a strategic

priority area and we have just completed an Anti-Racism in Health Regulation (ARHR) Project

that provides training and education related to EDI for College staff, Boards/Councils, and

Committees as well as a number of tools and resources to help Colleges in their EDI journeys,

This project's deliverables included an equity impact assessment (ElA) tool that Colleges can

use to review their registration processes. ElAs are a part of Colleges' annual reporting

processes, and their regular reporting makes Colleges accountable for their work in this area.

Also, HPRO appreciates the structure of the accountability mechanism in the RICF, which sets

out clear compliance expectations, including the flexibility to recognize the individuality of

890



HPRO Letter re. OFC Risk lnformed Compliance Framework (RtCF) - February 28,2024

health regulatory Colleges. We are also pleased that the risk rating framework is not designed
to be punitive in nature. Similar to other College reporting processes, the sharing of
commendable practices would allow for a focus on continued quality improvements.

Third, we would like to discuss the assumptions underpinning the RICF risk factors, some of
which are not within the College's sole control, including third-party service providers,
addressing labour market shortages, and contributing to health human resource planning. ln
addition, there may be an opportunity to improve the understanding of metrics reported by
the Colleges that are used in determining the RICF risk factor ratings.

THrRD-PARTY SERVTCE pROVtDERS (TpSpS)

Recognizing the OFC's mandate to monitor third parties and advise Colleges regarding the
assessment of TPSPs' qualifications related to registration practices, HPRO would like to
discuss with the OFC how to best identify the most effective accountability measures that are
feasible in a landscape of independentorganizations involved in the ultimate licensure of
internationally trained professionals. lt is also important to note that many regulators engage
TPSPs along with their provincial/territorial counterparts and individual influence may be
moderated by the views of other regulators.

PUBLIC POLICY CONSIDERATION - ADDRESSING LABOUR MARKET SHORTAGES

Colleges have improved the speed and efficiency of their registration processes as part of
their ongoing continuing quality improvements and recognition of the current health human
resources (HHR) crises. Recognizing these improvements, it should be noted that Colleges'
registration practices are not a contributing factor to market shortages, which are
complicated and complex for the entire health professions' sector. While Colleges can provide
data related to those they register, other aspects of HHR shortages are understandably
outside of Colleges' control.

Labour market shortages are comprised of complex environmental, social, financial, and
political issues. lt is concerning that regulators may be considered at risk if they are not seen
to be "helping to address critical labour shortages in its occupational sphere" or that it has
not "constructively engaged in consultations with its responsible minister to ensure that
Ontarians have access to adequate numbers of qualified, skilled, and competent regulated
professionals". While regulators have made great efforts to streamline their processes, it
should be recognized that regulators are reliant on applications for registration to increase
the number of health professionals in the system. HPRO would welcome more discussion
about what "constructive engagement" should look like so that our members are able to
meaningfully contribute to discussions related to HHR.

There are numerous methods to alleviate shortages and, particularly, regional distribution
disparities, such as the creation of employment offerings that are attractive to health
professionals in areas where shortages exist as well as addressing educational program, and

891

J
I

I

I
I
I

Page 2



HPRO Letter re. OFC Risk Informed Compliance Framework (RICF)- February 28,2024

in academic bridging opportunities. Assessing a regulator's risk on the basis of factors not
within a regulator's control seems to be an area that requires more conversation.

IN CLOSING

We thank you for being committed to alleviating barriers to licensure and recognizing that
health human resource planning is necessaryto achieve Ontario's health system goals.

HPRO's members are committed to effective and efficient licensure practices and are

interested in contributing to broader provincial policy decisions to address labour shortages in

specified professions and geographic regions. I would like to extend an invitation for you to
attend an upcoming Board meeting to discuss these important issues.

Please feel free to contact me at dfaulkner@rcdso.org. or, to schedule a meeting with HPRO,

please have your office contact our Executive Director Beth Ann Kenny at
bakennv@ resu lated health professions.on.ca.

We look forward to working with you

Sincerely,

Dan Faulkner, Chair

Ministry of Health
Assistant Deputy Minister Dr. Karima Velji
Director Allison Henry

HPRO Board of Directors

892

cc

Page 3



Generated Internally
ITEM 4.2

Gollege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Discipline Committee Report to Council
April 16,2024

925

Gommittee
Members:

Dr. Dennis Mizel, Chair
Mr. Robert Chopowick
Dr. Angelo Santin
Mr. Shawn Southern
Dr. Lezlee Detzler, non-Council member
Dr. G. Murray Townsend, non-Council member
Dr. Matt Tribe, non-Council member
Dr. Daniela Arciero, Alternate
Mr. Robert Mackay, Council Appointed member

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Committee Mandate

To adjudicate specified allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence
referred to the committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.

To review applications for reinstatement following a discipline hearing.

Since the last report to Council, there have been no hearings of the committee. However
the Committee has met once (Hybrid) on March 15,2024.

The Committee has the following recommendations for Council

Recommendation I

Approve amendments to Rules of Procedure of the Discipline Committee pursuant to the

SPPA.

Recommendation 2

Approve amendments to Policy-}2}: Adjournment of Discipline Hearings

a

a



Discipline Report to Council - April 16,2024 2

926
The Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO) is holding its next Discipline
Orientation on May 16,2024 (Basic) and June 13,2024 (Advanced). Just a reminder that
according to our bylaws, every member of Council may be called upon to serve on a
discipline panel to ensure the timely adjudication of discipline referrals. If any Council
members are interested in the above training and have not attended the program
previously, please contact Ms Rose Bustria. The training is offered three times per year.

I would like to thank the members of the discipline committee for their time and
commitment. Also, appreciation goes to all Council members who have given their time
and expertise to serve on a panel or panels. Thank you to Mr. Robert MacKay, Council
appointed member, for addressing urgent discipline matters in a timely manner. The
Discipline Committee continues to meet its mandate while conducting hearings as
required to ensure compliance with CCO's public interest mandate.

Respectfully Submitted,

Dr. Dennis Mizel,
Chair



Policy P-020: Adjournment of Discipline Hearings

ITEM 4.2.5 973
AolounNMENT OF DISCIPLINE HCNNIruCS

Policy P-020
Discipline Committee
Approved by Council: October 28, 1995
Amended: November 15, 1996, November 30,2012

Note to Readers: In the event of any inconsistency between this document and the legislation that
affects chiropractic practice, the legislation governs.

lrurerur

To reduce the number of adjournments of discipline hearings.

CCO is concemed about the number of requests for adjournments of discipline hearings.

Members of discipline panels are notified well in advance of the discipline hearing dates so they
may make appropriate arrangements to travel to and attend the hearing.

Prosecutors and members charged with allegations of professional misconduct, incompetence or
incapacity are similarly given notice of the date and time of a hearing well in advance of the
hearing date.

Requests for adjournments result in delays in the hearing, time and expense for panel members,
and increased costs for all parties. Further, adjoumments generally do not serve the public
interest, which CCO is charged with the responsibility of protecting.

DescnrprroN oF PoLtcY

The Registrar will advise all members and counsel that:

The general practice is to decline requests for an adjournment of discipline hearings

a

a

a

If, on receiving the Notice of Hearing, the member or counsel has a conflict on the date

referred to in the Notice of Hearing, he/she shall immediately contact the Chair of the
Discipline Committee (or his/her designate) and the lndependent Legal Counsel (ILC) to
advise him/her of the conflict.

There may be extenuating circumstances for which an adjournment is required. Examples
of the types of extenuating circumstances that may persuade the Chair of the Discipline
Committee to exercise his/her discretion to grant an adjournment include:

o death in the family;

o emergency health situation;

't



i
I{I
I

I

Policy P-020: Adjournment of Discipline Hearings

o personal matters of extreme crises;

uncovering of new evidence that is critical and, despite reasonable efforts, was not
available at an earlier point in time; and

974

o counsel is required to attend to another matter that was scheduled before receipt of the
Notice of Hearing and about which counsel immediately advised the Registrar.

Requests for Adjournment

All requests for adjournments must:

o be in writing;

a be directed to the attention of the Chair of the Discipline Committee or his/her designate
and ILC;

a

o

be copied to all counsel involved in the hearing (prosecutor, defence counsel and ILC);

be made at the earliest opporh"rnity that counsel becomes aware that an adjournment is
required; and

clearly set out the extenuating circumstances which necessitate an adjournment.

a

a

o

a

In addition, the Registrar will:

advise all members served with a Notice of Hearing that they are strongly encouraged to
immediately retain legal counsel;

draw the attention of all members and counsel to subsections 42 and 42.1 of the Health
Professions Procedural Code (Code) Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act
1991 respecting disclosure of evidence and section 66 of the Code relating to reports of
health professionals;

encourage counsel to make proper disclosure in accordance with the Code well in
advance ofthe hearing date; and

a

. urge counsel to advise all potential witnesses of the hearing date at the earliest
opportunity.

Procedure

The Registrar will noti$r all members and counsel involved in a discipline hearing of the
contents of this policy by appropriate means, which may include providing them with a copy of
the policy.

2



Submitted to CCO: April 3, 2024

ITEM 4.3

977
Gollege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Quality Assurance Committee Report to Council
April 16,2024

Members:
Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair
Dr. Kyle Grice
Ms Zoe Kariunas
Mr. Shawn Southern
Dr. Elizabeth Anderson-Peacock, non-council member

Staff:
Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Dr. Katherine Tibor, Director of Professional Practice
Ms. Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Gommittee Mandate

To develop, establish and maintain:
o programs and standards of practice to assure the quality of the profession;

o standards of knowledge and skill and programs to promote continuing
competence among members; and

o standards ofprofessional ethics.

To develop mechanisms and protocols to assess the knowledge, skills and

continuing competence of members.I
Since the last meeting of Council, the Quality Assurance (QA) Committee met once on March

20,2024.

The QA Committee has the following recommendations to Council

Recommendation I

That Council approve draft amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio

for approval.

The QA Committee is recommending amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional

Portfolio to include a structured Continuing Education (CE) requirement of an in-person, hands

on or hand-held instrument adjustment or manipulation activity that includes training in the

competency of manual or hand-held instrument spinal adjustment or manipulation skills, at least

on"" .rr"ry three CE cycles (or six years). These draft amendments were circulated to

a

a



QA Report to Council April16,2024
978

stakeholders, including members, for feedback in September 2023. Feedback is included in the
Council package. The QA Committee also solicited feedback from the peer assessors, as part of
the Peer Assessor Training Day on January 20,2024.

If approved, these amendments would come into effect for the upcoming CE cycle beginning on
July 1, 2024 and members registered in the General class will be required to complete this CE
activity over the next three CE cycles (or six years) until June 30,2030.

The QA Committee is making these recommendations based on several factors, related to the
mandate of CCO to protect the public interest and the objects of the CCO to promote continuing
evaluation, competence and improvement among members:

The chiropractic scope of practice, as described in the Chiropractic Act, 1991, includes
the statement "...diagnosis, prevention and treatment, primarily by adjustment..." and
one the controlled acts authorized to chiropractors is "Moving the joints of the spine
beyond a person's usual physiological range of motion using a fast, low amplitude
thrust". The QA Committee is of the opinion that this act requires a high level of
competency and skill to perform and that competencies in psychomotor skills related to
spinal adjustment or manipulation improve with continued use, education and training. It
is in the public interest that members registered in the General class of registration, who
are authorizedto perform this act, are required to participate in a minimum level of in-
person CE related directly to this controlled act.

A member may also be registered in the General class of registration and authorizedto
perform controlled acts, and not regularly perform the controlled act of spinal adjustment
or manipulation. This proposed requirement would require all members registered in the
General class to participate in ongoing in-person CE related to this controlled act,
encouraging continued improvement in competency and skills. This is analogous to the
requirements from the Registration Committee to mandate a specific course in spinal
adjustment or manipulation for those members out of practice for a period of time before
becoming registered or re-registered in the General class.

-.1i
:

4
l
1

a

a Current CE requirements for structured hours require at least 5 hours related to the
controlled acts every CE cycle. However, the QA Committee continuously receives
feedback from peer assessors that the majority of members complete this requirement
through online CE related to the controlled act of communicating a diagnosis. The QA
Committee is of the opinion that a specific requirement related to an in-person activity on
spinal adjustment or manipulation would promote continuing competency in the specific
controlled act of spinal adjustment or manipulation.

2



QA Report to Council: April 16,2024

o Following review of the feedback, the QA Committee is including language that this 979
activity could be in a "hands on or hand-held instrument adjustment or manipulation
activity". The QA Committee acknowledges the diversity in chiropractic technique that is

used in the profession and is of the opinion that this language would allow members to

participate in activities that are relevant to their techniques used in practice, whether that

is hands-on or hand-held instrument adjustment or manipulation. All diagnostic or
therapeutic procedures must comply with the requirements in Standard of Practice 5-001:

Chiropractic Scope of Practice.

Included in the feedback is the challenge for members to access in-person CE courses

related to spinal adjustment or manipulation, especially those living in remote or rural

locations. However, the QA Committee is of the opinion that the proposed requirement to

complete 5 hours of in-person CE once every three CE cycles (or six years) is not overly

onerous. Further, the QA Committee expects that additional in-person CE opportunities
will continue to become available, whether through accredited chiropractic colleges,
professional associations and private CE providers.

a

CCO does not specifically approve or accredit CE courses. Rather CE courses must meet

the criteria described in Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio. Similarly, this

proposed requirement would be required to meet the criteria for structured hours, with the

exception of online, internet or computer courses.

In summary, the QA Committee is making these recommendations to encourage lifelong
leaming and professional development in spinal adjustment or manipulation to help ensure

patients receive safe and competent chiropractic care. If approved, additional messaging and

questions and answers will be communicated to stakeholders, including members as part of a

distribution following the June 14,2024 Council meeting. A draft version of this messaging is

included in the Council package.

Recommendation 2

That Council approve an on-demqndwebinar on Advertising, Websites and Social Media to be

distributed to stakeltolders, including members, and posted on CCO's website.

The QA Committee has been working to develop an on demand, interactive webinar on

Advertising, Websites and Social Media using the Articulate software. The webinar includes

content presented as part of the Regulatory Excellence Workshop (REW) and includes examples

of advertising, websites and social media content that had previously been summaized as part of
the draft Advertising handbook.

The webinar is available at the following link:
-4224-b7

and the PowerPoint slides are included in the Council package.

3



QA Report to Council: April 16,2024

980
If approved, this webinar would be available for members to review at any time for lzhour to I
hour of structured CE hours and to provide practical examples of 'oDo's" and "Don'ts" related to
specific sections of Standard of Practice S-016: Advertising. This webinar would not be required
or mandated (The REW is already mandated to be completed at least once every three CE cycles
(or six years).

The QA Committee presented this draft webinar as part of the Peer Assessor Training Day on
January 20,2024 and received positive feedback. The QA Committee is hopeful that this
webinar can be part of the overall strategy of CCO in encouraging proactive compliance with
CCO standards of practice, polices and guidelines related to advertising, websites and social
media.

Peer and Practice Assessment

Peer and Practice Assessment (PPA) for 2023 -2024 is wrapping up and assessors are sending in
their last remaining assessments to CCO. A total of 241PPA 1.0 and27l PPA 2.0 were
conducted during this PPA cycle. A new PPA cycle will be launched in the Spring 2024 with
updated PPA forms to reflect amendments standards of practice, policies and guidelines. Thank
you to Dr. Katherine Tibor and the CCO staff for managing this program, which continues to be
a great success for the Quality Assurance program.

The QA Committee will also be reviewing and updating Policy P-051: Peer Assessors to ensure
consistency with other CCO documents.

QA Content Included in the March 1,2024 President's Message and Newsletter

Messaging around the new and amended standards of practice and guidelines (new Guideline G-
015: Virtual Care and amendments to Guideline G-014: Delegation, Assignment and Referral of
Care and Standard of Practice 5-006: Ordering, Taking and Interpreting Radiographs) that came
into effect on February 23,2024 were communicated to members, including stakeholders, as part
of the March I,2024 President's Message and Newsletter.

In-Person Regulatory Excellence Workshops/Roads hows

The QA Committee received an update on in-Person Regulatory Excellence
Workshops/Roadshows, with three planned for 2024, the first scheduled for May 4,2024 in
Ottawa. The QA Committee is excited for the return of in-person workshops being provided to
members. Virtual REWs continue to be offered three times per year.

4



QA Report to Council: April 16,2024

Chiropractic Care of Animals

The QA Committee reviewed Bill 171: An Act to Enact the Veterinarian Professionals Act,2024,
which intends to repeal the current Veterinarians Act, 1991 and replace it with the Veterinary
Professionals Act, 2024. The QA Committee specifically reviewed the sections of the Bill which
create regulatory exceptions for chiropractors to continue to provide chiropractic care to animals.

The QA Committee will continue to review updates on Bill l7l and consider any appropriate
amendments to Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care ofAnimals to ensure consistency
with any legislation.

O r de r in g, Takin g an d Int e rp r e tin g Radio g r ap h s

The QA Committee reviewed information from the Federation of Canadian Chiropractic and the
College of Medical Radiation and Imaging Technologists of Ontario on gonadal shielding related
to taking radiographs. CCO Standard of Practice 5-006: Ordering, Taking and Interpreting
Radiographs is consistent in requiring the use of radiation and patient protective devices, without
a specific reference to gonadal shielding. The QA Committee has identified this as an ongoing
area of review for the next Committee.

Cyber Security

The QA Committee began the review and had a preliminary discussion related to various
correspondences and resources related to cyber security requirements for members and identified
this as an ongoing area of review for the next QA Committee. Although cyber security and
protection of electronic health information is vital, through its preliminary discussion, the QA
Committee is of the opinion that developing and communicating educational resources for
members in combination with privacy and cyber security organizations may be more appropriate
than mandating cyber security insurance for members in a similar manner as professional
liability insurance/protection.

Co rresp o n dences w ith Memb ers

The QA Committee reviewed and provided direction on several questions from members related
to scope of practice and performing certain diagnosis and therapeutic procedures.

981

5



QA Report to Council: April 16,2024

982
This is my final meeting as Chair of the Qualrty Assurance Committee. I am grateful to Council
for allowing me to have served in this capacity and I would also like to thank the members and
staff of the QA committee for all of their contributions.

Respectfu lly submitted,

Dr. Paul Groulx
Chair, Quality Assurance Committee

I

I

I

6



Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio

991
|TEM 4.3.2

PRoressroNAL PoRrrolro

Standard of Practice 5-003
Quality Assurance Committee
Approved by Council: May 24,1996
Amended: February 28, 1998, and November 30, 2002, December 3, 2009,
September 17,2015, June 23,2017, June 22. 2022 Game into effect Julv 1 ,20221

Note to readers: In the event of any inconsistency between this document and the legislation that
affects chiropractic practice, the legislation governs.

Nore: For the purposes of this standard of practice, "member" refers to a CCO member
registered in the "General" class of registration.

lrurerur

To advise members of their government-legislated obligation to quality improvement by
participation in peer and practice assessment, self-assessment and self-directed, lifelong learning,
through continuing education (CE) and professional development.

Oe.Jecrtves

To fulfill the requirements of the Quality Assurance Committee as set out in
section 80.1 of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code), Schedule 2 of
the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA).

To facilitate continuous quality improvement through the concepts of peer and

practice assessment, self-assessment, self-assessment action plans, and lifelong
learning.

To emphasize that each member is responsible for their own continuing
competency and professional growth.

To enable the Quality Assurance Committee to assist a member with specific
remediation if it is requested or deemed necessary.

To ensure the ongoing development of CCO's quality assurance program.

a

a

a

o

a

DescrupnoN oF STANDARD

A member is required to maintain a professional portfolio, which will be made available to the

Quality Assurance Committee or a peer assessor upon request. The contents of the professional
portfolio remain confidential within the Quality Assurance Committee and will not be shared

I



Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio 992
with any other committee. A member is required to complete the four parts of the professional
portfolio (as outlined below). A member must maintain their professional portfolio, including CE
materials gathered in the current CE cycle and the immediate past complete CE cycle. Additional
cycles may be discarded. However, CCO encourages every member to retain relevant materials
for future use and reference.

For the purposes of this standard of practice and for compliance with the Quality Assurance
program, it is acceptable and recommended for a member to use their Continuing Education and
Professional Development Log in their CCO Member Portal as their Professional
Portfolio/record of continuing education, in combination with the Self-Assessment Questionnaire
1.0 or 2.0 and Plan of Action Sheet (fillable PDF). instead of the Fillable PDF
Professional Portfolio.

Part 1: Professional Profile / Gurriculum Vitae

Please note: this should be maintained by the member but does not need to be submitted unless
required to do so.

Personal Data: Name, Address, Regishation Number

Education: Post-Secondary/Academic Degrees Certificates; Specialties/Fellowships (if
applicable)

Professional History: Practice History and Description

Professional Membership and Service: Names of professional organizations in which the
member holds current membership, and the services and activities provided to professional
or ganizations (including po sitions held).

Volunteer Work: Service to Profession; Service to Community

Awards / Recognition

Other Professional Activities: Professional Presentations; Professional Publications

References (optional): A separate sheet may be attached.

Part 2: Self-Assessment (1.0 or 2.0)

There are two versions of the mandatory self-assessment available for completion. Each self-
assessment process consists of two parts: the self-assessment questionnaire with accompanying
handbook and the plan of action summary sheet.

A member is required to complete, every two years, either

o Self-assessment 1.0 (recommended in the first two complete CE cycles) or
o Self-assessment 2.0 (recommended in all subsequent CE cycles).

I
l
l

I

2



Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio

993
It is highly recommended that the self-assessment is completed within 90 days from the start of a
new CE cycle. The self-assessment questionnaire is completely confidential and will not be

viewed by any committee.

Once a member has completed the self-assessment questionnaire and has identified areas that

need improvement, the member should transfer the information to the self-assessment plan of
action summary sheet. Using this summary sheet, a member shall develop a learning plan to help
guide their CE and professional development to address those items identified in the completion
of the self-assessment. Members should be aware that those areas identified for improvement or
further leaming in one's self-assessment should be addressed in appropriate and applicable CE

activities in the CE cycle.

The plan of action sunmary sheet is a component of the member's professional portfolio and

will be reviewed by a peer assessor during the peer and practice assessment to monitor
compliance with the self-assessment process. A member may identiff areas from the self-
assessment questionnaire which they desire to strengthen and may incorporate these items into
their CE activities.

Part 3: Continuing Education (CE) and Professional Development

CE activities should reflect the results of a member's self-assessment, and peer and practice

assessment, in addition to any CE activities related to professional interests, adding to a
member's strength or changing a member's practice.

A member is required to participate in 40 hours of CE over a two-year period in which they are a

member in the General class of registration for entire two-year period, as determined by CCO. In
accumulating the 40 hours, CCO requires every member to:

r participate in a minimum of 20 hours in structured CE activities (all40 hours may be

accumulated in structured activities);
. record up to a maximum of 20 hours towards unstrucfured CE activities;
. record participation in CE activities in their online continuing education and professional

development log; and
o maintain materials gathered while fulfilling CE requirements for the current CE cycle

(e.g., course outlines, brochures from conventions/conferences, certificates, letters of
reference, receipts, etc.).

To monitor compliance with the Quality Assurance initiatives, members who are registered in
the General class of registration for that entire cycle shall complete and submit the online
Continuing Education and Professional Development Log, available in the online member portal

3



dj
I

Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio
994

CE activities must relate to a member's clinical practice and/or professional activitiesl, with the
goal of enhancing a member's professional knowledge and skill.

A member is not permitted to bank hours over the two-year period (i.e., transfer hours from one
cycle to the next). The required 40 hours of CE is considered the minimum standard for the two-
year cycle. CCO encourages all members to participate in additional CE on a regular basis.

Structured Activities (20 hours minimum)

Structured activities arc activelinteractive learning programs completed either in person or
virtually. These activities generally have structured agendas, specified learning objectives and/or
the opportunity for interaction with other members of the profession or other professions and the
ability for the member to interact andlor gain feedback (e.g., live attendance at a
seminar/webinar, question and answer period with presenters/others while participating in the
program of study, interactive quizlcompetency examinations at a prerecorded webinar, etc.).

Structured activities include

o attending courses, seminars, workshops, presentations, conferences
o participating in interactive Internet courses, seminars, workshops, conferences, webinars
r participating in correspondence courses
o participating in clinical rounds
o participating in computer assisted learning

Mandatory Components of Structured CE

There are three mandatory components of Structured CE, as follows (a11of which can be counted
towards structured activities as outlined above):

1. As defined inthe RHPA, the practice of chiropractic is the assessment of conditions
related to the spine, nervous system and joints, and the diagnosis, prevention and
treatment, primarily by adjustment, of: dysfunctions or disorders arising from the
structures or functions of the spine and the effects of those dysfunctions or disorders on
the nervous system; and dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions
of the joints.

In accordance with section 4 of the Chiropractic Act, 1991, a member is authorized to
perform the following controlled acts:

Communicating a diagnosis identifuing, as the cause of a person's symptoms,
i. a disorder arising from the structures or functions of the spine and

their effects on the nervous system, or

I N.B. - a member's CE activities are separate and apart from daily professional activities. For example, if the
member is an educator, the preparation and presentation of classroom material would not be considered an
acceptable CE credit.

1

4



Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio

995
ii. a disorder arising from the structures or functions of the joints of

the extremities.
Moving the joints of the spine beyond a person's usual physiological range of
motion using a fast, low amplitude thrust.
Putting a finger beyond the anal verge for the purpose of manipulating the

tailbone.

CCO requires that every member participate in a minimum of five hours of CE, in every
CE cycle, that consists of structured activity on diagnostic or therapeutic procedures
related to any of the controlled acts within the chiropractic scope of practice2. These

mandatory five hours should be relevant to the member's clinical practice, but may not
include adjunctive therapies, such as acupuncture, softtissue therapies, exercise or
nutritional counseling.

2. CCO requires that every member successfully completes and remains curent with
emergency first aid/CPR certification3.

3. It is a requirement that every member attend CCO's Regulatory Excellence for CCO
Members Online/Virtual Workshop at least once every three CE cycles (or six years).
This workshop is offered free to members and applicants online three times per year
(Dates and times posted on the CCO website).

Unstructured Activities (20 hours maximum)

Unstructured activities are self-directed, independent learning activities.

Unstructured activities include:

. reading professional books, joumals, articles, research papers

. viewing/reading/listening to professional audio/video, lnternet material

. reviewing CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies, guidelines, other CCO
material

o preparing/presenting professional presentations
r researching/writing/editing professional publications
o other (specifu)

Guidelines for CE Activities

CCO requires that every member participate in CE activities that relate directly to their clinical
practice and/or professional activities. These activities may include, but are not limited to,

2 See Standard ofPractice 5-001: Chiropractic Scope ofPractice for an explanation of"diagnostic or therapeutic
procedures". Controlled acts may include the authorized activities listed in section 4 ofthe Chiropractic Act, l99I or
the authorization to operate anX-ray machine or prescribe the operation of an X-ray machine under sections 5-6 of
the Healing Arts Radiation Protection Act, 1990.
3 The minimum requirement is emergency hrst aid: CPR Level C + CPR + AED. This can be achieved through
providers such as Red Cross and St John Ambulance as a 6.5 hour classroom instruction program.

5

2.

J.



l

I
J
l

I

i

Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio

subjects such as communication, assessment, diagnosis/clinical impression, diagnostic imaging,
patient care, and specialty training.

CCO will continue to review the CE process and make appropriate changes as necessary, which
may include the introduction of mandatory elements to the program andlor approval/disapproval
of specific programs.

Documentation of CE Activities

Every member is required to 1og and submit their CE activities in the CCO member portal as part
of each CE cycle.

Part 4: Accompanying Folder

A member is required to maintain the following in their professional portfolio

o materials gathered while fulfilling their CE requirements (e.g., course outlines,
brochures from conventions/conferences, certificates, letters ofreference, receipts,
etc.);

. samples of their recent advertising; and
o the disposition reports following the peer and practice assessment

LeorslenvE CoNTExr

Health Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2 of the Regulated Health Professions
Act, 1991

The QA program is defined in section I (1) of the Code as "a program to assure the quality of the
practice of the profession and to promote continuing evaluation, competence and improvement
among members."

Objects and Duties of GCO - Section 3 of the Code

Section 3(1): The College has the following objects:

To develop, establish and maintain standards of practice to assure the quality of
the practice of the profession

To develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge, skill and
progfams to promote continuing competence among the members

Section 80.1 of the Code defines the minimum requirements for a quality assurance program as
follows:

(a) "A quality assurance program prescribed under section 80 shall include, continuing
education or professional development designed to,

996

J

4.

6



Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio

997
(i) promote continuing competence and continuing quality improvement among the

members,

(ii) address changes in practice environments, and

(iii)incorporate standards of practice, advances in technology, changes made to entry to
practice competencies and other relevant issues in the discretion of the Council;

(b) self, peer and practice assessments; and

(c) a mechanism for the College to monitor members' participation in, and compliance with,
the quality assurance program.

Section 80.2 of the Code outlines the powers of the QA Committee as follows

"The Quality Assurance Committee may do only one or more of the following

Require individual members whose knowledge, skill and judgment have been assessed

under section 82 and found to be unsatisfactory to participate in specified continuing
education or remediation programs.

2. Direct the Registrar to impose terms, conditions or limitations for a specified period to be

determined by the Committee on the certificate of registration of a member,

i. whose knowledge, skill and judgment have been assessed or reassessed under section

82 and have been found to be unsatisfactory, or

ii. who has been directed to participate in specified continuing education or
remediation programs as required by the Committee under paragraph I and has not
completed those programs successfully.

3. Direct the Registrar to remove terms, conditions or limitations before the end of the

specified period, if the Committee is satisfied that the member's knowledge, skill and
judgment are now satisfactory

4. Disclose the name of the member and allegations against the member to the Inquiries,
Complaints and Reports Committee if the Quality Assurance Committee is of the opinion
that the member may have committed an act of professional misconduct, or may be

incompetent or incapacitated.

7



414124,8:25 AM

https://app.constantcontact.com/paqes/campaiqns/email-details/details/activitv/9aa2b86e-9308-4838-aa87-a2412a20ef7b 115

Constant Contact

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOndrre des Chiropraticiens dB I'Sntario

|TEM 4.3.3

President's Message; Sepfe mber 79t 2023 - Draft
Amendments to Standard of Practice S-OO3:
Professional Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and
Feedback

Update - Council Meeting September 8, 2023 and Strategic Planning
Sessions September 9, LO,2023

CCO Council and staff have just returned from a successful Council meeting
and strategic planning sessions. Here is an update on some of our initiatives,
and two opportunities for you to have input into items being considered by
Council.

Potential Amendment to Standard of Practice S-OO3: Professional
Portfolio

The Quality Assurance Committee recommended to Council circulation of
amendments to 5-003: Professional Portfolio to include five (5) hours of
hands-on activity relating to spinal adjustment or manipulation to be
completed once every three (3) CE cycles (or six years). Members will be
aware that although there is a continuing education (CE) requirement for five
(5) hours in diagnostic or therapeutic procedures related to controlled acts,
peer assessors have observed that much of this requirement is being
completed through remote learning related to communicating a diagnosis
and/or ordering radiographs. Council approved the circulation of changes to
require hands-on learning specific to members'authority to pedorm the
controlled act of moving the joints of the spine. The public interest rationale
includes ensuring a basic level of competency in a fundamental skill that
members are authorized to perform by governing legislation.

Please review the draft amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003:
Professional Portfolio, indicated in underline on page five (5), and provide any
feedback through the p-orLal by November 19, 2023.

Ey-law Amendm ng Considered

For several years now, as been engaged in a process of systematically
reviewing, consulting on, an mending its by-laws, in keeping with the
College's commitment to regu ry excellence in a diverse environment.

As President, helping to guide th ts rk of carefully analyzing and amending
ance, all while building on the
priority.

by-laws to strengthen the College's
effofts of previous Councils, is a sign

A leading expert on regulatory performan ce rvard Professor Malcolm
Sparrow, observed that a regulatory system i ot just supported by formal
rules, but also by norms, best practices and, of al importance, community
expectations. This is why when examining our by-l we should not just ask

998



dard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio
Draft Amendments Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

999
PnoressroNAL PoRrrolto

Standard of Practice S-003
Quality Assurance Gommittee
Approved by Council: May 24, 1996
Amended: February 28, 1998, and November 30, 2002, December 3, 2009,
September 17,2015, June 23, 2017, June 22,2022 (came into effect July 1, 20221
Draft Amendments Approved by Gouncil for Distribution and Feedback:
September 8,2023

Note to readers: In the event of any inconsistency between this document and the legislation that
affects chiropractic practice, the legislation governs.

Nore: For the purposes of this standard of practice, 'omember" refers to a CCO member
registered in the "General" class of registration.

lrurerur

To advise members of their government-legislated obligation to quality improvement by
participation in peer and practice assessment, self-assessment and self-directed, lifelong learning,
through continuing education (CE) and professional development.

Oe.Jeclves

To fulfill the requirements of the Quality Assurance Committee as set out in
section 80.1 of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code), Schedule 2 of
the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA).

To facilitate continuous quality improvement through the concepts of peer and
practice assessment, self-assessment, self-assessment action plans, and lifelong
learning.

To emphasize that each member is responsible for their own continuing
competency and professional growth.

To enable the Quality Assurance Committee to assist a member with specific
remediation if it is requested or deemed necessary.

To ensure the ongoing development of CCO's quality assurance program.

@D

a

a

a

a

a

L



Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio
Draft Amendments Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

DescruprtoN oF STANDARD
1 000

A member is required to maintain a professional portfolio, which will be made available to the

Quality Assurance Committee or a peer assessor upon request. The contents of the professional
portfolio remain confidential within the Quality Assurance Committee and will not be shared
with any other committee. A member is required to complete the four parts of the professional
portfolio (as outlined below). A member must maintain their professional portfolio, including CE
materials gathered in the current CE cycle and the immediate past complete CE cycle. Additional
cycles may be discarded. However, CCO encourages every member to retain relevant materials
for future use and reference.

For the purposes of this standard of practice and for compliance with the Quality Assurance
program, it is acceptable and recommended for a member to use their Continuing Education and
Professional Development Log in their CCO Mernber Portal as their Professional
Portfolio/record of continuing education, in combination with the Self-Assessment Ouestionnaire
1.0 or 2.0 and Plan of Action Summary Sheet (fillable PDF), instead of the Fillable PDF
Professional Portfolio.

Part 1: Professional Profile / Gurriculum Vitae

Please note: this should be maintained by the member but does not need to be submitted unless
required to do so.

Personal Data: Name, Address, Regishation Number

Education: Post-Secondary/Academic Degrees Certificates; Specialties/Fellowships (if
applicable)

Professional History: Practice History and Description

Professional Membership and Service: Names of professional organizations in which the
member holds current membership, and the services and activities provided to professional
organizations (including positions held).

Volunteer Work: Service to Profession; Service to Community

Awards / Recognition

Other ProfessionalActivities: Professional Presentations; Professional Publications

References (optional): A separate sheet may be attached.

2



Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio
Draft Amendments Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback:September 8,2023

1001
Part2: Self-Assessment (1.0 or 2.0)

There are two versions of the mandatory self-assessment available for completion. Each self-
assessment process consists of two parts: the self-assessment questionnaire with accompanying
handbook and the plan of action summary sheet.

A member is required to complete, every two years, either

. Self-assessment 1.0 (recommended in the first two complete CE cycles) or
o Self-assessment 2.0 (recommended in all subsequent CE cycles).

It is highly recommended that the self-assessment is completed within 90 days from the start of a
new CE cycle. The self-assessment questionnaire is completely confidential and will not be
viewed by any committee.

Once a member has completed the self-assessment questionnaire and has identified areas that
need improvement, the member should transfer the information to the self-assessment plan of
action summary sheet. Using this summary sheet, a member shall develop a learning plan to help
guide their CE and professional development to address those items identified in the completion
of the self-assessment. Members should be aware that those areas identified for improvement or
further learning in one's self-assessment should be addressed in appropriate and applicable CE
activities in the CE cycle.

The plan of action summary sheet is a component of the member's professional portfolio and
will be reviewed by a peer assessor during the peer and practice assessment to monitor
compliance with the self-assessment process. A member may identi$ areas from the self-
assessment questionnaire which they desire to strengthen and may incorporate these items into
their CE activities.

Part 3: Gontinuing Education (CE) and Professional Development

CE activities should reflect the results of a member's self-assessment, and peer and practice
assessment, in addition to any CE activities related to professional interests, adding to a
member's strength or changing a member's practice.

A member is required to participate in 40 hours of CE over a two-year period in which they are a
member in the General class of registration for entire two-year period, as determined by CCO. In
accumulating the 40 hours, CCO requires every member to:

o participate in a minimum of 20 hours in structured CE activities (a1140 hours may be
accumulated in structured activities);

. record up to a maximum of 20 hours towards unstructured CE activities;

. record participation in CE activities in their online continuing education and professional
development log; and

3



t
1
l

l

l

Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio
Draft Amendments Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

a

1002
maintain materials gathered while fulfilling CE requirements for the current CE cycle
(e.g., course outlines, brochures from conventions/conferences, certificates, letters of
reference, receipts, etc.).

To monitor compliance with the Quality Assurance initiatives, members who are registered in
the General class of registration for that entire cycle shall complete and submit the online
Continuing Education and Professional Development Log, available in the online member portal

CE activities must relate to a member's clinical practice andlor professional activitiesl, with the
goal of enhancing a member's professional knowledge and skill.

A member is not permitted to bank hours over the two-year period (i.e., transfer hours from one

cycle to the next). The required 40 hours of CE is considered the minimum standard for the two-
year cycle. CCO encourages all members to participate in additional CE on a regular basis.

Structured Activities (20 hours minimum)

Structured activities are active/interactive learning programs completed either in person or
virtually. These activities generally have structured agendas, specified learning objectives andlor
the opportunity for interaction with other members of the profession or other professions and the
ability for the member to interact and/or gain feedback (e.g., live attendance at a
seminar/webinar, question and answer period with presenters/others while participating in the
program of study, interactive quizlcompetency examinations at a prerecorded webinar, etc.).

Structured activities include:

o attending coufses, seminars, workshops, presentations, conferences
o participating in interactive Intemet courses, seminars, workshops, conferences, webinars
o participating in correspondence courses
r participating in clinical rounds
o participating in computer assisted learning

I N.B. - a member's CE activities are separate and apart from daily professional activities. For example, if the
member is an educator, the preparation and presentation of classroom material would not be considered an

acceptable CE credit.

4



Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio
Draft Amendments Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

Mandatory Components of Structured CE

The following are

1003

mandatorv components of Structured CE (all of which can be counted towards structured
activities as outlined above):

l. As defined in the fuHPA, the practice of chiropractic is the assessment of conditions
related to the spine, nervous system and joints, and the diagnosis, prevention and
treatment, primarily by adjustment, of: dysfunctions or disorders arising from the
structures or functions of the spine and the effects of those dysfunctions or disorders on
the nervous system; and dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions
of the joints.

In accordance with section 4 of the Chiropractic Act, I 99 I , a member is authorized to
perform the following controlled acts:

Communicating a diagnosis identifuing, as the cause of a person's symptoms,
i. a disorder arising from the structures or functions of the spine and

their effects on the nervous system, or
ii. a disorder arising from the structures or functions of the joints of

the extremities.
Moving the joints of the spine beyond a person's usual physiological range of
motion using a fast, low amplitude thrust.
Putting a finger beyond the anal verge for the purpose of manipulating the
tailbone.

CCO requires that every member participate in a minimum of five hours of CE, in every
CE cycle, that consists of structured activity on diagnostic or therapeutic procedures
related to any of the controlled acts within the chiropractic scope of practice2. These
mandatory five hours should be relevant to the member's clinical practice, but may not
include adjunctive therapies, such as acupuncfure, soft tissue therapies, exercise or
nutritional counseling.

2. It is a requirement that every member complete a minimum of a 5-hour structured CE
activity. that is a hands-on spinal adjustment or manipulation activitv and includes
training in the competency of manual spinal adjustment or manipulation skills" at least
once every three CE cvcles (or six vears).

3. CCO requires that every member successfully completes and remains current with
emergency first aidlCPR certification3.

2 See Standard ofPractice 5-001: Chiropractic Scope ofPractice for an explanation of"diagnostic or therapeutic
procedures". Controlled acts may include the authorized activities listed in section 4 ofthe Chiropractic Act, l99l or
the authorization to operate an X-ray machine or prescribe the operation of an X-ray machine under sections 5-6 of
the Healing Arts Radiation Protection Act, 1990.
3 The minimum requirement is emergency first aid: CPR Level C + AED. This can be achieved through providers
such as Red Cross and St John Ambulance as a 6.5 hour classroom instruction program.

5

1

2.

3



-)

I
{
1
I
l

l

,l

Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio
Draft Amendments Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023 1004
4. It is a requirementthat every member attend CCO's Regulatory Excellence for CCO Members

Online/Virtual Workshop at least once every three CE cycles (or six years). This workshop
is offered free to members and applicants online three times per year (Dates and times posted
on the CCO website).

Unstructured Activities (20 hours maximum)

Unstructured activities are self-directed, independent learning activities.

Unstructured activities include:

o reading professional books, journals, articles, research papers
o viewing/reading/listening to professional audio/video, Internet material
. reviewing CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies, guidelines, other CCO

material
. preparing/presenting professional presentations
o researching/writing/editing professional publications
o other (speciff)

Guidelines for GE Activities

CCO requires that every member participate in CE activities that relate directly to their hisAer
clinical practice and/or professional activities. These activities may include, but are not limited
to, subjects such as communication, assessment, diagnosis/clinical impression, diagnostic
imaging, patient care, and specialty training.

CCO will continue to review the CE process and make appropriate changes as necessary, which
may include the introduction of mandatory elements to the program andlor approval/disapproval
of specific programs.

Documentation of CE Activities

Every member is required to log and submit their CE activities in the CCO member portal as part
of each CE cycle.

Part 4: Accompanying Folder

A member is required to maintain the following in their professional portfolio:

o materials gathered while fulfilling their CE requirements (e.g., course outlines,
brochures from conventions/conferences, certificates, letters ofreference, receipts,
etc.);

. samples of their recent advertising; and
o the disposition reports following the peer and practice assessment

6



Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio
Draft Amendments Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

1005
LeorslenvE CoNTEXT

Health Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2 of the Regulated Health Professfons
Act, 1991

The QA program is defined in section 1 (1) of the Code as 
ooa program to assure the quality of the

practice of the profession and to promote continuing evaluation, competence and improvement
among members."

Objects and Duties of GCO - Section 3 of the Code

Section 3(1): The College has the following objects:

To develop, establish and maintain standards of practice to assure the quality of
the practice of the profession

To develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge, skill and
programs to promote continuing competence among the members

Section 80.1 of the Code defines the minimum requirements for a quality assurance program as

follows:

(a) "A quality assurance program prescribed under section 80 shall include, continuing
education or professional development designed to,

(i) promote continuing competence and continuing quality improvement among the
members,

(ii) address changes in practice environments, and

(iii)incorporate standards of practice, advances in technology, changes made to entry to
practice competencies and other relevant issues in the discretion of the Council;

(b) self, peer and practice assessments; and

(c) a mechanism for the College to monitor members' participation in, and compliance with,
the quality assurance program.

Section 80.2 of the Code outlines the powers of the QA Committee as follows:

"The Quality Assurance Committee may do only one or more of the following:

Require individual members whose knowledge, skill and judgment have been assessed

under section 82 and found to be unsatisfactory to participate in specified continuing
education or remediation programs.

-'t

4

7



l
l

Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio
Draft Amendments Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023 1 006

2. Direct the Registrar to impose terms, conditions or limitations for a specified period to be
determined by the Committee on the certificate of registration of a member,

l. whose knowledge, skill and judgment have been assessed or reassessed under section
82 and have been found to be unsatisfactory, or

ii. who has been directed to participate in specified continuing education or
remediation programs as required by the Committee under paragraph 1 and has not
completed those programs successfully.

3. Direct the Registrar to remove terms, conditions or limitations before the end of the
specified period, if the Committee is satisfied that the member's knowledge, skill and
judgment are now satisfactory.

4. Disclose the name of the member and allegations against the member to the Inquiries,
Complaints and Reports Committee if the Quality Assurance Committee is of the opinion
that the member may have committed anact of professional misconduct, or may be
incompetent or incapacitated.

8



|TEM 4.3.4
1 007

Joel Friedman

From:
Sent:
to:

Attachments:

Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
Saturday, November 18,2023 1:51 PM

Joel Friedman; Rose Bustria

FW: Ontario Chiropractic Association feedback on Potential Amendments to Standard

of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio
OCA feedback on proposed CCO S-003 Amendments - November 2023.pdf

Council.

Jo-Ann Wlllson, B.Sc., M.S,W., Ll.B,
Registra. & General Counsel

College ol Chiropractors of Ontarlo
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronlo. ON M4Y 0E7
Tsl: (41 6) 922-6365 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E.mall: lpwlllson@cco.on.ca
Web Siter www.cco,on.ca

College of Cltiropractols of Ontario ("CCO") services cofitinue as staff follow recornrnencled health and safety guidelines 
'elated 

to the COVID-i9

globa{ panderntr.. ln offir:e setvices are available by appointrnent only. Please r.rse the ernailor phone contact infor'ntation above or, if you reqltire

urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phorre at 4i6-922-635-5 ext. 100 or enrail regeplilll}@lco.,q0:cjt

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately

CCO rs conrrnitted to p|orricfing inclusive, accornmodatilrg, arrd responsive setvices attd ertstrrittg that rrrdirridLrals ale trpaled vrrtl) digllity antl

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachmenls may contain confidential lntormation and is intended only lor the person(s) namod above. Any olher dislribulion, copying or

disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notity CCO immediately by reply e-mail and deleie all copies including any

altachments wlthout readang it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Deborah Gibson <dgibson@chiropractic.on.ca> On Behalf Of Caroline Brereton

Sent: November 18, 2023 1:40 PM

To: Paul Groulx (drgroulx@mynepeanchiropractor.com) <drgroulx@mynepeanchiropractor,com>

Cc: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>; Dianna Pasic <dpasic@chiropractic,on'ca>

Subiect: Ontario Chiropractic Association feedback on Potential Amendments to Standard of Practice 5'003: Professional

Portfolio

CAUl'tON EXTFRNAL This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Good afternoon,

The attached correspondence is sent on behalf of the Ontario Chiropractic Association, Please note that this
submission has also been submitted on the CCO Portal.

Regards,
Caroline Brereton



1 008

i

I
a

Caroline Brereton, RN, MBA (she/her)
Chief Executive Officer
Mobile: 416-346-3288
Office: 416-8704155
Email: cbrereton@chiropractic.on, ca
Web: www.chiropractic-on. ca

Ontario
Chiropractic
Association

70 Unlvenlty Ave., Ste. 201
Toronto, ON M5J 2M{

o@@0,l

li
l{

1

l

I

l

I

I

.

iD

r-
b
f-
O

2



1 009

H
Ontario
Chiropractic
Association

November 18,2023

Dr. PaulGroulx, Chair
Quality Assurance Committee
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Dear Dr, Groulx,

Re: OCA feedback on Potential Amendments to Standard of Practice S-003r Professional
Portfolio

The Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) appreciates lhe opportunity to provide feedback on
the proposed changes to the Slandard of Practice (5-003): Professional Portfolio that sets out
member chiropractors obligations regarding ongoing quality improvement by participation in
peer and practice assessment, self-assessment and self-directed, lifelong learning, through
continuing education (CE) and professional development.

OCA supports the intent of the proposed requirement that members must complete struclured
CE regarding spinal adjustment or manipulation at least once every 3 CE cycles (or 6 years),
which includes hands-on training in the competency of manual spinal adjustment or
manipulation skills. We recommend, however, that the standard (5-003) permit chiropractors the
flexibility to select structured activities and training that reflect the range of techniques and
methods they use in their own clinical practice. Furthermore, we recommend that CCO consider
a phased and targeted approach to the implementation of the new CE requirement. For
example, in the public interest, we recommend that those chiropractors who indicate limited
performance of the controlled act might be selected to participate in a pilot program of the
proposed CE requirements.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide input on the proposed amendments to the standard of
practice.

Sincerely,

C-,-r6-,/--

Caroline Brereton, RN, MBA
Chief Executive Officer

CC: Ms. Jo-Ann Willson
Registrar and General Counsel

201 - 70 Unlver!ity Ave,

Toronto, ON

MsJ 2M4

Tel: 416-860-0070
Toll-f ree : t-87 7 -327 -227 3

Fax: 415-860-0857

chiropractlc,on.ca



Proposed Amendments to Standard c' h---!r-^ c n^'' '-^'--:ional Portfolio - September 19,2023

Ql Are you a Member of CCO

Yes

No

Arr::\,'vcre(i i r:r !ikri,lleai rJ

Oo/o 1O% 20oh 30% 4oo/o 50% 60ok 'lOola 80% 9oo/o l00o/o

1010

1

LIz

ANSWER CHOICES

Yes

No

TOTAL

RESPONSES

99.110/o

0.89o/o

111

r"t1



ar
II
!

Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio - September 1.9, 2023

Q2 lf you are not a member of CCO, what type of stakeholder are you?

Ans\ tered 1L2 Sktpped 0

Member of the
Public

1011

0

l,0s

712

Chiropractic
Organization I

A% lO% zQok 30% 4Qo/o 500/o 600/o 1Qo,/o 80% 9Qo/o 100%

RESPONSES

0.000/o

2.680/o

97,32o/o

Not Applicable
(Member of CCO)

ANSWER CHOICES

Member ol the Public

Chiropractic Organization

Not Applicable (Member of CCO)

TOTAL

Ltt



Proposed Amendnients to Standard of Practice S-003: Professional Portfolio - September 19,202:

Q3 lf you are a member of CCO, how long have you been in practice?
1012

Answered 111 Skil:|:ed: 1

Less than 5

years

6 - 10 years

11 - 20 years

More than 20
years

ANSWERCHOICES

Less tlran 5 years

6 - L0 years

11 - 20 years

More than 20 years

TOTAL

OYo 'lQo/o 20o/o 30o/o 4oo/o 50% 6o0/o 7oo/o 80o/o 90% l00o/o

RESPONSES

12.610/o

20.720/o

30.630/o

36.04%

T4

ZJ

34

40

111

Llt



I

:

i
I

I

I

:

:

I

l
i

I

t

Jg
r!c

1
:.

t
!

Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice S-003: Professional Portfolio - September 19,2023

Q4 lf you are a member of CCO, what is the location of your primary
practice or residence

1013

/irrsvrereij: 1.12 SkipPed U

l

t
IIii
1

l

Ontario

Outside of
Ontario, in...

outside of
Can ada

Not Appticabte

ANSWER CHOICES

ontario

outside 0f ontari0, in cariada

Outside of Canada

Not Applicable

TOTAL

Ao/o 1Qo/o ?Oo 39olo 4On/o 500/o 60% '7Qo/o 800/o 90% l00o/o

0

1

RESPONSES

97.32o/o

0.000/o

0. B9o/o

t.790/o

r09

LL2

LIL



Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice S-003: Professional Portfolio - Septernber 19, 202r

1014
Q5 I agree/disagree with the draft amendments to Standard of Practice S-

003: Professional Portfolio

Answered: l.L1 Skipped: 1

Strongly Agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongty
Disagree

Oo/o 100/o 2Ao/o 30ok 40o,/o 5oo/o 600/0 TOolo SOYo 90% 100o/o

ANSWERCHOICES

Str0ngly Agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

TOTAL

RESPONSES

1.8.O2o/o

I8.92o/o

!6.22V0

46.850/o

20

2L

18

52

111

1/L



Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio - September 19,202.

QG The following further amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003:
Professional Portfolio would better protect the public interest:

1015

./lri:,,,'.,(.1'rr,, at !il<r1-r1,ilrr1. i:.1

#

1

RESPONSES

Tliank-yori for tlre opporturrily to llrovide feedback on these lalest proposed cltanges to
bylaws. 1, I anr opposed to changirrg pronourrs fronr herihis to their or menrber in any ol the
By-laws. ll is unr')ecessary in context to our l:ylaws. 2. I support the alxendntenl to the
Slanclard of Pracrice 5-003: Professional Portlolio regarding 5 hours of hands-on activity
perlaining to adjuslments, lo be conrpleled every six years. 3. I atrt opposed to a Norninatior'1

Corrnritlee vs allowing rnembers 1o rronrinate as process. I ant also opposed to the President
being part of this conilniltee as the President would have arr clisproportionately higher influence
over Council. 4. I anr opposed to changes lo By-law 6.9 witlr respecl to a cooling ofi period

regardirrg eliqJibitity to run for Cor-rncil. Tire change fronr 3 to 6 years will potenlially exclude the
most experierrced and conrnritted nrembers of rrur Jrtolession flom cc,nlinLrirtg seruice and is

nol in tlre public interesl. A cdntinal convictjorr as grour'iris for exclusiort should be specified,
as proposed lhe language is vague and needs to be ntore speciftc as to the llatLtre of the
charge lhat \ilould tngger ev.clusion. lf a rnenrber is ir'] a litigi.)us siluation with the CCO, this
shoulci not prevent thenr frorri rurrning lor council as the situation is only uncler investigation at
that linte. As with ouf judicial syslern, sorreone is assunted inrocerlt UNTIL proven guilty. 5, I

strongly suppotl the antendrnent which addresses the t;rpe of vote needed to pass changes to
By-laws Specifically, I sullporl a 2/3 nrajority vote as opirosed to a sintple 

'naJority 
vole lo

clrange Bylaws. lt is in the putrlrc rnterest and Ihat of the prolessron that the CCO follow this
well estab|shed rule. Sixteer] otrt oi twentyone Colleges use this type 01 majolity voting to

charrge a B),law Also By-laws are nol rreaul 1o be changed regulatly.

Thank'you for lhe ollportuniiy to pro\,/ide leedback on these latest ptoposed changes to
byla\trs. l-. I am oplrosed to By-laws being changecl to lle nrore inclusirre and neutral. changirrg
pronouns fr'onr her/his to their or nrember. Noil.lralrzrng tllis language is nonsensrcal arld
Lilrnecessary i1r context to our bylaws. 2. I sLrpporl the anrendrnenl to the Standard of Practice
5-003: Professiolral Podfolio reoarding 5 hours of lrarrds-orr activity penaining to adjuslnrents,
tc be ct;nrpleted every six years, 3, I arn opposed t() a Nomination Con'lniltee vs allowitrg
rrenrhers to nomirlate as prccess. i arrl also opposed to the Presrclenl bein0 parl of this
cornnittee as tlre President would ha've loo rl1uch oowet tntbalartce over Council, 4. I am
opposed to chanqes to By-lav,i 6,9 dealing \4/ith a coolirlg off period regardirtg eligibilrty to run tor
Council, The cirange lrorn 3 to 6 years v',ill potenlially exclurle the nrosl exllerienced arrd

comtnitted rnenrbels of our protession fror.ir continuing servrce artd is not in the public rrrteresl
A crirninal charge as qrounds for exclusion sl-rould ire speci{red, as proposed {he langrrage is

vague arrd needs !o be more specific as lo the nature of lhe charge thal would trigqer
exclusion. 5. I support the anrendmenl wlrich arldtesses the lype of vote needed to pass

clrarrges to By-lav/s. Specifically, I support a 2/3 nrajority vole as opllosed to a sintple miiorily
vole to chanqe By-laws.

Novenri:er LB,2073 Dr. Palrl croulx, Chair Quality Assurance Conlrnittee College of
Chiropraclors of Orrtario (CcO) 59 Hayclen Slreet, Suite 800 Torolrlo. oN M4Y 0E7 Dear Dr.

Gtoulx, Re: OCA {eedl:ack or1 Potentaal Arnerrdr)1ents to Standard ot Practice S-0C}3t

Professional Porlfolio The Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) apprecrales the opporlunjty
to lrovide feedback on the prol)ose(l chanqes to the Slaildatd of PracLice {5-003): Professional
Porltoiro rhat sets out nlerrber chiropractors obligatiorrs regatding ongoing quality tnrprorrernent
l)y participation in peer and t)r'actice assessnrent, self-assessmerrt and self-directed, lifelong
learrring, tllrough continuing education iCE) and ptofessional developnrent. OCA supports the
inlent of the llroposed requirement that rnembers must conrplele sirLrclured CE regatding
spinal acijustrnerrt or rlarripulatiorr al least once every 3 CE cycles (or 6 years), which includes
Irarrds-orr tlarnirrg rn lhe competency of marrual sllinal acliuslrnent or rnanlpulation skills. We

recon.]ntend, however, that the standard (S-003) pennil ch[opraclors the flexibility to selecl
stfuctured activities and tlarnilrg that retlect the Iange of techniques and rnetlrods they Use rn

their (,vvn clinical g:ractice. Funhernrote, tve recotntrettd ll)al CCO cotrsidet a plrased and

tarqeted al:lrroach to the rmplemerrtatron ol the nev( tjE requirernent. For example, irl the public

DATE

11iI912O23 5:45 PM

l1ll9i2j23 5:40 PM

1.1118207.3 12.3G PN4

?

3

rt4



Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice S-003: Professional Portfolio - September 19, 2023

interest, $'e reconllrerld that lhose chiropractors who indrcale lrmrted pelloilrance of the
conlrolled act fnight ire selected to par-ticipate in a pilot l)rograrn of llre prol:osed CE
requirernents. l ha|rk you fcrl the opportunity to provide input on the proposed anrendn)ents to
the slanclard ol practrce- Srncerely, Caroline Brereton, RN, MBA Chiel Executive Olficer CC:
Ms. Jo-Ann Willson Registrar and General Counsel

1016

4

5

I agree wilh #'s 2 and 5 and strongly disagree with tl's 1, 3 and 4.

As a practrtroner of over 20 years I could learrr a rrew adlusling lechnique llut i think tlrrs rilLrch

practice experience rrakes nre clinicallly cornpetenl. I perlorm hurrdreds ol adjustrnents every
week. "fhrs 

could be a requilernent for new grads? wthin their frrst 3 cycles. Mosl comlllarnts
corne essentially f ronr lack of or poor corrnrunicatiorr. I think a CE requirenrent around these
skills would be berre{rcial to the eiltire CCO mernbership arrci is rn the i)es1 interst ol the public.
There ale also too ntarry accessibilily baffiers for those outside major centres r.e avatlabrlity
cost, travei etc

As ar1 altefi]ative, lhe College add a paragraph to the Selt Assessn']enl PDF'9 reiteraling the
need to sell assess manual skills used in daily practice,

Not necessary

Structured CE renrain as is.

Five hours eveD/ l"-2 cycles (2 cycles rnax)

periraps better i{ only fcr those that do not adiust on a regtrlar basis.

Enccuraging different lype of CE lrafl'rir1g ts definitely lrenefrcral, however, chiropractors who
are in praclioe arc seeing patienls every clay, so they are already practicirrg their physical skills
rec;ularly. lt doesn't seen necessary to requrre sllecific CE hours to be sl)e[l In an area that
rrosI chtropraclors are workrng regularly.

, leel thele shoukl be an exer'nptror'r for practrtiorrers who have llracliced nlore thiny yeals .

They should be the ones teaching adjustirrq and likely u./on'1 change an 30 years

Shoukl include aBy therapeutic techtriques witlrin the scope ol chiropraclic arrd rrot just nranual

adjustnrenls

t',xpand ti)e scope ol l)raclice to allow DCs to work to the Iull capacity of their trarning vs.
being lirnited to a focus on a |nodality lhal has linrited uiility and interest beyond tlre
chiropractic bubllle,

Renrove the reqLlirenrenl for CPR and 5 hours of dragnostic CE inrnrediately

I irelreve these changes lo the prolessional portfolio requirements would lretter serrre the public
ilrterest, I woulrl recornmerrd 5 lrours of teCl'lnique llractrce be cornlllelefl every t\{,o CE cycles
(every 4 years). lf a chirol:ractor is in lull time ptactice and proviclilrq nranual therapy to
patierits, I fielieve lhe 5 hoLrrs of hands on techrrrque practice is essenlial io deliver ongoilrg
high quality, evidence based, llatienl-centered care,

Removal of this anrerldrnent all together

l\o anrnendrrents are necessary

I dol'l't see the need lo have 5 holrrs of hands or1 adjUsting contilruing eciLrcatron. We are not

ou{ of pfactice with lechnique and saicty. We practice all day long.

I would rather see il every 2 cycles or 4 years. Every 6 years is way too long especially for
rrcwer chiropraclots,

-ihe 5 hours ol HAI'JDS-ON carr be in any physical manipulatjon or solt-trssue technrque that
addresses ths spilic, neruoLrs syster]'}, and rnrrsculoskelelal systellr.

Cornn rr-rnication skilis

Abolish the reqrrirenrent for hands on CE every 6 years. Sea llelo!ry,

Havitrg a requitenrent lor 5 hoLrrs of CE in hands on trealrllclrt with a practical, in'persoil,
conrl)onenl. DeJ:ending on your practice, SMTirnobilizatiorr rray not lle the rnost lrseful
treatnrent nroriality, Theiefore, it is more in llle interest of the patients to allow DCs to do their
practical coursev\/ork in v,ihalever harrtls-on treatnrent is going to be o{ (he most Llse lo tlreir

ILl16l?A23 5:07 PM

L012812023 6:25 PM

IA11612023 t:2{r PM

1.0lI2l2O?3 12:.Lg Plvl

10/5/2023 7:35 Atul

L01212023 10:44 PM

IOl2l2023 9:55 AM

101212023 9:22 AM

IOlIl2023 8:05 PM

912612023 9:1L AI\4

912612023 5:09 Ah4

9l2il2An 10:16 AM

9124120?3 12:15 PM

912412023 7'49 AN4

9t22!2023 10.57 AM

912712a23 1r03 AM

912712023 7:59 PM

912112023 2:46 Ptil

u20t2423 7.52 PM

9l2O!2O23 7:42 P\4

9l2Ol2O73 2:58 Ph,l

6

B

I

10

11

I7

1B

19

12

1a

l4

15

16

2A

23

24

2/4



Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice S-003: Professional Portfolio - September 19, 20-)?

palient population. For exatnple, | \r'Jork with the RAC and lakrng a coulse such as McKenzie
wolrld lte rnuch nrore applicable 10 my patients as our program is based atourrd assessnrent
and providing hotre care options. lf lhey would benifit froin SN4T/rlrobilization I refer lhenr out
as we are nol a treatment pr'ogram.

Exfrand the 5 hour requirerrenl {or CE related to contlolled acts to 10 hours. Tl-re council's
coilcenr regaLding the use of these hours for education RE diagrlosis is ririsplaced rn nry
opirrion. Malpraclice cases alntost invariably involve issues with diagrrosis, as opposed to an
incorrect marlipulative technique, so rnrproving diagnostrc skills does rnore to protect the public

lhan SMT workshops.

A separale category of registered CCO mernbers who are not in clinical practice but rnainlain
their professional license. Differenliatiug fletween those in llractice with hands on corltact \^iith
patienis and those using their DC for olller careers

I real{y like the idea of required CE for the controllecl acts, SMT

No, nol unless a chiropractor has been reponed for one crf lheir adjustrnents.

I strongly disagree \^/ith the adnrennrent tilal we slroLrld have marrdatory Sh4T lrours. First off I

belierre this will only further lhe public lrerception that we only treat the spine. I krrow rrr nry

experience have a so many patients that are hesitar']t ai:orrl chirol:ractor and conrpletely
una\ryare tlrat cllrrollractors treat anything otner than the neck arrd back. I think it vre nrake
those hours marrdarory it r,rrrll only lle a step back tor our 1:rolessicn when othel allrerJ heallh
care provrders are looking to €xpand the scope to provade nrore access to health care such as
pltysiolherapy looking to include X-rays rnto their scope. Secorldly. I think this adrnennrent
very lnuch a regron tocr,rsed adnrennrent. When we talk about taking a contrnuing educatton
with a {ocus on St\4T this will lre very linrited to chiropracior only practicing in large city cenlres
especially Tororrto arrd close 1o CMCC. A large populatron of chirol)raclors cuilenlly workirrg rn

rural areas will be forced into travellinq to serninars adrling additlorlal cosl lhat in creates unlair
and prejuclicial favouritisnr to chiropraclors practicinq rn large city centres or close to CMCC,

As clr,ropraclors, we are the nlost trained.orr spirlal rnarlpLrlative technrques arld nlost of us,
myself included, utilize lhese lechniques daily. The risks to the plrblic are largely from nol
recogrlizing when sprnal manipulatiorr should not be used, and an allenrative slior"rld lre

employed. Frerhaps the emphasis shoLrld be on courses suilourrdirrg safety of spinal
rnanipulatiorr, corltraindications, and on learnrng other alterratives lhat rnay be eflective, but
less risky By manciating hours torrrards spinal rnanipulation, the fiessage sent lo practitioners
is one that lavours sprrral nranipulalrorr as the supelior treatnrenl option, when rrye know that is

not alwayg the case.

N4aintaining the standarri Df CE lo protecled acts.

Diagnostics regardirrg contl'andications/com1:lications oi manrpulation/adjusternenls

Ycru are assuming that ALL chiropractor adjusts with their harrds. I use an instrLrrnent lor
adJustnrents, therefor usrng the ternl "nrarrrral" does rrol apply arrd wnuld neecl to chanqe to be
rr.}ore rnclusrve ol all different types o, adiustments.

While I do ieel thal rn person leailring can provrde nrore berletils. I don't think it is somethinq
thal is necessarily acr:essible. both tinre-vvise arrd tiriancially. By providirrgl an optiorl to lrave
rernole learning coLrnt towards our CE requrrements, tlrrs helps people lrke rnysell access
trairririgs that are avajlal)le arourrd our busy schedules and $rlren nroney is a barrier.

I llersonally ltave rro issue vvith taking an ad.iusilnent course. However, continue education is

expensive and we're asked 10 evaluale outselves regularly and try and hook C E, that {rlls a

gap in our knowledqe. Mosl ot us adjust patrents every day. V(hen I do rnyself a rraluafions I

clo not leel like l{all short rn adjusting my patrei'lts. I think a lot oi peopie do radiology cor"|lses

and things of thal rrature, because it is less of a daily pafi o{ our practice to see inegular
radiographs, and therelore fills a bigger knowledge gap 1he idea thal lhe public is besl
protected by us takrng cor.lrses continuously, aud what we clo besl every da1, seerns ralhersilly
to me. I think the public is best protecteti by us taki|rg courses and refieslring our nrernories orr

the things that rire don't dr: best every day,

Keel)ing the standard of practice s'003 as iI is novr. \fue should l1o1 have to d0 conlintrrrrg
educalion in spinai manil)ulalion as this is rrot a rerluilenrent lol the professiorr, ll not a
requirernenl f or the llrofessrorr jr should not be a requjrenlenl f or tlre corrlirtuirrg education.

1017
)R 912012023 1:40 PM

9l2Ol2O23 12:02 PM

9l2Ol2O23 1I:29 AM

912012023 1li11 AM

9l2Ol2O23 B:50 AM

YIil2A23 11 48 Pl\/l

91t912023 9.40 PM

9lI9l2O23 G:47 PM

9t'1912O23 6: L3 P M

9!1912023 4:48 PM

911,912023 4;17 PM

26

27

28

29

31

32

33

30

35

-.1I
i

.l
i

36

3t4

911.y2023 3.sB PM



Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Prof essional Portfolio - September 19,2A23 1018
37

3B

J9

40

4t

43

44

45

46

4t

Not forcing us 10 do specific adjusting courses in our CE and let us choose wllat we thrnk we
need. Freedon of choice.

I can nol see any benefits or proleclion to the public with this pro;:osal. only ihose providing

those CE classes

Please do rrot nrakc arly changes.

Not all practltioners use manipr.rlation as a primary treatnent nrodality. 11 is better suited to
{ocus on appropriate diagnosis as vvell as inlegration into the health care system to provide

adequale patient management. Courses on when not 10 adiust would be belter suited!

This is very diflicull ro inrplement for chiropractors in remote areas, ie. the Nonh. l{ the CCo is

lo make lrancls on learning mandatory llley must provicle Seminars lhat are accessilrle for all
those, including those practicing in remote locations.

It should stay the sanre.

It will nol protect the public irrletest.

Maintaining the 5 mandatory hours. but making it optional lo perform iti persotr or online
semrnats

Possibly

Do not change cufl€nt CE requrrenents.

The basis f or thls arnendnrent are unlustified. A rnernbet slrould not be forced tc engage in a
CE activity that they may not ulilize irr their practice. Althouglr it is parl of the scope o{

practice, it is not a requirement lor a chiropractof to utilize spinal adjustrrents ot nranrpulalio|i
activity in their praclice. Unfortunately, this shows that the CCO council has a skewed
inrpression of whai it rneans to be a chiropractor. Please allocale iime and resolrrce into areas
ol the profession that desperalely needs aluertdnrettts, lhank you

ido not think that the Drandatory SMT iri person pollion should be an amended reqliirenrenl.
add to that list mariual theiapy (e.9. soft tissue therapy), acupuncture and oI lnodalities and i

rrvould lirrd it fiore reasonable, SMT is only one skill and in lhat it is the skill \ie llrosl oilen
use, it is likely the one leasl in need of maintenancelupgrade,

Dulnbest idea ever

This ammendnent puts arr additional burden orr clriropractors who dont practice in the GTA or
in Otiawa wl]en it conres lo nlandalory hands or1 courses

TeSt

9lI9l2A?3 3:52 PM

gLg2a23 3:43 PM

9ttgl2]23 3:20 PM

9lI9l2o23 3:11 PN/

91t912023 3 07 PM

9lLgl2o23 2:36 PM

SlI9l2O23 2:28 PM

9tr912023 2.27 PM

9lL9/2O23 2125 PM

911,912423 2:06 PM

9ft9DA23 2:04 Plr4

glI9l2j23 1:53 PM

9lI9t2O23 1:37 PM

9/1S12023 1:37 PM

911912023 12:5L PM

48

AA

50

51

4t4



.:

I

I
; Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice S-003: Professional Portfolio - September 19,2023

Q7 Any other comments 1019
/\rsv!{,r(rai ttii Si.!plJr'(l .lil

a

a

#

I
RESPONSES

Tltank-you for the opponunity to provide teedback orr these latest proposed changes to
l:;tlqvvt. t. I am opposed to By-laws being changed to be more inclusive ar'r(l neutral, clranqing
pronDLurs trom lrer/his to their or mertrber. Nornralizing this language is nonsensical and
unnecessary in conlexl to our bylavr's, 2. I supporl the amencllnent lo the Staudard ol Practice
S-003: Professronal Porlfolio regardirrg 5 hours o{ hands-orr activity perlaining to adjuslnents,
to l)e cornpleted every six years. 3. I am opllosed to a Nomination Comntittee vs allowrng
rnembers lo nonllr'lale as process. I arr also op1:osed to the President being part of this
committee as the P.esrdent rryould lrave too much lrower rmbalance over Councrl. 4, I anr
opposed to clranges to 8y law 6.9 dealing Vvith a coo|ng otl period regarding eligibrility lo rur'r fol
Council. The change fron 3 to 6 years rvill F)olentially exclude the rnost experienced and
commitled nrembers ol out profession fronr corttinuing service and is rrot in the public ir'|teresl.
A crinrinal charqe as grounds for exclusion slrould t)e specilied, as prol:osed the laugrrage ts

vague and needs to lle nrore specific as to the nature ol the charge that would trigger
exclusiorr. 5. I supporl the arrendntent \r,ihich addresses the type ol vote needed to pass
changes to By-laws, Speci{ically, I support a 2/3 rnajorily vote as opposeti ro a sinrple nrajority
vole to chanqe Byjaws.

l1 v/ould be Ureat to give rilore oplrorts ol harrds on acttvities it1 Ontario,

Please, please, please-sinrplity the CE repofting process. This is the nrost complicated and
uttrtecessalily tilne consllnring tlocess ever irnagined! When you need a iengtlry nrarrual to
understand yorir reporting process, something is very vurorrgl

Anrenclrnelil #:t: Biology is tSiology. Al'e we not primary HEALTH CARE providers? I nill not
play that "ganre", and will corrtinrre ro address rny praclice rnenrbers eitlrer by nalne, or "she"
or "he". The English WORD "they" denoles More thari One Personl We are not lo be ntessing
with lhe English langtrage or sirnple Bir:logy, especially due to lhe "prefetence" of the very lew
u,rho are experiencing rnental health issues. TIIAT slrould be addressed! Very simple. I agree
v,rith /12. Regatding t/3, the Presrdenl has a ''crrrrtlict of rnterest" here arrd will have too nuch
srruay witlr council. Again, a "no-brarner". #4r I find this By-law atlrenfjrnent lrroposal
LrrlsLtpporlable, Tlris is a charrge that will obstruct arrd exclude the most experierrced,
enthusiastic and cofi]rnilled r.nenrbers of our grro{essror.r from contlrlLflrrq there service to tlre
|:tofession. Tlris anrerrdrllerrt is clearly not i!r the publrc interest. A 3 year cooling of{ peirod
actoss the boatd is mole lhan adequate ancl is likely excessive. A crirninal charge slrould l\OT
t'equire a coolnqJ ofl period. ln this country a person is slill inrrocerrt until plorien guilty. A
crinrjnal corrvrction. ciependirlg on the nalure ol the cirnte nray l:e drf{ererrl lF the crinte is sLtch
thai rl has significarlce to att tndirridual's practrce or their abiiily to serve orr Counuil. Exanrples
ol this are physjcal or sexLlal assaull, robllery, fraud and the like where a person's tnjst is in
setlous question. Convic(io|rs sLrclr as stuirl divHg, inrpaired driving etc afe different and
slroLrld be lieatecl as such. They have no 1:earirrg orr a person's capacity on Co[ncil We have
penalties i,vhiclr ale inrposed by our judicial system. The CCO is not a penal Council, Therefore
I believe 3 years is suflicierrt. And finally with regards lo sorrreorre l\/ho is in a litigi0us srluatiorl
\'vilh ihe CCO. I believe l.uevenlin6l sorreor)e in tllrs positron should not be prerrerrted f|onr
tuntritrg for Council."[his rrolion ltas such lar reaching inrplrcations. lt seenrs cielrberately vague
atrd I believe the spirit ol lhis change rs to prevenl cerlain indivirluals frorl ever berrrg elected
lo Council. I lleher/e this clause to actually be ulrconstitutiortal.

Technique cotrpetency nrandates seenr overdue. I applaud the inclusr{rr to ensUre the pulrlrc
is ensure access to sate, UPD,\TED, e{lective adiustireols atrd other adjunct services.

The trurrber ol chiroptactors lvho srrlrply do nol adlust is rrrcreasing at an alanrlrg rale and the
qLrality ol lhe adjustnrent is decreasing. I applarrd counorl tor rnaking this anlendmelrt Council
shoLrlcl ccrnsider wrjtlng poljcy that ensures rrenlllers 619 ghs6i(inQ 1:eople's spirre arrd netvous
systern regarclless ol presentirtg conrplainl so that the practice ol chiropraciic irr Ontarro rs

consistenl oilr legrslated scogte of pracltce.

DATE

lLtI9tZAz3 5:40 PM

LLirglzAz3 3:32 Plir

tll 17l2tJ23 11i25 AM

I1t1612023 5 07 PM

11i16i2O23 2i 16 PM

2

3

4

5

6

i
:Ii
l

r_/8

1,111,317023 9:25 AM



Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice S-003: Professional Portfolio - September 19, 2023 1020
I thirrk tlrat once per 3 cycles is rnore than generorJs.

5 hours of lrarrds or-r chiropractic skills is nol availatrle tor lhose of us wlto;:ractice AMCT, AMI
is not providing in person courses and are only doing onlrne going forward. lt would be a

corrplete waste ot lnoney to have to pay tor a course doing a diffetent technigue solely to
cover yoilr requitenrents.

It is hard to believe that a DC could graduate and technically never lake a course or upgrade

their adjusling skills after school llut still have the abilrly to;rdjust ar'lyone. This is JUst a

nrinimunr standard but to pfotect the public, all Chiropractors should be consistently working on
their skills, especrally in all areas o{ our scope. Our collective knor,vledge as a protessicn and
lhe research to llack up what v're do, is always evolvirrg. lf you are not keeping up your skills
then it is the public who sutfers frorl1 riot having the nlosl up to date inloilnatron.

l-he proliosed anrelrdment to CCO Standard ol Prac{ice 5-003 in the "President's Message"
Selltember 19,2023 leaves me conlused, Ihe College email stares. "The pullfic intelest
fatioirale inckrcles errsurirrg a basic level of cornpetency in afundanrenlal skili that ntembers
are authorized ro pedornr i:ry governirrg legislation," Tlre inrplication irom this is that the Qualily
Assurance Conrrtttee believes thal the ntere act of attcnding a sen'lilrar in perso,r lor 5 lrours

ol training every 6 years will soniellow magically irlprorre the clinical 1:rof iciency ol the
rl1enrbership. This is conrpletely inconect. Marrual skills, illcluding adjuslive/nlanrpulative
skills, develop through repetitive praclice 0epetilion develops Cerebellar n]otor pallrways - i.e.

skill) not throlJgh senrinar.atterrdance. Senrlrars are an excellent way to introduce NEW
techniques or to review essential lequired skills that are not nsed by the practitioner on a

rcgular basis, but rn Nll WAY do they improve clinical skill, That is achieved olrly through
practical lranrjs"on clinical expe|ience, Chiropractrc colleges teach adjusting lechniques in the
classroorr1, but when tl'le classes are {inislred lhey do llot allow the sludents to imrnediately go

into privale practrce. lnstitutional college students rnust shov,/ a certain level of clinical
prohciency provrng relative safety lor the 1;ublic prior to graduation. Afler lhat point, only
clinical experience will irnprove their skill level wilh the techrriques that were taught. Any
rnarrual skill requires repetition lo develop tlre nrotor skiils for improvenrerrt - nol weekend
seminars, Police officers are required lo qualify wjth their sideann's once per yeal in Canada
(two times per year ln the U|lited States). This is to gLraranlee a niir-rinrurri skill level. This is an

essential skill {or the police, but some olficers may not have to draw or use their srdearm for
years, if e\/ei Therelore, their basic skill level can dinrinish. Under these circunrstances
reviewing such essential skills rlakes sense to not only protect the pubhc but the olficer too.

Police oflicers are NOT [equired to regularly attend serninars to review skills tlrat tl']ey use

every day - suclr as. tlriving the police cruiser horrr to use the radiot proper use of lrandcuffs,
etc.. ln a similar way chiropractors nlay never have to use essential skills like CPR, so il
nrakes absolute sense to review such skills on a regular basis to ensure a nrirrinunt level ol
proficiency. lt does not make serrse tor lhe nrenrbership to atlend senrinars 1or techniques the
practitioner uses every day, every week, every rnonlh, every year. even every decade on a
darly basis. ln other words, the adjusting technrques that lhey use regularly will NC)T be

irnproved rn any way by forcing the practitioner 10 attend a seminar. An analogy would be

foicing a CLrncrerl Pianisl to attencl basic piano lessons in the absutd assumptiol] that il woul(i
sonrehov,r ilrprove their perlolning abilities. ll I am wrono and sernrnar attendance does nrake
a clinician proficient with nrarrual skills then why only 5 hours every 6 years? \&ihy not 5 hours

every year or 5 hours every month? This would show the world that Ontario has the nlost
clinically proficient chiropractors anyv,lhere Who decided that 5 hours every si)i years was
enough to guarantee clinical proliciency? Where is the scientific evidence? The notion is

atjsttld anci anlounts to nothrng more than tokenisnr. Has hurnan anatornv cltarrged so thal
doctors need to learn new angles of thrust? Are there now superior techniques fur the lrigh

veloilty, low amplitude thrust that the menrbershrll needs to learn? lf so, where is the scientific
eviderrce for such a clainr? Wiry are praclitioners allorryed io attend'any'technique senrinar and

nol specifrc serninars with these lrew and iniproved adjusling stralegies? FLrrther, this proposed

anrenclment shows a cenain degree of bias. First, it implies that the needs ol newgraduates is

the sanre as experienced practitioncrs and thig doesn'l make sense. The needs of menrbers
v./ith 5, L0, 20 :i0 years experience is different lhan that ol nrembers \ivith low to no clinicai
experience. This is vvhy the Self-Assessnrent protocol is much better suited lor clirrical skill
evalualion. The practitioner is best suited to detennirie what is required for their situation.
Secondly, it unlairly burdens rural practitioners who would be torced to endure travel and

lodgrng experrses that tlreit urban counlerpatls would not. The rret resull would be resertnrent
lor the CCO tor denranding something that has r')o real nel gairr {or the public or the
rrrernbership. lf a practitioner wislres to add NEW skill sets tc their practice, the onus should
lle on tlte practitioner to L'ornplete enolrgh cor'rtinuing edtrcatinn to be clinically llroficient al

LOl3l./2023 3:32 PM

1ol3ol2a23 11:58 AM

IOit7t2O23 12:lL PM

10116/2023 1:26 PM

B

I

10

2/8



i

I

I

FI

fT

j*
i

Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice S-003: Professional Portfolio - September 19, 2023

those new technrques prior lo introduction to their practice; OR il they feel
r.ursrrre/uncorlfonatrie about their use ol sonre daily clinical lechnique they use now the onus
shor,rld be on the practrtioner lo seek assistar'lce 10 obtain the necessary additional trarnirrg.

Tlris is hest acllieved through Sell Assessrnent, r'rol by arbitrailly ordering mandatory serrinar
aitendance. lf the Coliege approves this proposed amerrdrnettt and it is presented tothe
Public, the Purblic will l:e nrislead into believing thal somehorrv the CCO is protecting thenr by
forcing lhe nrenrbership to attend 5 hours of technique seminars evety six yeals. Thrs is r']ot

orrly absurd but highly deceptive. ll will only result ir'l the College being able to presenl the
illusion to the public and politrcians thal they are llrotecling the public by imposing remedial
skill requirerrents on the rnemberslrip wilhout actually dorng anything of lrue significance (i.e,

Virlue Signallirrgitokerrism). I hate to think that the purpose ol this prollosed arnendnrent is
sirnply so the Quality Assurance Conlnittee can Virlue Signal what a greal jolr they are doing.
ln conclusron I believe the net resull of this proposal will be: . The ntisleading illusion ol
tncteased prolicrency that the College can preser'lt to the puhlic witir no real benelit to either
the puhlic or the menlbership. . lncreased protits to vendors al the exllense ol the
rrrenrbershil:. . lncreased resentment lowards llre College iront the mernbership for beirrg

torced to endure travel/lodging/tinre expense lor sonrething thal wll gain thenr neitller inrproved
clirrical proficiency or inrproved patient outcomes, Manual skills can only be rntptoved through
relletitrotr NOT by attending serrinars. Therefore, I strongly oppose thjs 1:ro;rosed anrendnlenl
and suggest as an alternative that the College acld a paragraph lo lhe Selt Assessnrent PDF'S

reiterating the need to sell assess nranual skills used in daily llractice.

You already have provisiorrs for or-rgoing education. We practice our trade daily, thousands of

adiLrslntenis every year, continually intprovirrg. lvtandatjng another requiremenl is adclitlg to lhe
f:r,ilden of a busy practrce. over requlatron is r'rot necessary.

For sectron 2 of Structureci CE hours: I think thc focus or1 nranrlal acljusting is a very llood
idea, Maybe not as necessary lor membeis in practrce more than 10 years. Elu{ ne\4r g(ads

nrust becor'lre expens rn lhis and unfortunatly fronr whal I see the schools are not making
spinal adjusting a iop priority.

It is conrpletely Lrnfair 1o exl)ect hancls on hours lor CE structured credit. Clrrropractors thal live
far lrorlh never get courses close to us so it is conrl:letely urrreasonable to expect those in lhe
not'th to have lo travel (o Toronto. The travel tirne, the travel expense in addition to the course
expcnse is unreasorrable. If CCO vvants "hands on' then il should be up to thenr to provide

courses in the nonh, I live t hours away and so|ne live even fufther than that. ln additron, after
practising over 20 yss1s, I helieve nry adjustrnent skills to be nrore than adequate.

I atn a strong supponel and advocate ol the proposed arllendnlenl hovrever thirrk that DCs
shoirlo be required to corrplete hands-on training lor controlled acls nrore olten (not every tlrree
cycles)

1:rlease clo a ltetter job of explaining exactly whal the change is and why YOU tltink il vrould be

berreficral to the public and profession

For chiropraclo|s who aie licensed bul don't actilally see patients I can see the berlefit of
hairds orr CE requrrements so they retain the knowledge and skills to lreat patienls but for all

ihose cu[ently practicrng and seeing patienls it doesn'l seem like a necessary rer,;uirernent.

ll is wilhin the putllic interest to have Chiropraclors who are proficient in ihe controlled acls
regartling adJust[19 the spir]e. To pass your Canadian boards at]d cecome a chrropractor, you

are lrever directly tested in your conrpetency in ad;usting tlle sprne which is a rnajot concern
whell rt corres to prolecting the pulrlic as tlrese clriropractors are lhen released inl0 real Iife
practice. At a nriliinlilm, I think it is irrpofiarlr to re{resh your skills arrd perha;rs learn nevu ones
related to this controlled acr and I agree with the amendnlents.

I thrnk rt rs essenlial for public satety that all chrropractors are well tfained to deliver spinal
a(lJustrnents. Regulartrarnrrrg rtr that regard is tlrtts vital to keeping the public safe.

This should have l)een in place earlier and I would love to see the houts required be higher or
more irequent.

I thtnk tt's a great icjea lo have our meritlers take adluslln(J skills seminars as the cl'riropractrc
adjustrnent to correct vertellral sulrluxations thal have an inlpact on the nervous syslem is

wlrat keeps us distinct fronl other disciplines like plrysrotlrerapy, massage tlrerapy ,

osteopathy, naturopalhy and olher body work pro{essions. We need lo liold orlto thal as a

profession. \rVe neecl to pronrote it, practise it and lletlect it,

1021

\1

12

IOtL2l2023 1.2:19 PM

L0lI2t2O?3 10:07 P.Ni1

rc1512023 7:35 AM

LO|A2A23 10.44 PM

LOl2l2O23 9:55 Alvl

lOJZlzO?3 g:22 AM

9t29t2023 6 27 PfM

9t28r2023 4.52 Pt,rl

912812023 2:59 PM

IJ

1.4

i-5

16

17

1B

10

2A

3/8

912BI2O?.3 9:06 AN{



Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio - Seplember t9, 2023 1022

23

24

21

22

26

?7

My only coricern lvith such an alrendmelrt is that all chrropraclors have equal access lo tl-tese
types ol contrnuinq educatiorr courses. lf you are gotng lo ntandate these lr pelson, hands olr
requrre[rents tl]en you need to errsure lhat ALL,rractitioners have easy access to lhe
courses. I practice rr norlhenr Onlario and getting to sernnars dowrt soutlr is more cliflicr.tll

requrring days off work to travel and added expense ot hotel roonls, Pertaps the CCO coLrld

organize road slrovvli/pe seninals like il used to do when they rolled ouL the recotds keeping
workshops.

'fhis alnendnrent is incJusive orrly fol rnarrual practitioners atrd excludes inslrutrlelrt
adjustinq/sott tissue practi(ioners

To have a requirenrent for all CCo rllenrbers lo lranicipate in harrds on trairring specilic lo SMT
would place those ilr rrou-clinical and prrnrarili, corrsultativell-rospital
basediresearchtadrrinistratjve roles at risk of ilrjuling themselves antl colleagues dLttingl

participatror't in sirch a requi|ement. They do rlot uliIze this skill and theit work likely does ttol
require {hem to do so, lt rs a rnolor skill and to think that iileguiar parlioipalion is sale {rrt the
rlerl]l:er to per{ornr on olher rrerrf]ers is illogical. lt is a ridiculous idea and rs contrary 10 otte
of the obiectives of the Stanrlard, "To erlrphasize that each niember is responsible [or their
o\,!n conlitluing cornpetelrcy and prolessronal gro\A4h."

I helier.,e this is a cash qfab {ar those selling hands crr nranipulatiorr skrlls r;ott|ses. Just like I

believe the CPR requirement and 5lrours of diagnostic CE is a cash grab {or lhose ofletittg
sarcl coutses. 'Iirere are tro rJrivirrg tests every three (o slx years. There is tro requiletrrent for
peopie to {urrd nry office every three 1o six years. Why v.,ould tlrjs arnendrnenl to CE be any
drf f erent?

l'nr regards to, " Cot.ncrl approved lhe crrculatton ol changes 1o require harrds-on leatnirtr.l

sl:ecific lo merli)ers' authoriiy to per-lonn the contl'ol'ed ar;l ol nrovrrrg lhe joints ol the spine,
The public interesl rationale includes ensurinq a basic level o{ conrpelency irr a furrdatnental
skill thal rr-renrbers are authorized to perlorm by goverrring legislation,''the CCo has ottce again
derllonslrated their lack o{ foresight and erridence l)ased lreatrilelll. Tlre executrve cornnritlee
putting foruvarrl ihis charrge in the Slandard r.rf Pracl.ice have one goal is rnincl. Marnlain a
subluxation baserJ icleology. Other prolessions do not rerFrrre their tlembets {.o undergo lltis
conlinuing educaLiori process wiLh in pelson skill training. I clo not think the profession has
colrcerns oi rnainlain nrerlbers skills but rather locus on lhe larg€ subluxation based
plolessionals keeping ther ideology vuell maintained in the profession. ll the ;:ublic s interest
was frdly considet uJe woulC look io add courses lhat prevent repeal inslances ol professional
conduct. This rryould include sexual nrisconduct, inappropriate billing and ,ack of consent. ln
rny tine i11 lhis profession, I have nol seelr cases wlrere the rnerrber \,vas broughl lrelore the
CCO because they inadequately |,rerlorrrred ail adjustll]ent. Hov,,ever, it ts evely singie year I

snc coll0aq;ues acting Unprolessionally and abLrsirrg llatienls. ll is truly an errbarrassrren! lo
have nry prof essional college blindly folJow this old and outdated treatrnenl style to keep

l:ialienls as clients. Furthermore, tlre resl of the healthcare sector sees ihis as less to do aboul
p'Jlllic's interest. ralher nrore about the rtruacks \,vho sil on this coilnlitlee arrd the poor
perception rrre {ace as a plofession

A{ter revievrinq the physicians, dentists, and nurses conlinuing education requilen'lerlls I

cannol {rnd any other college th.at lorces the learning of one of the controlled acts ol which
they pe,Jornt, Aflet discussion vvjlh mernbers of the public I anr conccrned this afirendnren{ s

purpose is to persuaoe nlenrbers to practrce a way thal aligns ro the personal tleliefs of the
chiropractors on the lloafd inslc.ad of in the besl illterest of the pubiic. The college shoul(i be

tl]o|e concerned al:Oul rliagnoslics and ille tlecision making to use spinal manipulalion or nol.
Recl,rless overuse and nrisuse of spinal manipulation ls ttle greatet risk to the llublic. Thrs
proposed arnendr]rent would also be un{airly Cifficult and rnore expensirre 1.r lhose praclrcrng in
iural lar awi,ry fronr where llrese lr person courses are offered. And tirrally I arr exlrenrely
concerned r/vith conflict o{ interesl - i{ college decisron-nrakefs or colleagues he/she has
relationships willr are operating or vJill operate these courses tot lxofi{. Howwill the colle€Je

nronitor thrs arrd lrow do v!/e holcl the colle.Je accourrtalrle if this does occul?

For years I have lleen advocating for DC's to be required lo practicelupdate/fine lune therl
adjrrsling skills. This is in tlle plrhlic rrrteresl I lronestly calrnol believe it has taken lhis long I

also llel'eve there should ile requirement in: diagnostrc inraging, diagnoslic skills, adjLrsting
skills, anrJ reporl h/rilinglconrniunication. These are alJ ft-rncjanrenial lo our llrofossion, alrd
woulrl serye lhe public well. Thank you tor adcling adjusting teclrnrques ls the requireJ'nents.

Meriliters should nol be torced to lake hands on acljustrnent courses as srjch carurses nray nol
bc applicalrle to their cuncril ernployrileni/practice. A lol Df chiropractofs do n{}{ l)ractice in the

912612023 9:50 AM

912612023 9:Ll Alr.4

926!2023 5:09 Alr4

9l25l2OV:3 10:16 AM

9l24t2o?3 3:04 PM

Sl24t2O23 7:49 AM

gl23l2j23 7:47 At'A

ao

4tB

9i22i2023 10 s7 AM



Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003r Professional Portfolio - September 19, 2nr-

tradrtronal sense or work in various rndustrres that do 
'rot 

involve trealrng palients, These
courses would be ol rro value to them, These types of course do nol etlectively prolect the
pubhc's rnterest ar]d nray actually put the public at risk, Taking a one day or weekend course in
marrual t|eatment does nol nrean thal the provicler is now proficier]t and competent to pertorm
such procedures salely or1 the public. ll rnay lead to prachtioners feeling as though they are
conrpetent enough to utilize strch nranual treatments on their Fatients and potenLially cause
harrn.

1023
i

.l
:(il
(
.,1

I

i
=f
.l 30

29

36

SMT is and should be a very powerful lool in a chiropractors tool box. lt is no longer an
exck"rsive tool, but considering the public expectalions f or it lror'il a chiropractor, lhe hne it
draws in the sand betrJveen us and nredical doctors, and tlte ever developing research
displaying tlre strong impact it has on sorTleorte's healing, 5 hours every 6 years is NOT too
much lo ask foi. Even if a chiropractot.will never be using it in their practice, it as inlportant lor
them to Lrndeistancl and appreciate the use o{ it to educate their patienls on it. I personally do
not treat babies rn nry clinic, but l've needed to research and study or'l the topic so I could
answer questions accurately, professionaliy. and encouragingly to support nry professron as a
wl'lole instead ol contlnuing to segment il or create fear about rriy colleagues I wish the satne
belweerr those that use SMT and those lhat don't.

When I do continuing edLrcation I don't wanl people practicing acljusting on me (that is
treatrnenl \^rithout dia0nosis) to altend llrese hands on acijusling courses we rnust lre willing ior
people to practice r:n us, These are nledical procedures that, and unnecessary lrearment can
canse lrarnr. I arn againsl the requirenrent for marrdaloryr hands on adjusting courses, Thanks
yotr for your urrcjersla'r{Jir'rg.

Adjusting l)erformance should be measurerl al tl're trme of the peer review I strongly disagree
v,,itlr paying for an adjr:slirtg seminar

The atllendtlent shoulcl not just strplrlate 'rnanrpulative therapy'silrce there are rnany elfective
and related soft-tissue techniclues thal need hands-orr training. Such as ART, Bowen, Cranio.
sacral therapy, to name a lew

Thougl-J the requirenlent of hands-on adjustrnqJ practrce is rrol urrreasorrable, tlre cosl of hands-
on serrinars is consirleiable and lhe avarlability ol these opponunilies is quite linrited. Many
CCO nlentbers would have lo lravel to nralor cities 1o pa(ake ln lrands-on adJusting semlnars
ancl also bear the cost ol tlavel and accornrrrodation, Currently, the cosi o{ rerrting office space
is ballooning. The ccst of ernployee salaries and office supplies is increasing exponentjally. ln
addition, chrropractors aie iacing increased compelilion lronr physical theraFist, naturopaths,
atrd osteopalhs, who also pedolrrr manipulalions, so lhat our rever]Lres are definilely not
incrcasing. ls il fair to expect chiroplaclors to pay thousands of dollars in extra lees to attend
tlrese serninars? Will CCO lle increasrng the availability of these seminars or subsidizing
therr? Would such a requiremenl not aulomatically place s.nall toyr'n chiropractors at a
financial dtsadvantage due to travel and accorrnlodalicn fees? Has CCO considererl that the
rising cost of continuing edlrcatiorr will force chirol:ractors to choose CE opponunilies tllal are
clreaper irrstead ol focr-rsing or1 the leanring goals they identify {or lhemselves in their
porlfolios? Would the pulrlic really benefit lronr extra practice with manipulalions in the
absence of rneaningful CE in lhe diaqnosis and treatment of c{isorders because chiropractors
a[e being forced to cut cosls and choose clreaper CE options?

Mandatory CE for adlusting skills rs redundant

I haye been in pracrice fot over 20 years. I don't need to take a hands on course every 6 for
surrethrng I have been doing fot 20+ years. How will lrue competar-rcy l:e rneasured in thrs
domain...and how does thrs r'neasured competancy really protecl the public? Can sorneone
"fail" or be "rrorr-proficient" in hands on treatrnelrt and slrll nraintain tlrier license, I don't see the
poinl here...have ltartds on courses as an option under tlris category ol CE bi-ri please don't
rnake this mandatory. Leave assessnrent and teaching the hands on skills to the Chiropractic
Colleges who can choose to NOT graduale this vdho are not able to deliver the hancls on skills

I fully supporl makrng our nrerrbers slay up lo date with lreatmenl options, however, we are
rnuch nrore than jusl SMTlnrobilizatron and especially in the current economy, \4rher€ we only
have so nruclr nrorrey to spend on CE mandating courses in SMT/nrobs could make it very
drfficuli lor rnenbers to undenake other CE as lhere are not a lot of options for these courses
and they ten(i to l)e more expensive. As uiell, as lhere are nol a lOt ol options tor these lypes
of courses, practitioners lvho live rn rnore temote areas rnay have to travel to tind this tylte of
course. This could easily pose a financial hardslrilr for practitioners, especially newer grads, rn

the currenl econornic climate.

912212023 8:02 AM

912212023 l:03 AM

gl2Ll?O23 9:43 PM

912L12073 2:46 PM

9l2Ol2O23 11:55 PiV

Sl2Ol2023 10:55 Pi\/

9t20t2023 7.42 ?M

Sl?Ol2O23 2:58 PIM

a1

)1

34

35

s/8



Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio - September \9,202. 1024
aa

Jd

lo

40

lnclirrling such an in persor] recluirernenl potentially discnmrnates agajnst those irr |entote
communities \^rhere travel to CE events trlay be very difticr-tlt.

I think ir !s a gteat addition. ln the wording of "hands-on" nrarripulative technique, would it allow
lor Aclivator tecl-rnique or olhet arljustir-rg techniques lhal utilize a handheltl instrilnrertl?
Thanks Jor reviewing that and ensuring those types ol adjusting techniques r,vould be included.

Every day we adjust. we're rarr:rking o| our technique. I don't leel lhe need {o pay rrote rnoney

to lean f rom sonreone else wlro also adjusts rruho nray or may not be any l)etter than me.

I disagree wtth llie ar'lrendnrent thal rrrperson sptnal rnanipttlatior't coutses sirould he a
requiremen{ 10 our colllinuilrq educalion for the tollonrng reasons l. Evidence-intorttted
practrce has led us away frolrr the spinal-manipulation foclrserj practice and towalds various
olher approaches (ntenlai health stfategies, exercise-focused, sofl tissue lechniques, etc.). As
a result, rnarry practices irnine included) are bettef served contiriuing to leanr these techniques
to help patients bes1. 2. What does in-pelsolr spinai nranipr.rlation courses even krok like? I anr

required, as an attenclant. 10 nranillulate and be nranil:ulaled by nry colleagues? As a near 50
year old rnan who stays healthy via exercis€ arrd choose not to be nranrpuiated, I leel these
courses nrighl pLrt nre in a di{licLrll position lo be pressured to be a rrock-patienl, or obliged tcr

manipulate wth nrethods l'rr rrot cornforlable. lf spirral-nranipulation conlinued education tteecls

lo be nlandalory, therl e-learning/video-leanring lrorr lrome shoulcl be an opliotl.

ll we want to gro\rv as a prolession and increase the pulrlic perception positively, lhis needs lc
be clranged otheryvise it is taking the llrotession lrack 30 yeats,

As a recenl graduate (2020), the olle area o{ learrrirrg I leel I got the besl training in was spinal
manipulation. I nranipulale spines every day. I would lruch ratlrer focus nry learning on areas
wh€te ldon'l feel as conrpetelrl. alrd on areas thal give nre alternatives to spinal rnanrpulation,
in case my palierit does i"rol consent to manipulatinn in one or more areas o{ thelr body. I do

urrderstand and agree !r/ith the need to continLre leanrirrg in a harrcls-crn way, atrd as such, I ieel

that lhis requi:ernenl shoLrld be open to all rnanual therapy (exirerxilyiTMJ 
'nanipulation,rrotrilization, sott tissue theralry, cupping. denral traction etc.) That way practitioners can still

garn hands-on skills and conlpefence, while also lraving lhe autonollry to choose \4/l'rere to
locus lherr learnrng, as they see fit. I harre fourrd that pataenls really apptectate chltopractrc
clinical experiences rrvhere their practitlorler had rnuitiple tools irr Iheir {oolbox. rather than just
olte.

Should rlot be [ranclatory to only cio CE for SMT

The nrajority d nry patrents do not receive adjust[rents dtirirrg llreir tteatn]ents, lor various
reasons, Putting 

'ly 
CE trnre and finances into this would pull away frotr olller ce thal they

uiould benefil {rorn. As wcll, it's l.iaseri rlr a very lirnilr:cl apprDach lo praclrce atrd is not
inclusrve of the realistic posilion o{ praclilioners

NJ0ne

Nol all chi.opractors live rn tlre GTA cr nrajot cities wlrere in persor'r CEs easily assessable. I

arr a rural chiropraclor, and in ordel tc do an in-per'sorr hands orr course I would have lo dnve
mar'jy hours, pay lor acconrnrodations in Torc)nto, iwhich can be up {o $600 a niglx), in loday's
ecotlomy lhis would be anotlrer pressure on rry busirress, Also, nol everyor'le practices hattds
on diversilied style of adjusting. Many use inslrurnent adjusling like ail activator To have to
take another actrvator course every 6 years feels like a iot.

Do all chiropractors nt:rrriplrlate or r:se Sli4T in their treatrrerrt pl;ins. All cltiro;:tactots tnust
form diagnosrs regarrlless ol tlrerr use o{ SMT. Ds not change standard o1 practice.

Putting in a requirernent ior specilically spinal nianil:ulation is highly reslrictive, and oultlaled.
This is fcrcing plactitioners to pLusue educatiorr in a way thal biases adiustrnents specifically
rather than ,usl what is ef{ective and supllorled by research to l)e done, Arnellding this lo
inclr"rde ALL types ol rrarripulation. or ideally manual tllerapy irr getrerai would be significantly
ntore productive Io the develollnrent of the pro{ession. Considering public opirllon in regard to

chiropraclors arld adjustrnents. this amer'rdnrent feels tone deaf to lhe real prolrlents our
pro{essiorr laces in conrl)etency. For exantple, ralely is the proficiency of a chiropractor's
actual adjusrnrents the cause/reason lor issue, but raiher the circunrstances whrch they chose
to llerfornr ar] adjustnrent (wlrerl they slrouldn't have or chosen another). Tfle idea ol tnandating
hichlyi spua,'t,a requ'renrents f or ottl CE also rerrioves Ihe autotrorir;r o'l practitiar]ers to ptactice
r,vitl-r the ntethods and rreans they leel llest sLritecj lo provide. I ad.lust most if rrot nearly all ol

9l2Ol2O?3 1;49 PM

912012023 12r0B PM

912A12023 11r11 Alvl

9l2Al2O23 9:49 AIV

9t24t2023 8.50 AM

9tL9l2O23 1r.48 PM

9t1.9t2023 g.s9 PN4

91 J912023 9.40 P [4

9lI9l2O23 8:56 P M

911912023 8:24 Pl\4

9i7912023 7:11 Pt!4

9,1912023 6.47 Pt\A

4L

42

45

46

47

48

6/8



1

j

l

ii
l1ijr
li
3:4:
IJ

E;I
IHlit.
I
E
q
i

Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Prof essional Portfolio - September 1-9,2O2 1025

49

rni, patients, yel I anr STRONGTY agairrst forcing more focus specifrcally on spirral
rnanipulation, as that time is betlel spenl by l)ractitioners roundir-rg themselves as lirst conlact

1:r'oviders, nrealril.rg rehab, diagnosis, neurology etc. to provide better outcorres to llataents
rather than focrrsing on llre specif ics of how those oritconres are achreved. Thrs makes me
f eel like you're more concelned with making llractrtioners perlonl more adjustnrents rather
than getting good results.

Regarding rer;uirrng 5 hours oJ adjustnrentlrnarripulation training: 1) I v,rould suggest thrs is
unnecessary/wasle of tirne, lf sonreone does sonrethlig every daylregulatly, I don't see the
value of training that. A carpenter (loesn'l need sperrd 5 hrs ol training eveiy 6 yrs 10 learn how
to use his hanrrer, sinrilarly Better off training a new skill/attainrng new knowledge, 2)

This is a ridiculolrs arrendmenl suggestror]. Nol all chilr-rptaclors adjusts, lt's tinre 10 evolve.

rrve have been adjustilrg tor;,961s irr sclrool and in practise and slrould not lle forced to take
adjustrnent locused CE; just doctors, PTs, nurses arrd otlrel HCPs aie not required to redo the
things lhey praclise everyday

V/hile I do leel thal in person lear|rirrg can provrde nrore benetils, I don't think il is sornethin.ct
that. is necessarily accessible, lloth tinre-wse arrd linancially. By providirlg an option to have
lernote leanring count towards our CE requrrenrer]ts, this heips people like nryself access
trainings that are available alound our busy schedules and when money is a l:atrier

I donl think arry further changes are necessary. I live in the Not1h and access io lrarrds orr

trainirrg is lirrrited ii even available at all. To nrake rne travel and sperrd thousarrds to get 5 hrs

of hancls rrn aclivity which I cJo every single day of practice is not reasorral:le. lf CCO worrld
like to reimburse for such travel and course lees, then l'd recorisider.

It is not financ,ally practical to ask us to inclucle a 5 hour SMT course, sirrce they are about
$100t1 to take, and it's already lrard enough lirrancially as a chiro no$/. We have paid enough in
{ees, tjon't adci rnoe. Unless ynu are going to oflset the oosls and olfer lree courses?

ll this is to be a rlew requirerrent, there slrould be equal oppurt!nity for hatrds-on semirrars irr
all areas of the province, l{ is extrernely rare thal any slructured semirrals are olfered rrr

Nofthern onlario for exanlple. ReqLriring lhose in rural or rernote conllrunrties to lravel for
these events rs l:riased ancl shoulrl offer alternatives or conrpensation. As lvell, it rs |rot

apg:ealing to be rn a rocn'i cramnred $/ith a lot ol people arrcl srnce the pandenrc, it rs preterable
to attend senrirtars vinually

During the last ferr years due lo lockdowns and Covid resltrclrolls in atldilion to exposrre
forded nrernbers to take online CE credits in regards to otr controlled acls. Marrdating rn

person hands orr 5 h niill only berlefit those vuho are 1:rovidirrg those CE hours. anyorle
practicing in ON would lrave had countless adlustnrelrts under their belt. Those CE 5h

sessiorrs urill not 1:rotecl the public or inrprove once abilitres. Diagnosis/x ray reading etc are
sktlls rrye can actually irnprove orr. Please look al tlls fequirernent atrd coril1:a[e it to l]re Covid
lllres.

Chiropractors graduate Chiropractic college wrth a given skill set that naturally irnproves over
tinre through practise arrd experience. N4uclr iike riding a bike, skiing, or any other plrysical
activily, physical skills inlprove over tinre l:y doirrg. Requiring coniinLrirrg educaliorr nrakes
sense for jnfornralion wlrich can be new o| lorgotterr, llut nol for physlcal skills. A doctor rrr

practise for over 20 years woLLld own a skill set vastly superior to any erluc.al0r irr a hands on

continuing educatron setting vuithout any additjonal fornrarl and lrands on trainfi1g, Further, lhere
are a linriled nurrber of such in person hands on classes and this is unfait lo doclors r'r,ho live
{ar ar|ay frorn ClvlCC even vrith 3 years lo fir'}ish the task. Doctors may v,/ish t0 learn new
lrarrds on lherapies, but they should nol be Iorced.

This amendrnent is not alJproprrale, il rs locusing on subluxalion based care which rs rrot the
vr'ay lnost chiropraclofs practice in this llrovince. You car'Ilot lorce us all to adjLrsl,

Lrvinq irr a renrole parl ol norlhweslern ontario ther.e are very few local opDortLilrities lor lrands
on training. ll is untarr to expecl thcse ol us |ving here to absorb the high cost ol travei
(flighls, car rerrtal, irotel, n'reals) in order to rlreet this new requfienrent .

Orre course every 6 years cloesn't nrake so{reone ploticient in adiusting. Charopractors
practicing {ull time see too rrany patients per year wilh ad1ustnrents to nrake tlris change wortlr
it, Additionally, it lorces cl-riropraclors to parlicrpate irr coLrrses llrat nray not be berlefrcral for
advancing education and care to the populalion.

911912023 5:40 PM

9ltgl?023 4:53 PM

9lI9l?O23 4:52 PM

gttgl2o23 4:48 PM

9lLS!2O23 4.45 Pt\A

911912023 4.10 PM

9ltSl2023 3:50 PM

91191?f]73 3:43 PM

9i3.9t2023 3 20 PM

SlLgl2Oz3 3:11 PM

Sll9l2023 2:54 Pl\4

50

51

5Zij
-l

l

54

55

56

qo

59

60

7 t8

911912023 2:36 PM



Proposed Amendments to Standard of Practice S-003: Professional Portfolio - September 19, 20. 1026
ht This is a waste ol time and money lo have this included in requirements, The majority of

"adjusting" courses are inltre states and easily cost over$1000,00 USD, plus takinE into
account travel expenses. lt is a giant waste of time and ntoney fot us to t'lave lo do this. The

l:est way to inrprove adjusting, is to sinrply do il, which is what we all do in our clinics every

single day. Paying thousands of dollars to sonre inslruclor to teach a differerrt way of moving

our hands is ridiculous.

Not all practitioners may be capable oi performing SMT due to disability or perhaps their
particular case load

Sonie chiropracaors practice entirely Activator Methods form of sprnal adiusttnenls. Tlris

arrendnlenl specifically uses "hands on, and manual" terminology. Some chiropraclols do not

adjrrst "hands on crr nranually" The v,rording should be .evised to allow lor insirumenl-based
techniques (srrch as Activa{Dr [r]ethods).

This change puts undo pressure on chirollractors to spend lime and money in order to
complete CE hours which nray or may not be relevant to lheir practice. lt creates unreasonable
llarriers lo cornpletron of CE hours and is highly prescriplive in a way that urldermines oul

;:rof essional choices.

please see above

Shouldrr't you lealn how to adjust people during your school education. What ntin chiropractor
came up with this stupid idea of adJusting credits? Dolr't we have belter and tnore inlpoftatlt
things io worry about? Should be enrbarrassed even proposing this

ll can be very difticull to tit'!d related courses when you live 2+ hours away f ronr live course
offerings on suclr topics. lt's hotel stays and olterr clinic closutes to do so.

Test

9lLg?A23 2:28 PM

9t15t2023 2.25 PM

9/13/2023 2:08 PM

9l7Sl2O23 2:06 PM

Sl79l2O23 2;04 PM

911912023 1:37 PM

9/79t2A23 1:37 PM

511912023 12r51 PM

62

63

64

65

bb

67

6B

8/8



1027
Joel Friedman

From:
Sent:
To:
SubJect:

I counoN EXTERNAL: This email origlnated frorn outside of the

I 
verified the sender lnd know the-content ls safe.

Dr. Adrian Robichaud,
Tuesday, September 19,2023 1:45 PM

cco.info
Re: President's Message: September 19, 2023 - Dralt Amendments to Standard of

Practice S-003r Prolessional Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and Feedback

organiration. Do not cllck links or open attachments unless you have

Hello,

I practice technlque with a colleague every week, lt adds up to well over 5 hours every six years. Does this count?

Kind Regards,

Dr. Adrian Robichaud
Roblchaud Chlropractic & Orthotics
179 King Street East

Oshawa, Ontario LlH 1r?

905-571-0821;,
lf you are happy with our service please glve us a revlew at Facebook. Goosle or wherever you give reviews

On 2023-09-19 1:30 p.m., College of Chiropractors of Ontario wrote:

t3

President's lfessage: September 79t 2023 - Draft
Amendmenfs to Standard of Practice S-OO3:
Professional Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and
Feedback

Update - Council Meetlng September 8, 2023 and Strategic Planning
Sessions Septernbet 9, LO,2O23

CCO Council and staff have Just returned from a successful Council meeting
and strateglc plannlng sessions, Here is an update on some of our initiatives,
and two opportunities for you to have input into items being considered by
Council.

Potentlal Amendment to Standard of Practice S'OO3: Professlonal
Portfolio



1028
Joel Friedman

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Joel Friedman

Monday, November 13, 2023 7:12 AM
Joel Friedman
FW: Feedback On Proposed Changes to Standard 5-003

-il
-t
j

Joel D. Friedman, BSc, LL.B

Deputy Registrar
College of Chlropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, Ontario M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 104

Toll Free: L-877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
€-mail; ifriednlan@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on,ca

C[,o is contnltted to providinB inclrrsive, acconrnlodatinB, and resporrsive services ancl ensuring that rn(iividuals a'e treated with dignity and
respect Please contact us if you require accolnrnodatiorrs, Plcase ensure tliat all corrnrtrrrrcations with CCO are respectful and t:rofessional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mall includlng any altachments may conlain confidential information and is intended only tor the person(s) named above. Any
disclosure is shiclly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error. please notlfy CCO immadiately by reply o-meil and delete all
atlachmonls without roeding il or making a copy. Thank you.

other dislributlon, copying or
copies including any

From:

Sent: Tuesday, November 7,2023 5:03 PM

Tol cco.info <cco.info@cco,on.ca>

Subject: Feedback On Proposed Changes to Standard 5-003

CAUT|ON EXTERNAT: This email origlnated from outslde of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have
verified the sender and know the content is safe.

I am speaking against the changes proposed to Standard S-003

The "lntent" of Standard 5-003 is stated as; "To advise members of their government-
legislated obligation to quality improvement by participation in peer and practice
assessment, self-assessment and self-directed, lifelong learning, through continuing
education (CE) and professional development."

From this it is clear that one of the central themes of Standard S-003 is the
development and implementation of a self-directed, structured continuing education
plan based on a self-assessment of a practitioner's strengths and weaknesses,

The proposed changes to Standard S-003 work against the principles of self-
assessment and self-direction. By making it "a reguirement that every member

1



1029
complete a minimum of a S-hour structured CE activity, that is a hands-on spinal
adjustment or manipulation activity and includes training in the competency of manual
spinal adjustment or manipulation skills, at least once every three CE cycles (or six
years)", the Standard/CCO is now directing a practitioner's continuing education
instead of allowing it to be the result of the self-assessment and self-direction process.

ln the CCO President's September 19,2023 newsletter it is stated that these changes
are required because; "The public interest rationale includes ensuring a basic level of
competency in a fundamental skill that members are authorized to perform by
governing legislation." During a chiropractor's education, training in hands-on spinal
adjustment or manipulation is forefront throughout the four years of training. All
accredited chiropractic educational institutions require more than a "basic level of
competency" to graduate. Once a chiropractor is in practice these procedures are
peformed on a daily basis. Most practitioners will, on their own, supplement these
abilities with additional training as a matter of course and as a result of their self-
assessment.

According to the President's newsletter, it is feedback from the peer assessors that is
being used to question the competency of the members with regard to spinal
adjustment or manipulation and to justify the need for the changes to this standard. To
my knowledge the peer accessors are not assessing the level of competency of the
CCO members with regards to spinal adjustment or manipulation. This brings into
question how this change can be recommended based on their feedback? The reality
is there is nothing that a chiropractor is better trained in than spinal adjustment or
manipulation skills, How can such a change to the Standard be made, to correct a
problem, without identifying that there actually is a problem?

ln conclusion and to summarise, I don't agree with the changes proposed for Standard
$-003. From a competency perspective the CCO has not shown that there actually is
a problem that needs to be addressed,

lf "self-assessment and self-directed, lifelong learning, through continuing education
(CE) and professional development" is still the "lntent" of Standard of Practice 5-003
than these recommended changes stand as a contradiction to those principles.

Sincerely

Thomas Gadsby

2

Dr, Thomas A, Gadsby 8,Sc., D.C.



i

I

l

l
1II
3

li
cI
a

Beamsvllle Pain Rellef Chiropractle
Phone:905-563-8558
E-Mall: r

j

I
l

1 030



Joel Friedman

From:
Sent:
lo:
Subject:

Dr. Surbjit Herr
Friday, February 2,202412:08 PM

cco.info
Technique

1031

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hl missed the deadtine for the by law on technique/ adjusting requirements

lwanted to add I betieve there shoutd be a minimum requirement for technique that alt members must
meet.

That they are required to do a minimal. amount of hours to keep their ticense. At least the minimum that is
equivatent to the CPR course hours.

Lastty I woutd tike to add that not onty shoutd it be togged but assessed as part of the Peer assessment.

thanks

Dr. Surbjit Herr
Neuro -Structural Ch iropractor

Capital Chiropractic

61 3-695-4377

rr
https://www. mvcapitalchiro.ca/

Capital Chiropractic suite 501

PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL: This document and the information
contained here-in are confidential and protected from disclosure pursuant to
federal law. This message is intended only for the use of the Addressee (s)
and my contain information that is PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL. lf
you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that the use,
dissemination or copying of this information is strictly prohibited. lf you have
received this communication in error, please erase all copies of the
message and its attachments and notify the sender immediately.



ITEM 6.1 1077
CITATION: Casella v. Ontario (College of Chiropodists),2024 ONSC 899

DMSIONAL COURT FILE NO.2 332123

DATE:20240216

Sachs, Backhouse and Lococo JJ.

BETWEEN:

Angelo Casella Howard L. Krongold andZoti Hountalas for
the Appellant

-and-

The College of Chiropodists of Ontario Amy Block for the Respondent

Respondent

HEARD at Toronto via video conference:

January 16,2024

By the Court:

Overview

l. The Appellant, a licenced chiropodist, appeals from misconduct findings of the Discipline

Committee (the "Committee") of the College of Chiropodists of Ontario ("the College" or

"the Respondent") dated January 13, 2023 (the "Liability Decision"), reported at 2023

ONCOCOO 1 (CanLII). He also appeals from the costs award of $70,000 dated May 13,2023

("Costs Decision"), reported at 2023 ONCOCOO 4 (CanLII). The Appellant was found to

have failed to comply with a 2021 Discipline Order that suspended his certif,rcate of
registration for seven months for engaging in inappropriate business practices, offering

inappropriate cash incentives to patients and submitting false documentation to the insurance

company with the intention that the patients' benefit plan pay for the incentives.

2. The Appeilant submits that the Committee erred in finding that he violated his suspension by

getting paid a modest salary by his professional corporation during the period of his

suspension for working at his clinic with no patient contact and performing tasks that a non-

professional staff member could perform. While the Appellant admitted that his website

continued to describe him as a "chiropodist" during the period of his suspension (and that this

supported one count of misconduct), he argued that this was an oversight and that the

Committee erred in finding that this supported three other misconduct findings.

3. The Appellant also seeks a reduction in the costs award. He argues that the costs awarded

were unreasonable and disproportionate.

-:c
$
U
O')
O)

(_,
0z
O
$N
O
C.J

Appellant

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)



I

1078
4. For the reasons set out below, the appeal is dismissed. In summary, the Committee did not err

in finding that the plain and ordinary meaning of suspension is a temporary removal of the
member from their practice. A member who is suspended is required to either close their
practice or transfer it to another. A member cannot subvert a suspension by continuing to hold
themselves out as a practicing chiropodist, continuing to assume responsibility for regulated
activities such as sterilization of medical instruments, and continuing to compensate
themselves from the practice of chiropody by payrng themselves a salary from patient-
generated revenue. The College is duty bound to regulate the profession in the public interest.
The question of what constitutes professional misconduct falls squarely within the bailiwick
of the Committee.

5. Section 53.1 of the Health Professions Procedural Codel (the "Code") confers on the
Committee broad discretion to order costs against a member. The Committee's costs award is
entitled to significant deference; a court should not interfere unless the adjudicator made an

error in principle or was plainly wrong. There are no grounds to interfere with the costs award
in this case.

Background

The 2021 Discipline Proceeding

6. In a June 25,2020 Notice of Hearing, the College alleged that the Appellant, a licensed
chiropodist practicing in Hamilton, engaged in professional misconduct from approximately
August 2019 to January 2020. The particulars of those allegations are set out in the
Committee's Decision and Reasons dated August 5,2021, reported at 2021ONCOCOO 5

(CanLII). The Appellant admitted that he offered and provided a cash incentive to patients for
the purchase of orthotics, charged excessive costs to insurance companies and failed to
provide adequate or any follow-up care to his patients. On June 15,2021, the Committee
accepted the parties' Joint Submission as to Penalty and Costs (the "June 2021 Order"), which
terms in part were:

2. An order suspending the Member's certification of registration for a period
of seven (7) months commencing thirty (30) days following the date of the
Discipline Committee's decision;

3. An order directing the Registrar to impose terms, conditions, and limitations
on the Member's certificate of registration requiring the following:

(a) The Member is prohibited from imaging, casting, prescribing,
constructing, fitting, dispensing and/or ordering the fabrication of
orthotics for a period of twelve (12) months (the "Restricted Period"),
which will commence at the conclusion of the Member's suspension
period referred to in paragraph2 above. The Member is additionally not
entitled to assign these duties to anyone else in his clinic, regardless of
whether he receives a fee or not, during the Restricted Period, but shall

::c
00

O
O')

O
(f)
z
o
s"N
O
c.l

1 Health Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2 of the Regulated Health Professions Act, I99l , S.O. 1991, c. 18.



1 079
refer such duties to another member of the College in good standing at
another clinic not affrliated with the Member's clinic.

(b) At his own expense, the Member will receive supervision of his
chiropody practice with a supervisor approved by the Registrar for a
period of twelve (12) months from the date on which the Member
refurns to practise from the suspension. The terms of the supervision are
as follows: ...

7. The Appellant's seven-month suspension did not begin immediately following the June 2021

Order. He was granted a 30-day stay of the suspension for the express purpose of allowing
him time to either properly close or transfer his practice to others.

The College's Discontinuation of Services Advisory

8. The College's Discontinuation of Services Advisory, which was posted on the College's
website, provided members with guidance on the steps required to close their practices,
including in circumstances related to licence revocations and suspensions. This included
notification to patients regarding the closure of the practice and the transfer of records and
patients to another member of the profession. The Advisory also reminds persons who are

suspended that they are not permitted to say that they are a member of the College and/or use

the title "chiropodists" or "podiarists" and that this is an offence under the Chiropody Act,
1991, S.O 1991, c. 20. The Appellant's evidence is that he did not consult the Advisory on
being suspended.

9. Shortly after the Appellant's first suspension terminated, the College adopted Suspension

Guidelines which state, among other things, that a suspended member must not benefit or
profit from the practice of chiropody. The Deputy Registrar, Meghan Clarke, testified at the
hearing that Suspension Guidelines were adopted because there was a need to clarify for
members who were suspended "what practicing meant and what they could do and could not
do in their hiring a locum". Ms. Clarke's undisputed evidence was that the Guidelines merely
set out the College's expectations for conduct during a suspension; it did not alter members'
existing obligations or the College's interpretation of those obligations prior to its adoption,
which that College says were the same as set out in the Guidelines.

10. The Appellant relies upon the fact that the Suspension Guidelines did not exist during his
suspension and were only adopted three days after his first suspension terminated. His
submission is that during his suspension, there was no prohibition on benefitting from the

practice of chiropody and a suspension did not necessarily imply such a prohibition.

The Appellant's Health Profes sion Corporation

11. Before and throughout the suspension, the Appellant operated his clinic through his health
profession corporation. He was, and continues to be, the sole owner of the clinic.

12. Aprofessional health corporation is a particular kind of corporation created by statute. Under
the Code, one or more members of the same health profession, including chiropodists, may
establish a health profession corporation "for the purpose of practising their health

-:c
(r0

O
O)
O)
@
O
(h
z
o
\i-
N
O(\



q

l
I

:

1 080
profession." Unlike a regular corporation, a health profession corporation owned by a

chiropodist must be fully owned by one or more chiropodists and cannot carry on a business

other than the practice of chiropody.2 Chiropodists are only permitted to practise through

health profession corporations upon receiving a certificate of authorization from the College.

While the Appellant notes that his certificate of authorization was not revoked by operation

of his suspension, as set out in the Code, a member's professional obligations apply equally

to their corporations, and to its directors, officers, shareholders, and employees, and are not

diminished by the fact that a member is practicing through a health corporation. The Code is

explicit that "[i]n the course of practising a health profession, a health profession corporation

shall not do, or fail to do, something that would constitute professional misconduct if a

member of the health profession did, or failed to do, it."3

13. The Appellant's clinic remained open during the suspension period. The Appellant entered

into oral contracts with locum chiropodists who were compensated by the Appellant's
corporation on a per-patient basis. The locums were not involved in the management of the
clinic. Throughout the suspension, the Appellant, through the corporation, processed the
payments of patients treated by the locums into the clinic's bank account which he controlled.
The Appellant paid the locums by cheque a percentage of patient-generated revenue. From
the remaining amount of these patient generated revenues, throughout the suspension period,

he paid clinic expenses, his own salary (which was the same as the salary he paid himself prior
to his suspension) and accrued vacation.

The Clinic's Website

14. The Appellant failed to amend the clinic's website during the period of his suspension. The

Appellant's position was that this was an honest mistake. The Appellant's evidence was that

the only way to book an appointment through the website was to phone the clinic where the

person would have been told that they would not be seeing the Appellant because he was not
practicing chiropody. The Appellant submits that there was no evidence that any patients were

misled as a result of the website.

15. Through his website, the Appellant identified himself to the public as a chiropodist, held

himself out as practising the profession and advertised that his chiropody services were

available at the clinic, including by making the following statements:

a) "Chiropodist Angelo Casella does an initial assessment and provides a

treatment plan to reduce pain and prevent foot problems.

b) Angelo Casella, BSc. D.Ch. MSc. (Podiatry).

c) Angelo Casella recently completed his Masters in Podiatry GVISc. Podiatry)
from Queen Margaret University.

d) Angelo has been providing a wide range of foot care for his Hamilton area

patients, including orthotics and orthopaedic footwear, since 1990.

2 Code,s.85.11(1)
3 Code, s. 85.14.

=_lc
O
O)

O6z
o
vN
O(\



1 081
e)

0

We provide a full range of orthotic inserts (from soft accommodative to firm
support braces) for all ages.

With proper assessment and routine foot care by a qualified Chiropodist,
many of these diabetic foot complications can be treated and/or prevented.
At the West Mountain Footcare Clinic, we see many diabetics for routine
foot assessments and treatment.

Feel free to make an appointment for a foot assessment and treatment plan.

fHave] your doctor fax a referral to our office, 905 538-6805.

We assess all foot injuries and provide personalized treatment plans to assist
in recovery."

16. The Appellant was the only chiropodist identified on the clinic's website as available to
offer these services. While the Appellant asserted that through inadvertence, he kept his
website live during his suspension, he acknowledged on cross-examination that he did not
take his website down even after having been notified of the concern during the College's
investigation.

Appellant's activities at the clinic during the suspension

17. Throughout the suspension, the Appellant attended at the clinic outside of business hours for
the purpose of cleaning, sterilization of medical instruments and administrative tasks.

The Committee's Liability Decision

18. On January 13, 2023, the Committee found that the Appellant engaged in professional
misconduct by not fully abiding by the terms of the June 202I Order. More specifically, the
Committee found that during the period from about June202l to February 2022, the Appellant
engaged in professional misconduct by: signing or issuing, in the member's professional
capacity, a document that contains a false or misleading statement; contravening sections of
the Chiropody Act and' the Regulated Health Professions Acf or regulation under those Acts;
engaging in conduct or performing an act, in the course of practising the profession that,
having regard to all the circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as

disgraceful, dishonourable, or unprofessional; and failing to comply with an order of the
Complaints Committee, the Discipline Committee or the Fitness to Practise Committee.

19. The Committee found that:

The Member failed to adequately remove himself from the practice of chiropody
during his period of suspension, contrary to the June Order. In particular, his failure
to revise his Clinic's website, his continued involvement in sterilizing instruments
at the Clinic, and his decision to continue to collect a salary from his health
profession corporation effectively violated the June Order and amounts to
professional misconduct, as alleged.a

s)

h)

i)

-:c
$
O
o)
o)
cO

C)
0

sN
O
c.l

4 Liablliry Decision, atparc. 4.



1 082
20. The Committee accepted that the Appellant "took adequate steps to ensure that he did not

perform any chiropody services himself while he was suspended"s but found that "engaging

in the practice of chiropody includes more than simply performing a chiropody service on a
patient. ln the Committee's assessment, it also includes continuing to hold yourself out as a

chiropodist and doing things that only a member of the College or a person supervised by that

member can do."6

21. The Committee held that sterilizing instruments was contrary to the June 2021 Order because

such sterilization is "govemed by the Infection Control Standard of the Practice and is limited
to members of the College or to members' staff, delegated to do so and who are overseen by
a member" whereas the Appellant o'undertook this task without transferring responsibility for
the supervision or monitoring of the sterilization process to a current member."7 The

Committee also held that the Appellant's "decision to continue to receive a salary from the

revenue generated by the chiropody services performed at the Clinic is contrary to the intent

of the June Order."8

The Committee's Penalty and Costs Decision

22. In its Penalty and Costs Decision dated May 13,2023, the Committee found that a $70,000

costs order against the Appellant, payable over 24 months, was reasonable. The Committee

found that the Appellant's actions "did not amount to compliance and revealed a disregard for
his professional obligations and for the Discipline Committee's process."e The Committee

further wrote:

It is important that fthe Member] and the membership at large understand that
compliance with orders made by College committees is at the heart of professional
self-regulation. The Member did not comply with the June Order. He continued to
benefit from the practise of chiropody. The penalty must be sufficiently serious so

as to deter such behaviour.lo

Issues

23. The Appellant raises the following issues on this appeal:

1. Did the Committee err by finding that the Appellant breached the June 2021 Order by
benefitting from the practice of chiropody?

2. Did the Committee err by finding that the Appellant engaged in prohibited actions with
respect to medical instruments or sterilization equipment?

5 tiability Decision, atpara.29.
6 Liability Decision, at para. 30.
7 Liability Decision, atpara.32.
8 tiability Decision, atpara.40.
e Penalty and Costs Decision, atpara.22.
l0 Penalty and Costs Decision, atpara.23

-Jc
!)
o,
cl)
co

Oaz
o
s'N
O
c,l



1 083
3. Did the Committee err by finding that the Appellant's failure to update his website supports

four misconduct findings?

4. Did the Committee err in its Costs Decision?

Court's Jurisdiction

24. The Divisional Court is authorized to hear appeals on questions of law or fact or both with
respect to proceedings before the Committee and has all the powers of the Committee that

dealt with the matter: Code, ss. 70(1) and (2).

Standard of Review

25. In accordance with Housen v. Nikolaisen,2002 SCC 33, 1200212 S.C.R. 235,the standard of
review is correctness on questions of law, palpable and overriding effor on findings of fact,

and palpable and overriding effor on questions of mixed fact and law (absent an extricable

question of law).

26. To the extent the issues raised on this appeal challenge the Committee's findings that the

Appellant failed to comply with the J:ur;re 2021Order, including the Committee's assessment

of the Appellant's conduct during the period of suspension, the appeal raises a question of
mixed fact and law reviewable only for palpable and overriding error.ll Palpable and

overriding error is a highly deferential standard which recognizes the expertise and

competence of the Committee.l2

27. The standard of review that applies to an appeal of a costs award is one of considerable

deference. A costs award should be set aside on appeal only if the adjudicator made an error
in principle or was plainly wrong: Kennedy v. College of Veterinarians,20lS ONSC 3603, at

para. 24, citing Hamilton v. Open Window Bakery Ltd.,2004 SCC 9, l2004l l S.C.R. 303, at

paru.21.

Analvsis

Issue 7: Did the Committee err by Jinding that the Appellant breached the June 2021

Order by benelining from the pructice of chiropody?

28. The Appellant submits that at the time of his suspension, there was no regulatory prohibition
on a suspended member benefitting from the practice of chiropody by others. While it was

submitted in the Appellant's factum that professional discipline statutes are to be strictly
construed, at the hearing of this appeal, counsel for the Appellant conceded that a broader

interpretative approach is the correct approach, namely the balancing of the public interest and

the fair hearing rights of the accused, as set out in in Court of Appeal's decision in Abdul v.

Ontario College of Pharmacisfs, 2018 ONCA 699,742 O.R. (3d) 682, at para. 18.

tr Law Society of Ontario v Diamond,2021 ONCA 255,458 D.L.R. (4th) 603, atpara.39
t2 Housen, at paras.l2-13.

-J
C

t)

O
@
Oaz
O

N
O
N



i

1084
29. It is settled by the Supreme Court that professional discipline proceedings are not criminal (or

quasi-criminal) in nature.l3 Successive Supreme Court and Court of Appeal decisions call for
a broad and purposive approach to interpretation, to permit professional disciplinary bodies to

fulfill their onerous public protection mandate.la As the Court of Appeal has confirmed on

multiple occasions, the Discipline Committee of the College is required to interpret its powers

"with a view to protecting the public interest in the proper regulation of the profession".ls

30. The Appellant argues that nothing in the regulatory framework necessarily implies that a
suspension always prohibits a suspended member from benefitting from the practice of
chiropody. The Appellant submits that the Code provides flexibility to the health professions

to tailor regulations which address what each profession's members who are suspended can

do regarding benefitting from the practice of their profession during suspension. The

Appellant argues that it is not self-evident from the legislative scheme what a suspension

entails. He submits that either promulgating regulations or setting this out in the order of
suspension is required, neither of which was present here.

31. Approximately half of Ontario's health profession colleges specifically hold that it is

professional misconduct for a member to benefit from the practice while under suspension,

although all but one offer an exemption if the member discloses the benefit and obtains

permission. The Appellant submits that if suspension necessarily precludes a suspended

member from profiting from the practice during their suspension, the colleges would not have

the authority to make an exemption. The Appellant argues that he was not on notice that he

could not be remunerated for the work that he performed at the clinic while suspended (which
he characterized as mostly janitorial services). The June 2021 Order did not prohibit the

Appellant from benefitting from another's practice of chiropody, and the Appellant should not
be bound by the intent specified by the Committee after the fact in deciding the Liability
Decision.

32. The Committee acknowledged that the College did not have written suspension guidelines in
place at the time of the Appellant's suspension and that it therefore did not measure the

Appellant's conduct against the Guideline for Suspension approved after the completion of
the Appellant's suspension. The Committee also accepted that there was no specific guidance

offered by the College at the time to clarify for the Appellant how and to what extent he could
continue to use his corporation to maintain his clinic. However, it found that if he had any
questions, he had resources available to him, including the College and his counsel. The

College's uncontradicted evidence, as noted above, was that the Guidelines merely formalized
for members the options available to them: while suspended, the member either closes their
practice or transfers the practice to a locum but is not permitted to profit or benefit from that

engagement.

13 Law Society of Saskatchewan v. Abrametz,2022 SCC 29, 470 D.L.R (4th) 328, at paras. 48, 54.
ta Pharmascience Inc. v. Binet, 2006 SCC 48, 120061 2 S.C.R. 5 13, at paras. 35-36; Sazant v. College of Physicians
and Surgeons of Ontario,20l2 ONCA 727, ll3 O.R. (3d) 420, at paras. 93-101; Gore v. College of Physicians and
Surgeons of Ontario,2009 ONCA 546.96 O.R. (3d) 247,atparas.77,29.
Is Abdul, at. 76; Sazant, at para. l0l.

-Jc
L)
o)

Oa7
o
ril
C\
O
cd



1 085
33. The Committee accepted that there was no prohibition against the Appellant using his

corporation to issue invoices, pay staff and locums and to maintain the clinic's business

operations. But it found that by authorizing his corporation to pay him a salary from funds

derived from chiropody services throughout the period of suspension, the Appellant violated
the intent and purpose of the June 202I Order.

34. The fact that other health colleges have passed a regulation enumerating "benefiting or
profiting from the practice of the profession during a suspension" as a separate head of
misconduct is not determinative as to whether the Appellant failed to comply with the June

2021 Order. The fact that the College had not enacted regulations creating an independent

head of misconduct for "prohibiting a member from benefiting during suspension" does not
mean such conduct may not be captured elsewhere, under a more general head of misconduct,
such as "failing to comply with an order of the "Discipline Committee."

35. The Appellant was advised that he was required to either wind down his practice and close it
for seven months, or transfer it to a locum chiropodist who would assume responsibility for
its operations. The Committee found in its Liability Decision:

41. The Member was present for the hearing which resulted in the June Order. The

hearing was a consent hearing, meaning that the Member admitted to the allegations
before that panel and was presumably involved in the discussions and negotiations
which ultimately led to the terms set out in the June Order. He knew or ought to
have known that the June Order, including the lengthy period of suspension was

meant to be onerous.

36. The Appellant was found in the lune 2021Order to have engaged in inappropriate business

practices, offering inappropriate cash incentives and submitting false documentation with the
intention that a third party fund these incentives. There is nothing unreasonable in the
Committee's assessment that the Appellant's ensuing suspension would be significantly
denuded in its effect if he was permitted to continue to engage in and profit from the practice

of chiropody during the period of suspension.

37. The context in which the Committee found the Appellant to have breached the June 2021

Order by benefitting from the practice of chiropody is important. His June 2021 suspension

was based on a finding that he engaged in fraudulent business practices. The Appellant
admitted to the Committee that throughout the period of his suspension pursuant to the June

2021 Order, he continued to hold himself out to the public on his website as a chiropodist.
This cannot be characterized as a mere oversight. The website was the Appellant's primary
presentation of himself to the public as a professional where he continued to hold out his status

as a chiropodist open for business.

38. The Appellant's characterization of the work he remunerated himself for while suspended (a
janitor at the clinic) does not accord with the Committee's findings, which were that the

Appellant performed work restricted to members of the College (supervision or monitoring of
the sterilization of medical instruments and infection control) and failed to extricate himself
from his practice as required by his suspension.

-:
c
$
O
d)
c)
@
Oaz
<'.N
O
N



!I
:

-l
I

l

1 086
39. The fact that a Suspension Advisory came out shortly after the Appellant's suspension does

not absolve the Appellant from tuming over and transferring his practice. The Appellant knew
that he was required to turn over his practice, which he never really did. Instead, he figured
out a way to make money from it without fully handing it over. In fact, as the Committee
found, he paid himself the same salary while he was suspended as he did before he was

suspended. From a protection of the public perspective, allowing members to operate in this
way during a period of suspension would undermine the deterrent effect that suspensions are

supposed to have on members' conduct. Given the context, there is no palpable or overriding
error in the Committee's finding that the Appellant breached the June 2021 Order by
benefitting from the practice of chiropody.

Issue 2: Did the Committee err byftnding that the Appellant engaged in regalated
activities with respect to sterilization of medical instruments?

40. The Appellant submitted that the Committee erred in finding that he engaged in the practice

of chiropody while suspended by playing a role in helping the locum chiropodists sterilize
their medical instruments. The Appellant submitted that there were three contract chiropodists
at the clinic during his suspension and they were aware of his suspension: they had obligations
to ensure that the Infection Control Standard was met. The Appellant submitted that he was

not ultimately responsible.

41. In the negotiated Statement of Facts which was before the Committee, the Appellant admitted
to being involved in sterilizing instruments. Although the Committee recognizedthat any staff
member could perform the sterilization tasks the Appellant performed, it found that because

there was no authorized chiropodist who was responsible for the sterilization of the
instruments, the Appellant was acting as a chiropodist.

42. The Committee found that the act of sterilizing instruments is governed by the Infection
Control Standard of the Practice and is limited to members of the College or to members'
staff, delegated to do so and who are overseen by a member. Members are ultimately
responsible for training staff and monitoring the process. The Committee found that the
Appellant undertook this task while under suspension and therefore while not a member of
the College. The Committee found that the Appellant failed to affect the transfer of the
regulated activity of the supervision or monitoring of the sterilization and infection conhol to
another regulated member.

43. The fact that locum chiropodists may also be responsible for failures to adhere to infection
prevention and control obligations does not absolve the Appellant from his obligation to
transfer his practice while suspended, including the ultimate responsibility for sterilization.

44. There is no palpable and overriding error in the Committee's finding that by failing to extricate
himself from his practice and failing to affect the transfer of the regulated activity for the
supervision or monitoring of the sterilization of instruments and infection control to another
regulated member, the Appellant failed to comply with the June 2021Order.

-:c
$

o)
cO

(-)
U)z
o
$
N
O
N



1087
Issue 3: Did the Committee err by Jinding that the Appellant's failure to update his

website supports four misconduct ftndings?

45. The Appellant admitted that when suspended, he erred in failing to take down or correct his

clinic's website, which described him as a chiropodist before his suspension. He submitted
that this was an oversight and there was no basis to think any patient was materially misled
by the mistake. The Appellant concedes that he was represented on the website as a practicing
chiropodist while he was suspended. But he submitted that the Committee erred in finding
that this single act also supported its three other misconduct findings: that the Appellant had

issued a false document; engaged in disgraceful, dishonourable, or unprofessional conduct;

and breached the suspension order.

46. The Appellant does not challenge the finding that the failure to remove references to him as a

chiropodist from his clinic's website is misconduct (under allegation 3(a)(iv)), but he submits

that this is insufficient to establish the other three misconduct allegations. He submits that he

did not "sign or issue a false or misleading document" as alleged, particularly as the alleged

misconduct is found under the "Record Keeping and Reports" heading in the regulations and

is concerned with promulgation of fraudulent documents. Further, not all misconduct is

disgraceful, dishonourable, or unprofessional: this heightened standard does not capture mere

effors in judgment. Finally, he argues that the failure to update his website was not a breach

of the suspension order.

47 . lt is settled law that one set of facts may ground multiple findings of professional misconduct.

While the Appellant asserted that his failure to amend his website was an "honest" mistake,

the Committee was "left with the impression that the Member did everything he could to
minimize the negative impact the suspension would have on him personally".l6 The

Committee found the onus lies on the Appellant to ensure he was not holding himself out in
any communication or on any platform as a chiropodist,lT and that the Appellant had ample

time in the 30-day period to ensure the website was accurate.l8 The Appellant acknowledged

not having read the Discontinuation of Services Advisory which alerted him directly to this.

48. Readin gthe Codebroadly pursuant to the Committee's mandate to protect the public, a finding
that the Appellant continued to hold himself out as a chiropodist during his suspension by not
updating his public profile on the website could reasonably come within the Professional
Misconduct Regulation, s.1(20), made under the Chiropody Act: "Signing or issuing in the

member's professional capacity a document that contains a false or misleading statement."

49. Moreover, the Appellant's website contravened the advertising regulation by broadcasting

false and misleading information.le Even in the absence of moral turpitude, or abject

dishonestly, misguided conduct which is not disgraceful is nonetheless unprofessional and

accordingly can support a finding of professional misconduct under the head "disgraceful,

16 Liability Decision and Reasons, para.5 i.
tTliability Decision and Reasons, para.3l.
18 Liability Decision and Reasons, para. 31.
re Section 7(l) of O. Reg203l94 made under the Chiropody Act, I99I

-I
c
$
O
O')
o)
cO

O
(t)

o
q
C\
O
c.l



I

-.1

I

1 088
dishonourable or unprofessional. Breaching College undertakings or College orders, even
inadvertently, routinely amounts to "disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional" conduct.20

50. There was no palpable and overriding error in finding that the Appellant breached the June

2022 Order, the Chiropody Act, the Regulated Health Professions Act, l99l or regulations
under those Acts.

Issue 4: Did the Committee ew in its Costs Decision?

51. The Appellant concedes that if he is unsuccessful in his liability arguments, he is not asking
this court to adjust the penalty.

52. The Appellant submits that the quantum of costs awarded was demonstrably excessive. The
liability hearing lasted 1.5 days during which the Appellant admitted nearly the entirety of the
College's case. The Appellant argues that the costs award greatly exceeds awards for regulated
health professions where a costs tariff is in place. He further submits that it does not appear

that the court has ever upheld a costs award of this magnitude for such a short, streamlined
hearing and that the Committee offers no meaningful explanation for its unprecedented costs
award.

53. The College presented a detailed Bill of Costs to the Committee. The Appellant did not. A
comparison of parties' bills of costs is frequently how an appropriate amount for costs is
determined. The Appellant argued that the file was overworked and the costs disproportionate.
The Committee looked at the evidence, heard the submissions and gave reasons. In these

circumstances, it would be inappropriate to second guess the Respondent's Bill of Costs,

especially since the Appellant failed to provide one of the main bases on which a court can

assess whether another party's costs are disproportionate-their own bill of costs.

54. Section 53.1 of the Code grants the College broad discretionary power to make costs orders.
A Committee's costs award is entitled to significant deference; a court should not interfere
unless the adjudicator made an enor in principle or was plainly wrong. The Committee
recognized that the amount ordered was significant but found that it reflected approximately
two-thirds of the actual costs incurred, and that this was a reasonable amount for the Appellant
to pay given the need to ensure that the membership at large is not Ieft with the burden of
paying a disproportionate share of the costs associated with proceedings generated as a result
of another member's misconduct. While the Appellant argued that the Alberta Court of Appeal
has taken a different approach to the awarding of costs in professional regulatory proceedings
( a large portion of the costs should be borne by the membership), that case is not binding on
us and is not consistent with the approach taken by the Ontario courts.

55. The tariff rates set by other Colleges do not bind or limit the Committee's statutory discretion
to award costs.

20 Ontario (College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario) v. Maytham,2007 ONCPSD 25; Ontario (College of
Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario) v. Savic, 2019 ONCPSD 4; Gutman v. College of Physicians and Surgeons of
Ontario,20l8 ONSC 6936 (Div. Ct.) at para. 3.

-:
C
$

O)

Oaz
L',)

N
Oc!



1 089
56. There is no error in principle or other basis for this court to intervene with respect to the costs

award.

Conclusion

57. A member cannot subvert a suspension by continuing to hold themselves out as a practicing
chiropodist, continuing to assume responsibility for regulated activities of the practice, and
continuing to compensate themselves from the practice of chiropody by paying themselves a
salary from patient- generated revenue. The College is duty bound to regulate the profession
in the public interest. The question of what constitutes professional misconduct and the
attendant costs are matters that fall squarely within the bailiwick of the Committee. There is

no palpable and overriding error and no error of law or principle. The appeal is dismissed.

Costs of the Anpeal

58. In accordance with the parties' agreement on costs, the Respondent shall be entitled to costs

of the appeal in the all-inclusive amount of $ 10,000.

Backhouse J

Sachs J

Lococo J

Released: February 16, 2024

-Ic
(s

O)
O')
@

Oa
Z
O
vN
O
N



I
!
l
l

1 090
CITATION: Casella v. Ontario (College of Chiropodists),2\24 ONSC 899

DMSIONAL COURT FILE NO.: 323/23
DATE:20244216

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
DIVISIONAL COURT

Sachs, Backhouse and Lococo JJ.

BETWEEN:

Angelo Casella

Appellant

-and-

The College of Chiropodists of Ontario

Respondent

REASONS FOR JUDGMENT

By the Court

-:c
(g
()
O)
Ct)

Oaz

N
O
N

Date of Release: February 16,2024



Rose Bustria ITEM 6.2
1 091

From:
Sent:
To:

Attachments:

Subiect:

Jo-Ann Willson
February 15,2024 1:53 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: College of Physiotherapists of Ontario - Divisional Court Decision

Released

ATT00001.txt

Exec, ICRC and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

ln-office services are avaitable by appointment only. P[ease use the ernaitor phone contact information above or, if you

require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone a|416-922-6355 ext. 100 or emalI reee!1ion@eeo-0n,-ee
and your inquiry witt be directed appropriatety.

CCO is committed to providing inctusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuats are

treated with d:gnity and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that att

communications with CCO are respectfuI and professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Registrars <registrars-bounces@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca> On Behalf Of Beth Ann Kenny

Sent: Thursday, February 15,2024 12:50 PM

To: Beth Ann Kenny <bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca>
Cc: Anita Ashton <AAshton@collegept.org>
Subject: IRegistrars] College of Physiotherapists of Ontario - Divisional Court Decision Released

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

This email is beingforwarded to you on behalf of Anita Ashton, Deputy Registrar & COO (programs)

at the College of Physiotheraplsts of Ontario.

Hello everyone,

Last year we shared that the CPO had a case going before Divisional Court where a group of 4
physiotherapists were suggesting that the ICRC did not have the ability to make decisions
regarding business practices because we did not regulate clinics / places of practice. The

decision of the court was released on the 13th and the decision of the ICRC to issue a caution

was upheld.

1



i

Here is the tink: 1 092
https://www.canlii.ore/en/on/onscdc/doc/2024l2024can1ii9715/2024canlii97L5.html

Have a great day

Anita Ashton (she/her)
Deputy Registrar & C00 (programs)
Cottege of Physiotherapists of 0ntario
416.591.3828 ext. 225 | 1.800.583.5885 ext. 225
aashton@cotlegept.org
www.co[[eoeot.oro

EX@unt<eofrYoulilD

The Cottege is committed to ensuring peopte of att abitities have equaI access to services
and are treated with respect. Contact us if you require accommodations and we witl do our
best to meet your needs.

We acknowtedge the Land our office is on is the traditional territory of many nations
inctuding the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishnabeg, the Chippewa, the
Haudenosaunee and the Wendat peoptes and is now home to many diverse First Nations,
lnuit and Metis peoptes. We atso acknowtedge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the
Mississaugas of the Credit.

lf you have received this message in error, ptease notify us immediatety and del,ete the
originat without printing it or making a copy.

Congratutations, Anita and Team!!

Take care!
Beth Ann

Health
Profession
Regulators
of Ontario

Beth Ann Kenny, Executive Director
Heatth Profession Regutators of Ontario (HPRO)

301-396 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0
Emait: bakenny@regutated heatthprofessions.on.ca
Web: www.regu latedheatthprofessions.on.ca

2



Phone: 41 6-986-0576

Confidentiality notice: This email, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may
contain private, confidential, and/or privilegecl information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure, or distribution is
prohibited. lf you are not the intended recipient or this information has been inappropriately forwarded to you, please

contact the sender by reply email and destroy all copies of the original.

I 093

3



1 094
CITATION: Spirou v. College of Physiotherapists of Ontario, 2024 ONSC 964

DMSIONAL COURT FILE NOs. : 266123, 267 123, 268 I 23, 269 123

DATE: 2024 0213

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
DIVISIONAL COURT

McWatt, F., ACJ, Edwards, D., and Shore, S. JJ

=
=$

\f

U)z
vN
O
N

BETWEEN:

JOHN SPIROU, PRAVEEN OOMMMEN,
THEVENDRI SABDGA, aNd CHUNG
YEUNG

-and-

THE COLLEGE OF PHYSIOTHERAPISTS
OF ONTARIO

G. Ragan,./or the plaintffi

J. Birenbaum,for the defendants

Plaintiffs

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Defendants

HEARD: January 23,2024

Shoreo S.o J,

APPLICATION for judicial review of the decision of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports
Commiffee of the College of Physiotherapists of Ontario to caution four physiotherapists.

Overview

Four physiotherapists, John Spirou, Praveen Oommen, Thevendri Sabga, and Chun Yeung
(collectively, the "Applicants") seek judicial review of four respective decisions of the
College of Physiotherapists of Ontario (the "College") lnquiries, Complaints and Reports

tll



t
.l
--.1

I

-2-

Committee (the "ICRC" or the "Committee") released on April 3,2023 (collectively, the
"Decisions").

121 The Decisions required the Applicants to attend before a panel of the ICRC to receive a

verbal caution related to the accuracy of the invoicing practice of the multidisciplinary
health clinic co-owned by the Applicants.

t3] The Applicants submit that the Committee exceeded its statutory jurisdiction and that the
Decisions were unreasonable. The College asks that the application be dismissed.

t4] For the reasons set out below, the application is dismissed.

The Court's Jurisdiction and the Standard of Review:

l5l The court has jurisdiction under ss. 2 and 6 of the Judicial Review Procedure lcf, R.S.O.
1990, c. J.1.

t6] The parties agree that the Decisions are to be assessed on a reasonableness standard.

Legal Framework:

l7l Physiotherapy is a self-regulated profession in Ontario, pursuant to the Regulated Health
Professions Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c. 18 (the "RHPA"). The College is the regulatorybody
established by statute to regulate and govern physiotherapists in Ontario. The statutory
scheme governing the College is contained inthe fuHPA, the Health Professions Procedural
Code (the "Code"), the Physiotherapy Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.37, and the regulations
established thereunder.

Brief Background:

t8] The Applicants are co-owners and directors of the Centres for Active Rehabilitation
Excellence Institute ("C.A.R.E." or the "Clinic"). The Clinic offers physiotherapy and
other multidisciplinary health services through four clinics in the Windsor-Essex area.

tel In November 2018, the College received a copy of a complaint that Green Shield Canada
("GSC"), an insurance company, submitted to the College of Physicians and Surgeons,
regarding physicians at C.A.R.E.

[10] In November 2019, following a review of the documents from GSC, the College's
Registrar appointed investigators to inquire into the conduct of the Applicants, the Clinic's
co-owners, in order to ascertain whether they may have committed an act or acts of
professional misconduct regarding conflicts of interest, billing practices, consent, record
keeping, and patient assessment and treatment practices.

[11] As part of its investigation, the College sought and received further information from GSC.
From this further disclosure, it was discovered that C.A.R.E. had failed to collect co-
payment amounts for a number of products and services delivered to GSC plan members.

1 095

-
--Jc
$

v(o
o)

u)z
$
c{
N



^-J-

ll2l GSC reported that it appeared that C.A.R.E. had waived the co-payment amounts for a
number of plan members, yet it had submitted invoices to GSC for the full amount of the
product or service. Independent of the College's investigation, GSC asked C.A.R.E. to pay
them $42,388.96 for the uncollected co-payment amounts. The Applicants paid the amount
requested by GSC.

[13] There is no dispute that C.A.R.E. had a general and systemic practice of waiving insurance
co-payments for its patients. The Clinic advertised this practice in bold and large letters on
its website. Further, there is no dispute that it submitted invoices to GSC for the full amount
of the service without noting the waived co-payments on the claim submissions, although
the Applicants submit that, technically, there were no "invoices" submitted and/or there
was no ability for the Clinic to advise GSC that they waived the co-payments.

[14] At the conclusion of its investigation, ICRC released the Decisions. In the Decisions, the
Committee stated that "the College does not regulate physiotherapy clinics per se and in
general, the College only regulates physiotherapists themselves. Nonetheless, the College
may hold registered physiotherapists accountableo where appropriate, for systemic
issues in the practices of clinics or businesses in which these physiotherapists
participate in the ownership or management" (emphasis added). This is the crux of the
judicial review. The Applicants submit that the College does not have jurisdiction to
regulate practices or businesses.

[15] The Committee found that there was sufficient basis to caution the Applicants. The
Committee decided not to refer the matter for a disciplinary hearing.

The Applicant's Position:

116l The Applicants ask that the decisions of the ICRC to issue cautions be quashed, or in the
alternative, that the matters be remitted back to the ICRC for reconsideration. The
Applicants have three primary grounds for review:

(a) The College did not have statutory jurisdiction to regulate the business practices of
C.A.R.E.

(b) The Committee's decisions regarding C.A.R.E.'s business practices were
unreasonable.

(c)

Analysis:

The decisions to caution the Applicants were unreasonable.

A. Jurisdiction

U7l The Applicants admit that the online claims and the manual claim submissions made by
the Clinic to GSC did not indicate that the Clinic intended to or was waiving any co-
payment. The Applicants submit that there was no place on the forms to indicate
information regarding co-payments. The ICRC found that by submitting a claim to GSC
for the full amount of the product or service without indicating that any co-payment would

1 096

-Jc
(o

O
s(o
O
<t)z
o
s
NO
N



4

be waived, the Clinic had misrepresented the amount it billed to the insurer because GSC
paid 100 percent ofthe cost, as opposedto only 80 percent.

[18] Whether the Clinic financially benefited or had an obligation to GSC to collect the co-
payment from the patients was irrelevant to the fact that the Clinic submitted inaccurate
claims or invoices.

[19] The Committee found that the Applicants, at all times,had a professional obligation to
ensure that invoices and claims submitted by the Clinic under their direction were accurate.

l20l The Applicants submit that the Committee erred in investigating and reprimanding the
Applicants for matters pertaining to the management and business practices of the
multidisciplinary Clinic. The ICRC lacked jurisdiction to hold registered physiotherapists
accountable for systemic issues in clinics or businesses.

l2ll Did the Committee have jurisdiction to consider the actions taken by the Applicants
pertaining to the management and business of the Clinic?

l22l Under the Code, the objects of the College are broad and include, among other things, "[t]o
regulate the practice of the profession'', "[t]o develop, establish and maintain standards of
professional ethics for the members", and "[t]o promote and enhance relations between the
College and its members, other health profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the
public": see s. 3(1), paragraphs 1, 5 and 8. In light of these objects, a number of regulations
have evolved.

l23l Under s. 5l(l)(c) of the Code, the ICRC may find that a member has committed an act of
professional misconduct if the member has committed an act of professional misconduct
as defined in the regulations. Regulated professions are given deference to define
misconduct within their legislative mandate.

l24l Acts of professional misconduct for physiotherapists are set out in Professional
Misconduct, O. Reg. 388/028, under the Physiotherapy Act, 1991.

l25l Both parties referred to caselaw in their submissions. Of the cases on which the Applicants
rely to argue that the Committee does not have jurisdiction to regulate clinics, most
involved complaints against individuals with no ownership interest in the business or clinic,
rather than clinic owners (see for example, Feletig v. Williams, 2023 CanLII 1 05 1 8 (Ont.
HPARB) and P.B. v. 5.M.8.,2017 CanLIl37546 (Ont. HPARB)). These situations are
quite different from the matter before this court, where the business was owned and run by
physiotherapists.

[26] Under the regulations, the College can find professional misconduct when a member has

failed to take reasonable steps "to ensure that any accounts submitted in the member's
name or billing number are fair and accurate"'. Professional Misconduct, O. Reg. 388/028,
s. i, paragraph 33 (also see paragraphs 28 and 32). The accounts submitted in the
Applicants' names were not accurate.

1 097

-:c
$

s(o
o)
a)
az
o
vN
O



-5-

l27l It would be nonsensical for the College to have jurisdiction to regulate fees and billings of
individual members, but no jurisdiction to regulate fees and billings over members that
operate their practice through their own business. This would allow members to easily
avoid oversight by the College by running their practice though a business. The Applicants
do not deny that they were the operating minds of the Clinic and that they directed and
were responsible for the Clinic's practice of waiving co-payments. The Decisions were
reasonable and consistent with past decisions made by the College: see for example,
Ontario (College of Physiotherapists of Ontario) v. Yardley,2023 ONCPO 61 (CanLII).

[28] I find that the ICRC had jurisdiction to hold the Applicants accountable for systemic billing
issues in their Clinic.

B. Were the Decisions Unreasonable?

l29l Given the finding that the ICRC had jurisdiction to make the orders, were the orders
reasonable? A decision will be unreasonable if it contains one of two fundamental flaws:

(D It contains failures ofrationality internal to the reasoning process; and

(iD It is untenable in light of the relevant factual and legal constraints that it
bears: Canada (Minister of Immigration and Cilizenship) v. Vavilov,2019
SCC 65, [2019] 4 S.C.R. 653, atpara. 101.

[30] The Applicants submit that the ICRC's decisions lacked a proper factual foundation and
reasoning.

[31] With respect to the submission that the Committee lacked a factual foundation, in its
Decisions, the ICRC noted that "[t]here was also no dispute on the facts that C.A.R.E.
submitted invoices to GSC for the full amount of the service or product and that the
invoices did not reflect the fact that co-payment had been waived" (emphasis added). The
Applicants submit that there were no "invoices" in evidence on which the Committee could
make this finding. Specifically, they submit that most of the claims submitted by the Clinic
were submitted electronically and that claims are not "invoices". Therefore, there were no
actual invoices on which the ICRC could base its decision.

132] The Applicants' position on this issue is one of semantics. The electronic and manual claim
submissions are the statement of account, a form of "invoice". Copies of these submissions
were put into evidence before the Committee. These submissions must be accurate to
comply with the College's Fees and Billing Standard. They were not. I find that there was
a proper factual foundation on which the College could make its decision.

[33] The Applicants further submit that the Decisions were unreasonable because the
Committee did not consider the submissions of the Applicants when providing its reasons
for making the order. If the Decisions were insufficient, then they are necessarily
unreasonable.

1098

=-c
o
LJ

.+
(o
O)

Oaz
o
\3-
N
O
N



-1i
.l
.1

-6-

[34] However, the ICRC is not required to address every argument raised by the Applicants, as

this would compromise both efficiency and access to justice: see Vavilov, at paras. t27-
128. In this case, the Decisions were detailed, fulsome and responsive to the Applicant's
submissions. It is clear from the Decisions that the ICRC understood, was alert to, and
addressed the central issues and arguments raised by the Applicants in their submissions.
This is also discussed below when addressing the issue of whether the caution was
reasonable.

[35] I find that the Decisions were reasonable

C. Were the Cautions Unreasonable?

t36l The Applicants submit that the imposition of a caution was unreasonable, in that the ICRC
provided no analysis.

l37l The ICRC provided a rational for the caution, including its finding below:

[T]here is a reasonable evidentiary basis to caution the Registrant[s] in
respect of the accuracy of invoicing in connection with C.A.R.E.'s
demonstrated past practice of waiving insurance co-payments. In
addition to the serious concern about accuracy of billings, the
Committee decided that it would be reasonable to caution the
Registrantfs] about the impact of inappropriate billings on patients and
the profession. Insurers' trust in the integrity of the profession is
essential to ongoing access to benefits-covered care for patients. The
de-listing of clinics (as happened temporarily with C.A.R.E.) and/or the
de-listing of coverage for certain services or products, can negatively
impact all physiotherapists as well as patients. In addition, insurers can
punish patients for failing to notify the insurer that the co-payment was
waived, potentially placing patients' benefits at risk.

[38] The ICRC's reasons were lengthy and reasonable and are entitled to deference. This is not
a case where the court should intervene on judicial review.

Costs:

[3e] The Applicants were not successful in their application for judicial review. The parties
agreed that $10,000 inclusive of HST and disbursements was a reasonable award of costs
to the successful party.

Order:

[40] The application is dismissed, with costs to the College payable by the Applicants in the
agreed amount of $ 10,000 all inclusive.

1 099

-:
c
$

.d-

o)

6z
$
NO
c{



-7 -

1 100

Shore, J

McWatt, ACJ

-
--Jc
o

$
O)

O
U}z
.f
N
O
N

Edwards, J.

DATE RELEASED: February 13,2024



-8-

CITATION: Spirou v. College of Physiotherapists of Ontario, 2024 ONSC 964
DMSIONAL COURT FILE NOs. : 266123, 267 I 23, 268 I 23, 269 I 23

DATE: 2024 0213

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
DIVISIONAL COURT

McWatto ACJ, Shore, Edwards, JJ

BETWEEN:

JOHN SPIROU, PRAVEEN OOMMEN,

THEVENDRI SABGA, and CHUN YEUNG

Plaintiffs

-and-

THE COLLEGE OF PHYSIOTHERAPISTS OF
ONTARIO

Defendant

REASONS FOR DECISION

1101

-
=c

s(9

U)z
1-)

sNa
N

Released: February 13, 2024



Rose Bustria ITEM 6.3
1102

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
March B, 2024 2:15 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: Merger ln B.C.

Exec and Councit.

Jo-Ann Witlson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

Cottege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (a16) 922-6355 ext.111
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

ln-office services are avaitabte by appointment onty. Please use the email or phone contact inJorrnation above or, if you

require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone a1416-922-6355 ext. 1 0O or enraiI reception@ccQ.o-n,Oa

and your inquiry witt be directed appropriatety.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring thal individua[s ate

treated with dignity and respect. P[ease contact us if you require accommoclalions. Please ensure that atl

communications with CCO are respectfuland professionat.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Boyd Neil <socialreachconsulting@gmail.com>

Sent: Friday, March 8,2024 2:L3 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Cc: chris winsor <chris.winsor@sympatico.ca>; Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Merger ln B.C.

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

https : //www. biv. com/news/economy- I aw- pol itics/seven - bc- hea lth-
occupations-combi ned-into-two-req u lators-84 1 1979

Boyd

Boyd Neit
@boydneit
416.892.6624



.1(-;ll.J {'rt.if1 t.ti:\lrti:rl l:: l'i l l,l

,l
1 103

11 B.C. health occupations combined into two
regulators

v Jeremv Hoinsworth
obout 22 hours ogo

^1
B.C. Heolth Minister Adrian Dix P.G. Citizen photo by Brent Brooten



B.C. Minister of Health Adrian Dix has confirmed that multiple provincial health

regulators will be combined into one organization. 1104

The newly created College of Complementary Health Professionals of British Columbia

will be an amalgamation of the College of Massage Therapists of B.C., the College of

Chiropractors of 8.C., the College of Naturopathic Physicians of B.C. and the College of

Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of B.C.

The four colleges officially amalgamate June 28 as a single regulator,

The amalgamation was confirmed in a Feb.22 ministerialorder.

This ministry proposed the name for the amalgamated collegein2O23.

It held a consultation to obtain public feedback on the name, with a deadline of Jan. t2,
2024. The name was confirmed after that feedback was received.

ln another ministerial order the same day, Dix confirmed the amalgamation of seven

other regulatory colleges, also taking force June 28.

The new College of Health and Care Professionals of British Columbia will regulate

. dietitians;

. occupational therapists;

. opticians;

. optometrists;

. physicaltherapists;

o psychologists;and,

. speech and hearing professionals.

Add to the story Have a story idea? Letter to the editor



Global
NEWS

ITEM 6.4

1105

Ontario documents show patient complaints
over cataract billings
By Allison Jones The Canadian Press
Posted February 2I,2024 6:ll am

As Ontario prepares to expand the number of private clinics that perform publicly funded
catatact surgeries, documents show those procedures form one of the most common complaints
the province receives from patients about unfair billing practices.

The Canadian Press submitted a freedom-of-information request for copies of complaints made

under the law banning medical professionals from charging patients for services covered by
the Ontario Health Insurance Plan.

From 2020 to 2022 therc were 68 complaints, with 15 of them about charges for eye exams and
13 of them related to cataract procedures. Other complaints involved arange of medical
procedures including blood tests and prenatal testing.

While the absolute numbers are relatively small, NDP health critic France Gelinas said the true
number of patients with similar complaints is likely much higher, because not many people know
how to go through the process.

The ministry's response to many of the patients who complained about charges for cataract
surgery was to tell them the records showed they had actually consented to paying for non-
insured services.

In response to one person who complained that they had paid $2,400 for "cataract extraction with
intraocular implant service covered by Ministry of Health," the ministry wrote that records

showed the patient had agreed to non-insured extras. They received a $200 credit for the cost of a
medically necessary lens, but the premium lens they received had to be paid for out of pocket.

"According to the records provided, you had consented to paying for and receiving these

services," the ministry told the patient.

"The (Commitment to the Future of Medicare Act) does not apply to uninsured services, and any
costs associated with these services are the responsibility of the patient."



i
l:
i

1106
Gelinas said such examples show that patients receiving publicly funded surgeries in private
clinics are being upsold and are not always clear on what charges they will have to pay out of
pocket.

"If the people went through the process of finding which number to call (to complain), of leaving
a message, of waiting three weeks for somebody to call them back, of waiting another three
months for them to do their investigation to get an answer ... you didn't have consent," she said.

"This is not what consent is. We're talking about people who have poor vision - that's why
they're going for cataruct surgery - who are most of the time a bit elderly, and this is not
informed consent."

Liberal health critic Adil Shamji said there is a "significant power imbalance" between doctors
and patients that can lead to people accepting doctors' recommendations for certain procedures
or special lenses without fully realizing the additional cost.

o'In a medical environment, doctors have access to all kinds of information that patients do not,"
Shamji, a doctor himself, wrote in a statement.

"'When you mix that with pressure from shareholders and their incentive to maximize profits,
you get patients feeling pressured to receive uninsured services without their truly informed
consent."

The NDP, Liberals and Green Party have all raised concerns that the government's expansion of
allowing private clinics to perform publicly funded procedures will only increase patients'
vulnerability.

The Progressive Conservative government is preparing for the next step in its expansion of the
number of private clinics offering publicly funded tests and procedures such as cataract surgeries
and MRIs, as well as adding hip and knee-replacement surgeries.

Health Minister Sylvia Jones has said the expansion will allow more procedures to be performed
and will reduce wait times, and patients will never have to pay out of pocket for OHlP-insured
services.

Her spokesperson said that the law enabling this expansion also brings the new clinics under
patient ombudsman oversight and ensures access to publicly funded services can't be conditional
on the patient agreeing to an additional, uninsured service. Accreditation Canada has been
selected to develop an enhanced oversight and quality assurance program for those clinics.

The government provided the amounts reimbursed over several years to patients who complained
under the Commitment to the Future of Medicare Act. Between 2019-20 and202l-22 those
amounts were approximately $21,790,$3,527 and $18,723.



Many of those complaints involved clinics, but others included hospitals and laboratories.

There are currently more than 900 private health facilities in the province, largely providing
diagnostic imaging services.

JOURNALISTIC STANDARDSCOMMENTREPORT AN ERROR

@ 2024 The Canadian Press

1107



ITEM 6.5
1 108

a

t- F ilfi F',
fil jiijr;

Pir l.
'*6 qirsffiiiil
.l'.e ii111.d;t:'1; i.

Council should be no place for
criminal past Conmee
Carl Clutchey, Local Journalism lnitiative Reporter
about 2 hours ago

I Township of Conmee, Facebook

Listen to this article
00:03:13

CONMEE - About a dozen Ontario municipalities are supporting a Conmee

Township resolution calling on the province to bar those with a criminal record

from being elected to a municipal council unless that record has been expunged

The resolution, which was put forward by Conmee Coun. Grant Arnold, is similar to

an earlier proposal the municipality passed in 2021.



I
i

1109
The rationale behind the current resolution is to ensure that municipal candidates

and council members are "above reproach, and conduct themselves with integrity,

truth, justice, honesty, transparency and courtesy."

It also demands that "an elected local government official be disqualified from

office upon conviction of a criminal offence and must resign."

None of the municipalities that have so far thrown their weight behind Conmee's

resolution are located in the Thunder Bay district.

The Northwestern Ontario MunicipalAssociation will discuss the resolution at its
next meeting on Wednesday.

The association's president, Wendy Landry, who is Shuniah Township's mayor, said

whether or not to disqualify elected members or candidates based on their past

actions "is a tricky one."

"What if someone has a record from when they were 19 and are now 49 and has

since contributed well and more to society and their community and learned the

lesson?" Landry said on Friday.

ln the House of Commons and the Senate, sitting members are required to give up

their seats if they have been convicted of a crime and have been sentenced to jail

for two years or more under Section 750 of the Criminal Code.

The section also prevents someone sentenced to two years or more in jail from

running for election as an MP or being appointed to the Senate.

While those currently in jail are barred from becoming an MB federal rules don't

address candidates who are currently not incarcerated but have a criminal record.

However, the House of Commons and the Senate both have the power to expel

members at their discretion, and political parties have the right to decide which

candidates are entitled to represent them.

The federal Conservative party, for instance, requires candidates seeking to be

nominated to submit criminal background and credit checks.



1110
Meanwhile, federal election candidates who have committed an offence under the

Canada Elections Act - such as voting more than once or offering bribes - can't

seek office for seven years after the date of the conviction, according to federal

rules.

What qualifies or disqualifies electoral candidates can vary depending on the
jurisdiction.

A jailed Canadian can't seek to become prime minister, but in the U.S., presidential

candidates can seek the highest office in their country even while they are behind

bars,

That prospect began being mulled by American political observers when former

U.S. president Donald Trump - who is facing several criminal prosecutions but has

not been convicted - announced his intention to seek a second term in
November's presidential election.

The Chronicle Journal / Local Journalism lnitiative

Trending

11257
UPDATED: Prime Minister Trudeau to visit Thunder
Bay

Police still investigating 25LGBTQIA+ targeted
mischief

5750



3182

3108

2991

Comments (1)

Accused involved in Amelia Street shootout
sentenced to flve years 1111

Man accused in 2021 May Street death pleads guilty
to manslaughter

Winter shelter proposed for historic Brill buses



ITEM 6.6

GREYAREAS
NEWSLETTER

1112

A COM\4ENTARYON LECAL IS5UE5 ATTECTINC PNOIESSIONAL NFCULATION

sml - low.com/ resources/ grey-oreos /

Learning from Other Regulatory Systems

by Julie Maciura

March 2024 - No. 288

Canadian policy makers and regulators have
been looking to other countries for insights
into, and alternative ways of, regulating
professions. Generally, the systems
examined are from the United Kingdom,
Australia, New Zealand, and the United
States. To a lesser extent, regulators have
looked to the European Economic
Community. Rarely have regulatory systems
elsewhere been examined in detail.

A recent exception is the open access article
by McGivern, G., Wafula, F., Seruwagi, G. et
al. entitled Deconcentrating regulation in low-
and middle-income country health systems:
a proposed ambidextrous solution to
problems with professional regulation for
doctors and nurses in Kenya and Uganda.
Hum Resour Health 22, 13 (2024).
https://doi.orq/1 0. 1't 86/s1 2960-024-0089 1 -

3.

ln setting out the background to the article,
the authors state:

However, there is a human-
resources for health crises in many
LMlCs. There are too few health

workers. Pay is often poor and
irregular. Many health workers are
demotivated. Strikes, absenteeism,
nepotism and malpractice are
widespread.

We examine how regulation of health
workers may contribute towards or
mitigate these problems. Regulation
can enhance health workers'
professional practice. However, it is
often weakly implemented and
enforced in LMIC health systems.
This is due to reasons including
regulators having limited resources,
regulatory capture, and corruption
[citations omitted]

Canadian health practitioners and regulators
face some similar issues, as well, albeit to a
different degree and in different ways. For
example, the shortage of health care
practitioners in Canada has undoubtedly
resulted in greater political involvement in
modifying registration requirements and
registration policies and procedures. (A
rapidly emerging dashboard measurement of
effectiveness of Canadian health profession



Grey Areas Newsletter
March 2024 | No. 288 1113

a

Ja
:

i
I

regulators is whether they are registering
more applicants, especially internationally
trained ones, than in previous years.)
However, the concept of professional
regulatory staff having the authority to arrest
registrants for misconduct is inconceivable in
Canada (as is mentioned in passing in the
article).

The authors used various research methods
to obtain data including interviews, surveys,
and focus groups. The following themes
emerged:

"Regulation in both the Kenyan and
Ugandan health systems was
generally perceived as 'weak'.
Kenyan and Ugandan regulators
were seen to have inadequate
resources and staff, to be 'remote',
'out of touch' with clinical practice 'on
the ground', and more focused on
collecting licencing fees than
regulating professional practice."
"lnterviewees also described weak
regulation and declining standards of
training, internships, supervision, and
mentoring of health professionals.
This was seen to be undermining
professionalism, skills, and
knowledge."
"lnterviewees were also positive
about regulation where they had
relationships with accessible local
regulators."

The research produced some novelfindings:

First, online (re)licencing was seen as
quick, easy, and effective. Second,
health professionals were more
positive about regulation where they
had relationships with accessible
regulators. These novel findings
reflect'responsive' and'relational'
regulation theory, which hypothesise
that good regulatory relationships
enhance understanding of how and
why people should comply, so
increase compliance, and improve

regulators' understanding of
compliance levels and how to
improve regulation. [citations omitted]

The authors proposed a new organizational
model for professional regulation.

We propose deconcentrating
regulation by developing subnational
regulatory offices connected to a
common national structure. This is
distinct from decentralisation, which
involves independent governance at
subnational level. Our findings raise
concerns about decentralised
independent regulators lacking
resources, expertise and
undermining common national
standards of professional regulation
and practice. Deconcentrating
regulation would also bring regulators
closer to professional practice,
enabling them to better detect and
address problems, but while sharing
national resources, expertise,
information, learning and standards.
Common problems in subnational
areas could then be addressed by
improving national regulatory
standards, training, or guidance in
ways reflecting learning in responsive
regulation theory. fcitations omitted]

Some Canadian regulators have retained or
adopted strategies that may partially reflect
this concept. For example, some regulators
have local chapters, carried over from the
days when the regulator was also the
professional association, thal can provide
local input and communication. Many
regulators conduct "road shows", now often
done remotely, when consulting on and
implementing major policy changes. Some
regulators use local registrants and staff to
conduct inspections and quality assurance
assessments, which is often better received
than sending representatives from capital
cities.

a

2lPage



Grey Areas Newsletter
March2024 No.288

This deconcentrating regulation model may
become more important if Canada moves to
the national regulation of health professions.

This research into regulation of professions
in other countries has a collateral benefit for
Canadian regulators. With the rapid increase
in the registration of internationally trained
applicants, Canadian regulators can
advance the orientation services they

provide to new registrants that appreciates
educational, cultural, and regulatory diversity
to better bridge inclusion within the Canadian
system.

Regulators can benefit from learning from the
regulatory systems around the globe.

1114

FOR MORE INFORMATION
This newsletter is published by Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, a law firm practising in the field of professional
regulation. lf you are not receiving a copy and would like one, please visit our website to subscribe:
https ://sm l-law.com/resources/q rev-areas/

WANT TO REPRINT AN ARTICLE?
A number of readers have asked to reprint articles in their own newsletters. Our policy is that readers may
reprint an article as long as credit is given to both the newsletter and the firm. Please send us a copy of
the issue of the newsletter which contains a reprint from Grey Areas.

3lPage



ITEM 6.7

Council Member Terms as of April 3,20241

1 Please advise Ms Rose Bustria a.s.a.p. if you aware of aware of any discrepancies.
2 CCO requires at least 6 pubtic members to be property constituted.

1115
Date of Expiry of Current
Term

April2025
April2025
Aoril2026
April2026
Aoril2026
April2025
Aoril2024
April2024
April2024

December 10.2024
Seotember 7-2024
4pr119,2027

October 14,2024
March 4.2025
October 7.2024

Date Re-elected/
Reappointed

NA
Aoril2022
April2023
April2023
April2023
April2022
Aoril202l
NA
NA

December 10,2021
N/A
April9,202l
Aoril9.2024
NA
NA
October 8"2021

Date First
Elected/Anoointed

April2022
Aoril202l
April202l
Apil2020
April2020
April2019
April20l8
Aoril202l
April202l

December 10.2020
Seotember 7-2023
April9,2020

October 14.2021
March 4.2022
October 8-2020

District

3 (Central East)
4 (Central)

7 (Academic)

6 (Western)

5 (Central West)
2 (Eastern)

5 (Central West)
I CNorthem)
4 (Central)

Mississauga
Aiax
Mississauga

Toronto
Cavan Monaghan
Carunna

Name

Elected Members
Dr. Michael Gauthier
Dr. Kyle Grice
Dr. Jarrod Goldin
Dr. Colin Goudreau
Dr. Sarah Green
Dr. Paul Groulx
Dr. Dennis Mizel
Dr. Anselo Santin
Dr. Julia Viscomi

Annointed Members 2

Ms Anuli Ausbeth-Aiaeu
Mr. Robert Chopowick
Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda

Ms Zoe Kariunas
Mr. Scott Stewart
Mr. Shawn Southern
Vacant



Ontarlo

Executive Council of Ontario
Order in Council

On the recommendation of the undersigned, the
Lieutenant Governor of Ontario, by and with the
advice and concurrence of the Executive
Council of Ontario, orders that:

1116

Conseil ex6cutif de I'Ontario
D6cret

Sur la recommandation de la personne
soussign6e, le lieutenant-gouverneur de I'Ontario,
sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Conseil
ex6cutif de l'Ontario, d6crdte ce qui suit :

PURSUANT TO clause 6(1)(b) of the Chiropractic Act, 1991, Gagandeep Dhanda of Mississauga be

reappointed as a part{ime member of the Council of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario to serve

at the pleasure of the Lieutenant Governor in Councilfor a period not exceeding three years, effective

April 9, 2024 or the date this Order in Councilis made, whichever is later,

EN VERTU DE l'alin6a 6 (1) b) de la Lol de 1991 sur/es ehiropraticl'ens, Gagandeep Dhanda de

Mississauga est reconduit au poste de membre dr temps partiel du Conseilde I'Ordre des

chiropraticiens de I'Ontario pour exercer son mandat d titre amovible d la discr6tion du lieutenant-

gouverneur en conseil, pour une p6riode maximale de trois ans, d compter du dernier en date du

9 avril 2024 et du jour de la prise du pr6sent d6cret.

sd-^
Recommended: Minister of Health
Recommand6 par: La ministre de la Sant6

Gon : Chair Cabinet
Appuy6 par : La pr6sidence du Conseildes ministres

Approved and Ordered:
Approuv6 et d6cr6t6 le :

FEB 2 22921

Lieutenant Governor
La lieutenante-gouverneure

1o.c. I D6cret, 5 0 1 I 7. 8 Z tr


	cover page.pdf
	Duties and Objects of Colleges
	17mission, vision, values and  objectives.pdf
	CCO Code of Conduct
	Rules of Order of the Council
	List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
	AGENDA
	1.1 Fitness to Practise Committee Report
	1.2 Inquiries, Complaints, and ReportsCommittee (ICRC) Report
	1.3 Patient Relations Committee Report
	1.4 Registration Committee Report
	1.4.1 Communication dated February 21, 2024 re: CCO low risk category for April 1, 2024 – March 31, 2026
	1.4.2 Communication dated February 21,2024 re: OFC updates (+ enclosures)
	1.4.3 Communication dated March 28,2024 re: Launching the OFC Portal for the Fair Registration Practices Report
	1.4.4 Newsletter dated March 2024
	1.5 Advertising Committee Report
	1.5.1 Memo from AdvertisingCommittee dated January 9, 2024re: Mandate and Role of the Advertising Committee
	4.1 Executive Committee Report
	4.1.29 By-law amendments approved February 23, 2024 (clean copy)
	4.1.31 Communication from Dr. Berman dated February 21, 2023
	4.1.32 President’s Message and Newsletter dated March 1, 2024
	4.1.33 Statistics from Constant Contact dated March 8, 2024
	4.1.34 Feedback to date
	4.1.35 Extract from CCO website and communications
	4.1.36 Mission, Vision and Strategic Objectives
	4.1.37 Proposal dated March 21, 2024 from The Regulator’s Practice
	4.1.38 Council Effectiveness Workshop+September Planning Session Addendum
	4.1.39 Council Meeting Evaluation Form
	4.1.40 Toronto Star article dated February 17, 2024 Should you tip your massage therapist or your chiropractor? Here’s what the experts say
	4.1.41 CCO’s CPMF Report filed March 27, 2024
	4.1.42 Various MOH News Releases
	4.1.44 Terms of Reference
	4.1.46 Correspondence dated March 7, 2024 to Ms Willson from the Honourable Lisa Thompson, Minister of Agriculture
	4.1.47 Extract of Bill 171 – Veterinarian Professionals Act, 2024 re:chiropractic
	4.1.48 News Release dated March 7, 2024 entitled “Ontario Introducing Measures to Help Improve Access to Veterinary Services”
	4.1.49 S-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals
	4.1.51 CCO Request to make submissions to standing committee
	4.1.52 Communication from FCC re: need for Ontario member on CCEC and public member for Specialties Colleges
	4.1.55 Letter of Invitation dated February 29, 2024 to Chiropractic Stakeholder Summit and response
	4.1.56 Facebook posting dated February 16, 2024 re: Indigenous communities
	4.1.57 Communique dated February 2024
	4.1.59 Correspondence dated February 28, 2024 to Irwin Glasberg re: OFC Risk-Informed Compliance Framework
	4.2 Discipline Committee Report
	4.2.5 Policy – P-020: Adjournment of Discipline Hearings (current)
	4.3 Quality Assurance Committee Report
	4.3.2 S-003: Professional Portfolio(current)
	4.3.3 President’s Message dated September 19, 2023 (extract)
	4.3.4 Feedback re: S-003: Professional Portfolio
	6.1 Casella v College of Chiropodists of Ontario (Divisional Court, January 16,2024)
	6.2 Spirou et al v. College of Physiotherapists (Divisional Court, February 13, 2024)
	6.3 Information dated March 8, 2024 re: 11B.C. health occupations combined into two regulators
	6.4 Global News article dated February 21, 2024 entitled “Ontario documents show patient complaints over cataract billings”
	6.5 TB news watch article entitled“Council should be no place for criminal past: Conmee”
	6.6 Grey Areas – Learning from Other Regulatory Systems (March 2024)
	6.7 Council Members Terms (dated March 11, 2024 + reappointment of Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda



